Random Walks Interacting with Evolving Random Environments and Related Kinetic Equations

Author: Andrea Di Stefano

SUPERVISOR: Prof. Yuri Kondratiev

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Mathematics

 $at \ the$

Faculty of Mathematics University of Bielefeld

Bielefeld, 2015

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Yuri Kondratiev for suggesting me this interesting topic and for his advice, patience and knowledge that guided me trough my PhD studies. Besides, I would like to thank Dmitri Finkelshstein for all the time he has dedicated to me and the numerous discussions, comments, suggestions which have been essential in the realization of this thesis. I am also in debt with my colleagues Diana C. and Viktor for carefully proofreading the manuscript, which sensibly increased the quality of the final work.

Financial support by the German Science Foundation (DFG) through the International Graduate College (IGK) "Stochastics and Real Worlds Models" and Collaborative Research Center (CRC) 701 is gratefully acknowledged. I also deeply appreciate the support of Chinese Academy of Sciences during my stays in China. I want to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all the members of IGK and of the projects A5 and A10 of CRC 701 for their contribution in creating such a stimulating study and research program. In particular, I would like to thank Hannelore Litschewsky, Karin Zelmer, Rebecca Reischuk and Stephan Merkes for their help in solving all technical issues that appeared from time to time.

It is a pleasure to thank my friends and colleagues for the nice time we spent together here in Bielefeld and throughout China. Especially I would mention: Mykola, Tolu, Diana C., Marina, Zvoromir, Viktor, Yuhua, Jesper (esp. for his "advanced course" in LateX), Geghard, Milan, Darragh, Thomas, Martin F., Pasha, Ante, Diana K., Julio, Patrick, Katharina, Lukas, Martin D., Paul. A special thanks goes also to my friends in Rome: Luca, Ciccio, Giammo, Pié, Juan, Pier, Silvia, Piera, Potter, Marco, Enrico e Pietro who have been always there whenever I came back home.

Finally...desidero ringraziare la mia famiglia: i miei genitori, Paolo, Davide, Irina, Emilia e anche Mina per il loro sostegno, pazienza e costante incoraggiamento.

Contents

Ackno	Acknowledgements				
Introd	Introduction				
Chapte	Chapter 1. One-particle system in a random environment				
1.1	Phase	space of the model	9		
	1.1.1	The phase space as a measure space	13		
	1.1.2	The K-transform	15		
	1.1.3	Algebraic product on phase spaces:	16		
1.2	Correl	ation measures and correlation functions	17		
	1.2.1	Correlation measure of a state	17		
	1.2.2	Correlation functions of a state	19		
Chapte	Chapter 2. Random walks in Markov environments				
2.1	Micros	scopic description of the model	23		
2.2	2.2 Statistical description of the model: evolution of correlation functions				
	2.2.1	Generator for quasi-observables	30		
	2.2.2	Generator for correlation functions	34		
2.3	Kinetic description of the model: mesoscopic limit		37		
	2.3.1	Derivation of Vlasov equations	40		
	2.3.2	Examples of Vlasov equations	47		
Chapter 3. Random walks in birth-and-death environments					
3.1	Non-e	quilibrium evolutions	51		
	3.1.1	Evolution of quasi-observables	52		
	3.1.2	Evolution of correlation functions	55		
	3.1.3	Examples: random walks in a spatial ecological model of environment	59		
3.2	Mesoscopic evolutions: Vlasov-type scaling		63		
	3.2.1	Convergence of the Vlasov-type scaling	63		
	3.2.2	Vlasov equations	74		
	3.2.3	Examples: random walks in a spatial ecological model of environment	78		
Chapter 4. Random walks in a birth-and-death environment with aggregation					
4.1	4.1 Evolution of correlation functions				

	4.1.1	Proof of Theorem 4.3	87		
	4.1.2	Examples	89		
4.2	Mesos	copic evolution: Vlasov-type scaling	90		
	4.2.1	Convergence of the Vlasov-type scaling	91		
	4.2.2	Vlasov equations	96		
	4.2.3	Examples	101		
Chapte	er 5. R	andom walks in a Kawasaki model of environment via generating	g		
	fı	unctionals	107		
5.1	The B	ogoliubov generating functionals	107		
5.2	Rando	m Walk in a Kawasaki model of environment	113		
	5.2.1	Non-equilibrium evolution of generating functionals	116		
	5.2.2	Vlasov-type scaling via generating functionals	122		
Appen	Appendix A. Ovsjannikov-type theorem				
A.1	Proof of Theorem 4.2				
Biography					

Introduction

In natural sciences we frequently confront with open systems, i.e. systems which are influenced by their surroundings through exchanges of energy and matters [38,68,122]. In physics, classical models for such systems are given by the so-called *system-plus-reservoir*, see e.g. [113]. These models describe the Hamiltonian dynamics of a test particle (system) moving in a fluid (reservoir). The fluid is formed by a large number of particles, hence one can usually neglect the influence that the system has on it. Clearly, the system can be interpreted both as the particle of a dilute gas or as a small part of the reservoir. In the latter case, a full understanding of the problem provides an understanding of the fluid itself. Classical examples of such models are the Rayleigh and Lorenz gas. They were originally proposed by Lord Rayleigh in 1891, see [105], and H. A. Lorenz in 1905, see [93], respectively, to describe the motion of a pendulum in the presence of friction and the diffusion of conduction electrons in metals, respectively. The subsequent century has seen a rapid grow of results concerning these and related models, which found applications in many different fields such as probability [3, 116], dynamical systems [115], statistical mechanics [30, 40], transport phenomena [28,75] and so on. Particularly important are the applications in quantum mechanics, where the so-called open quantum systems revealed to be essential in the study of the approach to equilibrium [87, 92], quantum decoherence [11-13] and more recently in nanosystems [110]. For an extensive overview of all these subjects we refer to [29,67,90,106,113].

In this thesis we consider a specific class of system-plus-reservoir models, so-called random walks in random environments (RWREs). A RWRE describes the random walk (RW) of a particle jumping in some (phase) space X according to a transition kernel which depends on a random field on X, which we call random environment (RE). The study of these models has started in the early 1970s motivated by some problems in biology [24, 119] and disordered systems [41, 74]. Progressively, applications have spread out through different fields and nowadays RWRE represents a wide and very active area of research. The main reason of this rapid development lies in the fact that such models can differ drastically from ordinary RWs and new interesting phenomena appear. We refer to [22,72] for an account of the history of the subject and a review of classical results. In the rigorous study of RWRE models one can distinguish two distinct situations depending if the RE is static or dynamic. In the first case, the environment is randomly chosen at time zero and remains fixed throughout all the time evolution. A mathematical analysis of such models was started in the '70s by Solomon [73, 112] and, at present, their behavior is fairly well understood even if some questions still remain open, especially in high dimensions. We refer to [118, 125] for a recent review of the topic. Contrarily, in RW in dynamic RE the environment changes over time according to a (stationary) stochastic process. The first models of this type appeared more recently in the '90s, see [15, 17], and in the last years they have been intensively studied under different assumptions, see e.g. [6, 18, 19, 35, 104, 124].

All the models of RW in static and dynamic RE mentioned above are defined on a lattice, namely one takes $X = \mathbb{Z}^d$ for some $d \ge 1$. Another possibility that has been analyzed in several papers concerns RWs evolving on some random graph, see e.g. [9, 101, 117]. In this work we concentrate on models of RWs in dynamic REs on \mathbb{R}^d , $d \ge 1$. Such models are not so widely studied in the literature. They were introduced for the first time in [16], where the authors considered the RW of a particle moving in \mathbb{R}^d and interacting with a RE represented by a stationary Glauber-type dynamics in \mathbb{R}^d (see e.g. [82]). In particular, assuming a low activity-high temperature regime for the Glauber dynamics and small coupling between the tagged particle and the environment, they obtained the large time asymptotic for the particle position distribution. Here, we want to study the complementary situation where the RE is described by a non-equilibrium Markov process and the interaction between the particle and the environment is not necessarily weak. It is worth noting that in these two cases not much is known even on lattice, see e.g. [4,26,36,37] for some results in this direction.

More concretely, we consider the RW of a tagged particle moving in \mathbb{R}^d according to a jump process and interacting with a RE formed by infinitely many identical particles. The evolution of these particles is described by some non-equilibrium Markov dynamics in \mathbb{R}^d , which can be a birth-and-death dynamics or the dynamics of jumping particles, see some examples in [60]. We assume that each particle of the model is completely characterized by its position in the space. Moreover, having in mind that any element has a physical size, we impose that in any bounded region there are only a finite number of particles of RE and, at the same time, we forbid them to occupy the same position in the space. As a consequence, the phase space of the model is given by $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$, where $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the space of locally finite configurations over \mathbb{R}^d , see e.g. [1,2,77]. Any (microscopic) state of the system is represented by the pair (γ, y) , where $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ identifies the position of the tagged particle, and $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the configuration formed by all particles of the environment. On a microscopic level the dynamic of the RWRE is described by a heuristic Markov generator L acting on a proper space of functions on $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$. This generator can be written as

$$L := L_{RE} + L_{RW}(\gamma), \tag{1}$$

where the operator L_{RE} defines the Markov dynamics of the particles of RE, see [60], and $L_{RW}(\gamma)$ describes the RW of the tagged particle. The latter depends on the configuration of particles of the RE, $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$, due to some interaction of the tagged particle with the RE. This interaction is represented by a non-negative function $\lambda_{int}(\gamma, y, z)$ which modulates the density rate of a jump from a point $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ to $z \in \mathbb{R}^d$. These models of RWREs can be considered as a stochastic version of the Rayleigh and Lorenz gases mentioned previously. They are inspired, in particular, by ecological systems: one can interpret them as a prey (RW) running away from a group of predators (RE) or as a predator (RW) moving in a group of prey (RE) depending on the form of λ_{int} , see e.g [25] and reference therein.

The essential problem in the study of the models of RWRE introduced above is that, contrary to the lattice case, the construction of a spatial Markov process in \mathbb{R}^d , describing the (non-equilibrium) stochastic evolution of RE,

$$\Gamma\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right) \ni \gamma \mapsto X_{t}^{\gamma} \in \Gamma\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right), \quad t > 0,$$

is a difficult question which is not completely solved, in general, at present, see e.g. [65, 100]. Let us note that for systems on a lattice and systems in continuum with a finite number of particles this construction can be done for a wide class of systems, see e.g. [64, 91]. On the other hand, as it is well known in statistical mechanics [71], such a microscopic description of the dynamics is often too detailed to be really useful in concrete applications. Indeed, in the real-world systems the number of particles is so huge that, typically, we are not able to follow the trajectories of each them, but one can take into account just the statistical characteristics of the evolution. This leads to a statistical description of complex systems, see e.g. [55, 60, 62]. In such an approach, we study the evolution of states in the course of the (microscopic) stochastic evolution of RWRE. From the mathematical point of view a state corresponds to a measure $\mu(d\gamma, dy)$ on $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$. Heuristically, the evolution of a state is given by the Kolmogorov (or Fokker-Planck) equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\mu_t = (L_{RE}^* + L_{RW}^*)\,\mu_t, \qquad t \ge 0,\tag{2}$$

where $L^* := L_{RE}^* + L_{RW}^*$ is the adjoint operator of L w.r.t. to the pairing between functions and measures on $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$. Following the approach of statistical mechanics, in order to study (2) we reformulate the evolution of states in terms of the corresponding *correlation* functions $k_t^{(n)}(x_1, \ldots, x_n, y)$ on $(\mathbb{R}^d)^n \times \mathbb{R}^d$, $n \ge 0$. As a result, the Markov dynamics of RWRE is described in terms of the hierarchy for correlation functions

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}k_t = \left(\hat{L}_{RE}^* + \hat{L}_{RW}^*\right)k_t, \qquad t \ge 0, \tag{3}$$

where $\hat{L}^* := \hat{L}_{RE}^* + \hat{L}_{RW}^*$ is the corresponding image of the operator L^* acting on sequences of functions $k_t = \{k_t^{(n)}(x_1, \ldots, x_n, y)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$. Equation (3) can be considered as a chain of infinite equations for $k_t^{(n)}$, which is an analog of the BBGKY hierarchy for Hamiltonian systems, see e.g. [34]. The correlation functions $\{k_t^{(n)}\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ contain all the statistical quantities related to the evolution of RWRE, cf. [71,109], and they play a key role in our analysis. In recent years this statistical approach has been successfully applied to study the non-equilibrium stochastic dynamics of many interacting particle systems in the continuum, see [10,45,49,58,81,84] and references therein.

As in all hierarchical equations, we can attempt to study the existence and uniqueness of solutions to (3). However, in general, one cannot expect to obtain an explicit form of the solution or, at least, some information about its behavior. On the other hand, from kinetic theory we know that the dynamics of many-body systems (system-plus-environment models included) can be approximated through *kinetic equations*. The latter are differential equations of first-order in time which describe the evolution of the density (first-order correlation function) of particles distributions, see e.g. [5,67,113] for an account of the field. The kinetic equations can be easily guessed by truncating the BBGKY hierarchy at the first-order, see e.g [71]. In many cases, this approximation gives a fairly good understanding of the underlying microscopic dynamics. One of the central problems in non-equilibrium statistical mechanics is to understand the approximate validity of these kinetic equations. From a mathematical point of view this is translated in finding a scaling limit leading to the kinetic equations starting from a microscopic model. Such limits have been the object of several studies from physicists, mathematicians and ecologists. We refer to [76, 95, 103, 114] for a review of rigorous results both for Hamiltonian dynamics and interacting particle systems.

In this thesis we focus on the mesoscopic limits, in particular, we will study a Vlasov-type limit [113]. In physics, the corresponding Vlasov equation describes the Hamiltonian motion of a system of infinitely many particles in the mean-field limit, namely taking into account the influence of weak and long-range interactions, see e.g. [113]. This equation was first suggested by A. A. Vlasov in the physics of plasmas, see [121]. The convergence of the Vlasov-type scaling limit was shown by W. Braun and K. Hepp [23], for the Hamiltonian systems, and later by R. L. Dobrushin [33], for general dynamical systems. Note that these two approaches cannot be applied to the model of RWREs considered here. The main reason is that, as already discussed above, we are not able to define the evolution of the particles in terms of a proper stochastic equation. Another problem is related to the possible variation of particle number in the RE during the evolution. As observed in [113], for Hamiltonian systems the correct Vlasov-type limit can be easily guessed from the BBGKY hierarchy. In [8], by a low density scaling limit of the evolution of correlation functions, the authors derive (point-wisely) a kinetic equation for systems of random number of particles with collision, fragmentation and coagulation both in \mathbb{R}^d and \mathbb{Z}^d . More recently, in [51] a general scheme to derive the Vlasov equation for Markov evolutions of infinite particle systems in continuum has been developed. This scheme, and in particular the convergence of the scaling limit, has been rigorously analyzed in different models: birth-and-death dynamics [45, 52, 54, 56-58, 61] and jumping particle systems [10, 43].

We use the scheme proposed in [51] to derive a mesoscopic limit for the stochastic dynamics

of RWREs. The basic idea is to rescale, by means of a parameter $\varepsilon > 0$, the generator \hat{L}^* , making the interaction among all particles weak and the density of RE appropriately high. The result will be a renormalized operator, $\hat{L}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta} := \hat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta} + \hat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta}$, which describes the rescaled evolution of the correlation functions. By means of the considered scaling we arrive to a limiting Vlasov hierarchy of the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}k_t = \left(L_{RE,V}^{\triangle} + L_{RW,V}^{\triangle}\right)k_t, \qquad t \ge 0, \tag{4}$$

where the operator $L_V^{\triangle} := L_{RE,V}^{\triangle} + L_{RW,V}^{\triangle}$ is the point-wise limit of $\hat{L}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\triangle}$ as ε goes to zero. It is worth noting that we do not need to define a reduced dynamics of the tagged particle, see e.g. [113]. As consequence of this fact, in the mesoscopic limit we obtain a system of two kinetic equations, so-called *Vlasov equations*, for the densities of RE and of the tagged particle, $\rho_t, r_t : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}, t \ge 0$, respectively. Due to the special structure of the operator L, the kinetic equation for the density of RE, ρ_t , is independent, while the equation for the density of the jumping particle, r_t , depends on the solution of the previous one. In this approach, the kinetic equations follow from the chaos preservation property of the Vlasov hierarchy (4). The latter implies that uncorrelated states, $k_t^{(n)}(x_1, \ldots, x_n, y) = \prod_{i=1}^n \rho_t(x_i)r_t(y), t \ge 0$, are preserved in the course of the limiting evolution. The Vlasov equations turn out to describe a non-autonomous RW whose transition kernel is modulated by a function $\overline{\lambda}_t(y, z), y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$, which depends on the density of particle in RE $\rho_t, t \ge 0$. The function $\overline{\lambda}_t$ is an effective interaction λ_{int} has on the RW of the tagged particle.

Outline of the thesis

In this thesis we present a rigorous analysis of several models of RWREs according to the statistical approach described above. More precisely, we realize the following program:

- (1) we construct the evolution of correlation functions as the solution to hierarchy (3);
- (2) we use the Vlasov-type scaling to derive the mesoscopic evolution of the correlation functions. In particular, we prove that the rescaled evolution of correlation functions converges to the solution of the limiting hierarchy (4);
- (3) we show that Vlasov hierarchy (4) satisfies the chaos preservation property and derive the corresponding kinetic equations;
- (4) we prove the existence, uniqueness and some uniform bounds for the solutions to the Vlasov equations.

Clearly, the space where we study the evolution of correlation functions depends on the applications one has in mind. For interacting particle systems, it is rather natural to consider correlation functions which satisfy the so-called Ruelle bounds, see e.g. [107,108]. In our case, this bound implies that for some C > 0

$$\left|k_t^{(n)}\left(x_1,\ldots,x_n,y\right)\right| \le M\left(y\right)C^n, \qquad x_1,\ldots,x_n, y \in \mathbb{R}^d, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(5)

Here, we distinguish two different situations depending whether the function $M(\cdot)$ is bounded on \mathbb{R}^d or integrable over the whole \mathbb{R}^d . We denote by \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} and \mathcal{K}_C^1 , respectively, the corresponding (Banach) spaces of sequences of functions $\{k_t^{(n)}\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ (cf. (2.31) and (2.32)). Note that the analysis of existence problems in such spaces is quite non-trivial and requires deep techniques in infinite dimensional analysis. In recent years different methods to address these problems have been developed, see e.g. [45,48,54,61], which we may also apply in the present context. The Vlasov equations, instead, will be studied for measurable non-negative functions $\rho_t(x) \leq C$, a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, and $r_t \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^d)$, with $q = \infty, 1$ depending on the class of functions M, cf. (5), we consider. Such solutions can be obtained by using the standard theory of first-order differential equations in Banach spaces, see e.g. [69, 85]. These results should be considered as a preliminary step for a future study of the properties of these kinetic equations. In our analysis, we consider different classes of REs, in particular birth-and-death processes, see e.g. [45, 50, 54, 57, 82], and jumping particle systems, see e.g [10, 43], and we provide general conditions that the interaction λ_{int} should fulfill. Such conditions are satisfied in many specific situations, including also possibly unbounded interactions. Roughly speaking, we can consider functions λ_{int} which grow at most linearly with the number of particles of RE, namely $\lambda_{int}(\gamma, \cdot, \cdot) \leq \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 |\gamma|$ whenever $|\gamma| < \infty$, where $|\cdot|$ denotes the number of points (cardinality) of a configuration. For the sake of clarity, some of these models will be discussed in details and others will be just mentioned briefly through the work.

The thesis is organized as follows.

In Chapter 1 we introduce a general framework to describe models formed by one particle which interacts with an infinite particle system. For such models, we consider two different spaces: the phase space $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and the additional product space $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$, where $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the space of all finite configurations over \mathbb{R}^d . Section 1.1 is devoted to a description of these spaces. More precisely, we review the harmonic analysis on configurations spaces developed in [77] in the considered product spaces. This analysis is based on the so-called K-transform. The latter defines a mapping between functions on $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ (quasi-observables) and functions on $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ (observables), see Section 1.1.2. In Section 1.2 we study measures (states) on the phase space. In particular, using the K-transform we define the concept of correlation functions associated to a given state, see Definition 1.30. The sequence of correlation functions $\{k^{(n)}\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ can be represented as a function $k(\eta, y)$ on $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$. This representation allows us to establish a duality between correlation functions and quasi-observables, see Remark 1.49 and (2.24).

In Chapter 2 we describe the evolution of RWREs on the three different levels: microscopic, statistical and mesoscopic. We consider the case where the particles of RE evolve according to a birth-and-death dynamics or to a jumping stochastic dynamics. In Section 2.1 we give a detailed description of the Markov pre-generator L. We state minimal conditions on the parameters of the models and provide some concrete examples for the interaction λ_{int} . In Section 2.2, we determine the explicit form of the hierarchy for correlation functions (3). This is done in two steps. First, in Section 2.2.1 we calculate the image of the operator L under the K-transform, i.e. $\hat{L} := K^{-1}LK$, which describes the evolution for quasi-observables. Then, the operator \hat{L}^* is obtained by using the duality between quasi-observables and correlation functions, see Section 2.2.2. Afterwards, in Section 2.3 we give a general description of the Vlasov-type scaling proposed in [51] for the considered models of RWREs. An explicit realization of such a mesoscopic limit is done in Section 2.3.1. We state general conditions on the parameter of the model in order to derive the Vlasov equations of a RW moving in RE under a general interaction $\lambda_{\rm int}$, cf. Lemma 2.25. This derivation is informal, in the sense that the limit is performed on the forms of the hierarchies rather than on their solutions. To conclude, in Section 2.3.2 we present a list of kinetic equations for different examples of interaction.

In the remaining three chapters we proceed with a rigorous study of some concrete models of RWREs.

In Chapter 3 we consider the case where the particles of RE evolve according to a birthand-death dynamics. The evolution of correlation functions is constructed in Section 3.1. In particular, we provide sufficient conditions on the birth and death intensities as well as on λ_{int} for the existence of a strongly continuous semigroup with generator \hat{L}^* on a proper subspace of \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} , see Theorem 3.8. In order to show this result we adapt the approach developed in [54]. The idea is to use the duality (2.24) and consider the pre-dual evolution for quasiobservables in some pre-dual L^1 -space, see Theorem 3.3. In Section 3.2 we study the Vlasovtype scaling limit. In Section 3.2.1 we show a weak*-convergence of the rescaled evolution of correlation functions to the solution of the Vlasov hierarchy (4) in terms of the corresponding semigroup in $\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\mathcal{C}}$. Namely, we prove the strong convergence of the pre-dual semigroups in the space of quasi-observables, see Theorem 3.35. The latter follows from a general result about the strong convergence of resolvent operators in Banach spaces, see Lemma 3.19 or also [54, Lemma 4.3]. Next, in Section 3.2.2 we study the solutions to the resulting system of Vlasov equations, see (3.124a)-(3.124b). For a birth-and-death dynamics it is natural to assume that the corresponding Vlasov equation (3.124a) has a non-negative and uniformly bounded solution, see e.g. [48, 57, 82]. Under these conditions in Theorem 3.41 we show that the kinetic equation of the RW (3.124b) also has a unique, non-negative and uniformly bounded solution. The general results obtained throughout this chapter are discussed for different interactions λ_{int} in the particular case of a RW moving in BDLP model of RE, see Section 3.1.3 and 3.2.3. The BDLP model is an individual based model in spatial ecology introduced by B. Bolker and S. Pacala [20, 21], U. Dieckmann and R. Law [31] to describe the competition among plants. The evolution of correlation functions and the Vlasov-type scaling for such a model have been studied in [50] and [56], respectively.

In Chapter 4 we consider the model of RW moving in a birth-and-death environment with a constant birth rate and a death rate inverse proportional to the number of particles in RE. This particular birth-and-death dynamics has been proposed in [45] and one can easily see that the smigroup techniques of the previous chapter cannot be applied. In Section 4.1, we study the evolution (3) in the scale of Banach spaces $\{\mathcal{K}_C^1 : 0 < C \leq C_0\}$. Under some general conditions on the interaction λ_{int} , in Theorem 4.3 we show that (3) has a unique solution on a proper space of the scale, but on a finite time interval. The proof of this result is given in Section 4.1.1 and it is carried out by using an Ovsjannikov-type result given in Theorem 4.2and proved thoroughly in Appendix A. The assumptions on λ_{int} are verified for a number of particular examples in Section 4.1.2. Section 4.2 is devoted to the study of the Vlasov-type scaling. In Section 4.2.1, by using an Ovsjannikov-type result for families of initial value problems on a scale of Banach spaces, see Theorem 4.9 or [45, Theorem 3.3], we show that the rescaled evolution for correlation function converges to the solution to the Vlasov hierarchy (4) on a finite time interval. The precise result is stated in Theorem 4.17. The corresponding system of kinetic equations, see (4.76a)-(4.76b), is studied in Section 4.2.2. In Theorem 4.22 we show that, if the initial density of RE is small enough, the Vlasov equations have unique, non-negative and uniformly bounded solutions for any time interval. Moreover, if the initial density of RW is integrable on \mathbb{R}^d then it remains integrable in the course of the evolution. Note that the restriction on the initial density of RE prevents any type of aggregation in the environment, see [45]. These results will be also discussed for concrete forms of λ_{int} in Section 4.2.3.

Finally, in Chapter 5 we consider the model of a RW interacting with a jumping particle system which evolves according to a Kawasaki dynamics, see e.g. [43]. For this model, we do not study the statistical evolution in terms of correlation functions, but we reformulate the problem in terms of the corresponding Bogoliubov generating functionals, see e.g. [8,14,63,79]. The analysis of the model will be performed for the concrete interactions $\lambda_{int} = \lambda^{(1)}$ and $\lambda_{int} = \lambda^{(2)}$ introduced in Section 2.1. In Section 5.1 we define and characterize the generating functionals for a RWRE. To any finite measure $\mu(\gamma, y)$ on $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ we may associate a Bogoliubov functional $Z_{\mu}(\theta, \psi)$ on $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d) \times L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ according to Definition 5.1. In particular, we consider functionals which are entire and of bounded type. Under these assumptions, we can recover the notion of correlation functions introduced in Chapter 1, see Proposition 5.7. The latter specifies the connection between the Bogoliubov functional Z_{μ} and the correlation functions k_{μ} associated to a state μ (cf. (5.23)),

$$B(\theta, y) := \frac{\delta Z_{\mu}(\theta, \psi)}{\delta \psi(y)} = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \prod_{x \in \eta} \theta(x) k_{\mu}(\eta, y), \qquad \theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d), y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(6)

In Section 5.2 we construct the statistical evolution of the considered models. Using the identity above, we rewrite the hierarchy for correlation functions (3) as an evolution equation for the generating functionals B_t of the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}B_t = \left(\tilde{L}'_{RE} + \tilde{L}'_{RW}\right)B_t, \qquad t \ge 0.$$
(7)

The expression of operators \tilde{L}'_{RE} and \tilde{L}'_{RW} is given by (5.40) and (5.41), respectively. Let $\mathcal{E}_{\alpha}, \alpha > 0$, be the (Banach) space of all functionals B_t associated with correlation functions $k_t \in \mathcal{K}^1_{1/\alpha}$ via (6) (cf. Definition 5.14). In Section 5.2.1 we study the solutions to (5.37) in \mathcal{E}_{α} . In particular, in Theorem 5.19 and 5.21 we show an existence and uniqueness result in the case where the interaction λ_{int} is given by $\lambda^{(1)}$ and $\lambda^{(2)}$, respectively. The analysis is carried out by using the Ovsjannikov-type Theorem 4.2 in the scale of Banach spaces $\{\mathcal{E}_{\alpha} : 0 < \alpha \leq \alpha_0\}$ leading to local in time solutions. In Section 5.2.2, we reformulate the Vlasov-type scaling in terms of the Bogoliubov functionals. As a result, we obtain a limiting evolution equation for the generating functionals B_t , which has also a chaos preservation property, cf. Lemma 5.27. The convergence of the rescaled evolution of generating functionals to their limiting evolution can be proved (on a finite time interval) by using Theorem 4.9. In Theorem 5.32 and 5.37 we show this convergence for the interactions $\lambda^{(1)}$ and $\lambda^{(2)}$, respectively, and derive the corresponding systems of Vlasov equations. Existence, uniqueness and uniform bounds of solutions to these two systems of kinetic equations can be proved by using a general result stated in Lemma 4.21, see Theorem 5.33 and 5.38, respectively.

In Appendix A which we give a detailed proof of Theorem 4.2 we use in Chapter 4 and 5. The latter is a slight generalization of the classical Ovsjannikov Theorem, see e.g. [44,98,120].

Chapter 1

One-particle system in a random environment

In this chapter we describe a mathematical framework for the study of the stochastic dynamics of a one-particle system in a random environment. In our case, the environment is represented by an interacting particle system consisting of an infinite number of identical particles. All particles of the composed model, i.e. system plus environment, are allowed to move in the space \mathbb{R}^d and each of them is completely identified by its position in the space.

In Section 1.1, we introduce the phase space of the model, describing its general structure and the main properties. Any (microscopic) state is represented by the position of the tagged particle and the configuration formed by all particles of the environment. Then, in order to arrive to a more convenient statistical description of the model, in Section 1.2 we introduce statistical states as measures on the phase space. Moreover, we will define the concept of correlation functions, which will be the main object of investigation in the (non-equilibrium) dynamics of our models.

1.1 Phase space of the model

Let us proceed to the mathematical realization of a complex systems formed by a particle interacting with an environment. In this context, environment refers to a system of infinitely many particles, identical to each other.

We assume that all particles of the complex system can move in the space \mathbb{R}^d and each of them can be characterized by its position in the space. Moreover, we impose that in any bounded region there are only a finite number of particles of the environment and, at the same time, we forbid them to occupy the same position in the space. Thus, as suggested in [60,62], in an abstract mathematical context we may conveniently describe the tagged-particle as a point in \mathbb{R}^d and the environment as a discrete set (configuration) of the underlying physical space. This leads to the following definition.

Definition 1.1. We consider as the phase space of the model the product space

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}(\mathbb{R}^d) := \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{1.1}$$

where $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ denote the space of locally finite configurations over \mathbb{R}^d , namely

$$\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) := \Gamma = \left\{ \gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^d : |\gamma_{\Lambda}| := |\gamma \cap \Lambda| < \infty \text{ for all } \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \right\}.$$
(1.2)

Here $|\cdot|$ means the cardinality of a set and $\mathcal{B}_{b}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ denotes the collection of all bounded sets from the family $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ consisting of all Borel sets in \mathbb{R}^{d} .

The phase space contains all possible microscopic states of the model. Any microscopic state is given by a pair $(\gamma, y) \in \widetilde{\Gamma}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ corresponds to the position of the jumping particle, whereas $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the configuration of points identified by the position of all the particles of the environment.

Configuration space (1.2) has been intensively studied in the last decades, see [1,2,77,78, 80,86]. The space (1.1) can be considered as a special case of two components configuration spaces [62], the aim of this section is to extend the theory of configuration spaces Γ to the phase space $\tilde{\Gamma}$. In the following, with a small abuse of notation, we keep the same notation commonly used in configuration space analysis.

Any configuration $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ can be identified with a non-negative Random measure

$$\Gamma \ni \gamma \mapsto \sum_{x \in \gamma} \delta_x \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

where δ_x is the Dirac measure with unit mass in x and $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ denotes the space of all nonnegative Radon measures on $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. By definition $\sum_{x \in \emptyset} \delta_x$ indicates the zero measure. This embedding allows us to endow the configuration space $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with the topology induced by the vague topology on $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, i.e. the weakest topology with respect to which all mappings

$$\Gamma \ni \gamma \mapsto \langle \gamma, f \rangle := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(x) \, \mathrm{d}\gamma(x) = \sum_{x \in \gamma} f(x) \,,$$

are continuous for any $f \in C_{\rm bs}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where $C_{\rm bs}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the set of all continuous functions on \mathbb{R}^d with bounded support. We denote by $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma)$ the corresponding Borel σ -algebra on $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Remark 1.2. Independently of the topological structure of $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$, the Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma)$ can be characterized as the smallest σ -algebra on $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for which all mappings

$$\Gamma \ni \gamma \mapsto N_{\Lambda}(\gamma) := |\gamma_{\Lambda}| \in \mathbb{N}_0$$

are measurable for any $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, namely

$$\mathcal{B}\left(\Gamma
ight)=\sigma\left(\{N_{\Lambda}:\Lambda\in\mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})\}
ight).$$

See [77] for further details.

Remark 1.3. We can give a different description of the measurable space $(\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathcal{B}(\Gamma))$, which will be useful later on in order to introduce a measure on this space. For any set $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, let us define the space of configurations contained in Λ given by

$$\Gamma(\Lambda) := \left\{ \gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) : \left| \gamma \cap (\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Lambda) \right| = 0 \right\}.$$

On this space we can introduce a Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma(\Lambda))$ as in Remark 1.2, namely

$$\mathcal{B}\left(\Gamma(\Lambda)\right) := \sigma\left(\left\{N_{\Lambda'} \upharpoonright_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} : \Lambda' \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}\left(\Lambda\right)\right\}\right).$$

Let us consider the measurable projection p_{Λ} defined by

$$\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \ni \gamma \mapsto p_{\Lambda}(\gamma) := \gamma \cap \Lambda \in \Gamma(\Lambda).$$
(1.3)

It can be shown, see e.g. [111], that the space $(\Gamma, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma))$ coincides (up to an isomorphism) with the projective limit of the family of measurable spaces

$$\{\Gamma(\Lambda), \mathcal{B}(\Gamma(\Lambda)) \mid \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)\},\$$

with respect to the projections p_{Λ} . In particular, $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma)$ coincides with the smallest σ -algebra for which all the projections (1.3) are measurable, namely

$$\mathcal{B}(\Gamma) = \sigma\left(\{p_{\Lambda} : \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_b(\mathbb{R}^d)\}\right).$$

Furthermore, we can introduce a filtration of $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ given by

$$\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)) := \sigma\left(\{N_{\Lambda'} : \Lambda' \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d), \Lambda' \subset \Lambda\}\right).$$

Note that the σ -algebras $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma(\Lambda))$ and $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma)$ are isomorphic, see e.g. [77].

As a result, we can equip the phase space $\widetilde{\Gamma}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with the topology induced by the product topological spaces $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and with the corresponding Borel σ -algebra, namely $\mathcal{B}(\widetilde{\Gamma}) := \mathcal{B}(\Gamma) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. It is worth noting that this topology may be metrizable in such a way that $\widetilde{\Gamma}$ becomes a Polish space, see e.g. [80] and reference therein.

Functions on the phase space $\widetilde{\Gamma}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ are called observables. This notion is borrowed from physics and it represents physical quantities which can be measured in course of empirical investigations. We denote by $L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}, \mathcal{B}(\widetilde{\Gamma}))$ the space consisting of all $\mathcal{B}(\widetilde{\Gamma})$ -measurable functions $F : \Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$ such that $|F(\gamma, y)| < \infty$ whenever $|\gamma| < \infty$. In particular, a function $F \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}, \mathcal{B}(\widetilde{\Gamma}))$ is called a cylinder function if it is also measurable with respect to $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for some $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma)$, namely if

$$F(\gamma, y) = F \upharpoonright_{\Gamma(\Lambda) \times \mathbb{R}^d} (\gamma_{\Lambda}, y), \quad \text{for any } \gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \text{ and } y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

The class of cylinder functions is denoted by $\mathcal{F}_{cyl}(\Gamma)$.

Let us introduce a subset of the phase space which contains only configurations of the environment with a finite number of particles.

Definition 1.4. We define the product space

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}_0(\mathbb{R}^d) := \Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{1.4}$$

where $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ denote the space of finite configurations over \mathbb{R}^d , namely

$$\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) := \Gamma_0 := \left\{ \eta \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) : |\eta| < \infty \right\}.$$
(1.5)

Remark 1.5. The space of finite configurations $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ can be represented as a disjoint union of the spaces of *n*-point configurations $\Gamma^{(n)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, namely

$$\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) = \bigsqcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \Gamma^{(n)}(\mathbb{R}^d), \qquad (1.6)$$

where for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\Gamma^{(n)}(\mathbb{R}^d) := \left\{ \eta \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) : |\eta| = n \right\}$$
(1.7)

and $\Gamma^{(0)}(\mathbb{R}^d) := \{\emptyset\}.$

In order to introduce a topological structure on the space $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$, it is convenient to use the representation (1.6). The *n*-point configuration space $\Gamma^{(n)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ can be easily constructed starting from the real space $(\mathbb{R}^d)^n$. More precisely, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we can introduce a surjective mapping between the space

$$(\mathbb{R}^{\overline{d}})^n := \{ (x_1, \dots, x_n) : x_i \neq x_j \text{ if } i \neq j \}$$

$$(1.8)$$

and the *n*-point configuration space $\Gamma^{(n)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, defined as the symmetrization map

$$\operatorname{sym}_{\mathbb{R}^d}^n : (\mathbb{R}^d)^n \to \Gamma^{(n)}(\mathbb{R}^d)
(x_1, \dots, x_n) \mapsto \{x_1, \dots, x_n\}.$$
(1.9)

Clearly, the mapping (1.9) produces a one-to-one correspondence between $\Gamma^{(n)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and the symmetrized space $(\mathbb{R}^d)^n / S_n^{-1}$. Thus, we can use this bijection to induces a metrizable topology on $\Gamma^{(n)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and, thereafter, we endow $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with the topology of disjoint union of topological spaces. We denote by $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma^{(n)})$ and $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0)$ the corresponding Borel σ -algebras on $\Gamma^{(n)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$, respectively. As a consequence, we can equip the space $\widetilde{\Gamma}_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with the topology induced by the product topological spaces $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and with the corresponding Borel σ -algebra, namely $\mathcal{B}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0) := \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

¹The symmetrization of the space $(\mathbb{R}^d)^n$ is given by $(\mathbb{R}^d)^n/S_n$ where S_n is the permutation group over the coordinate index $\{1, \ldots, n\}$.

Remark 1.6. It is worth noting that, from a topological point of view, the space $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ cannot be considered a subset of the phase space $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$. Indeed, the topology induced on Γ_0 by the vague topology on Γ does not coincide with the topology we have defined on the space of finite configurations. From our point of view the space $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ should be considered as complementary mathematical object of the physical space $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

Functions on the space $\widetilde{\Gamma}_0$ are called quasi-observables. They are not observables themselves, but they can be used to construct observables, see Section 1.1.2. Let $L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0, \mathcal{B}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0))$ be the space of all $\mathcal{B}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ -measurable functions $G: \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$. We denote by $L^0_{\text{ls}}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ the set of all measurable functions on $\widetilde{\Gamma}_0$ with local support on Γ_0 . Namely $G \in L^0_{\text{ls}}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ iff $G \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ and there exists a set $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\text{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that

$$G(\eta, y) \upharpoonright_{(\Gamma_0 \setminus \Gamma(\Lambda)) \times \mathbb{R}^d} = 0, \quad \text{for any } \eta \in \Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \text{ and } y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

A set $M \in \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0)$ is called bounded if there exists $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$M \subset \bigsqcup_{n=0}^{N} \Gamma^{(n)} \left(\Lambda \right).$$

Let $\mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma_0)$ be the collection of all bounded sets in Γ_0 . We will also consider the set $B_{\mathrm{bs}}(\Gamma_0)$ formed by all bounded measurable functions which have a bounded support on Γ_0 . The latter means that there exists a bounded set $M \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma_0)$ such that

$$G(\eta, y) \upharpoonright_{(\Gamma_0 \setminus M) \times \mathbb{R}^d} = 0,$$
 for any $\eta \in \Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Remark 1.7. Let us consider quasi-observables $G : \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$. Having in mind the representation given by (1.6)-(1.7), for any $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ the restriction $G(\cdot; y) \upharpoonright_{\Gamma^{(n)} \times \mathbb{R}^d}$ can be written as

$$G(\eta; y) \upharpoonright_{\Gamma^{(n)} \times \mathbb{R}^d} = \tilde{g}^{(n)}(x_1, \dots, x_n; y), \qquad \text{for any } \eta = \{x_1, \dots, x_n\} \in \Gamma^{(n)}, y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where $\tilde{g}^{(n)}: (\mathbb{R}^d)^n \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a measurable function symmetric under permutations of points in $(\mathbb{R}^d)^n$. Moreover, the function $\tilde{g}^{(n)}$ we can extend it to all space $(\mathbb{R}^d)^n \times \mathbb{R}^d$, namely one can define the measurable function $g^{(n)}: (\mathbb{R}^d)^n \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$

$$g^{(n)}(x_1, \dots, x_n, y) = \begin{cases} \tilde{g}^{(n)}(x_1, \dots, x_n; y), & \text{if } (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \widetilde{(\mathbb{R}^d)^n}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(1.10)

As consequence, any quasi-observables on $\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$ can be represented as a sequence of functions of increasing number of variables (1.10), namely

$$\left\{g^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n,y)\right\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$$
.

For any $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we denote by $L^0_{\text{sym}^n}((\mathbb{R}^d)^n \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ the space of all functions of the form (1.10).

In the following subsections, we continue the analysis of the mathematical structure of the spaces introduced above. In particular, we consider and adapt to our case some important notions well-known in the theory of configuration spaces.

1.1.1 The phase space as a measure space

In this section we want to define the phase spaces $\widetilde{\Gamma}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\widetilde{\Gamma}_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ as measure spaces. For this purpose we need to introduce a measure on the measurable spaces $(\widetilde{\Gamma}, \mathcal{B}(\widetilde{\Gamma}))$ and $(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0, \mathcal{B}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0))$.

We start for convenience with the space $(\tilde{\Gamma}_0, \mathcal{B}(\tilde{\Gamma}_0))$. On the space of finite configurations $(\Gamma_0, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0))$, we can introduce a measure by using the construction described in formulas (1.5)-(1.9), see [77] for details. More precisely, let σ be a non-degenerate and non-atomic Radon measure on the space $(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$, for example, the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^d . For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we denote by $\sigma^{\otimes n}$ the product measure on $((\mathbb{R}^d)^n, \mathcal{B}((\mathbb{R}^d)^n))$. Since the measure σ is non-atomic it follows that $\sigma^{\otimes n}((\mathbb{R}^d)^n \setminus (\mathbb{R}^d)^n) = 0$. Then, one can consider the restriction of the measure $\sigma^{\otimes n}$ to the space $((\mathbb{R}^d)^n, \mathcal{B}((\mathbb{R}^d)^n))$ and use the mapping (1.9) to define a measure, denoted by $\sigma^{(n)}$, on the space on *n*-point configurations $(\Gamma^{(n)}(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathcal{B}(\Gamma^{(n)}(\mathbb{R}^d)))$ as

$$\sigma^{(n)} := \sigma^{\otimes n} \circ \left(\operatorname{sym}_{\mathbb{R}^d}^n \right)^{-1}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(1.11)

where the r.h.s. denotes the image, or push-forward, measure under the mapping $\operatorname{sym}_{\mathbb{R}^d}^n$. For n = 0 we put $\sigma^{(0)} := 1$. Finally, we can use representation (1.6) to define a measure on the space $(\Gamma_0, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0))$ as sum of the measures (1.11).

Definition 1.8. On the measurable space $(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ we can define the product measure

$$\lambda_{\sigma} = \lambda_{\sigma} \otimes \mathrm{d}y, \tag{1.12}$$

where λ_{σ} is the Lebesgue-Poisson measure with intensity σ on the space $(\Gamma_0, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0))$, defined by

$$\lambda_{\sigma} := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \sigma^{(n)}.$$
(1.13)

Moreover, the triplet $(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0, \mathcal{B}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0), \widetilde{\lambda}_{\sigma})$ define a measure space.

Remark 1.9.

- (i) The measure space $(\Gamma_0, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0), \lambda_{\sigma})$ is called the Lebesgue-Poisson space.
- (ii) In the case that $d\sigma(x) = dx, x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we denote the Lebesgue-Poisson measure λ_{σ} by λ .

Next, let us consider the phase space $(\Gamma, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma))$. On the configuration space $(\Gamma, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma))$ one can introduce the Poisson measure as a projective limit of the normalized finite-volume distributions of the Lebesgue-Poisson measure λ_{σ} , see Remark 1.3 and [77]. More precisely, given a $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ let us consider the restriction of the Lebesgue-Poisson measure λ_{σ} on the space $(\Gamma(\Lambda), \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma(\Lambda)))$, namely

$$\lambda_{\sigma\restriction_{\Gamma(\Lambda)}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \sigma_{\Lambda}^{(n)}, \qquad \sigma_{\Lambda}^{(n)} := \sigma^{\otimes n} \circ (\operatorname{sym}_{\Lambda}^{n})^{-1}, \quad \sigma_{\Lambda}^{(0)} \equiv 1.$$

Note that, since σ is a Radon measure, the measure $\lambda_{\sigma \upharpoonright_{\Gamma(\Lambda)}}$ is finite with total mass

$$\lambda_{\sigma \upharpoonright_{\Gamma(\Lambda)}} (\Gamma(\Lambda)) = \lambda_{\sigma} (\Gamma(\Lambda)) = e^{\sigma(\Lambda)}$$

Thus, one can define a probability measure on $(\Gamma(\Lambda), \mathcal{B}_{b}(\Gamma(\Lambda)))$ given by

$$\pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda} = e^{-\sigma(\Lambda)} \lambda_{\sigma \restriction_{\Gamma(\Lambda)}}.$$
(1.14)

The family of probability measures $\{\pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda} : \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{b}(\mathbb{R}^{d})\}$ is consistent, namely

$$\forall \Lambda_1, \Lambda_2 \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d) : \Lambda_1 \subset \Lambda_2, \qquad \pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda_2} \circ (p_{\Lambda_2,\Lambda_1})^{-1} = \pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda_1},$$

where, according to the notation (1.11), $\pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda_2} \circ (p_{\Lambda_2,\Lambda_1})^{-1}$ is the image measure under the the projections p_{Λ_2,Λ_1} defined as (compare to (1.3))

$$\Gamma(\Lambda_2) \ni \gamma \mapsto p_{\Lambda_2,\Lambda_1}(\gamma) := \gamma \cap \Lambda_1 \in \Gamma(\Lambda_1).$$
(1.15)

Hence, by the Kolmogorov theorem for the projective limit spaces, see [99, Theorem 5.1], the family $\{\pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda} : \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)\}$ determines a unique probability measure π_{σ} on the configuration space $(\Gamma, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma))$ such that

$$\forall \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\Lambda), \qquad \pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda} = \pi_{\sigma} \circ (p_{\Lambda})^{-1}$$

where $\pi_{\sigma} \circ (p_{\Lambda})^{-1}$ is the image measure under the projection (1.3).

Definition 1.10. On the measurable space $(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ we can define the product measure

$$\widetilde{\pi}_{\sigma} = \pi_{\sigma} \otimes \mathrm{d}y, \tag{1.16}$$

where the probability measure π_{σ} is called the Poisson measure with intensity σ . Moreover, the triplet $(\tilde{\Gamma}, \mathcal{B}(\tilde{\Gamma}), \tilde{\pi}_{\sigma})$ define a measure space.

Remark 1.11. The probability space $(\Gamma, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma), \pi_{\sigma})$ is called the Poisson space.

Let us now present some important results concerning the Poisson-Lebesgue measure (1.8) which will be used later on. We refer to [97] for their proofs.

Lemma 1.12. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $n \geq 2$ be given. Then

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} d\lambda_\sigma (\eta_1) \dots \int_{\Gamma_0} d\lambda_\sigma (\eta_n) G(\eta_1 \cup \dots \cup \eta_n, y) H(\eta_1, \dots, \eta_n, y)$$
$$= \int_{\Gamma_0} d\lambda_\sigma (\eta) G(\eta, y) \sum_{(\eta_1, \dots, \eta_n) \in \mathcal{P}_n(\eta)} H(\eta_1, \dots, \eta_n, y), \qquad (1.17)$$

for all positive measurable functions $G: \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ and $H: (\Gamma_0)^n \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ with respect to which both sides make sense.

Let us note that for n = 2, Lemma 1.12 coincides with the well-known Minlos formula, see e.g. [83], which will play an important role in further calculations.

Corollary 1.13. For all measurable positive functions $G: \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$, $H: (\Gamma_0)^2 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ one has

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda_\sigma(\eta) \, G(\eta, y) \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} H\left(\xi, \eta \setminus \xi, y\right) = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda_\sigma(\eta) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda_\sigma(\xi) \, G\left(\eta \cup \xi, y\right) H\left(\xi, \eta, y\right), \quad (1.18)$$

provided that both sides of the equality make sense.

Remark 1.14. Let us consider the particular case where $G(\eta, y) \equiv 1$ and

$$H\left(\xi,\eta,y\right) = \begin{cases} h\left(x,\eta,y\right), & \text{if } \xi = \{x\}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases},$$

for any $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, from Minlos formula (1.18) we obtain

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda_\sigma\left(\eta\right) \sum_{x \in \eta} h\left(x, \eta \setminus x, y\right) = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda_\sigma\left(\eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}\sigma(x) h\left(x, \eta, y\right),\tag{1.19}$$

for any measurable function $h : \mathbb{R}^d \times \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ such that both sides make sense. Identity (1.19) is an analog of the Mecke formula for Poisson measures.

1.1.2 The K-transform

In this section we want to investigate the connection between the phase space $(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and the space $(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$. In particular, we introduce a mapping which transforms functions defined on $\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$ into functions on $\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d$, the so-called K-transform.

Definition 1.15. Let $G \in L^0_{ls}(\Gamma_0)$, we define the function $KG : \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$(KG)(\gamma) := \sum_{\eta \in \gamma} G(\eta), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d), \tag{1.20}$$

where the sum is taken over all finite sub-configurations η of the (infinite) configuration γ . The mapping K is called K-transform.

Remark 1.16. Note that the fact that $G \in L^0_{ls}(\Gamma_0)$ implies that the function KF is well-defined. Indeed, in this case, the sum in (1.20) has only a finite number of summands different from zero.

The K-transform introduced above can be extended to a mapping between functions on $\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and functions on $\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$, namely for any $G \in L^0_{ls}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d)$

$$(KG(\cdot, y))(\gamma) := \sum_{\eta \in \gamma} G(\eta, y), \qquad (1.21)$$

for any fixed $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and all $\gamma \in \Gamma$.

The notion of K-transform first appears in the pioneering works of Lenard in statistical mechanics [88, 89] and has been formalized in [77]. From mathematical point of view, the main attraction of this transformation is the fact that it has a pure combinatorial nature independent of the measure under consideration. We will not go into details concerning the deriving combinatorial harmonic analysis. We just present the main properties of the K-transform which will be used throughout the thesis.

Proposition 1.17. Let us consider the K-transform defined in (1.21). Then

- (i) The mapping K is linear and positivity preserving.
- (ii) The K-transform maps $L^0_{ls}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ into $\mathcal{F}_{cyl}(\widetilde{\Gamma})$. In particular, if $G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ then there exists C > 0, $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{b}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$|(KG(\cdot, y))(\gamma)| \le C (1 + |\gamma_{\Lambda}|)^{N}, \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$

(iii) The mapping $K: L^0_{\mathrm{ls}}(\widetilde{\Gamma_0}) \to \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{cyl}}(\widetilde{\Gamma})$ is invertible with

$$\left(K^{-1}F(\cdot,y)\right)(\eta) := \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} (-1)^{\eta \setminus \xi} F\left(\xi,y\right), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(1.22)

Moreover, the inverse K-transform is well-defined for any $F \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma})$.

Proof. Let us consider a function $G \in L^0_{ls}(\widetilde{\Gamma_0})$. For any fixed $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we can look at it as a function $G(\cdot; y) \in L^0_{ls}(\Gamma_0)$. Then, we can proceed as in the proof of Proposition 3.1 in [77]. \Box

Before concluding, let us consider the K-transform in some concrete case which appear in applications.

Example 1.18. Let $f : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function such that there exists a bounded set $M \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$

$$f(x,y) = 0,$$
 for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus M, y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$

and consider the quasi-observable $G: \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$ defined by

$$G(\eta, y) = \begin{cases} f(x, y), & \text{if } \eta = \{x\}^2, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then, the image of G under the K-transform is given by

$$\left(KG(\cdot,y)\right)(\gamma) = \sum_{\eta \in \gamma} G(\eta,y) = \sum_{x \in \gamma} f\left(x,y\right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right), y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Example 1.19. Given two $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -functions f and g, let us consider the quasi-observable

$$G(\eta, y) = g(y) \prod_{x \in \eta} f(x),$$

where $B(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the set of all bounded measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^d and $B_{bs}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the set of all bounded measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^d with bounded support. For brevity we introduce the so-called Lebesgue-Poisson exponent defined by

$$e_{\lambda}(f,\eta) = \prod_{x \in \eta} f(x), \qquad (1.23)$$

with the convention that $e_{\lambda}(f, \emptyset) = 1$ and

$$e_{\lambda}(0,\eta) = 0^{|\eta|} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } |\eta| \ge 1, \\ 1, & \text{if } |\eta| = 0. \end{cases}$$

Then, for any $f \in B_{\rm bs}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $g \in B(\mathbb{R}^d)$, the image of G under the K-transform is given by

$$(KG(\cdot, y))(\gamma) = g(y) \sum_{\eta \in \gamma} e_{\lambda}(f, \eta) = g(y) \prod_{x \in \eta} (1 + f(x)),$$

for any $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Let us note that for any $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \sigma)$ the Lebesgue-Poisson exponent (1.23) is integrable with respect to the Lebesgue-Poisson measure λ_{σ} . In particular, one has

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda_\sigma\left(\eta\right) e_\lambda\left(f,\eta\right) = \mathrm{e}^{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}\sigma(x)f(x)}.$$
(1.24)

1.1.3 Algebraic product on phase spaces: *-convolution

In this section we introduce some operation among functions on the space $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$. As it is known, see for example [77, 97], on the space of functions on $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ one can introduce different algebraic products. Among them, we will focus on the so-called \star -convolution. This particular convolution has been introduced in [77] and it turns out to be a powerful tool for concrete calculations in applications.

Definition 1.20. Let us consider two functions $G_1, G_2 \in L^0(\Gamma_0, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0))$. The *-convolution of G_1 and G_2 is defined by

$$(G_{1} \star G_{2})(\eta) := \sum_{(\eta_{1}, \eta_{2}, \eta_{3}) \in \mathcal{P}_{3}(\eta)} G_{1}(\eta_{1} \cup \eta_{2}) G_{2}(\eta_{2} \cup \eta_{3})$$
$$= \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} G_{1}(\xi) \sum_{\zeta \subset \xi} G_{2}((\eta \setminus \xi) \cup \zeta), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_{0}, \qquad (1.25)$$

where $\mathcal{P}_3(\eta)$ denotes the set of all partitions of η in three parts which may be empty.

²It would be more precisely to write here $f((sym_{\mathbb{R}^d}^{1})^{-1}(\eta), y)$, but we will use the notation above to simplify.

Remark 1.21. Note that the space $L^0(\Gamma_0, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0))$ endowed with the \star -convolution has the structure of a commutative algebra with unit element given by $e_{\lambda}(0, \cdot)$,

$$(e_{\lambda}(0,\cdot) \star G)(\eta) = G(\eta), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0.$$

Example 1.22. Let us consider the Lebesgue-Poisson exponents introduced in Example 1.19. For these functions the *-convolution has a particular simple form, namely

$$\left(e_{\lambda}\left(f,\cdot\right)\star e_{\lambda}\left(g,\cdot\right)\right)\left(\eta\right) = e_{\lambda}\left(f+g+fg,\eta\right), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_{0}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right), \tag{1.26}$$

for all functions $f, g \in B_{bs}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. More generally, given a function $G \in L^0(\Gamma_0, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0))$, we have

$$(G(\cdot) \star e_{\lambda}(f, \cdot))(\eta) = \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} G(\xi) e_{\lambda}(f+1, \xi) e_{\lambda}(f, \eta \setminus \xi), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d).$$
(1.27)

In Definition 1.20, we have defined the \star -convolution as an algebraic product of functions in $L^0(\Gamma_0, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0))$. However, we can extend it to functions on $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$. In this case, for any $G_1, G_2 \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma_0}, \mathcal{B}(\widetilde{\Gamma_0}))$ one has

$$(G_{1}(\cdot, y) \star G_{2}(\cdot, y))(\eta) := \sum_{(\eta_{1}, \eta_{2}, \eta_{3}) \in \mathcal{P}_{3}(\eta)} G_{1}(\eta_{1} \cup \eta_{2}, y) G_{2}(\eta_{2} \cup \eta_{3}, y)$$
$$= \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} G_{1}(\xi, y) \sum_{\zeta \subset \xi} G_{2}((\eta \setminus \xi) \cup \zeta, y), \qquad (1.28)$$

for any fixed $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and all $\eta \in \Gamma_0$.

The main reason behind the introduction of *-convolution resides on the following property: for any $F_1, F_2 \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma})$ one has, see e.g. [77],

$$(K^{-1}F_1) \star (K^{-1}F_2) = K^{-1}(F_1F_2).$$
 (1.29)

Remark 1.23. The identity above enables us to consider the K-transform as a combinatorial Fourier transform on the configuration space, see e.g. [86].

1.2 Correlation measures and correlation functions

In the study of (non-equilibrium) stochastic dynamics in continuum, the main object of investigation is represented by the so-called correlation functions, see for example [55, 113] and references therein. In this section we will introduce the concept of correlation functions associated to a measure on the phase space $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$. In the following, by using a physical terminology, we will often call these measures *states* to stress their role in the description of a system.

We proceed similarly to what has been done in [77] on the configuration space $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$. First, by using the K-transform, we introduce the concept of correlation measure. Afterwards, we consider a special class of correlation measures to derive an explicit relation between correlation functions and states (in this special case).

1.2.1 Correlation measure of a state

In Section 1.1.1 we have already introduced a Poisson-type measure on the space $\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d$, see Definition 1.10. However, as is well known in statistical mechanics, Poisson measures describe the equilibrium of a system of particles without interactions. Then, in order to study the (non-equilibrium) dynamics of our model we should introduce a more general class of measures.

Let us denote by $\mathcal{M}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ the space of all measures on the space $(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$. In the following we always assume that the states are measures with local finite moments. **Definition 1.24.** A measure $\mu(d\gamma, dy) \in \mathcal{M}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ has finite local moments (w.r.t. Γ -variable) of all orders if the following property holds

$$\int_{A} \int_{\Gamma} |\gamma_{\Lambda}|^{n} \, \mu \left(\mathrm{d}\gamma, \mathrm{d}y \right) < \infty, \tag{1.30}$$

for all $A, \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}^3$. We denote by $\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{fm}}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ the set of all such measures.

In the present work we study the evolution of two different types of states:

(1) bounded states, corresponding to measures μ which are finite on $\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and such that \mathbb{R}^d -marginal distributions have an integrable density w.r.t. the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^d , namely

$$\mu\left(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma} \mathrm{d}\mu\left(\gamma, y\right) < \infty \tag{1.31}$$

and

$$\mu(\Gamma, \mathrm{d}y) = \int_{\Gamma} \mu(\mathrm{d}\gamma, \mathrm{d}y) = r(y)\,\mathrm{d}y, \qquad \text{with } r \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d). \tag{1.32}$$

We denote by $\mathcal{M}^1(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ the set of all these measures. Similarly we can define the subspace $\mathcal{M}^1_{\text{fm}}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ if, additionally, condition (1.30) is satisfied. Note that bounded states are non-normalized finite measures on $\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

(2) locally-bounded states, corresponding to all measures μ on $\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d$ which are finite w.r.t. the first variable $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and are Radon measures with bounded density w.r.t. the second variable $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Namely, for any set $A \in \mathcal{B}_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$ one has

$$\mu\left(\Gamma\times A\right)=\int_{A}\int_{\Gamma}\mathrm{d}\mu\left(\gamma,y\right)<\infty$$

and

$$\int_{\Gamma} \mu \left(\mathrm{d}\gamma, \mathrm{d}y \right) = r\left(y\right) \mathrm{d}y, \qquad ext{with } r \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

We denote by $\mathcal{M}^{\infty}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ the set of all these measures. Analogously to the case above, we define the subspace $\mathcal{M}^{\infty}_{\mathrm{fm}}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$.

Through the K-transform, introduced in Section 1.1.2, one can associate to each measure from $\mathcal{M}_{\text{fm}}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ a measure on the space $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

Definition 1.25. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{fm}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ be given. Then, we can define a measure ρ_{μ} on $(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d))$ by

$$\rho_{\mu} \left(B \times A \right) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma} \left(K \mathbb{1}_A \left(y \right) \mathbb{1}_B \left(\cdot \right) \right) \left(\gamma \right) \mathrm{d}\mu \left(\gamma, y \right)$$

$$= \int_A \int_{\Gamma} \left(K \mathbb{1}_B \right) \left(\gamma \right) \mathrm{d}\mu \left(\gamma, y \right),$$
(1.33)

for all bounded sets $B \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma_0)$ and $A \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. The measure ρ_{μ} is called the correlation measure corresponding to μ .

Remark 1.26. The fact that $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{fm}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ insures that $\rho_{\mu}(B \times A) < \infty$ for all $B \in \mathcal{B}_{b}(\Gamma_0)$ and $A \in \mathcal{B}_{b}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Indeed, if $B \in \mathcal{B}_{b}(\Gamma_0)$ then there exists $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{b}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that $B \subset \bigsqcup_{n=0}^{N} \Gamma^{(n)}(\Lambda)$. Thus, by using the definition of the K-transform, one can estimate

$$\rho_{\mu}\left(B \times A\right) \leq \sum_{n=0}^{N} \int_{A} \int_{\Gamma} \left(K \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(n)}(\Lambda)}\right)(\gamma) \,\mathrm{d}\mu\left(\gamma, y\right)$$

³Cf. definition in [77, Proposition 4.1].

$$=\sum_{n=0}^{N}\int_{A}\int_{\Gamma}\left(\begin{array}{c}|\gamma_{\Lambda}|\\n\end{array}\right)\mathrm{d}\mu\left(\gamma,y\right)<\infty.$$
(1.34)

A measure ρ_{μ} which satisfies condition (1.34) is called locally finite. The set of all these measures is denoted by $\mathcal{M}_{lf}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d)$.

Using standard measure theory, identity (1.33) may be proved for a wider class of functions on $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proposition 1.27. Let us consider a measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{fm}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$. Then, for any $G \in B_{bs}(\Gamma_0)$ one has

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma_0} G(\eta, y) \,\mathrm{d}\rho_\mu(\eta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma} \left(KG(\cdot, y) \right)(\gamma) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\gamma, y) \,. \tag{1.35}$$

Proof. We can show identity (1.35) for functions of the form $G_{\text{char}}(\eta, y) = \mathbb{1}_B(\eta) \mathbb{1}_A(y)$, $B \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma_0)$, $A \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, by using straightforward the definition of correlation measures (1.33). Hence, we can prove it for all functions $G \in B_{\mathrm{bs}}(\widetilde{\Gamma_0})$ by approximating them with a linear combination of characteristic functions.

Let us note that identity (1.35) defines a relation between measures on $\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and measures on $\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$. In particular, this provides a natural mapping between the spaces $\mathcal{M}_{fm}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\mathcal{M}_{lf}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ given by

As an example, we can apply the K^* -transform to the Poisson-type measure $\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma}$ in (1.16). Since $K^*\pi_{\sigma} = \lambda_{\sigma}$, see e.g. [77], we have

$$K^* \widetilde{\pi}_{\sigma} = (K^* \pi_{\sigma}) \otimes \mathrm{d}y = \lambda_{\sigma} \otimes \mathrm{d}y := \widetilde{\lambda}_{\sigma}, \qquad (1.37)$$

where λ_{σ} is the Lebesgue-Poisson-type measure defined in (1.12).

1.2.2 Correlation functions of a state

In this section we finally define the correlation functions associated to a state.

According to the definition in (1.3), for any $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we introduce the projection \tilde{p}_{Λ} defined by

$$\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \ni (\gamma, y) \mapsto \widetilde{p}_{\Lambda}(\gamma, y) := (\gamma \cap \Lambda, y) \in \Gamma(\Lambda) \times \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(1.38)

We use the notation $\mu_{\Lambda} = \mu \circ \tilde{p}_{\Lambda}^{-1}$ to indicate the projection of the measure μ onto the measurable space $(\Gamma(\Lambda) \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma(\Lambda)) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$. Then, we say that a measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{\text{fm}}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ is locally absolutely continuous with respect to $\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma} = \pi_{\sigma} \otimes dy$ if and only if $\mu_{\Lambda} = \mu \circ \tilde{p}_{\Lambda}^{-1}$ is absolutely continuous with respect to $\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda} = (\pi_{\sigma} \circ p_{\Lambda}^{-1}) \otimes dy$ for all $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Let us note that the absolute-continuity property of a measure μ is reflected on the corresponding correlation measure ρ_{μ} . This fact allows us to introduce the correlation functional k_{μ} associated to the measure μ .

Lemma 1.28. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{fm}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ be a measure locally absolutely continuous with respect to $\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma} = \pi_{\sigma} \otimes dy$. Then, its correlation measure $\rho_{\mu} = K^* \mu$ is absolutely continuous with respect to $\tilde{\lambda}_{\sigma} = \lambda_{\sigma} \otimes dy$. Furthermore, for all $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{b}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we have

$$k_{\mu}(\eta, y) := \frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\lambda}_{\sigma}} \left(\eta, y\right) = \int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu^{\Lambda}}{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\pi}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}} \left(\gamma \cup \eta, y\right) \pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda} \left(\mathrm{d}\gamma\right), \tag{1.39}$$

for $\widetilde{\lambda}_{\sigma}$ -a.a. $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Remark 1.29. Formula (1.39) is well known in statistical mechanics and in point process theory, see e.g. [107] and [27], respectively.

Proof. Let us consider the sets $B \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma_0)$ and $A \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $\widetilde{\lambda}_{\sigma}(B \times A) = 0$. Since $\widetilde{\lambda}_{\sigma}$ is the correlation measure of $\widetilde{\pi}_{\sigma}$, we have

$$0 = \widetilde{\lambda}_{\sigma} \left(B \times A \right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \mathbb{1}_A \left(y \right) \left(K \mathbb{1}_B \left(\cdot \right) \right) \left(\gamma \right) \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\pi}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda} \left(\gamma, y \right),$$

for some $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $B \subset \Gamma(\Lambda)$. Then, since $\mathbb{1}_A(y)(K\mathbb{1}_B(\cdot))(\gamma) \geq 0$, we must have

$$(K\mathbb{1}_{B\times A}(\cdot, y))(\gamma) \equiv 0, \qquad \text{a.a.} - \tilde{\pi}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}, \tag{1.40}$$

for $\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}$ -a.a. $\gamma \in \Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. On the other hand, by hypothesis of the lemma, the correlation measure ρ_{μ} can be written as

$$\rho_{\mu}\left(B \times A\right) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma} \mathbb{1}_A\left(y\right) \left(K \mathbb{1}_B\left(\cdot\right)\right)\left(\gamma\right) \mathrm{d}\mu\left(\gamma, y\right) \tag{1.41}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \mathbb{1}_A(y) \left(K \mathbb{1}_B(\cdot) \right)(\gamma) \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu^{\Lambda}}{\mathrm{d}\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}}(\gamma, y) \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}(\gamma, y) = 0, \tag{1.42}$$

because of (1.40). The latter identity implies that $\rho_{\mu} = K^* \mu$ is absolutely continuous with respect to $\tilde{\lambda}_{\sigma} = \lambda_{\sigma} \otimes dy$.

Let us note that, by definition of the K-transform, for some $A \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $B \subset \Gamma(\Lambda)$ the correlation measure ρ_{μ} can be rewritten

$$\rho_{\mu} \left(B \times A \right) = \int_{A} \int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \left(K \mathbb{1}_{B} \right) \left(\gamma \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu^{\Lambda}}{\mathrm{d}\tilde{\pi}^{\Lambda}_{\sigma}} \left(\gamma, y \right) \mathrm{d}\pi^{\Lambda}_{\sigma} \left(\gamma \right) \mathrm{d}y \tag{1.43}$$

$$= \int_{A} \int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \sum_{\eta \subset \gamma} \mathbb{1}_{B}(\eta) \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu^{\Lambda}}{\mathrm{d}\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}}(\gamma, y) \,\mathrm{d}\pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}(\gamma) \,\mathrm{d}y.$$
(1.44)

Then, by applying the Minlos formula 1.18, one has

$$\rho_{\mu}\left(B \times A\right) = \int_{A} \int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \mathbb{1}_{B}\left(\eta\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu^{\Lambda}}{\mathrm{d}\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}} \left(\gamma \cup \eta, y\right) \mathrm{d}\pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}\left(\gamma\right) \mathrm{d}\lambda_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}\left(\eta\right) \mathrm{d}y \tag{1.45}$$

$$= \int_{A} \int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \mathbb{1}_{B}(\eta) \left[\int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu^{\Lambda}}{\mathrm{d}\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}} \left(\gamma \cup \eta, y \right) \mathrm{d}\pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}(\gamma) \right] \mathrm{d}\tilde{\lambda}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}(\eta, y) \,. \tag{1.46}$$

Finally, by using the Radon-Nikodym Theorem we obtain (1.39).

From the lemma above we have the following natural definition.

Definition 1.30. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{fm}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ be a measure locally absolutely continuous with respect to $\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma} = \pi_{\sigma} \otimes dy$. We define the correlation functional associated to the measure μ as the measurable function $k_{\mu} : \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{+4}$ given by the Radom-Nikodym derivative

$$k_{\mu}(\eta, y) := \frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}\tilde{\lambda}_{\sigma}}(\eta, y) \,. \tag{1.47}$$

According to Remark 1.7, the correlation functional k_{μ} can be represented as a sequence of non-negative measurable functions, so called correlation functions, defined as

$$\{k_{\mu}^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n,y)\}_{n=0}^{\infty},\tag{1.48}$$

where, $k_{\mu}^{(n)} \in L^0_{\text{sym}^n}((\mathbb{R}^d)^n \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

⁴Hereinafter, \mathbb{R}_+ denotes the set of all non-negative real numbers, i.e. $\mathbb{R}_+ := [0, \infty)$.

Remark 1.31. As a result of Lemma 1.28 we have characterized a measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{fm}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ with a sequence of real functions $\{k_{\mu}^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n,y)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$. Clearly, one may consider also the opposite problem, namely if it is possible to reconstruct a measure starting from a set of correlation functions. This interesting question is an analog of the well-known moment problem in classical analysis, but it will not be discussed in this work.

Let us note that, according to Definition 1.30, identity (1.35) can be rewritten as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma} \left(KG\left(\cdot, y\right) \right)(\gamma) \, \mathrm{d}\mu\left(\gamma, y\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma_0} G\left(\eta, y\right) k_\mu\left(\eta, y\right) \, \mathrm{d}\lambda_\sigma\left(\eta\right) \, \mathrm{d}y, \tag{1.49}$$

for any $G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma_0})$, or equivalently

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{\Gamma} \sum_{\{x_{1},\dots,x_{n}\} \subset \gamma} G^{(n)}(x_{1},\dots,x_{n},y) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\gamma,y) \\
= \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right)^{n}} G^{(n)}(x_{1},\dots,x_{n},y) \,k_{\mu}^{(n)}(x_{1},\dots,x_{n},y) \,\mathrm{d}x_{1}\dots\mathrm{d}x_{n}\mathrm{d}y,$$
(1.50)

for any bounded function $G^{(n)}$ on $(\mathbb{R}^d)^n \times \mathbb{R}^d$ with bounded support in $(\mathbb{R}^d)^n$. Equations (1.49) and (1.50) can be considered as alternative definitions of the correlation functional and correlation functions, respectively.

Remark 1.32. Let us mention that the r.h.s. of equation (1.49) defines a duality between quasi-observables and correlation functionals, see Section 2.2 for details.

Chapter 2

Random walks in Markov environments

In this chapter we present a general description of the random walk (RW) of a jumping particle moving in \mathbb{R}^d and interacting with an evolving random environment (RE). The latter is represented by an infinite particle system described by some non-equilibrium Markov dynamics in \mathbb{R}^d .

According to the general framework introduced in Chapter 1, we analyze these models of RWRE on three different levels. We start by defining a microscopic dynamics of the particles in terms of an heuristic Markov generator which describes an evolution of observables defined on the phase space. Afterwards, we derive a statistical description of the stochastic evolution in terms of a hierarchy for correlation functions associated with states of the model. Finally, we consider a mesoscopic limit of the evolution which leads to a system of two kinetic equations for the densities of the jumping particle and of particles of the environment.

General considerations will be illustrated in details in many concrete models which will be analyzed rigorously in the next chapters.

2.1 Microscopic description of the model

We study the RW of a particle moving in \mathbb{R}^d accordingly to a jump process and interacting with a RE formed by infinitely many particles. These particles are identical each other and are described by some non-equilibrium Markov dynamics in \mathbb{R}^d .

According to Definition 1.1, we consider as phase space of the model $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$, where \mathbb{R}^d is the phase space of the tagged particle, and $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the phase space of the environment. Let us recall that an element of the phase space is given by a pair (γ, y) , where $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ corresponds to the position of the jumping particle, whereas $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the configuration of points representing the position of all the particles of the environment. We call functions $F(\gamma, y)$ on the space $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ observables.

Heuristically, the mechanism of evolution of the model can be described by a Markov pregenerator L acting on some proper space of observables. As we have two distinct systems, this pregenerator has the following general form

$$L = L_{RE} + L_{RW},\tag{2.1}$$

where the operator L_{RE} defines the Markov dynamics of the particles of the environment and L_{RW} describes the RW of the tagged particle. Given an observable $F : \Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$: the operator L_{RE} acts only on the first argument $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$, namely $(L_{RE}F)(\gamma, y) = (L_{RE}F(\cdot, y))(\gamma)$ for any $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$; whereas, the operator L_{RW} acts on $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, but depends, due to some interaction, on the configuration of RE, $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$. In formulas, $(L_{RW}F)(\gamma, y) := (L_{RW}(\gamma)F)(\gamma, y)$.

Remark 2.1. Note that as common characteristic of RWREs: the generator L_{RE} is Markovian by definition, the generator L_{RW} is not Markovian due to the presence of the interaction with RE, but, on the other hand, the whole generator L will still be Markovian.

The independent evolution of RE is described by a non-equilibrium Markov dynamic of infinitely many particles in continuum with phase space $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$. We consider two important classes of such interacting particle systems: birth-and-death models and hopping particle systems. Birth-and-death dynamics on the configuration space are non-conservative Markov dynamics where particles do not move, but randomly appear and disappear in \mathbb{R}^d with the rates

 $d(x,\gamma)$, for death of a particle at $x \in \gamma$ of a configuration γ ;

$$b(x,\gamma)$$
, for birth of a new particle at $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ in a configuration γ .

The corresponding Markov generator L_{RE} on $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ has the following heuristic representation ¹

$$(L_{RE}F)(\gamma, y) := \sum_{x \in \gamma} d(x, \gamma \setminus x) [F(\gamma \setminus x, y) - F(\gamma, y)] + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx b(x, \gamma) [F(\gamma \cup x, y) - F(\gamma, y)], \qquad (2.2)$$

where we assume that

$$0 \le d(x,\eta), b(x,\eta) < \infty, \qquad \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0 \setminus \{\emptyset\}, x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \eta, \qquad (2.3)$$

$$\int_{M} \left(d\left(x,\eta\right) + b\left(x,\eta\right) \right) \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) < \infty, \qquad \qquad M \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma_{0}), \text{ a.a. } x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$\int_{\Lambda} \left(d\left(x,\eta\right) + b\left(x,\eta\right) \right) \mathrm{d}x < \infty, \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0, \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$
(2.5)

Different birth-and-death models, corresponding to different choices of rates $d(x, \gamma)$ and $b(x, \gamma)$, may be found in [60] and references therein.

In contrast, hopping particles models are conservative Markov dynamics where different particles randomly jump over the space \mathbb{R}^d according to a rate

$$c(\gamma, x, x')$$
, hop of the particle at $x \in \gamma$ to a site $x' \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

The Markov generator L_{RE} describing this dynamics on $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ has the form

$$(L_{RE}F)(\gamma, y) := \sum_{x \in \gamma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' \, c\left(\gamma, x, x'\right) \left[F\left(\gamma \setminus x \cup x', y\right) - F\left(\gamma, y\right)\right], \tag{2.6}$$

where we assume that

$$0 \le c(\eta, x, x') < \infty, \qquad \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0, x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \eta, \tag{2.7}$$

$$\int_{M} c(\eta, x, x') \,\mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) < \infty, \qquad \qquad M \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma_{0}), \text{ a.a. } x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \qquad (2.8)$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} c(\eta, x, x') \, \mathrm{d}x' < \infty, \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0, \text{ a. a. } x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(2.9)

Many examples of hopping-particles systems, corresponding to different choice of the jump rate $c(\gamma, x, x')$ may be found in [60] and references therein.

Remark 2.2. It is possible to check that, under assumptions (2.3)-(2.5) and (2.7)-(2.9), the operator L_{RE} , both in (2.2) and (2.6), is such that

$$L_{RE}F \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma})$$
 for all $F \in K(B_{\rm bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0))$.

For further details see e.g. [49, 60].

¹In the following, for simplicity of notation, we will always write x instead of $\{x\}$.

The free RW of the tagged particle is a jump Markov process in \mathbb{R}^d . The intensity of the jump from a point $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ to $z \in \mathbb{R}^d$ is given by a kernel a(y - z), which we assume to be non-negative, even and integrable:

$$0 \le a \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathrm{d}x), \quad a(-x) = a(x) \text{ for all } x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

We introduce an interaction of the tagged particle with the other particles of the environment through a non-negative function $\lambda_{int}(\gamma, y, z) \geq 0$ which modulates the intensity of jumps of the tagged particle in depending on RE, namely

$$a(y-z)\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z), \qquad y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d \text{ and } \gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Then, the corresponding generator L_{RW} in $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ becomes

$$(L_{RW}F)(\gamma, y) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \,\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}(\gamma, y, z) \,a\left(y - z\right) \left[F\left(\gamma, z\right) - F\left(\gamma, y\right)\right]. \tag{2.10}$$

Throughout this work, we assume some minimal condition on the interaction λ_{int} , in particular we demand that

$$\forall \eta \in \Gamma_0, \ \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \qquad \operatorname*{ess\,sup}_{z \in \mathbb{R}^d} \lambda_{\operatorname{int}}(\eta, y, z) < \infty.$$
 (2.11)

Remark 2.3. Note that condition (2.11) guarantees that

$$L_{RW}F \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma})$$
 for all $F \in K(B_{\rm bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0))$

see e.g. (2.45) in the proof of Proposition 2.12.

In our analysis we discuss in details some concrete types of interaction λ_{int} , which correspond to different physical situations. We always assume that $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a measurable non-negative even function, namely for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\phi(x) = \phi(-x), \quad \phi(x) \ge 0.$$
 (2.12)

Case I. For any $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) = \lambda^{(1)}(\gamma, y) = e^{-\sum_{x \in \gamma} \phi(x-y)}.$$
(2.13)

Such interaction implies that the tagged particle moves slower in regions with high concentration of points of the environment.

Case II. For any $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) = \lambda^{(2)}(\gamma, y) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x \in \gamma} \phi(x - y), \qquad (2.14)$$

where λ_0 is some non-negative constant and the pair potential $\phi(\cdot)$ is additionally bounded. Such interaction implies that the tagged particle moves faster in regions with high concentration of points of the environment.

Case III. For any $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) = \lambda^{(3)}(\gamma, z) = e^{-\sum_{x \in \gamma} \phi(x-z)}.$$
(2.15)

Such interaction implies that the tagged particle tends to move towards regions with low concentration of points of the environment. **Case IV.** For any $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) = \lambda^{(4)}(\gamma, z) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x \in \gamma} \phi(x - z), \qquad (2.16)$$

where λ_0 is some non-negative constant and the function $\phi(\cdot)$ is also bounded. Such interaction implies that the tagged particle tends to move towards regions with high concentration of points of the environment.

Remark 2.4. Let us note that all the interactions defined above satisfy condition (2.11), see Section 2.2.1 for details. In principle, many others are possible. For example one may consider a combination between the interaction I or III and the interaction II or IV, such as

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}\left(\gamma, y, z\right) = e^{-\sum_{x \in \gamma} \beta(x-y)} \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi\left(x' - z\right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where $\beta, \phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ are two non-negative even functions and ϕ is additionally bounded.

2.2 Statistical description of the model: evolution of correlation functions

In this section we study the stochastic dynamics of RWREs defined by the heuristic generator (2.1). Let us note that for such models there are essential difficulties for the construction of the corresponding spatial Markov process,

$$\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \ni (\gamma, y) \longmapsto Z_t^{(\gamma, y)} = (X_t^{\gamma}, Y_t^y) \in \Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d, \quad t > 0.$$

Indeed, Markov processes on the configuration space describing the evolution of RE can be constructed only in some special case, see e.g. [100] for a recent review and [65, 70] for more detailed results about birth-and-death processes. As an alternative approach, we consider the evolution of states associated with the underlying Markov dynamics. Such a statistical approach has been proposed in [55, 60, 62] and is often the only available technical tool to construct the non-equilibrium stochastic evolution of interacting particle systems in the continuum, see e.g. [10, 45, 49, 58, 84].

Let us recall that, for the considered models, a state corresponds to a measure on the phase space, i.e. $\mu(d\gamma, dy) \in \mathcal{M}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$. The evolution of states can be described by the forward Kolmogorov equation, or the Fokker-Planck equation. Let us consider the backward Kolmogorov equation associated to the pregenerator (2.1) for observables $F \in K(B_{\text{bs}}(\tilde{\Gamma}_0))$,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}F_t = (L_{RE} + L_{RW})F_t, \qquad t \ge 0.$$
(2.17)

Using the pairing between functions and measures on $\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$\langle F, \mu \rangle := \int_{\Gamma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}\mu \left(\gamma, y\right) F\left(\gamma, y\right),$$
(2.18)

we can consider the evolution equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \langle F, \mu_t \rangle = \langle (L_{RE} + L_{RW}) F, \mu_t \rangle, \qquad t \ge 0,$$
(2.19)

in some proper space of measures on $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$. In fact, the solution to the equation (2.19) describes the time evolution of distributions instead of the initial points in the Markov process. We can rewrite it in the following heuristic form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\mu_t = (L_{RE}^* + L_{RW}^*)\,\mu_t, \qquad t \ge 0,\tag{2.20}$$

where $L^* := L_{RE}^* + L_{RW}^*$ is (informally) adjoint operator of L w.r.t. the pairing (2.18).

An important technical observation to study the evolution equation (2.19) concerns the possibility to reformulate the problem in terms of the corresponding correlation functions. According to Section 1.2.2, let us suppose that $\mu_t \in \mathcal{M}_{fm}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ is a solution to (2.19) which remains locally absolutely continuous w.r.t. the Poisson-type measure $\tilde{\pi}$, for all t > 0 provided that μ_0 has such a property. Then, we know that the measure μ_t can be characterized by a sequence of non-negative functions, the so-called correlation functions (cf. Definition 1.30),

$$\{k_{\mu_t}^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n,y)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}, \qquad x_i, y \in \mathbb{R}^d, i \ge 1.$$
(2.21)

In the following, for convenience, we set $k_t^{(n)} := k_{\mu_t}^{(n)}$, for any $n \ge 0$. For the present purpose, it is convenient to rewrite the sequence of correlation functions as a function, called correlation functional, on the space $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$k_t(\eta, y): \ \Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}_+, \qquad t \ge 0.$$
(2.22)

The evolution equation for the correlation functional $k_t(\eta, y)$ can be derived by using harmonic analysis on the configuration space and, in particular, the K-transform introduced in Section 1.1.2. Using identity (1.49), we may rewrite equation (2.19) in the following way

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\langle\langle K^{-1}F, k_t\rangle\rangle = \langle\langle K^{-1}LF, k_t\rangle\rangle, \qquad L = L_{RE} + L_{RW}, \tag{2.23}$$

where we consider the pairing between functions on $\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$ given by

$$\langle\langle G,k\rangle\rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) G\left(\eta,y\right) k_{\mu}\left(\eta,y\right).$$
(2.24)

Remark 2.5. According to Remark 2.2 and 2.3, under conditions (2.3)-(2.5) (or (2.7)-(2.9)) and (2.11), we have

$$LF \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma})$$
 for all $F \in K(B_{\rm bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)).$

Then, one can calculate $K^{-1}LF$ in (2.23) by using (1.22).

Next, if we substitute F = KG, $G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$, in (2.23), we find

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\langle\langle G, k_t \rangle\rangle = \langle\langle (\hat{L}_{RE} + \hat{L}_{RW})G, k_t \rangle\rangle, \qquad (2.25)$$

where the operator $\hat{L} := \hat{L}_{RE} + \hat{L}_{RW}$ is the image of L under the K-transform, namely

$$\hat{L} = K^{-1}LK = K^{-1}L_{RE}K + K^{-1}L_{RW}K =: \hat{L}_{RE} + \hat{L}_{RW}.$$
(2.26)

Let us recall that this operator is well defined (point-wise) for all $G \in B_{\rm bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$, see Remark 2.5.

As a result, we are interested in a weak solution to the initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}k_t = \left(\widehat{L}_{RE}^* + \widehat{L}_{RW}^*\right)k_t\\ k_t|_{t=0} = k_0 \end{cases}, \quad t \ge 0, \qquad (2.27)$$

where the operator $\hat{L}^* := \hat{L}_{RE}^* + \hat{L}_{RW}^*$ is the adjoint operator of \hat{L} w.r.t. the duality (2.24), namely

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left(\widehat{L}G\right)\left(\eta, y\right) k\left(\eta, y\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) G\left(\eta, y\right) \left(\widehat{L}^*k\right)\left(\eta, y\right).$$
(2.28)

Note that due to the linearity of the pairing (2.28), we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}\mathrm{d}y\int_{\Gamma_{0}}\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right)G\left(\eta,y\right)\left(\widehat{L}^{*}k\right)\left(\eta,y\right)=$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left(\widehat{L}_{RE}G\right) \left(\eta, y\right) k\left(\eta, y\right) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right) \left(\eta, y\right) k\left(\eta, y\right)$$
$$=: \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) G\left(\eta, y\right) \left(\widehat{L}_{RE}^*k\right) \left(\eta, y\right) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) G\left(\eta, y\right) \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^*k\right) \left(\eta, y\right).$$
(2.29)

The procedure of deriving the operator \hat{L} for a given L is fully combinatorial, while in obtaining the expression for the operator \hat{L}^* we use the discrete integration by parts formula represented by the Minlos's formula (1.18).

Remark 2.6. It may be useful to consider not directly the evolution equation (2.27) for correlation functionals, but its pre-dual problem, w.r.t. (2.28), namely

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}G_t = \left(\hat{L}_{RE} + \hat{L}_{RW}\right)G_t, \qquad t \ge 0, \tag{2.30}$$

for functions, so-called quasi-observables, $G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$. Here the operator $\widehat{L} := \widehat{L}_{RE} + \widehat{L}_{RW}$ is given by (2.26).

Remark 2.7. Let us recall that any correlation functional $k(\eta, y)$ may be identified with an infinite vector of (correlation) functions of the growing number of variables, cf. (2.21). Thus, as matter of fact, instead of equation (2.20) for measure we deal with an infinite system of equations for functions of finite number of variables. This chain of evolution equations constitutes the so-called hierarchy which is an analog of the BBGKY hierarchy for Hamiltonian systems, see e.g. [34].

One of the main aims of the present thesis is to study the classical solution to (2.27) in a proper space. Clearly, the choice of such a space is motivated by the applications one has in mind. In this sense we consider two different cases:

(1) sub-Poissonian bounded functions: for C > 0, we consider the Banach space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} consisting of all measurable functions $k : \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(\eta,y)\in\Gamma_0\times\mathbb{R}^d} C^{-|\eta|} |k(\eta,y)| < \infty.$$
(2.31)

We equip \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} equipped with the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{K}_C^{\infty}}$ given by the r.h.s. of (2.31).

(2) sub-Poissonian integrable functions: for C > 0, we consider the Banach space \mathcal{K}^1_C consisting of all measurable functions $k : \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\eta \in \Gamma_0} C^{-|\eta|} |k(\eta, y)| < \infty.$$
(2.32)

We equip \mathcal{K}_C^1 equipped with the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{K}_C^1}$ given by the r.h.s. of (2.32).

We use the notation \mathcal{K}_C^q with $q = \infty, 1$ to indicate the two different spaces.

Remark 2.8. Note that in both cases listed above, we consider measurable functions which satisfies the so-called Ruelle bounds [107] in the space Γ_0 . Indeed, for any $k \in \mathcal{K}_C^q$, $q = \infty, 1$, one has

$$|k(\eta, y)| \le M(y)C^{|\eta|}, \qquad \tilde{\lambda} - \text{a.a. } \eta \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(2.33)

with $M(y) := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\eta \in \Gamma_0} C^{-|\eta|} |k(\eta, y)|$. For interacting particle systems this is a rather natural assumption, for example, for the correlation functions associated to a Gibbs measure inequality (2.33) holds true, see e.g. [108]. On the other hand, concerning the dependence of $k(\eta, y)$ on $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we have more choices and we can consider measurable functions which are essential bounded or integrable in $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, for λ -a.a. $\eta \in \Gamma_0$. This second case appears to be more interesting from a physical point of view since such correlation functions are, in general, associated to some probability measure. The study of the evolution equation for correlation functions (2.27) in the Banach spaces \mathcal{K}_C^q is a highly non trivial problem in infinite dimensional analysis. Nevertheless, one can consider three alternative methods to perform this analysis, see e.g. [45,49,61] and references therein.

The first technical possibility is to construct a strongly continuous semigroup in the space \mathcal{K}_C^q , $q = \infty, 1$, with generator \hat{L}^* . However, by the Lotz's theorem [94] we know that in a L^{∞} -space any strongly continuous semigroup is associated to a bounded generator. Note that in our case the operator \hat{L}^* is unbounded in \mathcal{K}_C^q . To avoid this difficulty one can use a trick which goes back to Phillips [102]. The main idea of this method is to consider a semigroup in L^{∞} as the dual semigroup to a strongly continuous semigroup not on the pre-dual L^1 -space. As result we will have a strongly continuous semigroup not on the whole space L^{∞} but only on the closure of the domain of its generator. We will apply successfully this approach on the space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} only, see Chapter 3. The use of this method on the space \mathcal{K}_C^1 presents some technical difficulties that have not been solved completely at present.

For the study of the initial value problem (2.27) on the space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} , the Philips's technique leads to the following scheme. By means of duality (2.28), we consider the evolution equation for quasi-observables (2.30) in the pre-dual space

$$\mathcal{L}_C := L^1 \big(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \mathrm{d}y \big).$$

If we can construct a strongly continuous semigroup $\widehat{T}(t)$ in \mathcal{L}_C with generator \widehat{L} , then, from Philip's result it will follow that the restriction of the dual semigroup $\widehat{T}^*(t)$ onto $\overline{\text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*)}$ is a strongly continuous semigroup with generator which is a part of \widehat{L}^* . The dual semigroup $\widehat{T}^*(t)$ will provide a solution to (2.27) on the space $\overline{\text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*)}$. Afterwards, we would like to find a more useful universal subspace of \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} where to formulate this result.

Another possibility for the study of the Cauchy problem (2.27) is to consider this evolution equation in a proper scale of Banach spaces $\{\mathcal{K}_C^q\}_{C_* \leq C \leq C^*}, q = \infty, 1$. This approach can be realized by using the so-called Ovsyannikov's method see e.g. [98, 120]. Compared with the semigroup approach, this method provides less restrictions on the parameters of the system, but leads to a local in time solution only. The Ovsyannikov's method can be applied on both Banach spaces \mathcal{K}_C^∞ and \mathcal{K}_C^1 . In this thesis, see Chapter 4, we consider only the latter space. In this case we can show that there exits T > 0 such that for any $t \in [0, T)$ the initial value problem (2.27) has an unique solution k_t which lies in the space $\mathcal{K}_{C_t}^1$ for some $C_t \in [C_*, C^*]$.

Finally, a third possibility consists in expressing the dynamic of correlation functions in terms of the corresponding generating functionals, the so-called Bogoliubov functionals [14,79], defined by

$$Z_{\mu}(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y\psi(y) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \, e_{\lambda}(\theta,\eta) \, k_{\mu}(\eta,y) \,, \qquad \theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d), \, \psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$
(2.34)

Informally, this new formalism allows us to rewrite the infinite system of equations (2.27) as a functional equation on the Banach space of all (entire) generating functionals, see e.g. [79]. This new evolution equation can be again solved using Ovsyannikov's method in the framework of a scale of Banach spaces. We refer to Chapter 5 for a detailed description of this approach in the study of the initial value problem (2.27) on the space \mathcal{K}_C^1 .

Remark 2.9. Let us also mention a further possibility to study the evolution equation (2.27), which will not be considered in this work. This approach consists in a combination of semigroup techniques and the Ovsyannikov's method described above in the spirit of [47, 48]. In this case, we will have again a solution local in time, but under different physical assumptions on the parameters of the model.

In the next subsections we will derive explicitly the evolution equation for quasi-observables and correlation functions, respectively, for concrete models of REs and RWs.

2.2.1 Generator for quasi-observables

Informally, the evolution for quasi-observables, $G : \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$, is described by the initial value problem, cf. equation (2.30),

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}G_t = \left(\hat{L}_{RE} + \hat{L}_{RW}\right)G_t \\ G_t|_{t=0} = G_0 \end{cases}, \quad t \ge 0, \tag{2.35}$$

where the \hat{L}_{RE} and \hat{L}_{RW} are the image of the operators L_{RE} and L_{RW} , respectively, under the K-transform, see (2.26),

$$\widehat{L}_{RE} = K^{-1}L_{RE}K$$
 and $\widehat{L}_{RW} = K^{-1}L_{RW}K$.

The expression of the generator for the quasi-observables \hat{L}_{RE} , associated to the environment, in the case of a birth-and-death process, as well as a hopping particle system, may be found in [60]. For completeness we formulate general results.

Proposition 2.10. Let us consider an operator L_{RE} as in (2.2) and such that conditions (2.3)-(2.5) hold. Then, the action of \hat{L}_{RE} on functions $G \in B_{bs}(\tilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RE}G\right)(\eta, y) = -\sum_{\xi \subset \eta} G\left(\xi, y\right) \sum_{x \in \xi} \left(K^{-1}d\left(x, \cdot \cup \left(\xi \setminus x\right)\right)\right) \left(\eta \setminus \xi\right) + \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, G\left(\xi \cup x, y\right) \left(K^{-1}b\left(x, \cdot \cup \xi\right)\right) \left(\eta \setminus \xi\right).$$
(2.36)

Moreover, one has $\widehat{L}_{RE}G \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ for any $G \in B_{\mathrm{bs}}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$.

Proposition 2.11. Let us consider an operator L_{RE} as in (2.6) and such that conditions (2.7)-(2.9) hold. Then, the action of \hat{L}_{RE} on functions $G \in B_{bs}(\tilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RE}G\right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \sum_{x \in \xi} \left[G\left(\xi \setminus x \cup x', y\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right) \right] \left(K^{-1}c_{x,x'}\left(\cdot \cup \left(\xi \setminus x\right) \right) \right) \left(\eta \setminus \xi \right).$$
(2.37)

Moreover, one has $\widehat{L}_{RE}G \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ for any $G \in B_{\mathrm{bs}}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$.

Let us now consider the generator of quasi-observables \hat{L}_{RW} associated to the RW of the tagged particle. First we compute an explicit formula for a generic interaction λ_{int} and after we specify it for each of the concrete examples I-IV in Section 2.1.

Proposition 2.12. Let us consider the RW of a jumping particle described by an operator L_{RW} as in (2.10) and such that condition (2.11) holds. Then, the action of \hat{L}_{RW} on functions $G \in B_{\rm bs}(\tilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z\right) \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \left(G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right)\right) \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z\right)\right) \left(\eta \setminus \xi\right).$$
(2.38)

Moreover, one has $\widehat{L}_{RW}G \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ for any $G \in B_{\mathrm{bs}}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$.

Proof. We start from the heuristic Markov generator of the RW defined in equation (2.10), namely for any $F \in \mathcal{F}_{cyl}(\widetilde{\Gamma})$

$$(L_{RW}F)(\gamma, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \,\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}(\gamma, y, z) \,a \,(y - z) \left[F(\gamma, z) - F(\gamma, y)\right], \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, \, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

For F = KG, with $G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$, by using the linearity of the K-transform, we can write it as

$$(L_{RW}F)(\gamma, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \,\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}(\gamma, y, z) \,a\left(y - z\right) \left[\left(KG\right)(\gamma, z) - \left(KG\right)(\gamma, y) \right]$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \,\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\gamma, y, z\right) a\left(y - z\right) \left(K\left[G\left(\cdot, z\right) - G\left(\cdot, y\right)\right]\right)(\gamma)\,,$$

and by applying the inverse K-transform, we obtain

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right)(\eta, y) = \left(K^{-1}L_{RW}F\right)(\eta, y)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z\right) \left(K^{-1}\left[\lambda\left(\cdot, y, z\right)K\left(G\left(\cdot, z\right) - G\left(\cdot, y\right)\right)\right]\right)(\eta) \,. \tag{2.39}$$

If for any $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we define

$$A(\eta, y, z) := \left(K^{-1}\lambda(\cdot, y, z)\right)(\eta), \qquad (2.40)$$

then, from the identity (1.29), it follows that

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z\right) \left(A\left(\cdot, y, z\right) \star \left[G\left(\cdot, z\right) - G\left(\cdot, y\right)\right]\right)(\eta) \,. \tag{2.41}$$

Next, using the definition of the \star -convolution, see formula (1.28), one has

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y-z) \left[\sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \left(G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right)\right) \sum_{\zeta \subset \xi} A\left(\left(\eta \setminus \xi\right) \cup \zeta, y, z\right)\right]. \quad (2.42)$$

Note that the second sum in the square brackets can be rewritten in terms of K-transform, i.e.

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z\right) \left[\sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \left(G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right)\right) \left(KA\left(\left(\eta \setminus \xi\right) \cup \cdot, y, z\right)\right)(\xi)\right].$$

Hence, we can use of the simple identity

$$\left(K^{-1}F\left(\cdot\cup\eta_2,y,z\right)\right)\left(\xi_1\right) = \left(KG\left(\xi_1\cup\cdot,y,z\right)\right)\left(\eta_2\right), \qquad \xi_1\cap\eta_2 = \emptyset \tag{2.43}$$

and obtain (2.38). Note that in this formula the term $(K^{-1}\lambda_{int}(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z))(\eta)$ has sense due to (2.11).

Finally, by Proposition 1.17 for any F = KG, with $G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$, there exist $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and C > 0 such that

$$|F(\gamma, z) - F(\gamma, y)| \le C \left(1 + |\gamma_{\Lambda}|\right)^{N}, \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, \, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$
(2.44)

Therefore, by using (2.11) one has

$$|(L_{RW}F)(\eta, y)| \leq C \left(1 + |\eta_{\Lambda}|\right)^{N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \,\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}(\eta, y, z) \,a\left(y - z\right)$$
$$\leq \langle a \rangle C \left(1 + |\eta_{\Lambda}|\right)^{N} \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^{d}} \lambda_{\mathrm{int}}(\eta, y, z) < \infty, \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_{0}, \, y \in \mathbb{R}^{d} \qquad (2.45)$$

and, consequently,

$$\left| \left(\widehat{L}_{RW} G \right) (\eta, y) \right| = \left| \left(K^{-1} L_{RW} F \right) (\eta, y) \right| < \infty, \quad \eta \in \Gamma_0, \, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(2.46)

In particular, the latter justifies all the interchange order of summations and integrations in the previous computations. $\hfill \Box$

Case I. Let us consider a RW whose interaction with the RE is given by

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(1)}(\gamma, y) = e^{-\sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - y)}, \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{2.47}$$

where $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is some non-negative measurable even function. Clearly condition (2.11) is satisfied.

Having in mind Example 1.19, we can rewrite this interaction as

$$\lambda^{(1)}(\eta, y) = e_{\lambda} \left(e^{-\phi(\cdot - y)}, \eta \right) = \left(K e_{\lambda} \left(e^{-\phi(\cdot - y)} - 1, \cdot \right) \right) (\eta) , \qquad (2.48)$$

for any $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Hence, from equality (2.40) we can identify

$$A(\eta, y) = e_{\lambda} \left(e^{-\phi(\cdot - y)} - 1, \eta \right) = \prod_{x' \in \eta} \left(e^{-\phi(x' - y)} - 1 \right)$$
(2.49)

and, by means of the identity (2.43), we find

$$\begin{pmatrix} K^{-1}\lambda^{(1)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,y\right) \right)(\eta\setminus\xi) = \left(KA\left((\eta\setminus\xi)\cup\cdot,y\right)\right)(\xi) \\ = \left(Ke_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\phi(\cdot-y)}-1,(\eta\setminus\xi)\cup\cdot\right)\right)(\xi) \,,$$

for any $\xi \subset \eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Next, we can use straightforward definition of K-transform to rewrite it as

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda^{(1)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,y\right) \right) \left(\eta\setminus\xi\right) = \sum_{\zeta\subset\xi} \prod_{x'\in(\eta\setminus\xi)\cup\zeta} \left(e^{-\phi(x'-y)} - 1 \right)$$
$$= \prod_{x'\in(\eta\setminus\xi)} \left(e^{-\phi(x'-y)} - 1 \right) \sum_{\zeta\subset\xi} \prod_{x'\in\zeta} \left(e^{-\phi(x'-y)} - 1 \right)$$
$$= \lambda^{(1)}\left(\xi,y\right) e_{\lambda} \left(e^{-\phi(\cdot-y)} - 1, \left(\eta\setminus\xi\right) \right), \qquad \xi\subset\eta\in\Gamma_{0}, y\in\mathbb{R}^{d}.$$
(2.50)

Thus, according to the result of Proposition 2.12, for interaction (2.47) the generator \widehat{L}_{RW} for quasi-observables $G \in B_{\rm bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right)(\eta, y) = \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \lambda^{(1)}\left(\xi, y\right) e_{\lambda} \left(e^{-\phi(\cdot - y)} - 1, \left(\eta \setminus \xi\right)\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z\right) \left[G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right)\right].$$
(2.51)

Case II. Let us consider the interaction given by

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(2)}(\gamma, y) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - y), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, \ y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{2.52}$$

where λ_0 is some non-negative constant and $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is some non-negative measurable even function such that

$$C^{\phi}_{\infty} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \phi(x) < \infty.$$
(2.53)

Under conditions above, it is easy to check that condition (2.11) holds. Indeed

$$\left|\lambda^{(2)}(\eta, y)\right| \le \lambda_0 + \left|\eta\right| \left\|\phi\right\|_{\infty} < \infty, \qquad \text{for any } \eta \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(2.54)

In this case, by using the results in Example 1.18, we can rewrite this interaction in the following way

$$\lambda^{(2)}(\eta, y) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \eta} \phi(x' - y)$$

$$= (K\lambda_0 e_\lambda(0, \cdot))(\eta) + (K\phi(\cdot - y))(\eta)$$
$$= (K(\lambda_0 e_\lambda(0, \cdot) + \phi(\cdot - y)))(\eta), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where, cf. Example 1.19,

$$e_{\lambda}(0,\eta) = 0^{|\eta|} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } |\eta| \ge 1, \\ 1, & \text{if } |\eta| = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.55)

Similarly one has

$$\lambda^{(2)}\left((\eta \setminus \xi) \cup \xi, y\right) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{\substack{x' \in (\eta \setminus \xi) \cup \xi}} \phi\left(x' - y\right)$$
$$= \lambda^{(2)}\left(\xi, y\right) + \left(K\phi\left(\cdot - y\right)\right)\left(\eta \setminus \xi\right), \qquad \xi \subset \eta \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

Let us apply the inverse K-transform to it. By linearity we find

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda^{(2)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,y\right)\right)\left(\eta\setminus\xi\right) = \left(K^{-1}\lambda^{(2)}\left(\xi,y\right)\right)\left(\eta\setminus\xi\right) + \left(K^{-1}\sum_{x'\in\cdot}\phi\left(x'-y\right)\right)\left(\eta\setminus\xi\right),$$

for any $\xi \subset \eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Concerning the first term, we simply have

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda^{(2)}\left(\xi,y\right)\right)\left(\eta\setminus\xi\right) = \lambda^{(2)}\left(\xi,y\right)\left(K^{-1}1\right)\left(\eta\setminus\xi\right) = \lambda^{(2)}\left(\xi,y\right)0^{|\eta\setminus\xi|},$$

where we used the notation (2.55). On the other hand, the second term can be computed by directly applying the definition of the K-transform, as a result we find

$$\left(K^{-1}\sum_{x'\in\cdot}\phi\left(x'-y\right)\right)\left(\eta\setminus\xi\right)=\phi\left(x'-y\right)\mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}\left(\left(\eta\setminus\xi\right)=\left\{x'\right\}\right).$$

By combing the last two equalities we find

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda^{(2)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,y\right)\right)(\eta\setminus\xi) = \lambda^{(2)}\left(\xi,y\right)0^{|\eta/\xi|} + \phi\left(x'-y\right)\mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}\left((\eta\setminus\xi) = \{x'\}\right), \quad (2.56)$$

for any $\xi \subset \eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Hence, according to the result of Proposition 2.12, for interaction (2.52) the generator \widehat{L}_{RW} for quasi-observables $G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right)(\eta, y) = \lambda^{(2)}(\eta, y) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z\right) \left[G\left(\eta, z\right) - G\left(\eta, y\right)\right] + \sum_{x' \in \eta} \phi\left(x' - y\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z\right) \left[G\left(\left(\eta \setminus x'\right), z\right) - G\left(\left(\eta \setminus x'\right), y\right)\right]. \quad (2.57)$$

Case III. Let us consider

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(3)}(\gamma, z) = e^{-\sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - z)}, \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{2.58}$$

where $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is some non-negative measurable even function. Clearly condition (2.11) is again satisfied.

Analogously to Case I, cf. formula (2.50), we have

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda^{(3)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,z\right)\right)\left(\eta\setminus\xi\right) = \lambda^{(3)}\left(\xi,z\right)e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\phi\left(\cdot-z\right)}-1,\left(\eta\setminus\xi\right)\right),\tag{2.59}$$

for any $\xi \subset \eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Thus, according to the result of Proposition 2.12, for the considered interaction the generator \widehat{L}_{RW} for quasi-observables $G \in B_{\rm bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ has the form

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right)(\eta, y) = \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z\right) \lambda^{(3)}\left(\xi, z\right) e_\lambda \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\phi(\cdot - z)} - 1, \left(\eta \setminus \xi\right)\right) \left[G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right)\right].$$
(2.60)

Case IV. Consider the interaction given by

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(2)}(\gamma, z) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - z), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, \ y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{2.61}$$

where λ_0 is some non-negative constant and $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is some non-negative bounded even function in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with

$$C_{\infty}^{\phi} := \|\phi\|_{\infty} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \,\phi\left(x\right). \tag{2.62}$$

One can check that condition (2.11) holds (compare to (2.54)). Moreover, according to (2.56), we have

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda^{(4)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,z\right)\right)(\eta\setminus\xi) = \lambda^{(4)}\left(\xi,z\right)0^{|\eta\setminus\xi|} + \phi\left(x'-z\right)\mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}\left((\eta\setminus\xi) = \{x'\}\right), \quad (2.63)$$

for any $\xi \subset \eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Thus, by using the result of Proposition 2.12 for the considered interaction, the generator \widehat{L}_{RW} for quasi-observables $G \in B_{\rm bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ has the form

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \,\lambda^{(4)}(\eta, z) \,a\left(y - z\right) \left[G\left(\eta, z\right) - G\left(\eta, y\right)\right] + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \,a\left(y - z\right) \sum_{x' \in \eta} \phi\left(x' - z\right) \left[G\left(\left(\eta \setminus x'\right), z\right) - G\left(\left(\eta \setminus x'\right), y\right)\right].$$
(2.64)

2.2.2 Generator for correlation functions

As already discussed, the evolution of correlation functionals, $k : \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}_+$, is described by the following hierarchy

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}k_t = \left(\widehat{L}_{RE}^* + \widehat{L}_{RW}^*\right)k_t\\ k_t|_{t=0} = k_0 \end{cases}, \quad t \ge 0, \qquad (2.65)$$

where the operators \hat{L}_{RE}^* and \hat{L}_{RW}^* are the adjoint operators of \hat{L}_{RE} and \hat{L}_{RW} , respectively, w.r.t. the duality (2.28), see (2.29).

The precise form of the operator \hat{L}_{RE}^* , associated to the environment, can be found in [60] for different types of birth-and-death processes as well as hopping particles systems. Below we formulate these general results.

Proposition 2.13. Let us consider an operator L_{RE} as in (2.2) and such that conditions (2.3)-(2.5) hold. Then the action of \hat{L}_{RE}^* on functions $k \in B_{bs}(\tilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$\left(\hat{L}_{RE}^{*} k \right) (\eta, y) = -\sum_{x \in \eta} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} d\lambda \left(\zeta \right) k \left(\zeta \cup \eta, y \right) \left(K^{-1} d \left(x, \cdot \cup \eta \setminus x \right) \right) \left(\zeta \right) + \sum_{x \in \eta} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} d\lambda \left(\zeta \right) k \left(\zeta \cup \left(\eta \setminus x \right), y \right) \left(K^{-1} b \left(x, \cdot \cup \eta \setminus x \right) \right) \left(\zeta \right),$$

$$(2.66)$$

where \widehat{L}_{RE}^*k is defined by (2.29).

Proposition 2.14. Let us consider an operator L_{RE} as in (2.6) and such that conditions (2.7)-(2.9) hold. Then the action of \hat{L}^*_{RE} on functions $k \in B_{bs}(\tilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RE}^{*} k \right)(\eta, y) = \sum_{x' \in \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) k\left(\xi \cup \left(\eta \setminus x'\right) \cup x, y\right) \left(K^{-1} c_{x,x'}\left(\cdot \cup \left(\eta \setminus x'\right)\right)\right)\left(\xi\right) - \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right), k\left(\xi \cup \eta, y\right) \sum_{x \in \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x'\left(K^{-1} c_{x',x}\left(\cdot \cup \left(\eta \setminus x'\right)\right)\right)\left(\xi\right),$$

$$(2.67)$$

where \widehat{L}_{RE}^*k is defined by (2.29).

In the following proposition we compute explicitly the exact form of the operator \hat{L}_{RW}^* for a generic interaction λ_{int} .

Proposition 2.15. Let us consider the RW of a jumping particle described by an operator L_{RW} as in equation (2.10) and such that condition (2.11) holds. Then the action of \hat{L}^*_{RW} on functions $k \in B_{\rm bs}(\tilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^* k \right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\zeta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y - z\right) \left[k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, z\right) \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot \cup \eta, z, y \right) \right)(\zeta) - k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, y\right) \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right)(\zeta) \right],$$
 (2.68)

where \hat{L}_{RW}^*k is defined by (2.29).

Proof. The operator \widehat{L}^*_{RW} is defined through the identity

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right)\left(\eta, y\right) k\left(\eta, y\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) G\left(\eta, y\right) \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^*k\right)\left(\eta, y\right), \quad (2.69)$$

for any $G, k \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$. By using the result of Proposition 2.12, the double integral in the l.h.s can be rewritten explicitly as

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\eta\right) \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right) \left(\eta, y\right) k\left(\eta, y\right) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\eta\right) \left[\\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y - z\right) k\left(\eta, y\right) \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \left[G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right)\right] \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z\right)\right) \left(\eta \setminus \xi\right) \right]. \end{split}$$

Using the Minlos formula (1.18) we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left(\hat{L}_{RW}G\right)(\eta, y) \, k\left(\eta, y\right) = \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) k\left(\eta \cup \xi, y\right) G\left(\xi, z\right) \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z\right)\right)(\eta) - \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) k\left(\eta \cup \xi, y\right) G\left(\xi, y\right) \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z\right)\right)(\eta) \, . \end{split}$$

Note that in the first integral we exchange variables $y \leftrightarrow z$ and write

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\eta\right) \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G\right) \left(\eta, y\right) k\left(\eta, y\right) = \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\eta\right) G\left(\eta, y\right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\zeta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y - z\right) \times \\ & \left[k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, z\right) \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot \cup \eta, z, y\right)\right) \left(\zeta\right) - k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, y\right) \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z\right)\right) \left(\zeta\right)\right]. \end{split}$$

Thus, by comparing the expression above with (2.69), we obtain the statement (2.38). To conclude, let us note that the correctness of using (1.18) follows from the assumptions $G, k \in B_{\rm bs}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ and (2.11), which make all integrals above to be finite.

Let us apply the result of the proposition above to each of the interactions I-IV in Section 2.1.

Case I. Let us consider the interaction

$$\lambda_{\rm int}\left(\gamma, y, z\right) = \lambda^{(1)}(\gamma, y) = e^{-\sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x'-y)}, \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, \, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

defined as in (2.47). In this case we have (cf. (2.50)),

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda^{(1)}\left(\cdot\cup\eta,y\right)\right)\left(\zeta\right)=\lambda^{(1)}\left(\eta,y\right)e_{\lambda}\left(\mathrm{e}^{-\phi\left(\cdot-y\right)}-1,\zeta\right),$$

for any $\eta, \zeta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Therefore, according to Proposition 2.15, the operator \widehat{L}_{RW}^* for $k \in B_{\text{bs}}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$\left(\hat{L}_{RW}^{*} k \right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\zeta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \left[k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, z\right) \lambda^{(1)}\left(\eta, z\right) e_{\lambda} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\phi(\cdot-z)} - 1, \zeta\right) - k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, y\right) \lambda^{(1)}\left(\eta, y\right) e_{\lambda} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\phi(\cdot-y)} - 1, \zeta\right) \right].$$

$$(2.70)$$

Case II. Consider the interaction

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}\left(\gamma, y, z\right) = \lambda^{(2)}(\eta, y) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \eta} \phi\left(x' - y\right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, \, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

defined as in (2.52)-(2.53). In this case, see (2.56),

$$(K^{-1}\lambda^{(2)} (\cdot \cup \eta, y)) (\zeta) = \lambda^{(2)} (\eta, y) 0^{|\zeta|} + \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}} (\zeta = \{x'\}) \phi (x' - y),$$

for any $\eta, \zeta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, according to Proposition 2.15, the operator \widehat{L}_{RW}^* for $k \in B_{\mathrm{bs}}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$\left(\hat{L}_{RW}^{*}k\right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right) \lambda^{(2)}\left(\eta, z\right) k\left(\eta, z\right) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x' \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right) k\left(x'\cup\eta, z\right) \phi\left(x'-z\right) - k\left(\eta, y\right) \lambda^{(2)}\left(\eta, y\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z a \left(y-z\right) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x' \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}a \left(y-z\right) k\left(x'\cup\eta, y\right) \phi\left(x'-y\right).$$

$$(2.71)$$

Case III. For $\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) = \lambda^{(3)}(\eta, z), \ \gamma \in \Gamma, \ y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$, as in (2.58) we have, see (2.59),

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda^{(3)}\left(\cdot\cup\eta,z\right)\right)(\zeta) = \lambda^{(3)}\left(\eta,z\right)e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\phi(\cdot-z)}-1,\zeta\right), \qquad \eta\in\Gamma, \ z\in\mathbb{R}^{d}.$$

Then, according to Proposition 2.15, in this case the operator \hat{L}_{RW}^* for $k \in B_{bs}(\tilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$\left(\hat{L}_{RW}^{*} k \right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\zeta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \left[k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, z\right) \lambda^{(3)}\left(\eta, y\right) e_{\lambda} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\phi(\cdot-y)}-1, \zeta\right) - k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, y\right) \lambda^{(3)}\left(\eta, z\right) e_{\lambda} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\phi(\cdot-z)}-1, \zeta\right) \right].$$

$$(2.72)$$

Case IV. Consider the interaction $\lambda_{int}(\gamma, y, z) = \lambda^{(4)}(\eta, z)$ defined as in (2.61)-(2.62). In correspondence, we have (cf. (2.63)),

$$\left(K^{-1} \lambda^{(4)} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, z \right) \right) (\zeta) = \lambda^{(4)} (\eta, z) \, 0^{|\zeta|} + \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}} \left(\zeta = \{x'\} \right) \phi \left(x' - z \right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, \, z \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Then, by Proposition 2.15 the operator \widehat{L}^*_{RW} for $k \in B_{\mathrm{bs}}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ is given by

$$(\hat{L}_{RW}^{*}k)(\eta, y) = \lambda^{(4)}(\eta, y) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz \, a \, (y-z) \, k \, (\eta, z) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dx' \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz \, a \, (y-z) \, k \, (x' \cup \eta, z) \, \phi \, (x'-y) - k \, (\eta, y) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz \, a \, (y-z) \, \lambda^{(4)}(\eta, z) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dx' \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz \, a \, (y-z) \, k \, (x' \cup \eta, y) \, \phi \, (x'-z) \,.$$
 (2.73)

2.3 Kinetic description of the model: mesoscopic limit

In the previous section we gave an effective description of the (non-equilibrium) stochastic dynamics for models of RWREs in continuum in terms of hierarchical equations for correlation functions. As we have already discussed, the study of existence and uniqueness of solutions to these hierarchical chain-equations is a delicate problem that can be resolved by using different techniques, which will be considered in next chapters.

In order to get information about the evolution of the system we can consider a proper scaling limit of the stochastic dynamics and derive the corresponding kinetic equations. In [51] the authors proposed a general scheme to derive the Vlasov-type equations for Markov dynamics of interacting particle systems on configuration spaces. This approach is based on a scaling of the hierarchy of correlation functions which takes into account the influence of weak long-range interactions. It has been realized for several models, see e.g. [10, 45, 54, 58]. In this section we apply the general scheme proposed in [51] to study the mesoscopic limit for a RWRE described by the heuristic generator

$$(LF)(\gamma, y) = (L_{RE}F)(\gamma, y) + (L_{RW}F)(\gamma, y), \qquad (2.74)$$

where the operator $L_{RW} := L_{RW}(\lambda_{int})$ is defined as in (2.10) and L_{RE} is of the form (2.2) or (2.6), depending on which model of environment we want to consider. In order to keep the discussion as general as possible, in the following we denote $L_{RE} := L_{RE}(b, d, c)$. For the moment we aim to present an heuristic description of this mesoscopic scaling in the general case, postponing a more rigorous analysis to Section 2.3.1.

For RWREs the evolution of correlation functional, $k_t : \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}_+$, is described by the hierarchical equations:²

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}k_t}{\mathrm{d}t} = \left(L_{RE}^{\bigtriangleup} + L_{RW}^{\bigtriangleup}\right)k_t\\ k_t|_{t=0} = k_0 \end{cases}, \qquad t \ge 0, \tag{2.75}$$

where the generator $L^{\triangle} = L_{RE}^{\triangle} + L_{RW}^{\triangle}$ is defined as in Section 2.2.2. The construction of the Vlasov-type scaling of the hierarchy (2.75) can be summarized in three main steps.

As the first step, we chose an initial function $k_{0,\varepsilon}$ in (2.75) which has a singularity in ε , namely such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{|\eta|} k_{0,\varepsilon} \left(\eta, y\right) = r_0 \left(\eta, y\right), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0, \ y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \varepsilon > 0, \tag{2.76}$$

²Note that, for brevity, in this section we will use the notation $L^{\triangle} := \widehat{L}^*$.

for some (correlation) function r_0 . Intuitively, we are considering initial states of the system where the particle of RE becomes more and more dense (singular) as the parameter ε goes to zero. It is convenient to introduce the renormalized correlation functional defined as

$$k_{0,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}(\eta, y) := \varepsilon^{|\eta|} k_{0,\varepsilon}(\eta, y) = (R_{\varepsilon} k_{0,\varepsilon})(\eta, y), \qquad (2.77)$$

where for any $\varepsilon > 0$ we have defined the mapping of functions on $\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$

$$(R_{\varepsilon}k_{0,\varepsilon})(\eta, y) := \varepsilon^{|\eta|} k_{0,\varepsilon}(\eta, y).$$
(2.78)

Note that this mapping is self-dual w.r.t. duality (2.28). Moreover, $R_{\varepsilon}^{-1} = R_{\varepsilon^{-1}}$.

In correspondence with the previous scaling of initial condition, as the second step, we rescale also the generator L^{\triangle} in (2.75):

$$L^{\triangle} \longmapsto L_{\varepsilon}^{\triangle}, \qquad \varepsilon > 0.$$
 (2.79)

The family of operators $L_{\varepsilon}^{\triangle}$, $\varepsilon > 0$, is being built by a proper scaling of the generator L, namely

$$L = L_{RE}(b, d, c) + L_{RW}(\lambda) \longmapsto L_{\varepsilon} := L_{RE,\varepsilon}(b, d, c) + L_{RW,\varepsilon}(\lambda_{int})$$
$$= L_{RE}(\varepsilon^{-1}b_{\varepsilon}, d_{\varepsilon}, c_{\varepsilon}) + L_{RW}(\lambda_{int,\varepsilon}).$$
(2.80)

Clearly the choice of the scaling (2.80) depends on the model under consideration: intuitively, the idea is to reduce the strength of the interaction among all particles (weak-coupling limit). The precise form of the rescaled rates b_{ε} , d_{ε} and c_{ε} may be found in [51] for different models, while, the rescaled interaction $\lambda_{\varepsilon} := \lambda_{int,\varepsilon}$ will be discussed later on in each of the cases I-IV of Section 2.1.

As a result of the two scalings defined above, we arrive to a "renormalized version" of the hierarchy (2.75), namely

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}k_{t,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \left(L_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta} + L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta}\right)k_{t,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} \\ k_{t,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}\big|_{t=0} = k_{0,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} \end{cases}, \quad t \ge 0, \tag{2.81}$$

where we have defined the renormalized generator

$$L_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\triangle} = R_{\varepsilon^{-1}} L_{\varepsilon}^{\triangle} R_{\varepsilon} = R_{\varepsilon^{-1}} L_{RE,\varepsilon}^{\triangle} R_{\varepsilon} + R_{\varepsilon^{-1}} L_{RW,\varepsilon}^{\triangle} R_{\varepsilon} =: L_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\triangle} + L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\triangle}, \qquad (2.82)$$

and (cf. (2.77))

$$k_{t,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}\left(\eta,y\right) := \varepsilon^{|\eta|} k_{t,\varepsilon}\left(\eta,y\right), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(2.83)

The explicit expression for the operators $L_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\triangle}$ $L_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\triangle}$ will be given later in Proposition 2.17, 2.18 and 2.19.

We are interested in the limit for ε going to zero of the renormalized hierarchy (2.81). Then, in the third and last step, we consider this limit by imposing two conditions. First, we require that the scaling preserves the order of the singularity of the initial function $k_{0,\varepsilon}$ during the evolution. Namely, given (2.83) for any t > 0 we impose that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} k_{t,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}(\eta, y) = r_t(\eta, y), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(2.84)

The second condition we want to demand, it is the so-called chaos-preservation property of the limiting evolution. More precisely, if at time t = 0 we start from an (uncorrelated) state,

$$r_0(\eta, y) = \left(\prod_{x \in \eta} \rho_0(x)\right) r_0(y), \qquad (2.85)$$

then, at time t > 0 we want still to have a state of the same type,

$$r_t(\eta, y) = \left(\prod_{x \in \eta} \rho_t(x)\right) r_t(y), \qquad (2.86)$$

for any $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. In applications the functions $\rho, r : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ may be interpreted as the density distribution of RE and density distribution of RW, respectively.

Informally, under condition (2.84), we want to show that the solution of the renormalized hierarchy (2.81) converges (in a proper sense) to some function $r_t(\eta, y)$ which is solution to the Vlasov hierarchy

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}r_t}{\mathrm{d}t} = \left(L_{RE,V}^{\bigtriangleup} + L_{RW,V}^{\bigtriangleup}\right)r_t \\ r_t|_{t=0} = r_0 \end{cases}, \qquad t \ge 0, \tag{2.87}$$

where

$$L_{V}^{\triangle} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} L_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\triangle} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} L_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\triangle} + \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\triangle} =: L_{RE,V}^{\triangle} + L_{RW,V}^{\triangle}.$$
 (2.88)

Note that the limiting hierarchy (2.87) can be obtained (point-wise) under general conditions, see Proposition 2.20, 2.21 and 2.22 for details.

Finally, if the limiting evolution satisfies the chaos preservation property (2.85)-(2.86), it follows that Vlasov hierarchy (2.87) with initial condition (2.85) has a solution of the form (2.86), where the pair of functions (ρ_t, r_t) are solutions of a system of coupled differential equations

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho_t\left(x\right) = \left(\mathcal{V}_{RE}\rho_t\right)\left(x\right),\tag{2.89a}$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}r_t\left(y\right) = \left(\mathcal{V}_{RW}\left(\rho_t\right)r_t\right)\left(y\right),\tag{2.89b}$$

which we will call the Vlasov equations of RWRE. Here, \mathcal{V}_{RE} and $\mathcal{V}_{RW}(\rho_t)$ are two operators acting on a proper space of functions on \mathbb{R}^d .

The kinetic equations (2.89a) and (2.89b) will be derived point-wise in Lemma 2.25.(i), for the moment let us just stress some remarkable common features. The first equation (2.89a), describing the evolution of the density of RE ρ_t , is non-linear, but independent of the RW. Whereas, the second equation (2.89b), describing the evolution of the density distribution of the RW r_t , is linear and depends on the solution of the first equation, ρ_t , due to the presence of the interaction λ_{int} . In our model of RWRE, Vlasov equations (2.89a)-(2.89b) have a nice probabilistic interpretation. More precisely, cf. Lemma 2.25.*ii*, equation (2.89b) describes a non-autonomous RW with the heuristic generator

$$\left(\overline{L}_{RW}(t)f\right)(y) := \left(L_{RW}(\overline{\lambda_t})f\right)(y)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z\overline{\lambda}_t(y,z) \, a\left(y-z\right) \left[f\left(z\right) - f\left(y\right)\right], \tag{2.90}$$

for a proper class of functions $f : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$, which we call reduced observables. The function $\overline{\lambda}_t(y, z)$ depends on the solution of (2.89a) and represents some effective interaction which approximates the interaction with the particles of RE, see formula (2.126) in next section.

Remark 2.16. It may be convenient to consider the Vlasov-type scaling in terms of quasiobservables G, which are the pre-duals of correlation functionals k w.r.t. (2.28). By means of the scaling (2.80), we can define the rescaled generator for quasi-observables as

$$\hat{L}_{\varepsilon} = K^{-1} L_{\varepsilon} K = K^{-1} L_{RE,\varepsilon} K + K^{-1} L_{RW,\varepsilon} K =: \hat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon} + \hat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon}.$$
(2.91)

Then, since the map R_{ε} in (2.78) is self-dual w.r.t. (2.28), we can define the renormalized hierarchy for quasi-observables

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}G_t}{\mathrm{d}t} = \left(\hat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} + \hat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}\right)G_t\\ G_t|_{t=0} = G_0 \end{cases}, \qquad t \ge 0, \qquad (2.92)$$

with

$$\hat{L}_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} = R_{\varepsilon^{-1}}\hat{L}_{\varepsilon}R_{\varepsilon} = R_{\varepsilon^{-1}}\hat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon}R_{\varepsilon} + R_{\varepsilon^{-1}}\hat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon}R_{\varepsilon} =: \hat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} + \hat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}, \qquad (2.93)$$

and the corresponding limiting hierarchy

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}G_t}{\mathrm{d}t} = \left(\widehat{L}_{RE,V} + \widehat{L}_{RW,V}\right)G_t \\ G_t|_{t=0} = G_0 \end{cases}, \quad t \ge 0, \tag{2.94}$$

where

$$\hat{L}_{V} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \hat{L}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \hat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}} + \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \hat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}} =: \hat{L}_{RE,V} + \hat{L}_{RW,V}.$$
(2.95)

2.3.1 Derivation of Vlasov equations

In this section we apply the general scheme of the Vlasov-type scaling to a wide class of RWREs described by the heuristic generator (2.74). We state general conditions on the parameter of the model which give a point-wise convergence of the rescaled generator to the limiting generator of the releated hierarchies. Finally, we derive informally the Vlasov equations for the considered RWREs.

For any $\varepsilon > 0$ using the scaling (2.76)-(2.80) we can define the renormalized hierarchy for correlation functions given by (2.81) with the generators

$$L_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\triangle} := R_{\varepsilon^{-1}} L_{RE,\varepsilon}^{\triangle} R_{\varepsilon} \quad \text{and} \quad L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\triangle} := R_{\varepsilon^{-1}} L_{RW,\varepsilon}^{\triangle} R_{\varepsilon}.$$
(2.96)

The explicit expression for the operator $L_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta}$ can be found in [51] for different types of birth-and-death processes and hopping particle systems. Below we describe general results.

Proposition 2.17. Let us consider an operator L_{RE} as in (2.2). Assume that we have some scaling of birth and death rates b_{ε} and d_{ε} , respectively, such that conditions (2.3)-(2.5) are satisfied for any $\varepsilon > 0$. Then, for any $k \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$, $L_{RE,\varepsilon,ren}^{\bigtriangleup} k \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ and

$$\left(L_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\triangle} k \right) (\eta, y) = -\sum_{x \in \eta} \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) k \left(\xi \cup \eta, y \right) \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} d_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \cup \eta \setminus x \right) \right) \left(\xi \right) + \\ \sum_{x \in \eta} \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) k \left(\xi \cup \left(\eta \setminus x \right), y \right) \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} b_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \cup \eta \setminus x \right) \right) \left(\xi \right).$$
 (2.97)

Moreover, for any $G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ it follows that $\widehat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,ren}G \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$, where

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} G \right) (\eta, y) = -\sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \varepsilon^{-|\eta \setminus \xi|} G\left(\xi, y\right) \sum_{x \in \xi} \left(K^{-1} d_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \cup \left(\xi \setminus x \right) \right) \right) \left(\eta \setminus \xi \right) + \\ \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, \varepsilon^{-|\eta \setminus \xi|} G\left(\xi \cup x, y \right) \left(K^{-1} b_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \right) \right) \left(\eta \setminus \xi \right).$$

$$(2.98)$$

Proposition 2.18. Let us consider an operator L_{RE} as in (2.6). Assume that we have some scaling of the jump rate c_{ε} such that conditions (2.7)-(2.9) are satisfied for any $\varepsilon > 0$. Then, for any $k \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$, $L_{RE,\varepsilon,ren}^{\bigtriangleup} k \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ and

$$\left(L_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta} k \right) (\eta, y) =$$

$$= \sum_{x' \in \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) k \left(\xi \cup (\eta \setminus x') \cup x, y \right) \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} c_{x,x'} \left(\cdot \cup (\eta \setminus x') \right) \right) \left(\xi \right) -$$

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) k \left(\xi \cup \eta, y \right) \sum_{x \in \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} c_{x',x} \left(\cdot \cup (\eta \setminus x') \right) \right) \left(\xi \right).$$

$$(2.99)$$

Moreover, for any $G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ it follows that $\widehat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,ren}G \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$, where

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}G\right)(\eta,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \sum_{x \in \xi} \varepsilon^{-|\eta/\xi|} \left[G\left(\xi \setminus x \cup x', y\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right) \right] \times \left(K^{-1}c_{x,x'}\left(\cdot \cup (\xi \setminus x)\right)\right)(\eta \setminus \xi) \,. \tag{2.100}$$

In the following proposition we present the expression of the renormalized the operators $L_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta}$ and $\hat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$ for a general rescaled interaction λ_{ε} .

Proposition 2.19. Let us consider the RW of a jumping particle described by an operator L_{RW} as in (2.10). Assume that we have some scaling of the interaction $\lambda_{\varepsilon} \geq 0$ such that condition (2.11) holds for any $\varepsilon > 0$. Then, for any $k \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma_0})$, $L^{\triangle}_{RW,\varepsilon,ren}k \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma_0})$ and

$$\left(L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta} k \right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left[k\left(\xi \cup \eta, z\right) \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot \cup \eta, z, y\right)\right)(\xi) - k\left(\xi \cup \eta, y\right) \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z\right)\right)(\xi) \right].$$

$$(2.101)$$

Moreover, for any $G \in B_{\mathrm{bs}}(\widetilde{\Gamma_0})$ one has $L^{\Delta}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}G \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma_0})$, where

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}G\right)(\eta,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \varepsilon^{-|\eta/\xi|} \left(G\left(\xi,z\right) - G\left(\xi,y\right)\right) \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot \cup \xi,y,z\right)\right) \left(\eta \setminus \xi\right).$$
(2.102)

Proof. Let us first compute the renormalized operator for correlation function $L_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta}$. According to Proposition 2.15, by means of the scaling (2.80), we have

$$\left(L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\bigtriangleup} k \right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\zeta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \left[k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, z\right) \left(K_0^{-1}\lambda_\varepsilon\left(\cdot \cup \eta, z, y\right)\right)(\zeta) - k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, y\right) \left(K_0^{-1}\lambda_\varepsilon\left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z\right)\right)(\zeta) \right].$$

For $R_{\varepsilon^{-1}}k$ we can write it as

$$\begin{split} \left(L^{\triangle}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} R_{\varepsilon^{-1}} k \right) (\eta, y) &= \\ &= \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\zeta \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \varepsilon^{-|\zeta \cup \eta|} \left[k \left(\zeta \cup \eta, z \right) \left(K_0^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, z, y \right) \right) \left(\zeta \right) - \\ &\quad k \left(\zeta \cup \eta, y \right) \left(K_0^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right) \left(\zeta \right) \right]. \end{split}$$

Finally by applying the map R_{ε} to it, since $\eta \cap \zeta = \emptyset$ for λ -a.a. $\zeta \in \Gamma_0$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left(L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta}k \right)(\eta,y) &= \left(R_{\varepsilon} L_{RW,\varepsilon}^{\Delta}R_{\varepsilon^{-1}}k \right)(\eta,y) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\zeta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right)\varepsilon^{-|\zeta|} \left[k\left(\zeta \cup \eta,z\right) \left(K_0^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot \cup \eta,z,y\right)\right)(\zeta) - k\left(\zeta \cup \eta,y\right) \left(K_0^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot \cup \eta,y,z\right)\right)(\zeta) \right], \end{split}$$

as we wanted to show. Similarly, using Proposition 2.12 we can compute the renormalized generator for quasi-observables in (2.102).

Next, we want to show that for ε going to zero the generators in the renormalized hierarchy (2.81) converge point-wise to the generators in the Vlasov hierarchy (2.87), namely

$$L_{RE,V}^{\Delta} := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} L_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta}, \quad \text{and} \quad L_{RW,V}^{\Delta} := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} L_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta}.$$
(2.103)

Let us stress that, at present, we are considering a general scaling of the rates b_{ε} , d_{ε} , c_{ε} and interaction λ_{ε} . However, in order to calculate the two limits above, we need to impose some assumptions on the limiting behavior (in ε) of these rescaled parameters, which should be verified in each concrete model. In the next two propositions we give the precise expression for the limiting operator $L_{RE,V}^{\triangle}$ for a birth-and-death process and hopping particle system, respectively. These general results, as well as applications in specific models, can be found in [51].

Proposition 2.20. Let us consider the operators $L_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\triangle}$ and $\hat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$, $\varepsilon > 0$, given by (2.97) and (2.98), respectively. Suppose that for all $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ the following limits exist and coincide

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} d_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \cup \eta \right) \right) (\xi) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} d_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \right) \right) (\xi) =: D_x^V \left(\xi \right), \tag{2.104}$$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} b_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \cup \eta \right) \right) (\xi) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} b_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \right) \right) (\xi) =: B_x^V (\xi)$$
(2.105)

and let $D_x^V(\xi)$ and $B_x^V(\xi)$ satisfy conditions to (2.3)-(2.5). Then, for any $k, G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ the following formulas hold:

$$\left(L_{RE,V}^{\Delta}k\right)(\eta,y) = -\sum_{x\in\eta}\int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)k\left(\xi\cup\eta,y\right)D_x^V\left(\xi\right) + \sum_{x\in\eta}\int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)k\left(\xi\cup\left(\eta\setminus x\right),y\right)B_x^V\left(\xi\right)$$
(2.106)

and

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RE,V}G\right)(\eta,y) = -\sum_{\xi \subset \eta} G\left(\xi,y\right) \sum_{x \in \xi} D_x^V\left(\eta \setminus \xi\right) + \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, G\left(\xi \cup x,y\right) B_x^V\left(\eta \setminus \xi\right). \tag{2.107}$$

Moreover, $L_{RE,V}^{\triangle}k$, $\hat{L}_{RE,V}G \in L^{0}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_{0})$.

Proposition 2.21. Let us consider the operators $L_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\triangle}$ and $\hat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$, $\varepsilon > 0$, given by (2.99) and (2.100), respectively. Suppose that for all $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^d$ the following limits exist and coincide

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} c_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, x, x' \right) \right) (\xi) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} c_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot, x, x' \right) \right) (\xi) =: C_{x, x'}^{V} (\xi)$$
(2.108)

and let $C_{x,x'}^V(\xi)$ satisfies conditions (2.7)-(2.9). Then, for any $k, G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$) we have

$$\left(L_{RE,V}^{\triangle}k\right)(\eta,y) = \sum_{x'\in\eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) k\left(\xi \cup (\eta \setminus x') \cup x, y\right) C_{x,x'}^V\left(\xi\right)$$

$$-\int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) k\left(\xi \cup \eta, y\right) \sum_{x \in \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' C^V_{x', x}\left(\xi\right)$$
(2.109)

and

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RE,V}G\right)(\eta,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \sum_{x \in \xi} \left[G\left(\xi \setminus x \cup x', y\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right) \right] C_{x',x}^V\left(\eta \setminus \xi\right).$$
(2.110)

Moreover, $L_{RE,V}^{\Delta}k, \hat{L}_{RE,V}G \in L^0(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0).$

Now, under some general conditions on the rescaled interaction λ_{ε} we derive the explicit form for the limiting operators $L_{RW,V}^{\Delta}$ and $\hat{L}_{RW,V}$.

Proposition 2.22. Let us consider the operators $L_{RW,\varepsilon,ren}^{\triangle}$ and $\hat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,ren}$, $\varepsilon > 0$, given by (2.101) and (2.102), respectively. Suppose that for all $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$ the following limits exist and coincide

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right) (\xi) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot, y, z \right) \right) (\xi) =: A_V \left(\xi, y, z \right)$$
(2.111)

with

$$\sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^d} A(\eta, y, z) < \infty, \qquad \forall \eta \in \Gamma_0, \ \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(2.112)

Then, for any $k, G \in B_{bs}(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0)$ the following formulas hold

$$\left(L_{RW,V}^{\Delta}k\right)(\eta,y) = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \left[k\left(\xi \cup \eta, z\right) A_V\left(\xi, z, y\right) - k\left(\xi \cup \eta, y\right) A_V\left(\xi, y, z\right)\right]$$
(2.113)

and

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW,V}G\right)(\eta,y) = \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right) \left(G\left(\xi,z\right) - G\left(\xi,y\right)\right) A_V\left(\eta \setminus \xi,y,z\right). \tag{2.114}$$

Moreover, $L_{RW,V}^{\Delta}k, \widehat{L}_{RW,V}G \in B_0(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0).$

Proof. The limiting generator $L_{RW,V}^{\triangle}$ is defined as

$$\left(L_{RW,V}^{\bigtriangleup}k\right)(\eta,y) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\bigtriangleup}k\right)(\eta,y)$$

By (2.101) we can write this limit explicitly as

$$\begin{split} \left(L_{RW,V}^{\bigtriangleup} k \right)(\eta, y) = & \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left[k \left(\xi \cup \eta, z \right) \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K_0^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, z, y \right) \right) \left(\xi \right) - k \left(\xi \cup \eta, y \right) \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K_0^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right) \left(\xi \right) \right]. \end{split}$$

Hence, assumption (2.111) yields (2.113). Similarly, starting from (2.102), one can derive (2.114). $\hfill \Box$

Finally, let us show that the Vlasov hierarchy (2.87), specified by Proposition 2.20, 2.21 and 2.22, has the chaos preservation property and, then, derive the corresponding kinetic equations. Firstly, let us present the Vlasov equations for a generic birth-and-death dynamics and hopping particle system, see [51, 54] and reference therein for details.

Proposition 2.23. Let us consider the generator $L_{\text{bad},V}^{\triangle}$ defined as in (2.106). Assume that the Vlasov equation

$$\frac{\partial \rho_t \left(x \right)}{\partial t} = -\rho_t \left(x \right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) e_\lambda \left(\rho_t, \xi \right) D_x^V \left(\xi \right) + \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) e_\lambda \left(\rho_t, \xi \right) B_x^V \left(\xi \right), \tag{2.115}$$

has a point-wise solution $\rho_t : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}, t \ge 0$. Then, for any time $t \ge 0$ the evolution equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}k_t(\eta) = \left(L_{bad,V}^{\triangle}k_t\right)(\eta) \\ k_t(\eta)|_{t=0} = e_\lambda(\rho_0,\eta) \end{cases}, \quad k_t: \Gamma_0 \to \mathbb{R}, \tag{2.116}$$

has a solution of the form $k_t = e_{\lambda}(\rho_t)$. Namely,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\eta) = \left(L_{bad,V}^{\Delta}e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\cdot)\right)(\eta), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_{0}, t \ge 0.$$
(2.117)

Proposition 2.24. Let us consider a generator L_{hp}^{\triangle} of the form (2.109). Assume that the Vlasov equation

$$\frac{\partial \rho_t(x)}{\partial t} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' \rho_t(x') \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\xi) e_\lambda(\rho_t,\xi) C_{x',x}^V(\xi) - \rho_t(x) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\xi) e_\lambda(\rho_t,\xi) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' e_\lambda(\rho_t,\xi) C_{x,x'}^V(\xi), \qquad (2.118)$$

has a point-wise solution $\rho_t : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}, t \geq 0$. Then, for any time $t \geq 0$ the evolution equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}k_t\left(\eta\right) = \left(L_{hp,V}^{\Delta}k_t\right)\left(\eta\right) \\ k_t\left(\eta\right)|_{t=0} = e_{\lambda}(\rho_0,\eta)k_0\left(\eta\right) \end{cases}, \qquad k_t:\Gamma_0 \to \mathbb{R}, \tag{2.119}$$

has a solution of the form $k_t = e_{\lambda}(\rho_t)$. Namely,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}e_{\lambda}(\rho_t,\eta) = \left(L^{\triangle}_{hp,V}e_{\lambda}(\rho_t,\cdot)\right)(\eta), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0, t \ge 0.$$
(2.120)

Next, we derive the Vlasov equations for RWRE described by the limiting generator $L_V^{\triangle} := L_{RE,V}^{\triangle} + L_{RW,V}^{\triangle}$, where $L_{RW,V}^{\triangle}$ is given by (2.113) and $L_{RE,V}^{\triangle}$ is of the form (2.106) or (2.109). According to results of Proposition 2.23 and 2.24, in order to keep the discuss as general as possible, we assume that for any $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $t \ge 0$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\eta) = \left(L_{RE,V}^{\Delta}e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\cdot)\right)(\eta), \qquad (2.121)$$

where $\rho_t : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a point-wise solution to the kinetic equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho_t\left(x\right) = \left(\mathcal{V}_{RE}\rho_t\right)\left(x\right), \qquad t \ge 0.$$
(2.122)

Lemma 2.25. Let us consider the generator $L_{RW,V}^{\triangle}$ defined as in (2.113) and let $L_{RE,V}^{\triangle}$ be an operator such that conditions (2.121) and (2.122) hold.

(i) Assume that the Vlasov equation

$$\frac{\partial r_t(y)}{\partial t} = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_\lambda\left(\rho_t,\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \left[r_t\left(z\right) A_V\left(\xi,z,y\right) - r_t\left(y\right) A_V\left(\xi,y,z\right)\right],\tag{2.123}$$

has a point-wise solution $r_t : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$, $t \ge 0$. Then, for any time $t \ge 0$ the limiting Vlasov hierarchy (2.87), with initial condition of the form $k_0(\eta, y) = e_\lambda(\rho_0, \eta)r_0(y)$, has a solution of the form $k_t = e_\lambda(\rho_t, \eta)r_t(y)$ and

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[e_{\lambda}(\rho_t, \eta) r_t(y) \right] = \left(\left[L_{RE,V}^{\triangle} + L_{RW,V}^{\triangle} \right] e_{\lambda}(\rho_t, \cdot) r_t \right) (\eta, y) , \qquad (2.124)$$

for any $\eta \in \Gamma_0$, $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $t \ge 0$.

(ii) The system of Vlasov equations (2.122)-(2.123) describes a non-autonomous RW with heuristic generator $\overline{L}_{RW}(t)$ acting on proper functions $f : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\left(\overline{L}_{RW}(t)f\right)(y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z\overline{\lambda}_t\left(y,z\right)a\left(y-z\right)\left[f\left(z\right) - f\left(y\right)\right],\tag{2.125}$$

where

$$\overline{\lambda}_t(y,z) = \int_{\Gamma_0} d\lambda(\xi) e_\lambda(\rho_t,\xi) A_V(\xi,y,z), \qquad t \ge 0, \qquad (2.126)$$

and $\rho_t(x)$ is solution to (2.122).

Remark 2.26. The Vlasov equation (2.123) can be rewritten in terms of the effective interaction (2.126) as follow

$$\frac{\partial r_t(y)}{\partial t} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y-z) \left[r_t(z) \,\overline{\lambda}_t(z,y) - r_t(y) \,\overline{\lambda}_t(y,z) \right].$$

Proof of (i). In order to derive the Vlasov equations we need to check that, if ρ_t and r_t satisfies (2.122) and (2.123), then

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[e_{\lambda}(\rho_t, \eta) r_t(y) \right] = \left(L_{RE,V}^{\Delta} e_{\lambda}(\rho_t, \cdot) r_t(\cdot) \right) (\eta, y) + \left(L_{RW,V}^{\Delta} e_{\lambda}(\rho_t, \cdot) r_t(\cdot) \right) (\eta, y) , \quad (2.127)$$

for any $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. By using the product rule of derivatives, since

$$\left(L_{RE,V}^{\Delta}e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t})r_{t}\right)(\eta,y)=r_{t}\left(y\right)\left(L_{RE,V}^{\Delta}e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\cdot)\right)(\eta),$$

we can rewrite (2.127) explicitly as

$$r_{t}(y)\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial t}e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\eta)\right] + e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\eta)\frac{\partial r_{t}(y)}{\partial t} = r_{t}(y)\left(L_{RE,V}^{\Delta}e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\cdot)\right)(\eta) + \left(L_{RW,V}^{\Delta}e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\cdot)r_{t}(\cdot)\right)(\eta,y).$$
(2.128)

Note that, under hypothesis (2.121), this condition is equivalent to

$$e_{\lambda}(\rho_t,\eta)\frac{\partial r_t(y)}{\partial t} = \left(L_{RW,V}^{\triangle}e_{\lambda}(\rho_t,\cdot)r_t(\cdot)\right)(\eta,y).$$
(2.129)

Then, by using the result of Proposition 2.22, one has

$$e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\eta)\frac{\partial r_{t}(y)}{\partial t} = \int_{\Gamma_{0}} d\lambda \left(\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dza \left(y-z\right) e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\xi\cup\eta) \left[r_{t}\left(z\right)A_{V}\left(\xi,z,y\right)-r_{t}\left(y\right)A_{V}\left(\xi,y,z\right)\right] \\ = e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\eta) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} d\lambda \left(\xi\right) e_{\lambda}(\rho_{t},\xi) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dza \left(y-z\right) \left[r_{t}\left(z\right)A_{V}\left(\xi,z,y\right)-r_{t}\left(y\right)A_{V}\left(\xi,y,z\right)\right],$$

$$(2.130)$$

where in the last step we used the fact that $\xi \cap \eta = \emptyset$ for λ -a.a. $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and the identity $e_{\lambda}(f, \xi \cup \eta) = e_{\lambda}(f, \xi)e_{\lambda}(f, \eta)$. Finally, we can easily deduce that (2.130) is satisfied if r_t satisfies (2.123).

Proof of (ii). The kinetic equation (2.123) can be seen as the Fokker-Planck equation for the density r_t . We rewrite it formally as

$$\frac{\partial r_t(y)}{\partial t} = \left(\overline{L}_{RW}^*(t)r_t\right)(y), \qquad t \ge 0, \tag{2.131}$$

where the operator $\overline{L}_{RW}^*(t)$ is given by

$$\left(\overline{L}_{RW}^{*}(t)r_{t}\right)(y) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \left[r_{t}\left(z\right)\overline{\lambda}_{t}(z,y) - r_{t}\left(y\right)\overline{\lambda}_{t}(y,z)\right],\tag{2.132}$$

with $\overline{\lambda}_t$ defined as in (2.126). Next, by using the duality between functions and densities on \mathbb{R}^d , defined by the pairing

$$\langle f, p \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(x) p(x) \,\mathrm{d}x,$$
 (2.133)

we can derive the corresponding backward Kolmogorov equation for (reduced) observables $f_t : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$,

$$\frac{\partial f_t(y)}{\partial t} = \left(\overline{L}_{RW}(t)f_t\right)(y), \qquad t \ge 0, \tag{2.134}$$

where $\overline{L}_{RW}(t)$ is the pre-dual operator to $\overline{L}_{RW}^*(t)$ w.r.t. the pairing (2.133), namely

$$\langle \overline{L}_{RW}(t)f,r\rangle = \langle f,\overline{L}_{RW}^*(t)r\rangle.$$
 (2.135)

By using (2.132), the r.h.s. of the above identity can be written explicitly as

$$\langle f, \overline{L}_{RW}^{*}(t)r \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y f(y) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, r_{t}(z) \, a(y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_{t}(z,y) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \, f(y) \, r_{t}(y) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_{t}(y,z) \, .$$

In the first integral in the r.h.s. we can just exchange y with z to obtain

$$\langle f, \overline{L}_{RW}^*(t)r \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \, r_t\left(y\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \overline{\lambda}_t\left(y,z\right) \left[f\left(z\right) - f\left(y\right)\right]. \tag{2.136}$$

Finally, comparing this expression with the l.h.s. of (2.135), we obtain the desired result. \Box

Remark 2.27.

- (i) In this work we aim to study the Vlasov-type scaling in the Banach spaces \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} and \mathcal{K}_C^1 , defined in (2.31) and (2.32), respectively. In particular, we discuss the existence of the renormalized and the limiting evolutions, see equations (2.81) and (2.87), as well as the convergence for the solutions of the considered hierarchies. This analysis can be performed by using one the three methods explained at the end of Section 2.2, see also [45, 54, 61] and references therein.
- (ii) The question about existence and uniqueness of solutions of Vlasov equations shall be considered as a separated problem. The space of these solutions depends on the class of correlation functions that has been considered. In particular, if $k \in \mathcal{K}_C^q$, with $q = \infty$ or 1, then, $\rho \in L^{\infty}$ and $r \in L^q$. In this thesis we will study existence and uniqueness problem of these equations and prove some uniform estimate of their solutions.

2.3.2 Examples of Vlasov equations

In this section, we present the explicit form of the Vlasov equations of RWRE for each of the interaction I-IV introduced in Section 2.1. In what follows we alway assume that the density of particles of RE, $\rho_t : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$, is the solution of some Vlasov-type equation given by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\rho_t\left(x\right) = \left(\mathcal{V}_{RE}\rho\right)\left(x\right), \qquad t \ge 0.$$
(2.137)

Clearly, the exact form of this equation depends on the model of RE one is considering, cf. (2.115) and (2.118).

Case I. Let us consider the interaction $\lambda_{\text{int}} = \lambda^{(1)}$ defined by (2.47). For any $\varepsilon > 0$ we consider the following scaling of $\lambda^{(1)}$,

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}(\gamma, y) := e^{-\varepsilon \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x'-y)} = e_{\lambda} \left(e^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot - z)}, \gamma \right), \qquad (2.138)$$

for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. In correspondence to such a scaling, analogously to (2.50), we have

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,y\right)\right)(\eta) = \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\xi,y\right)e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)} - 1,\eta\right)$$
(2.139)

and letting ε go to zero, one obtains

$$A_{V}^{(1)}(\eta, y) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}(\cdot \cup \xi, y) \right)(\eta)$$

$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} e^{-\varepsilon \sum_{x \in \varepsilon} \phi(x-y)} e_{\lambda} \left(\frac{e^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot-y)} - 1}{\varepsilon}, \eta \right)$$

$$= e_{\lambda} \left(-\phi(\cdot - y), \eta \right), \qquad (2.140)$$

for all $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Note that in the last step we used the identity

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon f} - 1}{\varepsilon} = f, \qquad f > 0.$$
(2.141)

In this case, we can define the effective interaction (compare to (2.126)),

$$\overline{\lambda}_{t}^{(1)}(y) := \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\rho_{t},\xi\right) A_{V}^{(1)}\left(\xi,y\right)$$
$$= \mathrm{e}^{-\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x'\rho_{t}(x')\phi(x'-y)}, \qquad y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$
(2.142)

Then, according to Remark 2.26, the corresponding Vlasov equation can be written as

$$\frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = -\langle a \rangle \mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} r_t + \left(\left(\mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} r_t \right) * a \right), \qquad (2.143)$$

where we have defined

$$\langle a \rangle := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(z\right).$$
 (2.144)

Here and below, the symbol * indicates the usual notion of convolution on \mathbb{R}^d , namely

$$(f * g)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(x') g(x' - x) dx, \qquad f, g \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

Case II. Let us consider the interaction $\lambda^{(2)}$ defined as in (2.52)-(2.53). For any $\varepsilon > 0$ we rescale this interaction as follows

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}(\gamma, y) := \lambda_0 + \varepsilon \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - y), \qquad (2.145)$$

for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. In correspondence to such a scaling, analogously to (2.56), we have

$$\left(K_0^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,y\right)\right)(\eta) = \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}\left(\xi,y\right)0^{|\eta|} + \varepsilon\phi\left(x'-y\right)\mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}\left(\eta = \{x'\}\right)$$
(2.146)

and considering the limit for ε going to zero, one finds

$$A_{V}^{(2)}(\eta, y) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}(\cdot \cup \xi, y) \right)(\eta)$$

$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\lambda_{0} 0^{|\eta|} + \varepsilon \sum_{x \in \xi} \phi(x - y) 0^{|\eta|} + \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \varepsilon \phi(x' - y) \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}(\eta = \{x'\}) \right]$$

$$= \lambda_{0} 0^{|\eta|} + \phi(x' - y) \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}(\eta = \{x'\}), \qquad (2.147)$$

for all $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, one can define the effective interaction (compare to (2.126)),

$$\overline{\lambda}_{t}^{(2)}(y) := \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\rho_{t},\xi\right) A_{V}^{(2)}\left(\xi,y\right)$$
$$= \lambda_{0} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x'\rho_{t}\left(x'\right)\phi\left(x'-y\right), \qquad y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$
(2.148)

and from Remark 2.26 the corresponding Vlasov equation can be written as

$$\frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = \left(a * \left[r_t \left(\lambda_0 + \left(\rho_t * \phi\right)\right)\right]\right) - \langle a \rangle r_t \left[\lambda_0 + \left(\rho_t * \phi\right)\right].$$
(2.149)

Case III. For any $\varepsilon > 0$, we consider the following scaling of the interaction (2.58),

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(3)}(\gamma, z) := e^{-\varepsilon \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x'-z)} = e_{\lambda} \left(e^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot - z)}, \gamma \right), \qquad (2.150)$$

for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and $z \in \mathbb{R}^d$. In correspondence, analogously to equations (2.139) and (2.140), we find

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(3)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,z\right)\right)(\eta) = \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(3)}\left(\xi,z\right)e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\varepsilon\phi\left(\cdot-z\right)}-1,\eta\right)$$
(2.151)

and, letting ε go to zero,

$$A_{V}^{(3)}(\eta, z) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(3)}(\cdot \cup \xi, z) \right)(\eta)$$

= $e_{\lambda} \left(-\phi(\cdot - z), \eta \right),$ (2.152)

for all $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $z \in \mathbb{R}^d$. We can introduce the effective interaction (cf. (2.126)),

$$\overline{\lambda}_{t}^{(3)}(z) := \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\rho_{t},\xi\right) A_{V}^{(3)}\left(\xi,z\right)$$
$$= \mathrm{e}^{-\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x'\rho_{t}(x')\phi(x'-z)}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$
(2.153)

Then, according to Remark 2.26 the corresponding Vlasov equation has the form

$$\frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = e^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} \left(r_t * a \right) - r_t \left(e^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} * a \right).$$
(2.154)

Case IV. For any $\varepsilon > 0$ we rescale interaction (2.61) as follows

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(4)}(\gamma, z) := \lambda_0 + \varepsilon \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - z), \qquad (2.155)$$

for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and $z \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, analogously to (2.146) and (2.147), we have

$$\left(K_0^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(4)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,z\right)\right)(\eta) = \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(4)}\left(\xi,z\right)0^{|\eta|} + \varepsilon\phi\left(x'-z\right)\mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}\left(\eta = \{x'\}\right)$$
(2.156)

and, in the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$,

$$A_V^{(4)}(\eta, z) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(4)} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, z \right) \right) (\eta)$$

= $\lambda_0 0^{|\eta|} + \phi \left(x' - z \right) \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}} \left(\eta = \{ x' \} \right),$ (2.157)

for all $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $z \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Next we define the effective interaction (cf. (2.126)) given by

$$\overline{\lambda}_{t}^{(4)}(z) := \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\rho_{t},\xi\right) A_{V}^{(4)}\left(\xi,z\right)$$
$$= \lambda_{0} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x'\rho_{t}\left(x'\right)\phi\left(x'-z\right), \qquad \text{for a.a. } z \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$
(2.158)

Hence, from Remark 2.26 the corresponding Vlasov equation can be written as

$$\frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = (r_t * a) \left[\lambda_0 + (\rho_t * \phi)\right] - r_t \left[\lambda_0 \langle a \rangle + ((\rho_t * \phi) * a)\right].$$
(2.159)

Remark 2.28. In all examples discussed in this section, the effective interaction $\overline{\lambda}_t$ can be obtained from the original interaction λ_{int} through the substitution

$$\sum_{x \in \gamma} \phi(x - \cdot) \longrightarrow \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, \rho_t(x) \phi(x - \cdot), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma.$$

This simple observation emphasize the nature of the mesoscopic limit that we realized. Indeed, on the microscopic level we have a many-body interaction λ_{int} which describes the interaction between the tagged particle and other particles of RE. Then, by means of the Vlasov-type scaling limit, we arrive to the two-body interaction $\overline{\lambda}_t$ which takes into account the mean effect that particles of RE has on the RW of the tagged particle.

Chapter 3

Random walks in birth-and-death environments

We study the model introduced in Chapter 2 of the RW of a jumping particle which interacts with an evolving RE described by a non-equilibrium birth-and-death dynamics [54].

Following the general approach described in [49, 54], we present conditions on the birthand-death intensities as well as on the interaction between the target particle and the other particles of the environment, which are sufficient for the existence of an (statistical) evolution as a strongly continuous semigroup (C_0 -semigroup) on a proper Banach space of correlation functions satisfying a Ruelle-type bound. Moreover, by using the Vlasov-type scaling introduced in [51] and described in Section 2.3 we study the corresponding dynamics in the mesoscopic limit.

Our analysis can be applied to different classes of RE, see e.g. [42, 50, 57, 82], as well as to different types of interactions of RW with RE. As an example of these applications, we will discuss in details the concrete model of RW evolving in a Bolker-Dieckmann-Law-Pacala (BDLP) model of RE under each of the interactions I-IV introduced in Section 2.1.

3.1 Non-equilibrium evolutions

In this section we want to study the statistical evolution corresponding to the Markov dynamics of RWRE described by the heuristic generator

$$(LF)(\gamma, y) = (L_{RE}F)(\gamma, y) + (L_{RW}F)(\gamma, y), \qquad (3.1)$$

where, for any $F \in K(B_{bs}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d))$, the generators L_{RE} and L_{RW} are defined by (2.2) and (2.10), respectively, such that conditions (2.3)-(2.5) as well as (2.11) hold.

From Section 2.2 we know that the evolution of correlation functions is described by a hierarchy of the form

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}k_t\left(\eta, y\right) = \left(\hat{L}_{RE}^*k_t\right)\left(\eta, y\right) + \left(\hat{L}_{RW}^*k_t\right)\left(\eta, y\right) \\ k_t\left(\eta, y\right)|_{t=0} = k_0\left(\eta, y\right) \end{cases}, \quad t \ge 0, \quad (3.2)$$

where the operators \hat{L}_{RE}^* and \hat{L}_{RW}^* are given by (2.66) and (2.68), respectively. We also define $\hat{L}^* = \hat{L}_{RE}^* + \hat{L}_{RW}^*$.

For any fixed C > 1, we study the solution to the initial value problem (3.2) in the Banach space (cf. (2.31)),

$$\mathcal{K}_C^{\infty} = \left\{ k : \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R} \mid C^{-|\eta|} k(\eta, y) \in L^{\infty} \left(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{d}y \right) \right\},\tag{3.3}$$

equipped with the norm

$$\|k\|_{\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{C}} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(\eta,y)\in\Gamma_{0}\times\mathbb{R}^{d}} C^{-|\eta|} |k(\eta,y)|.$$
(3.4)

In order to solve (3.2) we will use the Phillips' trick [54,102] as explained in Section 2.2. By means of the duality (2.24), we consider the hierarchy for quasi-observables $G \in B_{bs}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ given by (cf. Remark 2.6)

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}G_t\left(\eta,y\right) = \left(\widehat{L}_{RE}G_t\right)\left(\eta,y\right) + \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}G_t\right)\left(\eta,y\right) \\ G_t\left(\eta,y\right)|_{t=0} = G_0\left(\eta,y\right) \end{cases}, \quad t \ge 0, \quad (3.5)$$

where the operators \hat{L}_{RE} and \hat{L}_{RW} are defined in (2.36) and (2.38), respectively. This initial value problem will be solved in the (pre-dual) Banach space

$$\mathcal{L}_C := L^1\left(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \mathrm{d}y\right), \qquad C > 1,$$
(3.6)

equipped with the norm

$$\|G\|_C := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| G\left(\eta, y\right) \right|.$$
(3.7)

In Section 3.1.1 we construct a holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{U}(t)$ on the space \mathcal{L}_C which gives a solution to (3.5) in this space. The dual semigroup $\widehat{U}^*(t)$ provides a weak*-solution to (3.2) in the space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} . Then, in Section 3.1.2 we find a proper subspace of \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} in which a strong solution of (3.2) exists.

3.1.1 Evolution of quasi-observables

In this section, we want to construct a semigroup on the Banach space \mathcal{L}_C , defined in (3.6), with generator $\hat{L} = \hat{L}_{RE} + \hat{L}_{RW}$ given by formulas (2.36) and (2.38).

In order to accomplish this task we will use a modification of the approach proposed in [54] to construct the state evolution associated to a birth-and-death dynamics on the configuration space. More precisely, following [54] we assume that there exist $a_1 \ge 1$, $a_2 > 0$ such that for all $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\sum_{x\in\xi} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| K^{-1} d\left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \setminus x\right) \right|(\eta) \leq a_1 \sum_{x\in\xi} d\left(x, \xi \setminus x\right), \tag{3.8}$$

$$\sum_{x\in\xi} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| K^{-1}b\left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \setminus x\right) \right| (\eta) \leq a_2 \sum_{x\in\xi} d\left(x, \xi \setminus x\right).$$
(3.9)

In addition, we make the following assumption on the interaction λ_{int} .

Assumption 3.1. Suppose that there exist $\alpha_0, \alpha_1 \geq 0$ such that for all $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z \right) \right|(\eta) \le \alpha_1 \sum_{x \in \xi} d\left(x, \xi \setminus x \right) + \alpha_0.$$
(3.10)

Remark 3.2. As we will see in the discussion of concrete models in Section 3.1.3, conditions (3.8)-(3.10) imply that the mortality of RE should be large enough "to dominate" both the birth of new particles and the interaction λ_{int} .

Let us consider the generator \widehat{L} with domain given by

$$\mathcal{D} = \{ G \in \mathcal{L}_C : D(\eta) G(\eta, y) \in \mathcal{L}_C \}, \qquad D(\xi) := \sum_{x \in \xi} d(x, \xi \setminus x).$$
(3.11)

Note that the set \mathcal{D} is a dense set in \mathcal{L}_C . Thus, under the assumptions above, we can formulate the following theorem about the existence of the corresponding semigroup in \mathcal{L}_C . The proof of this result is given in Section 3.1.1.1.

Theorem 3.3. Suppose that the hypotheses (3.8)-(3.10) hold with

$$a_1 + \frac{a_2}{C} + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1 < \frac{3}{2},\tag{3.12}$$

then the operator $(\widehat{L}, \mathcal{D})$ is the generator of a holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{T}(t)$ on \mathcal{L}_C .

3.1.1.1 Proof of Theorem 3.3

We proceed with a rigorous analysis of the operator \hat{L} in the Banach space \mathcal{L}_C . According to the results obtained in Proposition 2.10 and 2.12, for any $G \in B_{\rm bs}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d)$, we can rewrite the operator \hat{L} as

$$(\hat{L}G)(\eta, y) = (L_0G)(\eta, y) + (L_1G)(\eta, y) + (\hat{L}_{RW}G)(\eta, y), \qquad (3.13)$$

where \hat{L}_{RW} is given by formula (2.38),

$$(L_0G)(\eta, y) = -D(\eta)G(\eta, y)$$
(3.14)

and

$$(L_1G)(\eta, y) = -\sum_{\xi \subseteq \eta} G(\xi, y) \sum_{x \in \xi} \left(K^{-1}d(x, \cdot \cup (\xi \setminus x)) \right) (\eta \setminus \xi) + \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, G(\xi \cup x, y) \left(K^{-1}b(x, \cdot \cup \xi) \right) (\eta \setminus \xi) \,.$$
(3.15)

Let us first consider the multiplication operator (L_0, \mathcal{D}) , with \mathcal{D} given by (3.11). Multiplication operators are quite simple to define and analyze, see e.g. [39]. In the present case we can show the following lemma.

Lemma 3.4. The operator (L_0, \mathcal{D}) is a generator of a contraction semigroup on \mathcal{L}_C . Moreover, L_0 is a sectorial operator of any angle $\omega \in (0, \pi/2)$, i.e. for each $\varepsilon \in (0, \omega)$ and $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$, with $|\arg z| \leq \pi/2 + \omega - \varepsilon$, there exists $M_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\left\| (z\mathbb{1} - L_0)^{-1} \right\|_C \le \frac{M_{\varepsilon}}{|z|}.$$
 (3.16)

Furthermore, condition (3.16) holds with $M_{\varepsilon} = 1/\cos \omega$ for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \omega)$.

Proof of Lemma 3.4. The statement can be shown by using the same arguments used in the proof of Lemma 3.3 in [54]. \Box

As it is well known, see e.g. [39, Theorem II.4.6], any sectorial operator of angle ω generates a bounded semigroup which is holomorphic in the sector

Sect
$$(\omega) = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |\arg z| < \omega\},\$$

for all $\omega \in (0, \pi/2)$. Then, in order to construct a semigroup associated to the generator (\hat{L}, \mathcal{D}) , we can use the theorem about perturbations of holomorphic semigroups, see e.g. [39, Theorem III.2.10]. For this purpose, it is enough to show that both the operators L_1 and \hat{L}_{RW} are, at least, relatively bounded by the operator L_0 (L_0 -bounded) in the space \mathcal{L}_C .

The operator L_1 has been already studied in [54] and we know thereform that, under assumptions (3.8) and (3.9), it is L_0 -bounded in \mathcal{L}_C . In particular, we can formulate the following result.

Proposition 3.5. Let us suppose that conditions (3.8) and (3.9) hold. Then, the operator (L_1, \mathcal{D}) is a well-defined operator in \mathcal{L}_C , such that

$$||L_1G||_C \le \left(a_1 - 1 + \frac{a_2}{C}\right) ||L_0G||_C, \qquad G \in \mathcal{D}.$$
 (3.17)

Proof of Proposition 3.5. The proof is similar to that one of Lemma 3.4 in [54].

Now let us consider the operator \hat{L}_{RW} . In the space \mathcal{L}_C we can prove the following estimate.

Proposition 3.6. Let us suppose that hypothesis (3.10) is fulfilled. Then, the operator $(\hat{L}_{RW}, \mathcal{D})$ is a well-defined operator in \mathcal{L}_C satisfying

$$\left\| \widehat{L}_{RW} G \right\|_{C} \le 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_{1} \left\| L_{0} G \right\|_{C} + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_{0} \left\| G \right\|_{C}, \qquad G \in \mathcal{D}.$$
(3.18)

Proof of Proposition 3.6. We calculate the \mathcal{L}_C -norm of the operator \widehat{L}_{RW} in (2.38) explicitly. By definition, for any $G \in \mathcal{D}$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \widehat{L}_{RW} G \right\|_{C} &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \times \\ &\sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z\right) \right| \left(\eta \setminus \xi\right) \left| G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right) \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Applying the Minlos identity (1.18) we can rewrite it as

$$\begin{split} \left\| \widehat{L}_{RW} G \right\|_{C} &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \times \\ &\int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z\right) \right|\left(\eta\right) \left| G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right) \right|. \end{split}$$

Then, one can use condition (3.10) and estimate

$$\begin{split} \left| \widehat{L}_{RW} G \right\|_{C} &\leq \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left(\alpha_{1} D\left(\xi\right) + \alpha_{0}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y - z\right) \left| G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right) \right| \\ &\leq 2 \langle a \rangle \alpha_{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) D\left(\xi\right) \left| G\left(\xi, y\right) \right| + \\ &\quad 2 \langle a \rangle \alpha_{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left| G\left(\xi, y\right) \right|. \end{split}$$

$$(3.19)$$

Finally, by using the definition of the generator L_0 in (3.14) we obtain the desired result. **Remark 3.7.** Note that the first inequality in (3.19) implies

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \widehat{L}_{RW} G \right\|_{C} &\leq 2 \langle a \rangle \alpha_{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) D\left(\xi\right) |G\left(\xi,y\right)| + \\ &\alpha_{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) |G\left(\xi,z\right) - G\left(\xi,y\right)| \\ &\leq 2 \langle a \rangle \alpha_{1} \left\| L_{0} G \right\|_{C} + \alpha_{0} \left\| L_{RW}^{(0)} G \right\|_{C}, \qquad G \in \mathcal{D}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.20)$$

where $L_{RW}^{(0)}$ is the generator of the free RW of the tagged particle, i.e.

$$\left(L_{RW}^{(0)}G\right)(\eta, y) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a\,(y-z)\left[G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right)\right].$$
(3.21)

for any $G \in \mathcal{D}$. In other words, through assumption (3.10) we can incorporate all dependence of \hat{L}_{RW} on λ_{int} in the operator L_0 . We are now in the position to show the result stated in Theorem 3.3.

Proof of Theorem 3.3. Let us set

$$\theta := a_1 + \frac{a_2}{C} - 1 + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1.$$
(3.22)

From Lemma 3.4, we know that (L_0, \mathcal{D}) is a sectorial operator of angle $\omega \in (0, \pi/2)$ such that

$$\left\| (z\mathbb{1} - L_0)^{-1} \right\|_C \le \frac{M_{\varepsilon}}{|z|}, \qquad M_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\cos\omega}, \tag{3.23}$$

for any $z \neq 0$ with $|z| \leq \pi/2 + \omega$. Moreover, by combining results of Proposition 3.5 and 3.6 we obtain the following estimate in \mathcal{L}_C

$$\|(L_1 + L_{RW})G\|_C \le \left[\left(a_1 - 1 + \frac{a_2}{C}\right) + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1\right] \|L_0 G\|_C + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_0 \|G\|_C.$$
(3.24)

Hence, by the first part of the proof of Theorem III.2.10 in [39], we know that the operator $(\hat{L} = L_0 + L_1 + \hat{L}_{RW}, \mathcal{D})$ is the generator of an holomorphic semigroup on \mathcal{L}_C , denoted by $\widehat{T}(t)$, for all values of θ such that

$$\theta \le \alpha \quad \text{with} \quad \alpha := \frac{1}{1 + M_{\varepsilon}} = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{1}{\cos \omega}} > 0.$$
(3.25)

Note that for $\omega \in (0, \pi/2)$ we have $\alpha \leq 1/2$. Since we are not interested in the in the domain of analyticity of the semigroup $\widehat{T}(t)$, we can choose the value of ω in (3.25) to get the weakest bound on θ , namely $\theta \leq 1/2$. The latter together with (3.22) yields condition (3.12) in Theorem 3.3.

3.1.2 Evolution of correlation functions

In this section we want to use the semigroup $\widehat{T}(t)$, acting on the space \mathcal{L}_C , to construct a solution to the evolution equation (3.2) on the Banach space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} defined in (3.3). This construction is adapted from [49, 54]. Let us first outline the general idea of this method which allows us to formulate the main result of this section.

According to (2.24), the dual space $(\mathcal{L}_C)' = L^{\infty} (\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, d\lambda_C dy)$, with $\lambda_C := C^{|\cdot|}\lambda$, is isometrically isomorphic to the Banach space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} , where the isomorphism is given by the isometry R_C

$$(\mathcal{L}_C)' \ni k \mapsto R_C k := C^{-|\cdot|} k \in \mathcal{K}_C^{\infty}.$$
(3.26)

Let $(\hat{L}', \text{Dom}(\hat{L}'))$ on $(\mathcal{L}_C)'$ be the dual operator of (\hat{L}, \mathcal{D}) on \mathcal{L}_C . Its image on \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} , under the isometry R_C , will be the operator $\hat{L}^* = R_C \hat{L}' R_{C^{-1}}$ with the domain $\text{Dom}(\hat{L}^*) = R_C \text{Dom}(\hat{L}')$. Similarly, one can consider the adjoint semigroup $\hat{T}'(t)$ on $(\mathcal{L}_C)'$ and its image $\hat{T}^*(t)$ on \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} .

Let us note that the space \mathcal{L}_C is not reflexive, hence, $\widehat{T}^*(t)$ is not a C_0 -semigroup on \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} , but it is weak*-continuous, weak*-differentiable in 0 and with weak*-generator \widehat{L}^* , see e.g. [39, Section II.2.5]. As a matter of fact, one has an evolution for correlation functions in \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} only in a weak*-sense.

To overcome this handicap, we can restrict the semigroup $\widehat{T}^*(t)$ to its subspace of strong continuity, see e.g. [39, Section II.2.6]. Namely, we consider the restriction $\widehat{T}^{\odot}(t)$ of the semigroup $\widehat{T}^*(t)$ onto its sun dual subspace $\mathcal{K}_C^{\odot} = \overline{\text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*)} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_C^{\infty \ 1}$. According to [39, Section II.2.6], $\widehat{T}^{\odot}(t)$ is a strongly continuous semigroup on $\overline{\text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*)}$ whose generator, \widehat{L}^{\odot} , is a part of the dual operator $(\widehat{L}^*, \text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*))$, i.e.

$$\widehat{L}^{\odot}k = \widehat{L}^*k \quad \text{for any} \quad k \in \text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^{\odot}) = \left\{k \in \text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*) : \widehat{L}^*k \in \overline{\text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*)}\right\}.$$
(3.27)

¹Here and below all closures are w.r.t. to the norm (3.4) of the space Banach \mathcal{K}_{C}^{∞} .

However, we would like to have a strongly continuous semigroup on an universal subspace of \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} which does not depend on the operator \hat{L}^* . As in [54], the next step is to restrict the semigroup $\widehat{T}^{\odot}(t)$ on the subspace $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_C^{\infty}$, for some $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. It is not difficult to see that, under some simple conditions, $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty} \subseteq \text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*)$, cf. Proposition 3.10. Moreover, the set $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ is a \widehat{T}^{\odot} -invariant subspace of \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} , see Lemma 3.12. Therefore, according to [39, Section II.2.3], the restriction $\widehat{T}^{\odot \alpha}$ of the semigroup \widehat{T}^{\odot} to $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ will be a strongly continuous semigroup with generator $\widehat{L}^{\odot \alpha}$, which is the part of \widehat{L}^{\odot} on $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$. As a consequence, we can formulate the following theorem about the evolution (3.2) in the space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} . We refer to Section 3.1.2.1 for a detailed proof.

Theorem 3.8. Let us assume that hypotheses (3.8)-(3.10) hold. Suppose that there exist $A > 0, N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\nu \ge 1$ such that for $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and $x \notin \xi$

$$d(x,\xi) \le A (1+|\xi|)^N \nu^{|\xi|}, \qquad (3.28)$$

with

$$\nu < \frac{C}{a_2} \left(\frac{3}{2} - a_1 - 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1 \right). \tag{3.29}$$

Then, for any

$$\alpha \in \left(\frac{a_2}{C\left(\frac{3}{2} - a_1 - 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1\right)}, \frac{1}{\nu}\right),\tag{3.30}$$

the evolution equation (3.2), with initial condition $k_0 \in \mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$, has a unique solution in the space $\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$ given by $k_t = \widehat{T}^{\odot \alpha}(t)k_0$.

Remark 3.9. Let us note that condition (3.29) implies (3.12), as $\nu \ge 1$.

3.1.2.1 Proof of Theorem 3.8

In this section we want to carry out the proof of Theorem 3.8 outlined above. In order to accomplish this task we will show some auxiliary results which are used later to prove the theorem.

First of all, we establish for which values of $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ the subspace $\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C} \subseteq \mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{C}$ belongs to the domain of the generator \hat{L}^* , specified by (2.66) and (2.68).

Proposition 3.10. Let us assume that hypotheses (3.8)-(3.10), as well as condition (3.28) hold. Then for any $\alpha \in (0, 1/\nu)$

$$\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C} \subset \operatorname{Dom}\left(\widehat{L}^*\right). \tag{3.31}$$

Proof of Proposition 3.10. In order to prove the statement, it is enough to verify that for any $k \in \mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ there exist $k^* \in \mathcal{K}_C^{\infty}$ such that for any $G \in \text{Dom}(\hat{L})$

$$\langle \langle \widehat{L}G, k \rangle \rangle = \langle \langle G, k^* \rangle \rangle.$$
 (3.32)

We know that (3.32) holds for any $k \in \mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ with $k^* = \hat{L}^* k$, provided $k^* \in \mathcal{K}_C^{\infty}$. The latter condition is equivalent to

$$C^{-|\cdot|}\left(\widehat{L}^*k\right) \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{d}y).$$
(3.33)

In our case, we have

$$C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(\hat{L}^* k \right)(\eta, y) \right| \le C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(\hat{L}^*_{RE} k \right)(\eta, y) \right| + C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(\hat{L}^*_{RW} k \right)(\eta, y) \right|.$$
(3.34)

From [54, Proposition 3.5], we know that, under the conditions (3.8) and (3.9), for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$, $C^{-|\cdot|} \widehat{L}^*_{RE} k \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, d\lambda dy)$. In particular, one can show that for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$,

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(\eta,y)\in\Gamma_0\times\mathbb{R}^d} C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(\widehat{L}_{RE}^* k \right)(\eta,y) \right| \le \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}} \left(a_1 + \frac{a_2}{\alpha C} \right) \frac{A}{\alpha \nu^2} \left(\frac{N+1}{-\operatorname{e}\ln(\alpha \nu)} \right)^{N+1} < \infty.$$
(3.35)

Let us now consider the second term in the r.h.s of equation (3.34). For any $k \in \mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ we have

$$\begin{split} C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^{*} k \right) (\eta, y) \right| &\leq \\ &\leq C^{-|\eta|} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\zeta \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za \left(y - z \right) \left| k \left(\zeta \cup \eta, z \right) \right| \left| \left(K^{-1} \lambda \left(\cdot \cup \eta, z, y \right) \right) \left(\zeta \right) \right| + \\ &\quad C^{-|\eta|} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\zeta \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za \left(y - z \right) \left| k \left(\zeta \cup \eta, y \right) \right| \left| \left(K^{-1} \lambda \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right) \left(\zeta \right) \right| \\ &\leq \alpha^{|\eta|} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za \left(y - z \right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \left(\alpha C \right)^{|\zeta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\zeta \right) \left| \left(K_{0}^{-1} \lambda \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right) \left(\zeta \right) \right| + \\ &\quad \alpha^{|\eta|} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za \left(y - z \right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \left(\alpha C \right)^{|\zeta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\zeta \right) \left| \left(K_{0}^{-1} \lambda \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right) \left(\zeta \right) \right|. \end{split}$$

Then, by using hypothesis (3.10), one can estimate

$$\begin{split} C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^* k \right)(\eta, y) \right| &\leq 2\alpha^{|\eta|} \, \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a \left(y - z \right) \left[\alpha_1 D\left(\eta \right) + \alpha_0 \right] \\ &\leq 2\langle a \rangle \, \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}} \left[\alpha_1 \alpha^{|\eta|} D\left(\eta \right) + \alpha_0 \alpha^{|\eta|} \right]. \end{split}$$

Note that from condition (3.28) it follows that

$$D(\eta) = \sum_{x \in \eta} d(x, \eta \setminus x) \le A \sum_{x \in \eta} |\eta|^N \nu^{|\eta| - 1} \le A (1 + |\eta|)^{N+1} \nu^{|\eta| - 1},$$
(3.36)

therefore, we get

$$C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(\hat{L}_{RW}^* k \right)(\eta, y) \right| \le 2\langle a \rangle \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}} \left[A \alpha_1 \alpha^{|\eta|} \left(1 + |\eta| \right)^{N+1} \nu^{|\eta|-1} + \alpha_0 \alpha^{|\eta|} \right].$$

At this point we can use the elementary inequality

$$a^{t}(1+t)^{b} \leq \frac{1}{a} \left(\frac{b}{-e \ln a}\right)^{b}, \qquad t \geq 0, \ a \in (0,1), b \geq 1,$$
(3.37)

to obtain for any $\alpha \in (0, 1/\nu)$

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(\eta,y)\in\Gamma_{0}\times\mathbb{R}^{d}}C^{-|\eta|-1}\left|\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^{*}k\right)(\eta,y)\right| \leq 2\langle a\rangle \left\|k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}\left[A\alpha_{1}\frac{1}{\alpha\nu^{2}}\left(\frac{N+1}{-e\ln(\alpha\nu)}\right)^{N+1}+\alpha_{0}\right]<\infty,$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

Next, let us consider the pre-dual space $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$. In this space, we define the set

$$\mathcal{D}_{\alpha} = \{ G \in \mathcal{L}_{\alpha C} | D(\cdot) G \in \mathcal{L}_{\alpha C} \}, \qquad \alpha \in (0, 1).$$
(3.38)

Note that, if condition (3.28) holds, then for any $\alpha \in (0, 1/\nu)$ we have the following inclusions $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{L}_C \subset \mathcal{D}_\alpha \subset \mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$, compare to [54, Lemma 3.6]. Proceeding as in Theorem 3.3, one can construct a C_0 -semigroup on $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$ with generator $(\widehat{L}, \mathcal{D}_\alpha)$.

Proposition 3.11. Let us assume that condition (3.28) as well as hypotheses (3.8)-(3.10) hold with

$$a_1 + \frac{a_2}{\alpha C} + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1 < \frac{3}{2},\tag{3.39}$$

for some $\alpha \in (0,1)$. Then, the operator $(\widehat{L}, \mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$ is the generator of a holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{T}_{\alpha}(t)$ on $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$.

Proof. For any $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, it is easy to check that the domain \mathcal{D}_{α} is dense in $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$ and that the densely defined operator L_0 is closed in $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$. Then for the operator $(L_0, \mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$ we can show the statement of Lemma 3.4, but with C replaced by αC . Moreover, by using the results of Proposition 3.5 and 3.6, for αC instead of C, we obtain the following estimate in $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$ (compare with (3.24))

$$\|(L_1 + L_{RW})G\|_{\alpha C} \le \left(a_1 - 1 + \frac{a_2}{\alpha C} + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1\right) \|L_0 G\|_{\alpha C} + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_0 \|G\|_{\alpha C}, \quad G \in \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}.$$

Hence, we can proceed as in the Proof of Theorem 3.3 and get the statement.

Now, we can come back to the space $\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$ and show the following result.

Lemma 3.12. Let us assume that hypotheses (3.8)-(3.10) are satisfied. Suppose, additionally, that condition (3.28) holds with (3.29). Then, for any

$$\alpha \in \left(\frac{a_2}{C\left(\frac{3}{2} - a_1 - 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1\right)}, \frac{1}{\nu}\right),\tag{3.40}$$

both the sets $\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}}$ are \widehat{T}^{\odot} -invariant subspaces of \mathcal{K}^{∞}_{C} .

Proof. We show that $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty} \subset \text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*)$ is \widehat{T}^{\odot} -invariant subspace of \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} . Then, the statement for $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ follows from the continuity of the family $\widehat{T}^*(t)$. First of all, let us note that condition (3.40) implies that the operator $(\widehat{L}, \mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$ generates an holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{T}_{\alpha}(t)$ on $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$, see Proposition 3.11. Next, following the proof of [54, Proof of Theorem 3.8], we prove that for any $G \in \mathcal{L}_C \subset \mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$

$$\widehat{T}_{\alpha}G = \widehat{T}G. \tag{3.41}$$

According to [39, Corollary V.5.5], it is sufficient to show that the resolvents of \widehat{T} and \widehat{T}_{α} , $R(z, \widehat{L})$ and $R(z, \widehat{L}_{\alpha})$, respectively, coincide on \mathcal{L}_C for elements $z \in \rho(\widehat{L}) \cap \rho(\widehat{L}_{\alpha})$ real and large enough. Here $\rho(\widehat{L})$ denotes the resolvent set of $(\widehat{L}, \mathcal{D})$ and $\rho(\widehat{L}_{\alpha})$ is the resolvent set of $(\widehat{L}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$. From [39, Lemma III.2.6], we know that there exists a constant $r \geq 0$ such that $(r, \infty) \in \rho(\widehat{L}) \cap \rho(\widehat{L}_{\alpha})$. Let us consider some fixed $z \in (r, \infty)$, then for any $G \in \mathcal{L}_C$ we have $R(z, \widehat{L})G \in \mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$. Moreover, since $\widehat{L}_{\alpha} = \widehat{L}$ on \mathcal{D} , we find

$$R(z,\hat{L})G - R(z,\hat{L}_{\alpha})G = R(z,\hat{L}_{\alpha})\left[(z\mathbb{1} - \hat{L}_{\alpha}) - (z\mathbb{1} - \hat{L})\right]R(z,\hat{L})G = 0$$

and, consequently, $\widehat{T}_{\alpha}G = \widehat{T}G$ on \mathcal{L}_C . The latter implies that for any $G \in \mathcal{L}_C$ and $k \in \mathcal{K}_C^{\infty}$,

$$\langle \langle \widehat{T}_{\alpha}(t) G, k \rangle \rangle = \langle \langle \widehat{T}(t) G, k \rangle \rangle = \langle \langle G, \widehat{T}^{*}(t) k \rangle \rangle.$$
(3.42)

On the other hand, due to the duality (2.24), for any $G \in \mathcal{L}_C \subset \mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$ and $k \in \mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{K}_C^{\infty}$, we have

$$\langle \langle \widehat{T}_{\alpha} \left(t \right) G, k \rangle \rangle = \langle \langle G, \widehat{T}_{\alpha}^{*} \left(t \right) k \rangle \rangle, \qquad (3.43)$$

where $\widehat{T}_{\alpha}(t) G \in \mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$ and $\widehat{T}^{*}_{\alpha}(t) k \in \mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$. Hence, by combining equations (3.42) and (3.43), for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$ we find

$$\widehat{T}^*(t) k = \widehat{T}^*_{\alpha}(t) k \in \mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}.$$
(3.44)

Finally, since $T^{\odot}(t)$ is the restriction of $\widehat{T}^*(t)$ on $\text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*)$ and $\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C} \subset \text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*)$, it follows that $\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$ is $T^{\odot}(t)$ -invariant.

Having disposed of these preliminary steps, we can now return to the proof of Theorem 3.8.

Proof of Theorem 3.8. From Theorem 3.3 we know that the operator (\hat{L}, \mathcal{D}) is the generator of the holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{T}(t)$. By [39, Section II.2.6], the restriction \widehat{T}^{\odot} of the dual semigroup \widehat{T}^* on the subspace of strong continuity $\overline{\text{Dom}}(\widehat{L}^*)$ is again a holomorphic semigroup with generator \widehat{L}^{\odot} , which is the part of \widehat{L}^* on $D(\widehat{L}^{\odot}) = \overline{\text{Dom}}(\widehat{L}^*)$. On the other hand, in Lemma 3.12 we showed that $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}} \subset \text{Dom}(\widehat{L}^*)$, is $T^{\odot}(t)$ -invariant. Then, the restriction $\widehat{T}^{\odot \alpha}$ of the dual semigroup \widehat{T}^{\odot} onto $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ is also a strongly continuous semigroup. Moreover, its generator $\widehat{L}^{\odot \alpha}$ is the restriction of \widehat{L}^{\odot} on $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$, see e.g. [39, Corollary II.2.3]. As a result, the evolution equation (3.2) with initial condition $k_0 \in \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ has a unique solution $k_t = \widehat{T}^{\odot \alpha}(t)k_0 \in \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$. In order to complete the proof of the theorem we can just note that, by Lemma 3.12, the subspace $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$, is also $T^{\odot}(t)$ -invariant. \Box

3.1.3 Examples: random walks in a spatial ecological model of environment

Let us consider the case where RE is described by a BDLP model, see for instance [50] and reference therein. Heuristically, the dynamics of this birth-and-death process is described by a Markov pregenerator of the form (2.2) with

$$d(x, \gamma \setminus x) = m + \chi^{-} \sum_{x' \in (\gamma \setminus x)} a^{-} (x - x'), \qquad x \in \gamma, \ \gamma \in \Gamma,$$
(3.45)

$$b(x,\gamma) = \chi^{+} \sum_{x' \in (\gamma \setminus x)} a^{+} (x - x'), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^{d} \setminus \gamma, \ \gamma \in \Gamma,$$
(3.46)

where m > 0, $\chi^{\pm} \ge 0$ are some positive constants and $0 \le a^{\pm} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathrm{d}x) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathrm{d}x)$ are even non-negative functions such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, a^{\pm}(x) = 1. \tag{3.47}$$

In this case, for any $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we have (cf. derivation of (2.56))

$$\left(K^{-1}d(x, \cdot \cup \xi \setminus x)\right)(\eta) = d(x, \xi \setminus x) \, 0^{|\eta|} + \chi^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}\left(\eta = \{x'\}\right) a^{-}(x - x') \tag{3.48}$$

and

$$\left(K^{-1}b(x, \cdot \cup \xi \setminus x)\right)(\eta) = b(x, \xi \setminus x) 0^{|\eta|} + \chi^{+} \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}(\eta = \{x'\}) a^{+}(x - x').$$
(3.49)

As a consequence,

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| K^{-1} d\left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \setminus x\right) \right|(\eta) = d\left(x, \xi \setminus x\right) + C\chi^{-1}$$

and

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| K^{-1} b\left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \setminus x\right) \right|(\eta) = b\left(x, \xi \setminus x\right) + C\chi^+$$

Now if we assume that there exists a constant $\delta > 0$ such that

$$(4+\delta)C\chi^{-} \le m,\tag{3.50}$$

$$4\chi^{+}a^{+}(x) \le C\chi^{-}a^{-}(x),$$
 a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$ (3.51)

one finds

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \left| K^{-1} d\left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \setminus x \right) \right|(\eta) C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \le \left(1 + \frac{1}{4+\delta} \right) d\left(x, \xi \setminus x \right)$$

and 2

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \left| K^{-1} b\left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \setminus x \right) \right| (\eta) C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) < \frac{C}{4} d\left(x, \xi \setminus x \right).$$

Hence, conditions (3.8) and (3.9) are satisfied with

$$a_1 = \left(1 + \frac{1}{4+\delta}\right), \qquad a_2 = \frac{C}{4}.$$
 (3.52)

Moreover,

$$d(x,\xi) < m\left(1 + \frac{\|a^-\|_{\infty}}{4C}\right)(1+|\xi|).$$

Thus, (3.28) holds with $\nu = 1$.

3.1.3.1 RW in a BDLP model of environment: Case I and III

Let us consider the RW of a jumping particle whose interaction with RE is given by

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, w) = e^{-\sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - w)}$$
$$= e_{\lambda} \left(e^{-\phi(\cdot - w)}, \gamma \right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, w \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \tag{3.53}$$

with w = y or z. Note that for w = y we have the interaction $\lambda_{int}(\gamma, w) = \lambda^{(1)}(\gamma, y)$ given by (2.13), whereas for w = z we obtain $\lambda_{int}(\gamma, w) = \lambda^{(3)}(\gamma, z)$ defined by (2.15). In the following we assume that $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative even function such that

$$C'_{\phi} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(1 - \mathrm{e}^{-\phi(x)} \right) \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$
(3.54)

In this case, according to (2.50), for any $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and $w \in \mathbb{R}^d$ one has

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\text{int}}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,w\right)\right)(\eta) = \lambda_{\text{int}}\left(\xi,w\right)e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\phi(\cdot-w)} - 1,\eta\right),\tag{3.55}$$

and we can prove the following estimate.

Proposition 3.13. Suppose that condition (3.54) holds. Then

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\mathrm{int}} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, w \right) \right| (\eta) \le \mathrm{e}^{CC'_{\phi}}, \tag{3.56}$$

for any $\xi \in \Gamma_0$, a.a. $w \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and C > 0.

Proof. By definition we can write

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\text{int}} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, w \right) \right| (\eta) C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta) \le e^{-\sum_{x' \in \xi} \phi(x'-w)} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta) e_\lambda \left(\left| e^{-\phi(\cdot-w)} - 1 \right|, \eta \right)$$

$$(3.57)$$

and since the potential ϕ is non-negative one has

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\text{int}} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, w \right) \right| (\eta) C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta) \le \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta) e_\lambda \left(1 - e^{-\phi(\cdot - w)}, \eta \right).$$
(3.58)

Then, by using identity (1.24) and condition (3.54), the r.h.s. can be estimated as follows

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\text{int}} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, w \right) \right| (\eta) C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta) \leq \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta) e_\lambda \left(C \left(1 - e^{-\phi(\cdot - w)} \right), \eta \right) \\
\leq e^{C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx \left(1 - e^{-\phi(x - w)} \right)} \\
\leq e^{CC'_{\phi}},$$
(3.59)

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

² Note that by integrating both sides of (3.51) over \mathbb{R}^d we get $4\chi^+ \leq C\chi^- < m/4$.

$$\alpha_1 \equiv 0, \qquad \alpha_0 = e^{CC'_{\phi}}. \tag{3.60}$$

Moreover,

$$a_1 + \frac{a_2}{C} + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1 = 1 + \frac{1}{4+\delta} + \frac{1}{4} < \frac{3}{2}.$$
(3.61)

Let us consider the operator \hat{L}_{RE} defined by (2.36) with (3.45)-(3.46) and let \hat{L}_{RW} be an operator given by (2.51) or (2.60) Then, according to Theorem 3.3 and 3.8, we have the following existence and uniqueness result for the initial value problem (3.2) in the Banach space \mathcal{K}_{C}^{∞} .

Corollary 3.14. Suppose that condition (3.54) holds. Assume that the functions a^{\pm} and the constants χ^{\pm} , m and C satisfy conditions (3.50)-(3.51). Then

- (i) The operator $(\widehat{L}, \mathcal{D})$ is the generator of a holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{U}(t)$ in \mathcal{L}_C .
- (ii) For any $\alpha \in (1/2, 1)$, the evolution equation (3.2) with initial condition $k_0 \in \mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$ has a unique solution in the space $\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$ given by $k_t = \widehat{T}^{\odot \alpha}(t)k_0$.

3.1.3.2 RW in a BDLP model of environment: Case II and IV

Let us consider now the interaction given by

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, w) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi\left(x' - w\right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, w \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{3.62}$$

where w = y or z depending if we want to analyze the interaction $\lambda^{(2)}(\gamma, y)$ or $\lambda^{(4)}(\gamma, z)$, see (2.14) and (2.16), respectively. In what follows, we assume that $\lambda_0 \ge 0$ and $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative even function such that

$$C_{1}^{\phi} := \|\phi\|_{1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \,\phi(x) < \infty$$
(3.63)

and

$$C_{\infty}^{\phi} := \|\phi\|_{\infty} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \phi(x) < \infty.$$
(3.64)

According to equation (2.56) one has

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\text{int}}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,w\right)\right)(\eta) = \lambda_{\text{int}}\left(\xi,w\right)0^{|\eta|} + \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}\left(\eta = \{x'\}\right)\phi\left(x'-w\right),\tag{3.65}$$

for any $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, we can prove the following estimate.

Proposition 3.15. Let us assume that conditions (3.63) and (3.64) hold. Then

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\mathrm{int}} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, w \right) \right| (\eta) \le \lambda_0 + C C_1^{\phi} + C_{\infty}^{\phi} |\xi|, \tag{3.66}$$

for any $\xi \in \Gamma_0$, a.a. $w \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and C > 0.

Proof. By (3.65) one can write

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\text{int}} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, w \right) \right| (\eta) C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta) \leq \lambda_{\text{int}} (\xi, w) \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta) 0^{|\eta|} + \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta) \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}} \left(\eta = \{x'\} \right) \phi \left(x' - w \right)$$

$$\leq \lambda_0 + \sum_{x \in \xi} \phi(x - w) + C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, \phi \, (x - w) \, .$$

Then, by using conditions (3.63) and (3.64), we find

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\text{int}} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, w \right) \right| (\eta) C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta) \le \lambda_0 + C \left\| \phi \right\|_1 + \left\| \phi \right\|_\infty |\xi|,$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

Note that from (3.45) it follows that for any $\xi \in \Gamma_0$

$$\sum_{x \in \xi} d(x, \xi \setminus x) = m |\xi| + \chi^{-} E^{a^{-}}(\xi), \qquad E^{a^{-}}(\xi) = \sum_{x \in \xi} \sum_{x' \in \xi \setminus x} a^{-}(x - x') \ge 0.$$
(3.67)

Therefore, Proposition 3.15 implies that Assumption 3.1 is satisfied with

$$\alpha_1 = \frac{C_\infty^{\phi}}{m}, \qquad \alpha_0 = \lambda_0 + CC_1^{\phi}. \tag{3.68}$$

Hence, for the interactions $\lambda^{(2)}$ and $\lambda^{(4)}$ we can apply Theorem 3.3 and 3.8 and formulate the following result for the evolution of correlation functions in the Banach space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} .

Corollary 3.16. Let us consider the operator \hat{L}_{RE} defined by (2.36) with (3.45)-(3.46). Let \hat{L}_{RW} be an operator of the form (2.57) or (2.64) such that conditions (3.63) and (3.64) hold. Suppose that there exists $\delta > 0$ such that the functions a^{\pm} and the constants χ^{\pm} , m and C satisfy the conditions

$$C\chi^{-}a^{-}(x) \ge 4\chi^{+}a^{+}(x), \qquad a.a. \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$
(3.69)

$$m \ge (4+\delta) \left(C\chi^{-} + 2\langle a \rangle C_{\infty}^{\phi} \right). \tag{3.70}$$

Then

- (i) The operator $(\widehat{L}, \mathcal{D})$ is the generator of a holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{U}(t)$ in \mathcal{L}_C .
- (ii) For any $\alpha \in (1/2, 1)$, the evolution equation (3.2) with initial condition $k_0 \in \mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ has a unique solution in the space $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ given by $k_t = \widehat{T}^{\odot \alpha}(t)k_0$.

Remark 3.17. Note that conditions (3.69)-(3.70) are stronger than (3.50)-(3.51) and one can easily check that hypotheses (3.8), (3.9) and (3.12) are still satisfied.

Remark 3.18. Let us stress that in all models of RW in BDLP model of environment considered above we found a unique solution to the evolution equation for correlation functions (3.2) on the space $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$, $\alpha \in (1/2, 1)$, only if the mortality m is large enough, see conditions (3.50) and (3.70). Actually, it is possible to remove this restriction on the parameter m by studying the initial value problem (3.2) with the method mentioned in Remark 2.9. This approach was introduced in [47, 48] and consists of a combination of the semigroup techniques described in this chapter and the Ovsyannikov's method, see e.g. [98, 120], which will be considered in next chapter. In this approach we get a solution k_t to (3.2) on some space $\mathcal{K}_{C_t}^{\infty}$ for any mortality m > 0, but for a finite time interval only.

3.2 Mesoscopic evolutions: Vlasov-type scaling

Let us consider the Vlasov-type scaling of the statistical evolution for RW in a birth-and-death environment studied in the previous section.

According to the general scheme discussed in Section 2.3, for any $\varepsilon > 0$ we introduce the renormalized hierarchy

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}k_{t,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \left(L_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\bigtriangleup} + L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\bigtriangleup}\right)k_{t,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} \\ k_t|_{t=0} = k_0 \end{cases}, \quad t \ge 0, \quad (3.71)$$

where the generator $L_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\triangle}$ and $L_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\triangle}$ are given by by formulas (2.97) and (2.101), respectively. We also define $L_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\triangle} := L_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\triangle} + L_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\triangle}$. Next let us assume that the limits (2.104),(2.105) and (2.111) exist. Then, letting ε go to

Next let us assume that the limits (2.104),(2.105) and (2.111) exist. Then, letting ε go to zero, we have the Vlasov hierarchy

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}r_t}{\mathrm{d}t} = \left(L_{RE,V}^{\Delta} + L_{RW,V}^{\Delta}\right)r_t\\ r_t|_{t=0} = r_0 \end{cases}, \qquad t \ge 0, \qquad (3.72)$$

where the generators $L_{RE,V}^{\triangle}$ and $L_{RW,V}$ are defined by (2.106) and (2.113), respectively. Also, we set $L_V^{\triangle} := L_{RE,V}^{\triangle} + L_{RW,V}^{\triangle}$. Moreover, the hierarchy (3.72) has the so-called chaos preservation property, see (2.85)-(2.86). As a result, we obtain a system of kinetic equations for the densities ρ_t and r_t given by (2.115) and (2.123).

In next sections we study this mesoscopic limit in the Banach space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} , defined by (3.3). In Section 3.2.1, we show the convergence of the Vlasov-type scaling for the considered evolutions. Then, in Section 3.2.2 we derive the corresponding Vlasov equations and study their solutions.

3.2.1 Convergence of the Vlasov-type scaling

In this section we study the convergence of the solutions of the family of renormalized hierarchies (3.71) to the solution of the limiting Vlasov hierarchy (3.72) in the Banach space $\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$. As in the construction of the time evolution of correlation functions in Section 3.1, we consider the duality (2.24) and study the convergence of Vlasov-type scaling in the pre-dual space \mathcal{L}_C defines in (3.6), see Remark 2.16. Our approach is adapted from [54]. Let us outline the strategy that we will follow.

First, we show that for any $\varepsilon > 0$ the renormalized operator $\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}} := \widehat{L}_{RE\varepsilon,\text{ren}} + \widehat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$, defined by (2.97) and (2.102), is the generator of a strongly continuous contraction semigroup $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}(t)$ on \mathcal{L}_{C} , see Lemma 3.22.1. Then, we show that the limiting operator \widehat{L}_{V} is also the generator of a strongly continuous contraction semigroup $\widehat{U}_{V}(t)$ on \mathcal{L}_{C} , see Lemma 3.30.1. Finally, we prove that the semigroup $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}(t)$ converges to $\widehat{U}_{V}(t)$ strongly in \mathcal{L}_{C} as ε goes to zero, see Theorem 3.35. The last statement will be a consequence of an abstract result about the strong convergence of resolvent operators, see for instance [54, Lemma 4.3]. For the reader's convenience, we will formulate this general result below.

Lemma 3.19. Let X be a Banach space, and let $(A_{\varepsilon}, D_{\varepsilon})$, $(B_{\varepsilon}, D_{\varepsilon})$, with $\varepsilon \geq 0$, be closed, densely defined operators on X. Suppose that there exist a constant $\overline{u} > 0$ and $u \in \mathbb{C}$ with ³ $\Re u > \overline{u}$ such that $u \in \rho(A_{\varepsilon})$ for all $\varepsilon \geq 0$ and that the following conditions hold

$$\kappa := \sup_{\varepsilon > 0} \left\| (A_{\varepsilon} - u\mathbf{1})^{-1} \right\| < \infty, \tag{3.73}$$

$$\sigma := \sup_{\varepsilon > 0} \left\| B_{\varepsilon} \left(A_{\varepsilon} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} \right\| < 1,$$
(3.74)

³We denote by $\Re u$ the real part of $u \in \mathbb{C}$.

$$(A_{\varepsilon} - u\mathbb{1})^{-1} \xrightarrow{s} (A_0 - u\mathbb{1})^{-1}, \qquad \varepsilon \to 0, \tag{3.75}$$

$$B_{\varepsilon} \left(A_{\varepsilon} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} \xrightarrow{s} B_0 \left(A_0 - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1}, \qquad \varepsilon \to 0.$$
(3.76)

Then, u belongs to the resolvent set of $L_{\varepsilon} := A_{\varepsilon} + B_{\varepsilon}$, for any $\varepsilon \ge 0$, and

$$(L_{\varepsilon} - u\mathbb{1})^{-1} \xrightarrow{s} (L_0 - u\mathbb{1})^{-1}, \qquad \varepsilon \to 0.$$
(3.77)

Transferring the general theory about adjoint semigroups, see e.g. [39, Section II.2.5], onto the semigroups $U_{\varepsilon}^{\Delta}(t)$ and $U_{V}^{\Delta}(t)$ we deduce that they will be weak*-continuous, weak*differentiable at 0 and with weak*-generators $L_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta}$ and L_{V}^{Δ} , respectively, on \mathcal{K}_{C}^{∞} . Moreover, we obtain the weak*-convergence of the semigroups $U_{\varepsilon}^{\Delta}(t)$ to $U_{V}^{\Delta}(t)$ in \mathcal{K}_{C}^{∞} .

Remark 3.20. The question about the strong convergence to the solution of the limiting hierarchy is still open. Indeed, we can show that the restrictions $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\odot\alpha}(t)$ and $\widehat{U}_{V}^{\odot\alpha}(t)$ of the semigroups $U_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta}(t)$ and $U_{V}^{\Delta}(t)$, respectively, are C_0 -semigroups on the subspace $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_{C}^{\infty}$, for some $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, see Lemma 3.22.2 and 3.30.2. The main problem consists of the fact that we have an explicit expression for the sun dual generator $L_{V}^{\odot\alpha} = L_{V}^{\Delta}$ only on the core $\{k \in \mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty} \mid L_{V}^{\Delta} \in \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}\}$. In [53] the strong convergence of the Vlasov-type scaling has been shown for the Glauber-type dynamics in continuum by using an approximative approach, see [53, 59] for details. Unfortunately, such a technique can be successfully applied only in that particular model.

Renormalized evolutions. According to Proposition 2.17 and 2.19, for any $G \in B_{\rm bs}(\Gamma_0)$ the operator $\hat{L}_{\varepsilon,\rm ren}, \varepsilon > 0$, can be written in the following form

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}G\right)(\eta,y) = \left(L_0^{(\varepsilon)}G\right)(\eta,y) + \left(L_1^{(\varepsilon)}G\right)(\eta,y) + \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)}G\right)(\eta,y), \qquad (3.78)$$

where $\widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} := \widehat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$ is given by (2.102),

$$\left(L_{0}^{(\varepsilon)}G\right)(\eta, y) = -D_{\varepsilon}(\eta) G(\eta, y), \qquad D_{\varepsilon}(\eta) = \sum_{x \in \eta} d_{\varepsilon}(x, \eta \setminus x)$$
(3.79)

and

$$\left(L_1^{(\varepsilon)} G \right) (\eta, y) = -\sum_{\xi \subseteq \eta} G\left(\xi, y\right) \varepsilon^{-|\eta \setminus \xi|} \sum_{x \in \xi} \left(K^{-1} d_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \cup \left(\xi \setminus x \right) \right) \right) \left(\eta \setminus \xi \right) + \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x G\left(\xi \cup x, y \right) \varepsilon^{-|\eta \setminus \xi|} \left(K^{-1} b_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \right) \right) \left(\eta \setminus \xi \right).$$

$$(3.80)$$

Let us analyze the operator (3.78) in the space Banach space \mathcal{L}_C . For any $\varepsilon > 0$ we define as domain the set

$$\mathcal{D}^{(\varepsilon)} = \{ G \in \mathcal{L}_C | D_{\varepsilon} (\cdot) G \in \mathcal{L}_C \}.$$
(3.81)

Following the approach in [54, Proposition 4.1], for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ we assume that there exist $\tilde{a}_1 \geq 1$, $\tilde{a}_2 > 0$ such that for all $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\sum_{x \in \xi} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left| K^{-1} d_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \setminus x \right) \right|(\eta) \le \tilde{a}_1 \sum_{x \in \xi} d_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \xi \setminus x \right), \tag{3.82}$$

$$\sum_{x\in\xi} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left| K^{-1} b_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \setminus x \right) \right| (\eta) \le \tilde{a}_2 \sum_{x\in\xi} d_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \xi \setminus x \right).$$
(3.83)

Moreover, analogously to the non-rescaled case (cf. (3.10)), we make the following assumption on the rescaled interaction λ_{ε} . **Assumption 3.21.** Suppose that for any $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$ there exist $\tilde{\alpha}_0, \tilde{\alpha}_1 \geq 0$ such that for all $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda_{\varepsilon}(\eta) \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z \right) \right|(\eta) \le \tilde{\alpha}_1 \sum_{x \in \xi} d_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \xi \setminus x \right) + \tilde{\alpha}_0. \tag{3.84}$$

Under the conditions listed above, we can formulate the following results abut the existence of the semigroups \widehat{U}_V and U_V^{Δ} on the spaces \mathcal{L}_C and \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} , respectively.

Lemma 3.22.

1. Suppose that (3.82)-(3.84) hold with

$$\tilde{a}_1 + \frac{\tilde{a}_2}{C} + 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_1 < \frac{3}{2}.$$
(3.85)

Then, for any $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$ the operator $(\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}, \mathcal{D}^{(\varepsilon)})$ is the generator of a holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}(t)$ on \mathcal{L}_{C} .

2. Assume, additionally, that for any $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$ there exist A > 0, $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\nu \ge 1$ such that for any $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and $x \in \xi$

$$d_{\varepsilon}(x,\xi) \le A (1+|\xi|)^{N} \nu^{|\xi|}, \qquad (3.86)$$

with

$$1 \le \nu < \frac{C}{\tilde{a}_2} \left(\frac{3}{2} - \tilde{a}_1 - 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_1 \right).$$
(3.87)

Then, for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ and for any

$$\alpha \in \left(\frac{\tilde{a}_2}{C(\frac{3}{2} - \tilde{a}_1 - 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_1)}; \frac{1}{\nu}\right),\tag{3.88}$$

there exists a strongly continuous semigroup $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}^{\odot\alpha}(t)$ on the space $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}}$ with generator $\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon}^{\odot\alpha} = L_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\bigtriangleup}$ on the domain $\mathrm{Dom}(\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon}^{\odot\alpha}) = \{k \in \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}} : \widehat{L}_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^* k \in \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}}\}.$

Proof of Lemma 3.22.1. We can proceed as in Section 3.1.1.1. Indeed, it is easy to check that, for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$, the operator $(L_0^{(\varepsilon)}, \mathcal{D}^{(\varepsilon)})$ has the same properties of the corresponding non-renormalized operator (L_0, D) . In particular, we can show the following result (cf. Lemma 3.4).

Lemma 3.23. For any $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$, the operator $(L_0^{(\varepsilon)}, \mathcal{D}^{(\varepsilon)})$ is the generator of a contraction semigroup on \mathcal{L}_C . Moreover, $L_0^{(\varepsilon)}$ is a sectorial operator for any $\omega \in (0, \pi/2)$ and for all $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ with $|\arg z| \leq \pi/2 + \omega - \varepsilon$,

$$\left\| \left(z \mathbb{1} - L_0^{(\varepsilon)} \right)^{-1} \right\|_C \le \frac{M_\varepsilon}{|z|},\tag{3.89}$$

where $M_{\varepsilon} = 1/\cos \omega$ for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \omega)$.

Moreover, from [54] we know that for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ the operator $L_1^{(\varepsilon)}$ is relatively bounded by $\hat{L}_0^{(\varepsilon)}$ in \mathcal{L}_C .

Proposition 3.24. Let us suppose that conditions (3.82) and (3.83) hold. Then, the operator $(L_1^{(\varepsilon)}, \mathcal{D}^{(\varepsilon)}), \varepsilon \in (0, 1]$, is a well-defined operator in \mathcal{L}_C satisfying

$$\left\|L_1^{(\varepsilon)}G\right\|_C \le \left(\tilde{a}_1 - 1 + \frac{\tilde{a}_2}{C}\right) \left\|L_0G\right\|_C, \qquad G \in \mathcal{D}^{(\varepsilon)}.$$
(3.90)

Next we can show that the operator $\widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)}$ is also $L_0^{(\varepsilon)}$ -bounded in \mathcal{L}_C .

Proposition 3.25. Let us suppose that assumption (3.84) is satisfied. Then, the operator $(\widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)}, \mathcal{D}^{(\varepsilon)}), \varepsilon \in (0, 1]$, is a well-defined operator on \mathcal{L}_C and the following bound holds

$$\left\| \widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} G \right\|_{C} \le 2\langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha}_{1} \left\| L_{0} G \right\|_{C} + 2\langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha}_{0} \left\| G \right\|_{C}, \qquad G \in \mathcal{D}^{(\varepsilon)}.$$
(3.91)

Proof of Proposition 3.25. We need to estimate the following norm in \mathcal{L}_C

$$\begin{split} \left\| \hat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} G \right\|_{C} &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \times \\ &\sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \varepsilon^{-|\eta \setminus \xi|} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z\right) \right| \left(\eta \setminus \xi\right) \left| G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right) \right|. \end{split}$$

One can proceed as in the proof of Proposition 3.6, by using condition (3.84) instead of (3.10). As a result, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} G \right\|_{C} \leq & 2\langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha}_{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) \left| G\left(\xi,y\right) \right| + \\ & 2\langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha_{0}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left| G\left(\xi,y\right) \right|, \end{split}$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

Having disposed this preliminary results, we can prove the first part of the lemma by applying the same arguments used in the proof of Theorem 3.3. \Box

Proof of Lemma 3.22.2. In order to construct a strongly continuous semigroup on the space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} we follow the same strategy outlined in Section 3.1.2. From the first part of the lemma, we can deduce that the operator $L_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta}$ is the weak*-generator of the semigroups $U_{\varepsilon}^{\Delta}(t)$ which is weak*-continuous and weak*-differentiable at 0 in the Banach space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} , for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$. Hence, by [39, Section II.2.6], it follows that the restrictions $U_{\varepsilon}^{\odot}(t)$ of the semigroups $U_{\varepsilon}^{\Delta}(t)$ onto its sun-dual subspaces $\overline{\text{Dom}(L_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta})}$ is a strongly continuous semigroup whose generator $L_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\odot}$ is a part of the operator $L_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta}$ onto $\text{Dom}(L_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\odot}) = \overline{\text{Dom}(L_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\Delta})}, \varepsilon \in (0, 1]$. Next, we restrict the C_0 -semigroup $U_{\varepsilon}^{\odot}(t)$ onto the subspace $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_C^{\infty}$ for some $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. For this purpose, it sufficient to show that the set $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ satisfies the inclusion

$$\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C} \subset \left(\bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \overline{\mathrm{Dom}(L^{\triangle}_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}})}\right)$$

and is a $U_{\varepsilon}^{\triangle}$ -invariant subspace of \mathcal{K}_{C}^{∞} , for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$. These two conditions follows directly from the following propositions which will be proved at the end of the proof.

Proposition 3.26. Let us assume that hypothesis (3.82)-(3.84) are satisfied. Suppose that for any $\varepsilon \in [0, 1)$ there exist A > 0, $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\nu \ge 1$ such that for $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and $x \notin \xi$

$$d_{\varepsilon}(x,\xi) \le A (1+|\xi|)^{N} \nu^{|\xi|}.$$
(3.92)

Then for any $\alpha \in (0, 1/\nu)$

$$\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C} \subset \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \operatorname{Dom} \left(L^{\triangle}_{\varepsilon, ren} \right).$$
(3.93)

$$\square$$
Proposition 3.27. Suppose that the hypotheses of Lemma 3.22 are satisfied. Then, the set $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ is a $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}^{\odot}$ -invariant subspace of \mathcal{K}_{C}^{∞} .

As a result of the two propositons above, for any $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$ the restriction $U_{\varepsilon}^{\odot \alpha}(t)$ of the semigroup $U_{\varepsilon}^{\odot}(t)$ to the closed subspace $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ is a strongly continuous semigroup with generator $L_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\odot \alpha}$ is the restriction of $L_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\odot}$ to $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$, see e.g. [39, Section II.2.3]. This concludes the proof of Lemma 3.22.2.

Proof of Proposition 3.26. As discussed in Proposition 3.10, in order to prove the statement, we need to show that for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ and $k \in \mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$

$$C^{-|\cdot|}L^{\Delta}_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}k \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathrm{d}\lambda\mathrm{d}y).$$

By definition, we have

$$C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L^{\triangle}_{\varepsilon, \operatorname{ren}} k \right) (\eta, y) \right| \le C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L^{\triangle}_{RE, \varepsilon, \operatorname{ren}} k \right) (\eta, y) \right| + C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L^{\triangle}_{RW, \varepsilon, \operatorname{ren}} k \right) (\eta, y) \right|.$$

From the proof of Proposition 4.1.2 in [54], we know that $C^{-|\cdot|}L_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta}k \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{d}y)$, i.e. for any $k \in \mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$, $\alpha \in (0, 1/\nu)$,

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\eta,y)\in\Gamma_{0}\times\mathbb{R}^{d}}C^{-|\eta|}\left|\left(\widehat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\operatorname{ren}}^{\bigtriangleup}k\right)(\eta,y)\right|<\infty.$$

Let us now consider the operator $L^{\Delta}_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$, $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$. As in the proof of Proposition 3.10, for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}$, $\alpha \in (0, 1/\nu)$, one can estimate

$$\begin{split} C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L^{\Delta}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} k \right) (\eta, y) \right| &\leq \\ &\leq \alpha^{|\eta|} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}za \left(y - z \right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \left(\alpha C \right)^{|\zeta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\zeta \right) \varepsilon^{-|\zeta|} \left| \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, z, y \right) \right) \left(\zeta \right) \right| + \\ &\alpha^{|\eta|} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}za \left(y - z \right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \left(\alpha C \right)^{|\zeta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\zeta \right) \varepsilon^{-|\zeta|} \left| \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right) \left(\zeta \right) \right| \\ &\leq 2 \langle a \rangle \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C}} \left[\tilde{\alpha}_1 \alpha^{|\eta|} D_{\varepsilon} \left(\eta \right) + \tilde{\alpha}_0 \alpha^{|\eta|} \right], \end{split}$$

where in the last step we use (3.84). Note that from hypothesis (3.92) it follows that

$$D_{\varepsilon}(\eta) = \sum_{x \in \eta} d_{\varepsilon}(x, \eta \setminus x) \le A \left(1 + |\eta|\right)^{N+1} \nu^{|\eta|-1}, \qquad (3.94)$$

then, by using elementary inequality (3.37) we find

$$\begin{split} C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta} k \right) (\eta, y) \right| &\leq 2 \langle a \rangle \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}} \left[A \tilde{\alpha}_{1} \alpha^{|\eta|} \left(1 + |\eta| \right)^{N+1} \nu^{|\eta|-1} + \tilde{\alpha}_{0} \alpha^{|\eta|} \right] \\ &\leq 2 \langle a \rangle \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}} \left[A \tilde{\alpha}_{1} \frac{1}{\alpha \nu^{2}} \left(\frac{N+1}{-e \ln(\alpha \nu)} \right)^{N+1} + \tilde{\alpha}_{0} \right] < \infty, \end{split}$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

Proof of Proposition 3.27. Similarly to the proof of Lemma 3.22.1, we can show that the operator $(\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}, \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}^{(\varepsilon)}), \varepsilon \in (0, 1]$, with $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}^{(\varepsilon)} = \{G \in \mathcal{L}_{\alpha C} : D_{\varepsilon}G \in \mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}\}$, is the generator of an holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\alpha}$ on $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$ for any $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ such that

$$\tilde{a}_1 + \frac{\tilde{a}_2}{\alpha C} + 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_1 < \frac{3}{2}.$$
(3.95)

Note that under hypothesis (3.88) of the lemma the condition above is always satisfied. Then, we can proceed as in the proof of Lemma 3.12.

Limiting evolutions. Using Proposition 2.20 and 2.22, for any $G \in B_{bs}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ we can rewrite the operator \hat{L}_V as

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{V}G\right)(\eta, y) = \left(L_{0}^{V}G\right)(\eta, y) + \left(L_{1}^{V}G\right)(\eta, y) + \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^{V}G\right)(\eta, y), \qquad (3.96)$$

where $\widehat{L}_{RW}^{V} := \widehat{L}_{RW,V}$ is defined in (2.114),

$$\left(L_{0}^{V}G\right)(\eta, y) = -D_{V}(\eta) G(\eta, y), \qquad D_{V}(\eta) = \sum_{x \in \eta} D_{x}^{V}(\emptyset)$$
(3.97)

and

$$\left(L_{1}^{V}G\right)(\eta,y) = -\sum_{\xi \subset \eta} G\left(\xi,y\right) \sum_{x \in \xi} D_{x}^{V}\left(\eta \setminus \xi\right) + \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x G\left(\xi \cup x,y\right) B_{x}^{V}\left(\eta \setminus \xi\right).$$
(3.98)

Similarly to [54, Proposition 4.2], we define the set

$$\mathcal{D}^{V} = \{ G \in \mathcal{L}_{C} | D_{V}(\cdot) G \in \mathcal{L}_{C} \}$$
(3.99)

and we assume that for a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \left| D_x^V(\eta) \right| C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \le \tilde{a}_1 D_x^V(\emptyset) \,, \tag{3.100}$$

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} \left| B_x^V(\eta) \right| C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \le \tilde{a}_2 D_x^V(\emptyset) \,, \tag{3.101}$$

where the constants are the same as in (3.82)-(3.83). In addition, we make the following assumption on the limiting interaction (2.111).

Assumption 3.28. Suppose that for a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$ the following bound holds

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| A_V(\eta, y, z) \right| \le \tilde{\alpha}_0, \tag{3.102}$$

with the same constant of (3.84).

Note that, under Assumption 3.28, the operator \widehat{L}_{RW}^V is bounded in \mathcal{L}_C .

Proposition 3.29. Suppose that condition (3.102) holds. Then the operator \hat{L}_{RW}^V satisfies the following bound in \mathcal{L}_C

$$\left\| \widehat{L}_{RW}^{V} G \right\|_{C} \le 2 \langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha}_{0} \left\| G \right\|_{C}, \qquad G \in \mathcal{L}_{C}.$$
(3.103)

Proof. Let us compute the norm of \widehat{L}_{RW}^V in $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}}$, by definition we have

$$\left\| \widehat{L}_{RW}^{V} G \right\|_{C} \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \left|A_{V}\left(\eta \setminus \xi, y, z\right)\right| \left|G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right)\right|.$$

We can proceed as in the proof of Proposition 3.6, using (3.102) instead of (3.10). As a result we have

$$\left\| \widehat{L}_{RW}^{V} G \right\|_{C} \leq 2 \langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha}_{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left| G\left(\xi, y\right) \right|,$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

As a consequence, we can show the following results about the existence of renormalized and limiting semigroups on the spaces \mathcal{L}_C and \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} .

Lemma 3.30.

1. Suppose that hypotheses (3.100)-(3.102) hold with

$$\tilde{a}_1 + \frac{\tilde{a}_2}{C} < \frac{3}{2},$$
(3.104)

then the operator $(\widehat{L}_V, \mathcal{D}^V)$ is the generator of a holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{U}_V(t)$ on \mathcal{L}_C .

2. Assume, additionally, that there exist A > 0 such that for a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$D_x^V(\emptyset) \le A. \tag{3.105}$$

Then, for any

$$\alpha \in \left(\frac{\tilde{a}_2}{C(3/2 - \tilde{a}_1)}; 1\right),\tag{3.106}$$

there exists a strongly continuous semigroup $\widehat{U}_{V}^{\odot\alpha}(t)$ on the space $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ with generator $\widehat{L}_{V}^{\odot\alpha} = L_{V}^{\bigtriangleup}$ on $\operatorname{Dom}(\widehat{L}_{V}^{\odot\alpha}) = \{k \in \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}} : L_{V}^{\bigtriangleup}k \in \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}\}.$

Proof of Lemma 3.30.1. From [54, Proposition 4.2], we know that, under hypotheses (3.100) and (3.101), the operator $(L_0^V + L_1^V, \mathcal{D}^V)$ generates a holomorphic semigroup in \mathcal{L}_C . On the other hand, from Proposition 3.29 we know the operator \widehat{L}_{RW}^V is bounded in \mathcal{L}_C , under hypothesis (3.102). Hence, we can apply [39, Theorem III.1.3] and obtain the desired result.

Proof of Lemma 3.30.2. In order to show the second statement we follow the proof of Lemma 3.22.2. In this case, we make use of the following auxiliary results. Their proof is given at the end of this paragraph.

Proposition 3.31. Let us assume that conditions (3.100)-(3.102) and (3.105) are satisfied. Suppose, additionally, that there exists A > 0 such that for a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$D_x^V(\emptyset) \le A. \tag{3.107}$$

Then, for any $\alpha \in (0, 1/\nu)$,

$$\mathcal{K}^{\infty}_{\alpha C} \subset \operatorname{Dom}\left(L_{V}^{\Delta}\right). \tag{3.108}$$

Proposition 3.32. Suppose that the hypotheses of the Lemma 3.30 are satisfied. Then, the set $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ is a \widehat{U}_{V}^{\odot} -invariant subspace of \mathcal{K}_{C}^{∞} .

Let us now consider the restriction $U_V^{\odot \alpha}(t)$ of the semigroups $U_V^{\odot}(t)$ onto the closed subspace $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$. As a consequence of the two propositions above, $U_V^{\odot \alpha}(t)$ is a strongly continuous semigroups with generators $L_V^{\odot \alpha}$ which is the restriction of the corresponding operator L_V^{\odot} . This proves Lemma 3.30.2.

Proof of Proposition 3.31. In order to prove the statement, it is enough to verify that for any $k \in \mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$,

$$C^{-|\cdot|}L_V^{\Delta}k \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{d}y).$$

In general we can write

$$C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L_V^{\Delta} k \right)(\eta, y) \right| \le C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L_{RE, V}^{\Delta} k \right)(\eta, y) \right| + C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L_{RW, V}^{\Delta} k \right)(\eta, y) \right|.$$

From [54, Proposition 4.2.2], we know that $C^{-|\cdot|}L_{RE,V}^{\Delta}k \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d, d\lambda dy)$, namely

$$\mathop{\mathrm{ess\,sup}}_{(\eta,y)\in\Gamma_0\times\mathbb{R}^d}C^{-|\eta|}\left|\left(L^{\bigtriangleup}_{RE,V}k\right)(\eta,y)\right|<\infty.$$

Moreover, by using (3.102) one can estimate

$$\begin{split} C^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(\widehat{L}_{RW,V}^{\bigtriangleup} k \right)(\eta, y) \right| &\leq C^{-|\eta|} \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\zeta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \left| k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, z\right) \right| \left| A_V\left(\eta, z, y\right) \right| + \\ & C^{-|\eta|} \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\zeta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \left| k\left(\zeta \cup \eta, y\right) \right| \left| A_V\left(\eta, y, z\right) \right| \\ &\leq \alpha^{|\eta|} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \left(\alpha C\right)^{|\zeta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\zeta\right) \left| A_V\left(\eta, z, y\right) \right| + \\ & \alpha^{|\eta|} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \left(\alpha C\right)^{|\zeta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\zeta\right) \left| A_V\left(\eta, y, z\right) \right| \\ &\leq 2\langle a\rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}} \alpha^{|\eta|} \\ &\leq 2\langle a\rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0' \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}} < \infty, \end{split}$$

and the proof follows.

Proof of Proposition 3.32. Similarly to the proof of Lemma 3.30.1 one can show that the operator $(\hat{L}_V, \mathcal{D}^V_{\alpha})$, with $\mathcal{D}^V_{\alpha} = \{G \in \mathcal{L}_{\alpha C} : D_V G \in \mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}\}$, is the generator of a holomorphic semigroup \widehat{U}^{α}_V on $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha C}$ for any $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ such that

$$\tilde{a}_1 + \frac{\tilde{a}_2}{\alpha C} < \frac{3}{2}.$$

Then, we can proceed as in the proof of Lemma 3.12 and obtain the desired result. \Box

Convergence to the limiting evolution. Now we show the main result of about the convergence of the semigroups $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}(t)$, $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$, to $\widehat{U}_{V}(t)$ in the space \mathcal{L}_{C} . In order to prove this convergence we need to impose stronger conditions then (2.104), (2.105) and (2.111). As in [54, Theorem 4.4.], we demand that the convergences (2.104)-(2.105) hold also in $L^{1}(\Gamma_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta))$ and we make the following assumption on limit (2.111).

Assumption 3.33. Suppose that limit (2.111), explicitly

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z \right) \right) (\eta) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot, y, z \right) \right) (\eta) = A_V \left(\eta, y, z \right), \quad (3.109)$$

holds for any $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ as well as in $L^1(\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d), C^{|\eta|}\lambda(\eta))$, for all $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Remark 3.34. Let us note that the convergence in $L^1(\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d), C^{|\eta|}\lambda(\eta))$ of (2.104) and (2.105) together with conditions (3.82) and (3.83) yields (3.100) and (3.101), respectively.

Theorem 3.35. Let conditions (3.82)-(3.85) and (3.102) hold. Suppose that the convergences (2.104), (2.105) and (2.111) take places for all $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ as well as in $L^1(\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d), C^{|\eta|}\lambda(\eta))$. Assume also that there exists $\sigma > 0$ such that (cf. (2.104)) either

$$d_{\varepsilon}(x,\xi) \le \sigma D_x^V(\emptyset) \qquad or \qquad d_{\varepsilon}(x,\xi) \ge \sigma D_x^V(\emptyset) \tag{3.110}$$

is satisfied for all $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and for a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, the semigroup $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}(t)$ converges strongly to $\widehat{U}_V(t)$ in \mathcal{L}_C as $\varepsilon \to 0$ uniformly on any finite interval of time.

Proof of Theorem 3.35. From Lemma 3.22.1 and 3.30.1, we already know that $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}(t)$ and $\widehat{U}_{V}(t)$ are holomorphic semigroups in \mathcal{L}_{C} . Then, to prove their convergence, it is enough to show the strong convergence of the resolvents corresponding to the their generators, namely

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} - u\mathbb{1}\right)^{-1} G \xrightarrow{\mathrm{s}} \left(\widehat{L}_V - u\mathbb{1}\right)^{-1} G,$$
 (3.111)

for any $G \in \mathcal{L}_C$, see e.g. [39, Theorem III.4.8]. In order to verify the latter assertion, we apply Lemma 3.19 taking $L_{\varepsilon} = \hat{L}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$ and $\mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{D}^{(\varepsilon)}$ with $A_{\varepsilon} = L_0^{(\varepsilon)}$, $B_{\varepsilon} = L_1^{(\varepsilon)} + \hat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)}$. Of course, $L_{\varepsilon\equiv 0} = \hat{L}_V$ and $\mathcal{D}_0 \equiv \mathcal{D}^V$ with $A_0 = L_0^V$, $B_0 = L_1^V + \hat{L}_{RW}^V$. Then, the statement of Theorem 3.35 will be proved once we check the conditions of Lemma 3.19 are satisfied.

Condition (3.73) is straightforward. Indeed for any $u \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\Re u > 0$ fixed, we have

$$\left\| \left(L_0^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G \right\|_C \le \left\| \frac{G}{D_{\varepsilon} + u} \right\|_C \le \frac{1}{\Re u} \| G \|_C, \qquad (3.112)$$

for all $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$. Condition (3.75) follows directly from (2.104) (cf. proof of Theorem 4.4 in [54]). In particular, we can show the following result.

Lemma 3.36. Let us assume that condition (3.82) as well as convergence (2.104) hold. Then for any $u \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\Re u > 0$ fixed, we have

$$\left(L_0^{(\varepsilon)} - u\mathbb{1}\right)^{-1} \xrightarrow{s} \left(L_0^V - u\mathbb{1}\right)^{-1}, \qquad (3.113)$$

in \mathcal{L}_C as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

It remains to verify conditions (3.74) and (3.76). They are consequence of Proposition 3.37 and Lemma 3.38, respectively. The proof of the following two auxiliary results is given at the end of this section.

Proposition 3.37. Set, for brevity, $B_{\varepsilon} := L_1^{(\varepsilon)} + \hat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)}$ and suppose that conditions (3.82)-(3.84) hold. Then, given $u \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\Re u > \overline{u} > 0$, for any $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$ the following estimate holds

$$\left\|B_{\varepsilon}\left(u\mathbb{1}-L_{0}\right)^{-1}\right\|_{C} \leq \tilde{a}_{1}-1+\frac{\tilde{a}_{2}}{C}+2\langle a\rangle\tilde{\alpha}_{1}+\frac{2\langle a\rangle\tilde{\alpha}_{0}}{\overline{u}}.$$
(3.114)

Lemma 3.38. Set for brevity $B_{\varepsilon} := L_1^{(\varepsilon)} + L_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)}$ and $B_0 := L_1^V + L_{RW}^V$, Then, under the hypotheses of the main theorem, for any $u \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\Re u > 0$, we have

$$B_{\varepsilon} \left(L_0^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} \xrightarrow{s} B_0 \left(L_0^V - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1}, \qquad (3.115)$$

in \mathcal{L}_C as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

Note that, under hypothesis (3.85), Proposition 3.37 gives us the following bound

$$\left\| \left(L_1^{(\varepsilon)} + L_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} \right) \left(u \mathbb{1} - L_0^{(\varepsilon)} \right)^{-1} \right\|_C \le \frac{1}{2} + \frac{2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0}{\overline{u}}, \tag{3.116}$$

for any $u \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\Re u > \overline{u} > 0$. Hence, we can choose \overline{u} big enough to make the r.h.s. smaller than 1, as condition (3.74) requires.

Finally, by combining (3.112) and (3.116) together with the results of Lemma 3.36 and 3.38 we obtain the desired result.

Proof of Proposition 3.37. Let us calculate the \mathcal{L}_C -norm of the operator $B_{\varepsilon}(u\mathbb{1} - L_0^{(\varepsilon)})^{-1}$. By definition we can write

$$\left\|B_{\varepsilon}\left(u\mathbb{1}-L_{0}^{(\varepsilon)}\right)^{-1}\right\|_{C} \leq \left\|L_{1}^{(\varepsilon)}\left(u\mathbb{1}-L_{0}^{(\varepsilon)}\right)^{-1}\right\|_{C} + \left\|\widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)}\left(u\mathbb{1}-L_{0}^{(\varepsilon)}\right)^{-1}\right\|_{C}.$$
(3.117)

From [54, Proposition 4.1], it follows that (cf. (4.14) in [54])

$$\left\|L_1^{(\varepsilon)}\left(u\mathbb{1}-L_0^{(\varepsilon)}\right)^{-1}\right\|_C \le \tilde{a}_1 - 1 + \frac{\tilde{a}_2}{C}.$$

Now let us consider the second term in the r.h.s. of (3.117). For any $G \in \mathcal{L}_C$, by using the result of Proposition 3.25, for $(L_0^{(\varepsilon)} - u\mathbb{1})^{-1}G$ instead of G, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} \left(L_0^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G \right\|_C &\leq 2 \langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha}_1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) \frac{D_{\varepsilon} \left(\eta \right)}{D_{\varepsilon} \left(\eta \right) + \mathfrak{R}u} \left| G \left(\xi, y \right) \right| + \\ & 2 \langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha}_0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) \frac{|G \left(\xi, y \right)|}{D_{\varepsilon} \left(\eta \right) + \mathfrak{R}u}. \end{split}$$

Note that for $\Re u > \overline{u} > 0$ one has

$$\frac{D_{\varepsilon}(\eta)}{D_{\varepsilon}(\eta) + \Re u} \le 1, \qquad \frac{1}{D_{\varepsilon}(\eta) + \Re u} \le \frac{1}{\Re u} < \frac{1}{\overline{u}},$$
(3.118)

yielding

$$\begin{split} \left\| \widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} \left(L_0^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G \right\|_C \leq & 2\langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha}_1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) |G\left(\xi, y \right)| + \\ & \frac{2 \langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha}_0}{\overline{u}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) |G\left(\xi, y \right)| \,, \end{split}$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

Proof of Lemma 3.38. For any $G \in \mathcal{L}_C$, let us consider the following norm

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| B_{\varepsilon} \left(L_{0}^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G - B_{0} \left(L_{0}^{V} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G \right\|_{C} \leq \\ \leq \left\| L_{1}^{(\varepsilon)} \left(L_{0}^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G - L_{1}^{V} \left(L_{0}^{V} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G \right\|_{C} + \\ \leq \left\| \widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} \left(L_{0}^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G - \widehat{L}_{RW}^{V} \left(L_{0}^{V} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G \right\|_{C}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.119)

We want to show that the r.h.s. of (3.119) vanishes as ε goes to zero. From the proof of Theorem 4.4 in [54], we easily deduce that

$$\left\| L_1^{(\varepsilon)} \left(L_0^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G - L_1^V \left(L_0^V - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G \right\|_C \xrightarrow{s} 0 \quad \text{as } \varepsilon \to 0, \tag{3.120}$$

if either $d_{\varepsilon}(x,\xi) \leq \sigma D_x^V(\emptyset)$ or $d_{\varepsilon}(x,\xi) \geq \sigma D_x^V(\emptyset)$ holds for all $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Next let us consider the second term in the r.h.s of (3.119). We can estimate it as follows

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} \left(L_0^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G - L_{RW}^V \left(L_0^V - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G \right\|_C &\leq \\ &\leq \left\| \left(L_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} - \widehat{L}_{RW}^V \right) \left(L_0^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G \right\|_C + \left\| L_{RW}^V \left[\left(L_0^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} - \left(L_0^V - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} \right] G \right\|_C, \end{aligned}$$

more explicitly, we can write it

$$\begin{split} \left\| \widehat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} \left(L_0^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G - \widehat{L}_{RW}^V \left(L_0^V - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G \right\|_C \leq \\ \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\eta \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a \left(y - z \right) \times \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \left| \varepsilon^{-|\eta \setminus \xi|} \left(K_0^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z \right) \right) (\eta \setminus \xi) - A_V \left(\eta \setminus \xi, y, z \right) \right| \frac{|G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right)|}{D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + |u|} + \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\eta \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}za \left(y - z \right) \times \\ \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} |A_V \left(\eta \setminus \xi, y, z \right)| \frac{|D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) - D_V\left(\xi\right)|}{\left(D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + |u| \right) \left(D_V\left(\xi\right) + |u| \right)} \left| G\left(\xi, z\right) - G\left(\xi, y\right) \right|. \end{split}$$

By using the Minlos formula (1.18), we find

$$\begin{split} \left\| \hat{L}_{RW}^{(\varepsilon)} \left(L_{0}^{(\varepsilon)} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G - \hat{L}_{RW}^{V} \left(L_{0}^{V} - u \mathbb{1} \right)^{-1} G \right\|_{C} &\leq \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) |G\left(\xi, y\right)| \times \\ & \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \frac{a\left(y-z\right)}{D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + |u|} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z \right) \right) \left(\eta\right) - A_{V}\left(\eta, y, z\right) \right| + \\ & \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \frac{a\left(y-z\right)}{D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + |u|} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot \cup \xi, z, y \right) \right) \left(\eta\right) - A_{V}\left(\eta, z, y\right) \right| + \\ & \frac{|D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) - D_{V}\left(\xi\right)|}{(D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + |u|)\left(D_{V}\left(\xi\right) + |u|\right)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left| A_{V}\left(\eta, y, z\right) \right| + \\ & \frac{|D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) - D_{V}\left(\xi\right)|}{(D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + |u|)\left(D_{V}\left(\xi\right) + |u|\right)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left| A_{V}\left(\eta, z, y\right) \right| \right]. \end{aligned}$$
(3.121)

Note that by (2.104), for all $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ we have

$$D_{\varepsilon}(\eta) \to D_V(\eta), \qquad \varepsilon \to 0.$$
 (3.122)

The latter together with the convergence in $L^1(\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d), C^{|\eta|}\lambda(\eta))$ for (2.111) implies that all four integrands, as function of (ξ, y) , appearing in (3.121) converge to zero $\tilde{\lambda}$ -a.s., as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Then, in order to use the dominated convergence theorem and show the convergence of the corresponding integrals, it is enough to show that these functions are uniformly bounded.

Let us consider the first integrand

$$\begin{split} I_{1}\left(\xi,y\right) &:= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \frac{a\left(y-z\right)}{D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{\left|\eta\right|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left|\varepsilon^{-\left|\eta\right|} \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z\right)\right)\left(\eta\right) - A_{V}\left(\eta, y, z\right)\right| \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \frac{a\left(y-z\right)}{D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{\left|\eta\right|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left[\left|\varepsilon^{-\left|\eta\right|} \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot \cup \xi, y, z\right)\right)\left(\eta\right)\right| + \left|A_{V}\left(\eta, y, z\right)\right|\right]. \end{split}$$

By using conditions (3.84) and (3.102), one can estimate

$$I_{1}(\xi, y) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \frac{a(y-z)}{D_{\varepsilon}(\xi) + |u|} \left[\tilde{\alpha}_{1} D_{\varepsilon}(\xi) + 2\tilde{\alpha}_{0} \right]$$
$$\leq \langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{1} \frac{D_{\varepsilon}(\xi)}{D_{\varepsilon}(\xi) + |u|} + \frac{2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{0}}{D_{\varepsilon}(\xi) + |u|}$$
$$\leq \langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{1} + \frac{2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{0}}{\Re u} < \infty.$$

Similarly, for the second integrand in equation (3.119) we obtain

$$\begin{split} I_{2}\left(\xi,y\right) &:= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \frac{a\left(y-z\right)}{D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right)+\left|u\right|} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{\left|\eta\right|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left|\varepsilon^{-\left|\eta\right|} \left(K_{0}^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,z,y\right)\right)\left(\eta\right) - A_{V}\left(\eta,z,y\right)\right| \\ &\leq \langle a\rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{1} + \frac{2\langle a\rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{0}}{\Re u} < \infty. \end{split}$$

Next let us consider the third integrand in equation (3.119), namely

$$I_{3}\left(\xi,y\right) := \frac{\left|D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) - D_{V}\left(\xi\right)\right|}{\left(D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|\right)\left(D_{V}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|\right)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{\left|\eta\right|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left|A_{V}\left(\eta, y, z\right)\right|.$$

By using condition (3.102), we have

$$\begin{split} I_{3}\left(\xi,y\right) &\leq \langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{0} \frac{\left|D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) - D_{V}\left(\xi\right)\right|}{\left(D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|\right)\left(D_{V}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|\right)} \\ &\leq \langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{0} \left[\frac{D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right)}{\left(D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|\right)\left(D_{V}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|\right)} + \frac{D_{V}\left(\xi\right)}{\left(D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|\right)\left(D_{V}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|\right)}\right] \\ &\leq 2 \frac{\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{0}}{\Re u} < \infty. \end{split}$$

Analogously for the last integrand in equation (3.119) we find

$$\begin{split} I_{4}\left(\xi,y\right) &:= \frac{\left|D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) - D_{V}\left(\xi\right)\right|}{\left(D_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|\right)\left(D_{V}\left(\xi\right) + \left|u\right|\right)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y - z\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{\left|\eta\right|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left|A_{V}\left(\eta, z, y\right)\right| \\ &\leq 2 \frac{\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{0}}{\Re u} < \infty, \end{split}$$

which concludes the proof of the lemma.

3.2.2 Vlasov equations

In this section we want to study the Vlasov equations that appear in the Vlasov-type scaling limit. We begin with a rigorous derivation of the Vlasov equations starting from the Vlasov hierarchy (3.72) in the space \mathcal{K}_C^{∞} defined by (3.3).

Given C > 0, we denote by \overline{B}_C^{∞} a closed ball of radius C in the Banach space $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Lemma 3.39. For any $\alpha \in (\alpha_0, 1)$ as in (3.106), let ρ_0 and r_0 be two functions belonging to $\overline{B}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ and $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, respectively. Suppose the hypotheses (3.100)-(3.102) hold. Then, the evolution equation (3.72) with initial conditions $k_0(\eta, y) = e_{\lambda}(\rho_0, \eta)r_0(y) \in \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ has an unique solution of the form

$$k_t(\eta, y) = e_\lambda(\rho_t, \eta) r_t(y) \quad in \ \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}, \qquad t \ge 0,$$
(3.123)

provided that $\rho_t \in \overline{B}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ and $r_t \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ satisfy the system of equations, so-called Vlasov equations,

$$\frac{\partial \rho_t\left(x\right)}{\partial t} = -\rho_t\left(x\right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_\lambda\left(\rho_t,\xi\right) D_x^V\left(\xi\right) + \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_\lambda\left(\rho_t,\xi\right) B_x^V\left(\xi\right), \qquad (3.124a)$$

$$\frac{\partial r_t(y)}{\partial t} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left[r_t(z) \,\overline{\lambda}_t(z, y) - r_t(y) \,\overline{\lambda}_t(y, z) \right],\tag{3.124b}$$

with initial conditions $\rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0$ and $r_t|_{t=0} = r_0$, respectively, where $\overline{\lambda}_t$ is defined by (2.126).

Proof. From Proposition 2.23 and Lemma 2.25.(i), it follows that if ρ_t and r_t solve (3.124a) and (3.124b), then $k_t = e_{\lambda}(\rho_t, \cdot)r_t$ solves Vlasov hierarchy (3.72). On the other hand, $\rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$, $r_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ implies $k_0 \in \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$, hence, the uniqueness of solution (3.123) follows directly from Lemma 3.30.2.

Next let us consider the existence and uniqueness problem for the solutions to the system of Vlasov equations (3.124a)-(3.124b). The pair of functions (ρ_t, r_t) is defined to be a solution of the Vlasov equations on \mathbb{R}_+ if and only if

$$\rho, r \in C^1 \big((0, +\infty) \to L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d) \big) \cap C \big([0, +\infty) \to L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d) \big) := \mathcal{C}^1 \big(\mathbb{R}_+; L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d) \big)$$

and they solve (3.124a) and (3.124b) on \mathbb{R}_+ . We are mostly interested in non-negative solutions, $\rho_t(x), r_t(x) \ge 0$, a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, to have that $k_t = e_\lambda(\rho_t, \cdot)r_t$ is a correlation functional. In the following we also assume that if $\rho_t(x) \ge 0$ for a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $t \ge 0$, then

$$\overline{\lambda}_t(y,z) = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\xi) e_\lambda(\rho_t,\xi) A_V(\xi,y,z) \ge 0, \qquad y,z \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(3.125)

Remark 3.40. Note that condition (3.125) is satisfied by each of the interaction I-IV introduced in Section 2.1, see e.g. Section 2.3.2.

The kinetic equation of RE (3.124a) coincides with the Vlasov equation of a birth-anddeath model, see e.g. [54]. At present there are no general results regarding its solutions. However, Vlasov equations for a birth-and-death dynamics have been intensively studied concerning the existence, uniqueness and behavior of its solution ρ_t , in many concrete models, see e.g. [52, 56, 57] and reference therein. In the following theorem we assume that equation (3.124a) has a unique solution $\rho \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ which is non-negative and uniformly bounded, then we show that the solution to (3.124b) exists and it is unique, non-negative and uniformly bounded in L^{∞} .

Theorem 3.41. Let us consider the system of equations (3.124a)-(3.124b). Given C > 0, suppose that equation (3.124a) with initial condition $0 \le \rho_0 \in \overline{B}_C^{\infty}$ has a unique solution $\rho \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ such that $0 \le \rho_t \in \overline{B}_C^{\infty}$, for any t > 0. Then, if we assume that (3.102) and (3.125) hold, equation (3.124b) with initial condition $0 \le r_0 \in L^{\infty}$ has a unique solution $0 \le r \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$. Moreover, if additionally $r_0 \in \overline{B}_{C'}^{\infty}$, C' > 0, then $r_t \in \overline{B}_{C'}^{\infty}$ on \mathbb{R}_+ .

Proof. The proof will be divided in 2 steps.

Step.1. Existence and uniqueness of the solution. We have to establish existence and uniqueness of solutions $r \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ for the non-autonomous Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}r_t(y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz \, a \, (y-z) \left[r_t(z) \,\overline{\lambda}_t(z,y) - r_t(y) \,\overline{\lambda}_t(y,z) \right] \\ r_t(y)|_{t=0} = r_0(y) \end{cases},$$
(3.126)

where $\rho \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ with $0 \le \rho_t(x) \le C$ for a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

For any $t \ge 0$ we consider the linear operator

$$\left(\overline{L}_{RW}^{*}(t)r_{t}\right)(y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz \, a\left(y-z\right) \left[r_{t}\left(z\right)\overline{\lambda}_{t}(z,y) - r_{t}\left(y\right)\overline{\lambda}_{t}(y,z)\right]$$
$$= \int_{\Gamma_{0}} d\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\rho_{t},\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz \, a\left(y-z\right) \left[r_{t}\left(z\right)A_{V}\left(\xi,z,y\right) - r_{t}\left(y\right)A_{V}\left(\xi,y,z\right)\right].$$
(3.127)

Let us first note that the operator (3.127) is bounded in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for any $t \ge 0$. Indeed, for $r \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we can write

$$\left| \left(\overline{L}_{RW}^{*}(t)r \right)(y) \right| \leq \left\| r \right\|_{\infty} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\rho_{t},\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \left| A_{V}\left(\xi,z,y\right) \right| + \left\| r \right\|_{\infty} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\rho_{t},\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \left| A_{V}\left(\xi,y,z\right) \right|.$$

As $0 \leq \rho_t \in \overline{B}_C^{\infty}$, by using condition (3.102) one may estimate

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(\overline{L}_{RW}^{*}(t)r \right)(y) \right| &\leq \|r\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) |A_{V}\left(\xi,z,y\right)| + \\ \|r\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) |A_{V}\left(\xi,y,z\right)| \\ &\leq 2 \left\|r\right\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \left[\tilde{\alpha}_{0}\right] \\ &\leq 2\tilde{\alpha}_{0} \langle a \rangle \left\|r\right\|_{\infty}, \end{split}$$

which proves the claim. Next, since ρ_t is continuous on $[0, \infty)$ and differentiable on $(0, \infty)$, one can easy check that $\overline{L}^*_{RW}(t) \in C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathfrak{L}(L^\infty))$, where $\mathfrak{L}(L^\infty)$ is the Banach algebra of all linear operators on $L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then, we can conclude that the Cauchy problem (3.126) has a unique solution in $L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$, see e.g. [85, Section II.2].

Step.2. Non-negativity and uniform bound of the solution. In order to show that the solution $r \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ to (3.126) is non-negative and uniformly bounded, we will construct a sequence of functions which converges to r_t in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for any finite time interval.

Let us fix a moment of time T > 0 and define the space $X_{T,\infty} = C([0,T]; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ of all continuous functions on [0,T] with values in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. As usual we introduce a norm into this space according to the formula

$$||r||_T = \max_{t \in [0,T]} ||r_t||_{\infty}.$$
(3.128)

In this norm the space $X_{T,\infty}$ is a Banach space. We denote by $X_{T,\infty}^+$ the cone of all non-negative functions from $X_{T,\infty}$. Note that the set $X_{T,\infty}^+$ with a metric induced by the norm (3.128) constitutes a complete metric space.

For any $0 \leq r_0 \in L^{\infty}$, let Φ be a mapping which assigns to any $v \in X_{T,\infty}$ the solution u_t of the (local) Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}u_t(y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_t(z,y) \, v_t(z) - u_t(y) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_t(y,z) \\ u_t(y)|_{t=0} = r_0(y) \end{cases}$$
(3.129)

Therefore, we can write, see e.g. [69],

$$(\Phi v)_t (y) = e^{-\int_0^t ds \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_s(y,z)} r_0(y) + \int_0^t ds \, e^{-\int_s^t ds' \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz \, a(y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_s(z,y) v_s(z) \,.$$
(3.130)

Let us show some basic properties of the mapping Φ . First, we can note that $\Phi v \in X_{T,\infty}^+$ for any $v \in X_{T,\infty}^+$. Indeed, $v \in X_{T,\infty}^+$ and (3.125) imply that $\Phi v \ge 0$. Moreover, since $0 \le \rho_t \in \overline{B}_C^\infty$, from condition (3.102) it follows that

$$0 \leq \overline{\lambda}_t (y, z) \leq \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi\right) e_\lambda \left(\rho_t, \xi\right) \left| A_V \left(\xi, y, z\right) \right| \leq \tilde{\alpha}_0, \tag{3.131}$$

for $t \ge 0$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, one can estimate

$$(\Phi v)_{t}(y) \leq r_{0}(y) + \|v\|_{T} \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{e}^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathrm{d}s' \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \,a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \,a(y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_{s}(z,y)$$

$$\leq r_{0}(y) + \tilde{\alpha}_{0} \langle a \rangle \, \|v\|_{T} \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{e}^{-\tilde{\alpha}_{0} \langle a \rangle(t-s)}.$$
(3.132)

Note that

$$\int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \,\left(\tilde{\alpha}_{0}\langle a \rangle\right) \mathrm{e}^{-\tilde{\alpha}_{0}\langle a \rangle(t-s)} = \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\tilde{\alpha}_{0}\langle a \rangle(t-s)}\right) = 1 - \mathrm{e}^{-\tilde{\alpha}_{0}\langle a \rangle t},\tag{3.133}$$

thus,

$$(\Phi v)_{t}(y) \leq r_{0}(y) + \|v\|_{T} \left(1 - e^{-\tilde{\alpha}_{0} \langle a \rangle t}\right)$$

$$\leq r_{0}(y) + \|v\|_{T} < \infty.$$
 (3.134)

Next, we show that the mapping Φ is a contraction on the cone $X_{T,\infty}^+$. For any $v, w \in X_{T,\infty}^+$, let us consider the following difference

$$\begin{split} |(\Phi v)_t (y) - (\Phi w)_t (y)| &\leq \\ &\leq \int_0^t \mathrm{d} s \, \mathrm{e}^{-\int_s^t \mathrm{d} s' \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d} z \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d} z \, a \, (y-z) \, \overline{\lambda}_s(z,y) \, |v_s (z) - w_s (z)| \\ &\leq \|v - w\|_T \int_0^t \mathrm{d} s \, \mathrm{e}^{-\int_s^t \mathrm{d} s' \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d} z \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d} z \, a \, (y-z) \, \overline{\lambda}_s(z,y). \end{split}$$

By repeating the same estimation done in (3.131)-(3.133), we find

$$|(\Phi v)_t(y) - (\Phi w)_t(y)| \le ||v - w||_T (1 - e^{-\tilde{\alpha}_0 \langle a \rangle t}).$$

Then, for any $t \in [0, T]$ we can write

$$\begin{aligned} \left| (\Phi v)_t \left(y \right) - \left(\Phi w \right)_t \left(y \right) \right| &\leq \left\| v - w \right\|_T \left(1 - e^{-\tilde{\alpha}_0 \langle a \rangle T} \right) \\ &< \left\| v - w \right\|_T. \end{aligned}$$

Given $n \geq 1$ and $v^{(0)} \in X^+_{T,\infty}$, we use the contraction mapping Φ to define the iterative scheme $v^{(n)} = \Phi^n v^{(0)}$. Namely,

$$v_{t}^{(n)}(y) = e^{-\int_{0}^{t} ds \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s}(y,z)} r_{0}(y) + \int_{0}^{t} ds e^{-\int_{s}^{t} ds' \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz \, a(y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_{s}(z,y) v_{s}^{(n-1)}(z) , \qquad (3.135)$$

with

$$v_t^{(0)}(y) = e^{-\int_0^t ds \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_s(y,z)} r_0(y) \,. \tag{3.136}$$

According to the classical Banach fixed point theorem, since Φ is a contraction and the cone X_T^+ is a complete metric space, the sequence $\{v^{(n)}\} \subset X_T^+$ has a unique fixed point $v \in X_T^+$. The limiting point $v_t \in L^\infty$ corresponds to the non-negative solution of (3.126) on the interval [0, T].

Now given C' > 0 and $0 \le r \in \overline{B}_{C'}^{\infty}$, let us show that the solution $v_t, t \in [0, T]$, is uniformly bounded. We proceed by induction: by hypothesis we know that

$$v_t^{(0)}(y) \le r_0(y) \le C', \quad \text{for a.a. } y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
 (3.137)

We assume that the same bound holds at step n-1, $n \ge 1$, i.e.

$$v_t^{(n-1)}(y) \le C', \qquad \text{for a.a. } y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

$$(3.138)$$

and, then, we prove it at the n-th step. In this case we have

$$v_t^{(n)}(y) \leq e^{-\int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_s(y,z)} r_0(y) + \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s e^{-\int_s^t \mathrm{d}s' \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_s(z,y) v_s^{(n-1)}(z) \,.$$

By definition of the induction scheme, see equation (3.137) and (3.138), for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we have

$$v_t^{(n)}(y) \le C' \mathrm{e}^{-\int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_s(y,z)} +$$

$$C' \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{e}^{-\int_s^t \mathrm{d}s' \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_s(z,y).$$

Then, by using (3.131) and (3.133), one can estimate

$$\begin{aligned} v_t^{(n)}(y) &\leq C' \mathrm{e}^{-\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 t} + C' \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 (t-s)} \right) \\ &\leq C' \mathrm{e}^{-\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 t} + C' \left(1 - \mathrm{e}^{-\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 t} \right) \\ &\leq C', \quad \text{for a.a. } y \in \mathbb{R}^d. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.139)$$

Letting n go to infinity it follows that $v_t(y) \leq C'$, for any $t \in [0, T]$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Clearly, changing the initial condition in (3.126) to $r_t|_{t=T} = v_T$, we may extend all our considerations on the time interval [T, 2T] and so on. As a result, the initial value problem (3.126) has a unique global bounded non-negative solution $r_t(y) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ on \mathbb{R}_+ .

Remark 3.42. In concrete applications we are mainly interested in finding a solution to Vlasov equation (3.124b) in the space $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, namely $r \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^1(\mathbb{R}^d))$. Indeed, in this case the corresponding correlation functions $k_t = e_\lambda(\rho_t)r_t$ are associated to some finite measure. This problem will be considered in Section 4.2.2.

In the next section we will apply this general result to study the existence and uniqueness of solutions to the Vlasov equations in the concrete models of RW in a BDLP model of environment, under each of the interactions I-IV introduced in Section 2.1.

3.2.3 Examples: random walks in a spatial ecological model of environment

Let us consider the case where the environment is described by the BDLP model introduced in Section 3.1.3. The Vlasov-type scaling for this model has been studied in details in [54,56].

For any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ we consider the following scaling of rates (3.45) and (3.46)

$$d_{\varepsilon}(x,\gamma \setminus x) = m + \varepsilon \chi^{-} \sum_{x' \in (\gamma \setminus x)} a^{-} (x - x'), \qquad x \in \gamma, \gamma \in \Gamma,$$
(3.140)

$$b_{\varepsilon}(x,\gamma) = \varepsilon \chi^{+} \sum_{x' \in (\gamma \setminus x)} a^{+} (x - x'), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^{d} \setminus \gamma, \gamma \in \Gamma.$$
(3.141)

In correspondence we have (cf. (3.48)-(3.49))

$$\left(K^{-1}d_{\varepsilon}\left(x,\cdot\cup\left(\xi\setminus x\right)\right)\right)(\eta) = d_{\varepsilon}\left(x,\xi\right)0^{|\eta|} + \varepsilon\chi^{-1}\mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}\left(\eta = \{x'\}\right)a^{-}\left(x-x'\right)$$

and

$$\left(K^{-1}b_{\varepsilon}\left(x,\cdot\cup\xi\right)\right)(\eta) = b_{\varepsilon}\left(x,\xi\right)0^{|\eta|} + \chi^{+}\mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}\left(\eta = \{x'\}\right)a^{+}\left(x-x'\right).$$

Therefore, under assumptions (3.50)-(3.51), hypotheses (3.82), (3.83) and (3.86) are satisfied with

$$\tilde{a}_1 = 1 + \frac{1}{4+\delta}, \qquad \tilde{a}_2 = \frac{C}{4}, \qquad \nu = 1,$$
(3.142)

for some $\delta > 0$. Moreover, it is easy to check that the following limits hold in $L^1(\Gamma_0, C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta))$

(i)
$$D_x^V(\eta) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(K^{-1} d_\varepsilon \left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \right) \right)(\eta) = m 0^{|\eta|} + \chi^- \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}} \left(\eta = \{ x' \} \right) a^- \left(x - x' \right);$$

(ii) $B_x^V(\eta) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(K^{-1} b_\varepsilon \left(x, \cdot \cup \xi \right) \right)(\eta) = \chi^+ \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}} \left(\eta = \{ x' \} \right) a^+ \left(x - x' \right),$

for a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. See [54] for further details. According to these results the Vlasov equation (3.124a) has now the form

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \rho_t}{\partial t} = -m\rho_t - \chi^- \rho_t \left(\rho_t * a^-\right) + \chi^+ \left(\rho_t * a^+\right) \\ \rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0 \end{cases}, \quad t \ge 0.$$
(3.143)

This kinetic equation was studied in [47, 48, 56]. For technical reasons, it is convenient to consider solutions $\rho \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; C_b(\mathbb{R}^d))$. Here, $C_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the Banach space of all bounded continuous functions on \mathbb{R}^d equipped with norm

$$||f||_{\infty} := \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} |f(x)|, \qquad f \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

Note that the Banach space $C_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$ can be isomorphically embedded into $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. For simplicity of notation, we define $\tilde{B}_C^{\infty} := C_b(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \overline{B}_C^{\infty}$.

In the Banach space $C_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we can formulate the following existence and uniqueness result for the evolution equation (3.143). We refer to [48] for a detailed proof.

Theorem 3.43. Given C > 0, let us consider a function $0 \le \rho_0 \in \tilde{B}_C^{\infty}$. Suppose that there exists $\theta > 0$ such that

$$a^+(x) \le \theta a^-(x), \qquad a.a. \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
 (3.144)

Then, the Cauchy problem (3.143) has a unique solution $\rho \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; \tilde{B}_C^\infty)$ such that $0 \leq \rho_t \in \tilde{B}_C^\infty$ for any t > 0.

3.2.3.1 RW in BDLP model of environment: Case I

Let us consider the RW of a jumping particle whose interaction with RE is given by

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(1)}(\gamma, y) = e^{-\sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - y)}$$
$$= e_{\lambda} \left(e^{-\phi(\cdot - y)}, \gamma \right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \tag{3.145}$$

where $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative even function such that

$$C_1^{\phi} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty. \tag{3.146}$$

Following the analysis in Section 2.3.2, for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ we rescale interaction (3.145) as follows

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}(\gamma, y) := e^{-\varepsilon \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - y)} = e_{\lambda} \left(e^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot - y)}, \gamma \right) \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(3.147)

According to (2.139), we have

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,y\right)\right)(\eta) = \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\xi,y\right)e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\varepsilon\phi\left(\cdot-y\right)} - 1,\eta\right),\tag{3.148}$$

for any $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Thus, one can show the following estimate.

Proposition 3.44. Suppose that condition (3.146) holds. Then

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, y \right) \right| (\eta) \le \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}}, \tag{3.149}$$

for any $\xi \in \Gamma_0$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $C, \varepsilon > 0$.

Proof. By repeating exactly the same estimates done in the proof of Proposition 3.13 we arrive to

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, y \right) \right| (\eta) \le \mathrm{e}^{C\varepsilon^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \left(1 - \mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\phi(x-y)} \right)}. \tag{3.150}$$

Next, we can use the inequalities $\phi \ge 0$ and

$$\frac{1 - e^{-\varepsilon\phi(x)}}{\varepsilon} \le \phi(x), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{3.151}$$

to get the statement.

Note that from the proposition above, it follows that Assumption 3.21 is trivially satisfied with

$$\tilde{\alpha}_1 \equiv 0, \qquad \tilde{\alpha}_0 = e^{CC_1^{\varphi}}. \tag{3.152}$$

Now let us consider the limit for $\varepsilon \to 0$ of (3.148). We can show the following result.

Proposition 3.45. Let $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ be a non-negative even function. Then

$$A_{V}^{(1)}(\eta, y) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}(\cdot \cup \xi, y) \right)(\eta) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}(\cdot, y) \right)(\eta)$$
$$= e_{\lambda} \left(-\phi \left(\cdot - y \right), \eta \right), \tag{3.153}$$

for all $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Moreover, if condition (3.146) holds then we have the convergence in $L^1(\Gamma_0, C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta))$ of (3.153) and

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| A_V^{(1)}(\eta, y) \right| \le \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}},\tag{3.154}$$

for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and C > 0.

Proof. From Section 2.3.2, see in particular (2.140), we know that the limit (3.153) holds pointwise. In order to prove that this convergence takes place also in the sense of $L^1(\Gamma_0, C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta))$, we need to show that for all $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, y \right) \right) (\eta) - A_V^{(1)} \left(\eta, y\right) \right| \to 0, \qquad \text{as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$

From the dominated convergence theorem, it is enough to show that the integrand above is dominated by a function belonging to $L^1(\Gamma_0, C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta))$. By definition, we can write

$$\begin{split} \left| \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, y \right) \right) (\eta) - A_{V}^{(1)} (\eta, y) \right| &\leq \\ &\leq \left| e^{-\varepsilon \sum_{x \in \xi} \phi(x-y)} e_{\lambda} \left(\frac{e^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot-y)} - 1}{\varepsilon}, \eta \right) - e_{\lambda} \left(-\phi \left(\cdot - y \right), \eta \right) \right| \\ &\leq \left| e^{-\varepsilon \sum_{x \in \xi} \phi(x-y)} e_{\lambda} \left(\frac{e^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot-y)} - 1}{\varepsilon}, \eta \right) \right| + \left| e_{\lambda} \left(-\phi \left(\cdot - y \right), \eta \right) \right|. \end{split}$$

Since the potential ϕ is non-negative, one has

$$\left|\varepsilon^{-|\eta|}\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,y\right)\right)(\eta)-A_{V}^{(1)}\left(\eta,y\right)\right|\leq e_{\lambda}\left(\frac{1-\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)}}{\varepsilon},\eta\right)+e_{\lambda}\left(\phi\left(\cdot-y\right),\eta\right)$$

and by using the inequality (3.151) we obtain

$$\left|\varepsilon^{-|\eta|}\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,y\right)\right)(\eta)-A_{V}^{(1)}\left(\eta,y\right)\right|\leq 2e_{\lambda}\left(\phi\left(\cdot-y\right),\eta\right),$$

for any $\xi, \eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. It is easy to check that the function on the r.h.s. belongs to $L^1(\Gamma_0, C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta))$. Indeed, by using identity (1.24), we find

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) e_\lambda\left(\phi\left(\cdot - y\right), \eta\right) = \mathrm{e}^{C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \,\phi(x-y)} = \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}},\tag{3.155}$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

From the proposition above, it follows that both Assumption 3.28 and 3.33 are satisfied with

$$\tilde{\alpha}_0 = \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}}.\tag{3.156}$$

As a consequence of the analysis above, we can apply Lemma 3.22 and 3.30, Theorem 3.35 and Lemma 3.39, to formulate the following result about the Vlasov-type scaling for the considered model.

Corollary 3.46. Suppose that condition (3.146) holds. Assume that the functions a^{\pm} and the constants χ^{\pm} , m and C satisfy conditions (3.50)-(3.51). Then

- 1a. for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$, the operator $(\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon, ren}, \mathcal{D}^{(\varepsilon)})$ is the generator of a holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}(t)$ on \mathcal{L}_{C} ;
- 1b. for any $\alpha \in (1/2, 1)$, the operator $(\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon, \text{ren}}^{\odot \alpha}, \text{Dom}(\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon, \text{ren}}^{\odot \alpha}))$ is the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}^{\odot \alpha}(t)$ on the space $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}};$
- 2a. the operator $(\widehat{L}_V, \mathcal{D}^V)$ is the generator of a holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{U}_V(t)$ on \mathcal{L}_C ;
- 2b. for any $\alpha \in (1/2, 1)$, the operator $(\widehat{L}_V^{\odot \alpha}, \text{Dom}(\widehat{L}_V^{\odot \alpha}))$ is the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup $\widehat{U}_V^{\odot \alpha}(t)$ on the space $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$;
- 3. $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}(t) \to \widehat{U}_{V}(t)$, as $\varepsilon \to 0$, strongly in \mathcal{L}_{C} uniformly on finite time intervals;
- 4. for any $\alpha \in (1/2, 1)$, given $\rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ and $r_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, the Vlasov hierarchy (3.72), with $k_0(\eta, y) = \rho_0(\eta)r(y) \in \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$, has a unique solution $k_t(\eta, y) = e_\lambda(\rho_t, \eta) r_t(y)$ in $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ provided that $\rho_t \in \overline{B}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ and $r_t \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, t > 0, satisfy the Vlasov equations

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \rho_t}{\partial t} = -m\rho_t - \chi^- \rho_t \left(\rho_t * a^-\right) + \chi^+ \left(\rho_t * a^+\right) \\ \frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = -\langle a \rangle e^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} r_t + \left(\left(e^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} r_t \right) * a \right) \end{cases},$$
(3.157)

with initial conditions $\rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0$ and $r_t|_{t=0} = r_0$.

Moreover, by combining the results of Theorem 3.41 and 3.43, we have the following existence and uniqueness result of the solution of system of Vlasov equations.

Theorem 3.47. Assume that conditions (3.146) and (3.144) hold. Given C, C' > 0, let $0 \le \rho_0 \in \tilde{B}^{\infty}_C(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $0 \le r_0 \in \overline{B}^{\infty}_{C'}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then, the system of equations (3.157) has a unique solution (ρ_t, r_t) , with $\rho \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and $r \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ such that $0 \le \rho_t \in \tilde{B}^{\infty}_C$ and $0 \le r_t \in \overline{B}^{\infty}_{C'}$, for any time t > 0.

3.2.3.2 RW in BDLP model of environment: Case II

Let us consider the interaction given by

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(2)}(\gamma, y) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - y), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{3.158}$$

where $\lambda_0 \geq 0$ and $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative even function such that conditions (3.63) and (3.64) hold. In this case, according to Section 2.3.2, for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ we consider the following scaling

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}(\gamma, y) := \lambda_0 + \varepsilon \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi\left(x' - y\right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(3.159)

As a consequence one has

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}\left(\cdot\cup\xi,y\right)\right)(\eta) = \lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi,y\right)0^{|\eta|} + \varepsilon\phi\left(x'-y\right)\mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}\left(\eta = \{x'\}\right),\tag{3.160}$$

for any $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proposition 3.48. Suppose that conditions (3.63) and (3.64) hold. Then, given $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, y \right) \right| (\eta) \le \lambda_0 + C C_1^{\phi} + C_{\infty}^{\phi}, \tag{3.161}$$

for any $\xi \in \Gamma_0$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and C > 0.

Proof. Following the proof of Proposition 3.15 one can show

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} \left(\cdot \cup \xi, y \right) \right| (\eta) \le \lambda_0 + \varepsilon \left\| \phi \right\|_{\infty} |\xi| + \varepsilon C \left\| \phi \right\|_1.$$
(3.162)

Then, since $\varepsilon \leq 1$ we get the desired result.

According to (3.140), from the above proposition it follows that Assumption 3.21 is satisfied with

$$\tilde{\alpha}_1 = \frac{C_\infty^{\phi}}{m}, \qquad \tilde{\alpha}_0 = \lambda_0 + CC_1^{\phi}. \tag{3.163}$$

Next let ε go to zero in (3.160). We can show the following result.

Proposition 3.49. Let $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ be a non-negative even function. Then

$$A_{V}^{(2)}(\eta, y) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}(\cdot \cup \xi, y) \right)(\eta) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}(\cdot, y) \right)(\eta)$$
$$= \lambda_{0} 0^{|\eta|} + \phi \left(x' - y \right) \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}(\eta = \{x'\}), \qquad (3.164)$$

for all $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. If additionally we assume that condition (3.63) holds, in (3.164) we have a $L^1(\Gamma_0, C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta))$ -convergence and, moreover, the following estimate holds

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| A_V^{(2)}(\eta, y) \right| \le \lambda_0 + C C_1^{\phi}, \tag{3.165}$$

for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and C > 0.

Proof. We already know that limit (3.164) holds point-wise, see (2.147) in Section 2.3.2. Since $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, the $L^1(\Gamma_0, C^{|\eta|} d\lambda(\eta))$ -convergence follows directly from the dominated convergence theorem. Finally, we can note that

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left| A_V^{(2)}(\eta, y) \right| = \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \left[\lambda_0 0^{|\eta|} + \phi \left(x' - y \right) \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}} \left(\eta = \{ x' \} \right) \right]$$
$$= \lambda_0 + C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, \phi \left(x - y \right)$$
$$= \lambda_0 + C C_1^{\phi}, \tag{3.166}$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

As a consequence of the above proposition, both Assumption 3.28 and 3.33 are fulfilled with

$$\tilde{\alpha}_0 = \lambda_0 + C C_1^{\phi}. \tag{3.167}$$

We are now able to apply the general results about the Vlasov-type scaling stated in Theorem 3.35 and Lemma 3.39.

Corollary 3.50. Let us assume that the functions a^{\pm} , ϕ and the constants χ^{\pm} , m and C satisfy conditions (3.63) and (3.64) as well as (3.69) and (3.70). Then, for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ and $\alpha \in (1/2, 1)$:

- 1a. the operator $(\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}, \mathcal{D}^{(\varepsilon)})$ is the generator of a holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}(t)$ on \mathcal{L}_C ;
- 1b. the operator $(\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\odot\alpha}, \text{Dom}(\widehat{L}_{\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{\odot\alpha}))$ is the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}^{\odot\alpha}(t)$ on the space $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$;
- 2a. the operator $(\widehat{L}_V, \mathcal{D}^V)$ is the generator of a holomorphic semigroup $\widehat{U}_V(t)$ on \mathcal{L}_C ;

- 2b. the operator $(\widehat{L}_V^{\odot\alpha}, \text{Dom}(\widehat{L}_V^{\odot\alpha}))$ is the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup $\widehat{U}_V^{\odot\alpha}(t)$ on the space $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$;
- 3. for $\varepsilon 0$, $\widehat{U}_{\varepsilon}(t) \to \widehat{U}_{V}(t)$ strongly in \mathcal{L}_{C} uniformly on any finite interval of time;
- 4. for $\rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ and $r_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, the evolution equation (3.72) with initial conditions $k_0(\eta, y) = \rho_0(\eta)r(y) \in \overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$, has a an unique solution $k_t(\eta, y) = e_\lambda(\rho_t, \eta)r_t(y)$ in $\overline{\mathcal{K}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}}$ provided that $\rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{\alpha C}^{\infty}$ and $r_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ satisfy the system of equations

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \rho_t}{\partial t} = -m\rho_t - \chi^- \rho_t \left(\rho_t * a^-\right) + \chi^+ \left(\rho_t * a^+\right) \\ \frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = \left(a * \left[r_t \left(\lambda_0 + \left(\rho_t * \phi\right)\right)\right]\right) - \langle a \rangle r_t \left[\lambda_0 + \left(\rho_t * \phi\right)\right] \end{cases},$$
(3.168)

with initial conditions $\rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0$ and $r_t|_{t=0} = r_0$.

Finally, we can apply Theorem 3.41 and 3.43 to establish existence and uniqueness of solutions to Vlasov equations.

Theorem 3.51. Assume that conditions (3.63) and (3.144) hold. Given C, C' > 0, let $0 \le \rho_0 \in \tilde{B}^{\infty}_C(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $0 \le r_0 \in \overline{B}^{\infty}_{C'}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then, the system of equations (3.168), has a unique solution $\rho_t \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and $r_t \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ with $0 \le \rho_t \in \tilde{B}^{\infty}_C$ and $0 \le r_t \in \overline{B}^{\infty}_{C'}$, on \mathbb{R}_+ .

3.2.3.3 RW in BDLP model of environment: Case III

Let us consider the interaction

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(3)}(\gamma, z) = e^{-\sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x'-z)}$$
$$= e_{\lambda} \left(e^{-\phi(\cdot-z)}, \gamma \right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, z \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$
(3.169)

where ϕ is a non-negative even function on \mathbb{R}^d such that condition (3.146) holds.

The scaling of such an interaction has been discussed in the see Case III of Section 2.3.2. Using results of Proposition 3.44 and 3.45, one can see that Assumption 3.21, 3.28 and 3.33 hold with constants identical to those found in Section 3.2.3.1. Therefore, we can show the same results as in Lemma 3.46. In this case, the Vlasov equation has the form

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \rho_t}{\partial t} = -m\rho_t - \chi^- \rho_t \left(\rho_t * a^-\right) + \chi^+ \left(\rho_t * a^+\right) \\ \frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = e^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} \left(r_t * a\right) - r_t \left(e^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} * a\right) \end{cases}$$
(3.170)

Then, by applying Theorem 3.41 and 3.43 as has been done in Theorem 3.47, we have the following existence and uniqueness result.

Theorem 3.52. Assume that conditions (3.146) and (3.144) hold. Then, given C, C' > 0 the system of Vlasov equations (3.170), with initial conditions $0 \le \rho_0 \in \overline{B}_C^{\infty}$ and $0 \le r_0 \in \overline{B}_{C'}^{\infty}$ has a unique solution $\rho_t \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$, $r_t \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ such that $0 \le \rho_t \in \tilde{B}_C^{\infty}$, $0 \le r_t \in \overline{B}_{C'}^{\infty}$ for any t > 0.

3.2.3.4 RW in BDLP model of environment: Case IV

Let us consider the interaction

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(2)}(\gamma, z) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi\left(x' - z\right), \qquad (3.171)$$

where $\lambda_0 \ge 0$ and ϕ are defined as in Section 3.2.3.2.

In this case, according to general results obtained in Section 2.3.2 (see Case IV), we can repeat straightforward the analysis done in Section 3.2.3.2 and so prove the same results as in Lemma 3.50. The Vlasov equations has now the form

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \rho_t}{\partial t} = -m\rho_t - \chi^- \rho_t \left(\rho_t * a^-\right) + \chi^+ \left(\rho_t * a^+\right) \\ \frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = \left(r_t * a\right) \left[\lambda_0 + \left(\rho_t * \phi\right)\right] - r_t \left[\lambda_0 \langle a \rangle + \left(\left(\rho_t * \phi\right) * a\right)\right] \end{cases}$$
(3.172)

Since Assumption 3.28 is still satisfied with (3.167), we can apply Theorem 3.41 and 3.43 and show the following existence and uniqueness result for the solution of the system of equations above.

Theorem 3.53. Assume that conditions (3.63) and (3.144) hold. Then, the system of Vlasov equations (3.172) with initial conditions $0 \le \rho_0 \in \overline{B}_C^{\infty}$ and $0 \le r_0 \in \overline{B}_{C'}^{\infty}$, C, C' > 0, has a unique solution $\rho_t \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and $r_t \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ such that $0 \le \rho_t \in \tilde{B}_C^{\infty}$, $0 \le r_t \in \overline{B}_{C'}^{\infty}$ for any t > 0.

Chapter 4

Random walks in a birth-and-death environment with aggregation

Let us consider the RW of a jumping particle moving in a birth-and-death environment. In this chapter we study the particular case of a non-equilibrium birth-and-death dynamics which has constant birth rate and density dependent decreasing death rate. This birth-anddeath model has been introduced in [45], where the authors constructed the corresponding evolution of states and derived the limiting mesoscopic dynamics that appear in the Vlasovtype scaling. We present some general conditions on the interaction λ_{int} to extend this analysis to the considered model of RWRE. These conditions can be satisfied by different types of interactions, it will be seen in detail in some concrete examples.

It is worth noting that for these models of RWRE cannot be included in the general class of those studied in the previous chapter. Indeed, in this case RE does not satisfy the conditions stated in Theorem 3.8. Our approach is based on an Ovsjannikov-type result, which yields to an evolution in a scale of Banach spaces and restricted to a finite time interval.

Let us also mention that the same technique can be applied to study RW in different REs which are not included in this chapter, for instance Glauber-type dynamics [46] and systems of hopping particles [10].

4.1 Evolution for correlation functions

In this section we study the statistical evolution of a tagged particle jumping in \mathbb{R}^d and interacting with other particles which evolve according to the birth-and-death dynamics described in [45].

Heuristically, the dynamics of the model is specified by the heuristic Markov generator

$$(LF)(\gamma, y) = (L_{RE}F)(\gamma, y) + (L_{RW}F)(\gamma, y), \qquad F \in K(B_{\rm bs}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d)), \qquad (4.1)$$

where the generator L_{RW} is defined by (2.10), whereas L_{RE} is given by (2.2) with

$$b(x,\gamma) \equiv b > 0, \tag{4.2}$$

for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \gamma, \ \gamma \in \Gamma$, and

$$d(x, \gamma \setminus x) = m \mathrm{e}^{-\sum_{x' \in \gamma \setminus x} V(x-x')}, \qquad m > 0,$$
(4.3)

for any $x \in \gamma, \gamma \in \Gamma$. We always assume that $V : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is an even non-negative function,

$$V(x) = V(-x) > 0, \qquad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(4.4)

which satisfies the following integrability condition

$$C'_V := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(1 - e^{-V(x)} \right) \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$
(4.5)

We also adhere to the convention that $d(x, \gamma) = 0$ if $\sum_{x' \in \gamma} V(x - x') = \infty$.

Remark 4.1. Let us note that the death rate in (4.3) is a decreasing function in γ . Namely given $\gamma' \subset \gamma$ then

$$d(x, \gamma \setminus x) \le d(x, \gamma' \setminus x).$$

In other words the probability to die for a particle of a configuration γ is lower if the particle lies in a dense area. This represent some kind of attraction interaction between the particles in the terminology of interacting particle systems theory, see e.g. [91]. Heuristically, for a large enough initial number of particle an aggregation effect is expected in the environment, see [45] for further details.

According to the results of Section 2.2, the evolution of correlation functions for the current model of RWRE is described by the hierarchy, $t \ge 0$,

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}k_t\left(\eta,y\right) = \left(\hat{L}_{RE}^*k_t\right)\left(\eta,y\right) + \left(\hat{L}_{RW}^*k_t\right)\left(\eta,y\right) \\ k_t\left(\eta,y\right)|_{t=0} = k_0 \end{cases},$$
(4.6)

where the operator \hat{L}_{RW}^* is defined by (2.68), whereas \hat{L}_{RE}^* is of the form (cf. Proposition 2.13 and [45])

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RE}^{*}k\right)(\eta, y) = -m\sum_{x\in\eta} e^{-\sum_{x'\in\eta\setminus x}V(x-x')} \int_{\Gamma_{0}} d\lambda\left(\xi\right)e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-V(x-\cdot)}-1,\xi\right)k\left(\eta\cup\xi,y\right) + b\sum_{x\in\eta}k\left(\eta\setminus x,y\right).$$
(4.7)

Given C > 0, we want to solve the initial value problem (4.6) in the Banach space \mathcal{K}_C^1 defined by (2.32). In this space we introduce the norm

$$\|k\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C}^{1}} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \, \|k\left(\cdot, y\right)\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C}},$$

where we defined

$$\left\|k\left(\cdot,y\right)\right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C}} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\eta\in\Gamma_{0}} C^{-\left|\eta\right|}\left|k\left(\eta,y\right)\right|.$$

Following [45] we study this evolution problem in the framework of scales of Banach spaces. Indeed, we can easily see that for any $0 < C \leq C'$

$$\mathcal{K}_C^1 \subset \mathcal{K}_{C'}^1, \qquad \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{K}_C^1} \ge \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^1}.$$

$$(4.8)$$

Hence, for any $C_0 \ge 0$ the family $\{\mathcal{K}_C^1 : 0 < C \le C_0\}$ is a scale of Banach spaces. Within this framework, we can use the following existence and uniqueness result. We refer to Appendix A for a detailed proof.

Theorem 4.2. Let $\{\mathbb{B}_s : 0 < s \leq s_0\}$ be a one parameter family of Banach spaces such that $\mathbb{B}_{s''} \subset \mathbb{B}_{s'}, \|\cdot\|_{s'} \leq \|\cdot\|_{s''}$, for any pair (s', s'') such that $s \leq s' < s'' \leq s_0$, where $\|\cdot\|_s$ denotes the norm of \mathbb{B}_s . Consider the initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}u(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = Au\left(t\right)\\ u\left(0\right) = u_0 \in \mathbb{B}_{s_0} \end{cases},\tag{4.9}$$

where, for each $s \in (0, s_0)$ fixed and for each pair (s', s'') such that $s \leq s' < s'' \leq s_0$, the mapping $A : \mathbb{B}_{s''} \to \mathbb{B}_{s'}$ is linear satisfying

$$\|Au\|_{s'} \le M_0 \|u\|_{s''} + \frac{M_1}{s'' - s'} \|u\|_{s''}, \qquad (4.10)$$

for some $M_0, M_1 \ge 0$ and for all $u \in \mathbb{B}_{s''}$. Here, M_0 and M_1 are two constant independent of s', s'' and u, however they might depend continuously on s and s_0 .

Then, for each $s \in (0, s_0)$ there is a constant $\delta = (eM_1)^{-1} > 0$ such that there exists a unique function $u : [0, \delta(s_0 - s)) \mapsto \mathbb{B}_s$ which is continuously differentiable on $(0, \delta(s_0 - s))$ in \mathbb{B}_s , $Au \in \mathbb{B}_s$ and solves the initial value problem (4.9) in the time interval $0 \le t < \delta(s_0 - s)$.

The application of this general theorem to hierarchy (4.6) is stated below. The proof of this result is given is Section 4.1.1

Theorem 4.3. Suppose that condition (4.5) holds. Assume that there exist $\alpha_0, \alpha_1 \ge 0$ such that for all $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z\right) \right| \left(\xi\right) \le \alpha_1 \left|\eta\right| + \alpha_0.$$
(4.11)

Then, given $C_0 > 0$ arbitrary and fixed, for each $C > C_0$ there exists a moment of time

$$T(C_0, C) := \frac{C_0(C - C_0)}{C^2 \left(m e^{CC'_V} + \frac{b}{C_0} + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1\right)} > 0,$$
(4.12)

such that the initial value problem (4.6), with $k_0 \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C_0}$, has a unique solution k_t in the space \mathcal{K}^1_C on the time interval $[0, T(C_0, C))$.

The theorem above ensures the existence and uniqueness of solutions to the evolution equation (4.6) on a finite time interval only. Moreover, starting with an initial condition from a certain Banach space $\mathcal{K}_{C_0}^1$ in general this solution evolves on a larger Banach space \mathcal{K}_C^1 with $C > C_0 > 0$.

4.1.1 Proof of Theorem 4.3

First we study the operator $\hat{L}^* := \hat{L}_{RE}^* + \hat{L}_{RW}^*$ given by (2.68) and (4.7) on the Banach space \mathcal{K}_C^1 . In general, the operator \hat{L}^* is unbounded on \mathcal{K}_C^1 , however it might be bounded as an operator between two different spaces of functions. From [45] one can easily deduce that \hat{L}_{RE}^* is a bounded operator from $\mathcal{K}_{C'}^1$ to \mathcal{K}_C^1 for any 0 < C' < C. In particular we can show the following result.

Proposition 4.4. Suppose that condition (4.5) holds. Let $C > C_0 > 0$ be arbitrary and fixed. Then for any C', C'' such that $C_0 \leq C' < C'' \leq C$, the operator \widehat{L}^*_{RE} is a linear operator acting from $\mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$ to $\mathcal{K}^1_{C''}$ such that

$$\left\| \widehat{L}_{RE}^{*} k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^{1}} \leq \frac{1}{C'' - C'} \frac{C}{e} \left(m e^{CC'_{V}} + \frac{b}{C_{0}} \right) \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^{1}},$$
(4.13)

for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$.

Proof of Proposition 4.4. The statement follows immediately from Proposition 3.2 in [45]. \Box

Next we can use condition (4.11) to prove a similar estimate for the operator \hat{L}_{RW}^* .

Proposition 4.5. Suppose that there exist $\alpha_0, \alpha_1 \geq 0$ such that for all $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$ condition (4.11) holds. Let $C > C_0 > 0$ be arbitrary and fixed. Then for any C', C'' such that $C_0 \leq C' < C'' \leq C$, the operator \widehat{L}^*_{RW} is a linear operator acting from $\mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$ to $\mathcal{K}^1_{C''}$ and for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$

$$\left\| \widehat{L}_{RW}^{*} k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^{1}} \le 2\langle a \rangle \left(\frac{1}{C'' - C'} \frac{C}{e} \alpha_{1} + \alpha_{0} \right) \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^{1}}.$$
(4.14)

Proof of Proposition 4.5. According to (2.68), for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$ we have

$$\left(C''\right)^{-|\eta|}\left|\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^{*}k\right)(\eta,y)\right| \leq$$

$$\leq (C'')^{-|\eta|} \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \left|k\left(\xi\cup\eta,z\right)\right| \left|K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot\cup\eta,z,y\right)\right|\left(\xi\right) + \\ \left(C''\right)^{-|\eta|} \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \left|k\left(\xi\cup\eta,y\right)\right| \left|K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot\cup\eta,y,z\right)\right|\left(\xi\right) \\ \leq \left(\frac{C'}{C''}\right)^{|\eta|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \left|k\left(\cdot,z\right)\right|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left|K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot\cup\eta,z,y\right)\right|\left(\xi\right) + \\ \left(\frac{C'}{C''}\right)^{|\eta|} \left|k\left(\cdot,y\right)\right|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left|K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot\cup\eta,y,z\right)\right|\left(\xi\right).$$

Then, by using assumption (4.11) one may estimate

$$(C'')^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^* k \right) (\eta, y) \right| \leq \\ \leq \left(\frac{C'}{C''} \right)^{|\eta|} (\alpha_1 |\eta| + \alpha_0) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y - z) \left[\|k(\cdot, z)\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} + \|k(\cdot, y)\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} \right].$$

Since C'/C'' < 1, we can use the elementary inequality

$$a^{t}t \le \left(\frac{1}{-e\ln a}\right), \qquad t \ge 0, \ a \in (0,1),$$
(4.15)

to obtain

$$(C'')^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^* k \right) (\eta, y) \right| \leq \\ \leq \left[\frac{\alpha_1}{\operatorname{e} \left(\ln C'' - \ln C' \right)} + \alpha_0 \right] \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y - z) \left[\|k(\cdot, z)\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} + \|k(\cdot, y)\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} \right].$$

The latter implies that

$$\left\|\widehat{L}_{RW}^*k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^1} \le 2\langle a \rangle \left\|k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^1} \left[\frac{\alpha_1}{\operatorname{e}\left(\ln C'' - \ln C'\right)} + \alpha_0\right].$$

On the other hand, there exists a constant $c \in [C', C''] \subset [C_0, C]$ such that

$$\ln C'' - \ln C' = \frac{1}{c} \left(C'' - C' \right) \ge \frac{1}{C} \left(C'' - C' \right) > 0, \tag{4.16}$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

Let us note that by combining the results of Proposition 4.4 and 4.5, for any C', C'' such that $C_0 \leq C' < C'' \leq C$ and $k \in \mathcal{K}_{C'}^1$ we obtain the following bound for the operator \hat{L}^*

$$\left\| \widehat{L}^* k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^1_{C''}} \le 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_0 \, \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}^1_{C'}} + \frac{1}{C'' - C'} \frac{C}{\mathrm{e}} \left[\left(m \mathrm{e}^{CC'_V} + \frac{b}{C_0} \right) + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1 \right] \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}^1_{C'}} \,. \tag{4.17}$$

Having established of this preliminary result, we can now proceed to prove Theorem 4.3.

Proof of Theorem 4.3. Let us apply Theorem 4.2 to the scale of Banach spaces $\{\mathbb{B}_s : 0 \le s \le s_0\}$ with

$$\mathbb{B}_s := \mathcal{K}_{1/s}^1 \tag{4.18}$$

and $s_0 := 1/C_0$. For s = 1/C and

$$s'' := \frac{1}{C''} < \frac{1}{C'} =: s',$$

one can rewrite (4.17) in the following way

$$\begin{split} \left\| \widehat{L}^{*} k \right\|_{\mathbb{B}_{s''}} &\leq 2 \langle a \rangle \alpha_{0} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathbb{B}_{s'}} + \frac{s' s''}{s' - s''} \frac{1}{se} \left[me^{\frac{C'_{V}}{s}} + bs_{0} + 2 \langle a \rangle \alpha_{1} \right] \left\| k \right\|_{\mathbb{B}_{s'}} \\ &\leq 2 \langle a \rangle \alpha_{0} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathbb{B}_{s'}} + \frac{1}{s' - s''} \frac{s_{0}^{2}}{se} \left[me^{\frac{C'_{V}}{s}} + bs_{0} + 2 \langle a \rangle \alpha_{1} \right] \left\| k \right\|_{\mathbb{B}_{s'}} \\ &\leq M_{0} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathbb{B}_{s'}} + \frac{M_{1} \left(s, s_{0} \right)}{s' - s''} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathbb{B}_{s'}}, \end{split}$$

$$(4.19)$$

where

$$M_0 = 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_0 \tag{4.20}$$

and

$$M_{1} := M_{1}(s, s_{0}) = \frac{s_{0}^{2}}{se} \left[m e^{\frac{C_{V}'}{s}} + bs_{0} + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_{1} \right].$$
(4.21)

Then, directly applying Theorem 4.2, we obtain an evolution

$$\mathcal{K}_{C_0}^1 := \mathbb{B}_{s_0} \in k_0 \longmapsto k_t \in \mathbb{B}_s := \mathcal{K}_C^1, \tag{4.22}$$

for any time $t \ge 0$ less than

$$T(C_0, C) := \frac{s_0 - s}{eM_1(s, s_0)} = \left[\frac{s_0^2}{s} \left(me^{\frac{C'_V}{s}} + bs_0 + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1\right)\right]^{-1}(s_0 - s)$$
$$= \frac{C_0 \left(C - C_0\right)}{C^2 \left(me^{CC'_V} + \frac{b}{C_0} + 2\langle a \rangle \alpha_1\right)},$$
(4.23)

and the proof is complete.

4.1.2 Examples

In this section we apply the general result stated in Theorem 4.3 to each of the interactions I-IV introduced in Section 2.1. For this purpose it is enough to show that these interactions satisfy condition (4.11).

4.1.2.1 RW in an aggregation model of environment: Case I and III

Let us consider the interactions defined in Section 3.1.3.1 given by

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(1)}(\gamma, y) = e^{-\sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - y)}, \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{4.24}$$

and

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(3)}(\gamma, z) = e^{-\sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - z)}, \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, z \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{4.25}$$

where $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative even function such that

$$C'_{\phi} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \left(1 - \mathrm{e}^{-\phi(x)} \right) < \infty.$$
(4.26)

From Proposition 3.13 we know that both interactions (4.24) and (4.25) satisfy condition (4.11) with

$$\alpha_0 = e^{CC'_{\phi}}$$
 and $\alpha_1 \equiv 0.$ (4.27)

Therefore, we can apply Theorem 4.3 to construct the evolution of correlation functions.

Corollary 4.6. Let us consider the operator \widehat{L}_{RE}^* defined by (4.7). Let \widehat{L}_{RW}^* be an operator of the form (2.70) or (2.72) and such that condition (4.26) holds. Then, given a $C_0 > 0$ arbitrary and fixed, for each $C > C_0$ the evolution equation (4.6) with initial condition $k_0 \in \mathcal{K}_{C_0}^1$ has a unique solution $k_t \in \mathcal{K}_C^1$ on the time interval $[0, T(C, C_0))$ with

$$T(C, C_0) = \frac{C_0 (C - C_0)}{C^2 \left(m e^{CC'_V} + \frac{b}{C_0}\right)}.$$
(4.28)

4.1.2.2 RW in an aggregation model of environment: Case II and IV

Let us consider a RW whose interaction with RE is given by

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(2)}(\gamma, y) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi\left(x' - y\right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(4.29)

As in Section 3.1.3.2 we assume that $\lambda_0 \geq 0$ and $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative even function such that the following two conditions hold

$$C_{1}^{\phi} := \|\phi\|_{1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \,\phi(x) < \infty, \tag{4.30}$$

$$C_{\infty}^{\phi} := \|\phi\|_{\infty} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \phi(x) < \infty.$$
(4.31)

Using the result of Proposition 3.15, we see that for interaction (4.29) condition (4.11) holds with

$$\alpha_0 = \lambda_0 + CC_1^{\phi}$$
 and $\alpha_1 = C_{\infty}^{\phi}$. (4.32)

Then, according to Theorem 4.3 we have the following existence and uniqueness result.

Corollary 4.7. Let us assume that conditions (4.30) and (4.31) hold. Given $C_0 > 0$, for each $C > C_0$ hierarchy (4.6) specified by (4.7) and (2.71) with initial condition $k_0 \in \mathcal{K}_{C_0}^1$ has a unique solution $k_t \in \mathcal{K}_C^1$ on the time interval $0 \le t < T(C, C_0)$, where

$$T(C, C_0) = \frac{C_0 (C - C_0)}{C^2 \left(m e^{CC'_V} + \frac{b}{C_0} + 2\langle a \rangle C_\infty^\phi \right)}.$$
(4.33)

Clearly the same result can be also proved for the interaction

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(4)}(\gamma, z) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi\left(x' - z\right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(4.34)

Remark 4.8. Let us note that, compared with the semigroup approach discussed in Chapter 3, the Ovsjannikov's method requires weaker conditions on the interaction λ_{int} . Indeed in this case we do not have any constraint on the parameters α_0 and α_1 .

4.2 Mesoscopic evolution: Vlasov-type scaling

In this section we want to study the mesoscopic evolution of RWs in an aggregation model of RE.

The mesoscopic limit of the considered stochastic dynamics can be obtained by applying the general scheme of the Vlasov-type scaling, described in Section 2.3, to the hierarchy for correlation functions (4.6). A detailed discussion of the scaling for the generator (2.2) with (4.2)-(4.3) can be found in [45]; throughout the next sections we will intensively use the results of this paper.

Following the general construction, for any $\varepsilon > 0$ we consider a renormalized hierarchy given by

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}k_{t,\varepsilon}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \left(L_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\bigtriangleup} + L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\bigtriangleup}\right)k_{t,\varepsilon}\\ k_{t,\varepsilon}|_{t=0} = k_{0,\varepsilon} \end{cases},\tag{4.35}$$

where $L_{RW,\varepsilon,ren}^{\Delta}$ is defined as in (2.101) and (cf. [45, Proposition 4.1])

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta}k\right)(\eta,y) = -m\sum_{x\in\eta}\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\sum_{x'\in\eta\setminus x}V(x-x')}\int_{\Gamma_0}\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)e_\lambda\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon V(x-\cdot)}-1}{\varepsilon},\xi\right)k\left(\eta\cup\xi,y\right) + \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\sum_{x'\in\eta\setminus x}V(x-x')}}{\varepsilon}\int_{\Gamma_0}\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)e_\lambda\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon V(x-\cdot)}-1}{\varepsilon},\xi\right)k\left(\eta\cup\xi,y\right) + \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\sum_{x'\in\eta\setminus x}V(x-x')}}{\varepsilon}\int_{\Gamma_0}\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)e_\lambda\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\eta\cup\xi,y\right) + \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\sum_{x'\in\eta\setminus x}V(x-x')}}{\varepsilon}\int_{\Gamma_0}\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)e_\lambda\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\eta\cup\xi,y\right) + \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\sum_{x'\in\eta\setminus x}V(x-x')}}{\varepsilon}\int_{\Gamma_0}\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)e_\lambda\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\eta\cup\xi,y\right) + \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\sum_{x'\in\eta\setminus x}V(x-x')}}{\varepsilon}\int_{\Gamma_0}\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)e_\lambda\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\eta\cup\xi,y\right) + \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\sum_{x'\in\eta\setminus x}V(x-x')}}{\varepsilon}\int_{\Gamma_0}\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)e_\lambda\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-\cdot)}{\varepsilon}-1\right)k\left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon}V(x-$$

$$b\sum_{x\in\eta}k\left(\eta\setminus x,y\right).\tag{4.36}$$

Then, if we assume that the condition (2.111) holds in the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$ we obtain the Vlasov hierarchy

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}k_{t,V}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \left(L_{RE,V}^{\bigtriangleup} + L_{RW,V}^{\bigtriangleup}\right)k_{t,V}\\ k_{t,V}\big|_{t=0} = k_{0,V} \end{cases},\tag{4.37}$$

where $L_{RW,V}^{\triangle}$ is given by (2.113) and (cf. [45])

$$\left(L_{RE,V}^{\Delta} k \right)(\eta, y) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(\widehat{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta} k \right)(\eta, y)$$

= $-m \sum_{x \in \eta} \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) e_\lambda \left(-V \left(x - \cdot \right), \xi \right) k \left(\eta \cup \xi, y \right) + b \sum_{x \in \eta} k \left(\eta \setminus x, y \right).$ (4.38)

In the remaining part of this chapter we study the Vlasov-type scaling in the Banach space \mathcal{K}_{C}^{1} . In Section 4.2.1 we prove the convergence of the renormalized evolution to the solution of the limiting hierarchy (4.37). Finally, in Section 4.2.2 we present the explicit form of the Vlasov equations and study the properties of their solutions.

4.2.1 Convergence of the Vlasov-type scaling

We proceed by studying the convergence of the Vlasov-type scaling for the considered statistical evolution in the Banach space \mathcal{K}_C^1 . We follow the same strategy realized in [45].

First, we use Theorem 4.2 in the scale of Banach space $\{\mathcal{K}_C^1 : 0 < C \leq C_0\}, C_0 > 0$, to find a solution to the renormalized and to the limiting evolution equations, (4.35) and (4.37), respectively. It is important that these two solutions are defined on the same time interval and with values in the same Banach space. Indeed, in this case it is natural to study under which conditions we have a convergence. The latter will be done by using a general result presented in [61], which we formulate below for the reader's convenience.

Theorem 4.9. Let the family of Banach spaces $\{\mathbb{B}_s : 0 < s \leq s_0\}$ be such as in Theorem 4.2. For any $\varepsilon > 0$ consider the family of initial value problems

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u_{\varepsilon}}{\mathrm{d}t} = A_{\varepsilon}u_{\varepsilon}\left(t\right), \qquad u_{\varepsilon}\left(0\right) = u_{\varepsilon},\tag{4.39}$$

where, for each $s \in (0, s_0)$ fixed and for each pair (s', s'') such that $s \leq s' < s'' \leq s_0$, $A_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{B}_{s''} \mapsto \mathbb{B}_{s'}$ is a linear mapping and there is a constant M > 0 such that for all $u \in \mathbb{B}_{s''}$

$$\|A_{\varepsilon}u\|_{s'} \le \frac{M}{s'' - s'} \|u\|_{s''}.$$
(4.40)

Here M is independent of ε , s', s'' and u, however, it might depend continuously on s and s_0 . In addition, assume that for each $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a N_{ε} and a $p \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for each pair (s', s'') with $s \leq s' < s'' \leq s_0$ and for all $u \in \mathbb{B}_{s''}$

$$\|A_{\varepsilon}u - A_{0}u\|_{s'} \le \sum_{k=1}^{p} \frac{N_{\varepsilon}}{(s'' - s')^{k}} \|u\|_{s''}, \qquad (4.41)$$

with

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} N_{\varepsilon} = 0. \tag{4.42}$$

Then, if

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\| u_{\varepsilon}(0) - u_0(0) \right\|_{s_0} = 0, \tag{4.43}$$

for each $s \in (0, s_0)$ there is a constant $\delta > 0$, depending on M, such that the family of initial value problems (4.39) has a unique solution $u_{\varepsilon} : [0, \delta(s_0 - s)) \mapsto \mathbb{B}_s$ for each $\varepsilon > 0$. Moreover, for all $t \in [0, \delta(s_0 - s))$ we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\| u_{\varepsilon}(t) - u_0(t) \right\|_s = 0.$$
(4.44)

Following the scheme outlined above, let us consider the hierarchies (4.35) and (4.37). As in Theorem 4.3, in order to apply the Ovsjannikov's method, see Theorem 4.2, to these two initial value problems, we should impose some conditions on the rescaled interaction λ_{ε} and on the function A_V defined in (2.111).

Assumption 4.10. Suppose that for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist $\tilde{\alpha}_0, \tilde{\alpha}'_0 > 0$ and $\tilde{\alpha}_1 \ge 0$ such that for all $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left| K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z\right) \right| \left(\xi\right) \le \tilde{\alpha}_0 + \tilde{\alpha}_1 \left|\eta\right|, \tag{4.45}$$

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) |A_V\left(\xi, y, z\right)| \le \tilde{\alpha}_0'. \tag{4.46}$$

Without loss of generality we can assume that $\tilde{\alpha}'_0 = \tilde{\alpha}_0$.

Under the assumption above we can prove the following result.

Lemma 4.11. Let V be a non-negative even function such that

$$C_1^V := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \ V(x) < \infty. \tag{4.47}$$

Suppose that conditions (4.45) and (4.46) are satisfied. Then, given $C_0 > 0$ arbitrary and fixed, for any $C > C_0$ there exists a moment of time

$$T_1(C_0, C) := \frac{C_0(C - C_0)}{C^2 \left(m e^{CC_1^V} + \frac{b}{C_0} + 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_1\right)},$$
(4.48)

such that for any $\varepsilon > 0$ the evolution equations (4.35) and (4.37) with initial conditions $\{k_{0,\varepsilon}, k_{0,V}\} \subset \mathcal{K}_{C_0}^1$, have unique solutions $k_{t,\varepsilon}$ and $k_{t,V}$, respectively, in the space \mathcal{K}_C^1 on the time interval $0 \leq t < T(C_0, C_1)$.

Proof of Lemma 4.11. Let us first analyze the generators that appear in (4.35) and (4.37). From [45, Proposition 4.2] we have the following result for the operators $L_{RE,\varepsilon,ren}^{\Delta}$ and $L_{RE,V}^{\Delta}$.

Proposition 4.12. Suppose that conditions (4.47) holds. Let $C > C_0 > 0$ arbitrary and fixed. Then for any C', C'' such that $C_0 \leq C' < C'' \leq C$, and for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$ one has

$$\left\| L_{RE,\#}^{\Delta} k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^{1}} \leq \frac{1}{C'' - C'} \frac{C}{e} \left(m e^{CC_{1}^{V}} + \frac{b}{C_{0}} \right) \| k \|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^{1}},$$
(4.49)

where $\# = "\varepsilon, \operatorname{ren}"$ or "V".

Next, under hypotheses (4.45) and (4.46), we can show the following two estimates for the operators $L^{\triangle}_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$ and $L^{\triangle}_{RW,V}$, respectively.

Proposition 4.13. Let us assume that condition (4.45) holds. Then, given C > 0 arbitrary and fixed, for any C', C'' such that $0 < C' < C'' \leq C$, and for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$ the following estimate holds

$$\left\|L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta}k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^{1}} \leq 2\langle a\rangle \left(\frac{1}{C''-C'}\frac{C}{\mathrm{e}}\tilde{\alpha}_{1}+\tilde{\alpha}_{0}\right)\|k\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^{1}}, \qquad \varepsilon > 0.$$
(4.50)

Proof of Proposition 4.13. We can proceed as in the proof of Proposition 4.5 using condition (4.45) instead of (4.11). This is equivalent to replace (α_0, α_1) with $(\tilde{\alpha}_0, \tilde{\alpha}_1)$ in (4.14).

Proposition 4.14. Suppose that (4.46) holds. Let C > 0 be arbitrary and fixed. Then, for any C', C'' such that $0 < C' < C'' \le C$, and for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$ we have

$$\left\| L_{RW,V}^{\Delta} k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C''}} \le 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{0} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C'}}.$$
(4.51)

Proof of Proposition 4.14. We can follow the proof of Proposition 4.5 setting $\alpha_0 = \tilde{\alpha}_0$ and $\tilde{\alpha}_1 \equiv 0$.

Let us come back to the proof of Lemma 4.11. According to Proposition 4.13 and 4.14, for any C', C'' such that $0 < C_0 < C' < C'' \leq C$ and $k \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$ one has

$$\left\| L_{RW,\#}^{\Delta} k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C''}} \leq 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{0} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C'}} + \frac{1}{C'' - C'} \frac{C}{e} 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{1} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C'}},$$
(4.52)

where $\# = "\varepsilon$, ren" or "V". Then, by combining this estimate with that in Proposition 4.12 we obtain

$$\left\| L^{\Delta}_{\#} k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C''}} \le 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{0} \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C'}} + \frac{1}{C'' - C'} \frac{C}{\mathrm{e}} \left[\left(m \mathrm{e}^{CC^{V}_{1}} + \frac{b}{C_{0}} \right) + 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{1} \right] \left\| k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C'}}, \quad (4.53)$$

for any $k \in \mathcal{K}_{C'}^1$ and with $\# = "\varepsilon$, ren" or "V". Finally, an application of Theorem 4.2 similar to the one in the proof of Theorem 4.3 leads us to desired result.

Next let us study the convergence of the solutions of (4.35) to the solution of (4.37) on the time interval $[0, T_1(C_0, C_1))$ as ε goes to zero. Following [45] we assume that

$$\overline{V} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} V(x) < \infty.$$
(4.54)

In addition we need to impose a stronger condition than (2.111).

Assumption 4.15. Assume that the limits

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right) (\xi) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot, y, z \right) \right) (\xi) = A_V \left(\xi, y, z \right), \quad (4.55)$$

hold point-wise in $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ as well as in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, C^{|\xi|}\lambda(\xi))$, for all $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

In particular, given $\varepsilon > 0$, we demand that there exist $\tilde{\sigma}_0, \tilde{\sigma}_1 \ge 0$ such that for all $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\xi) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right)(\xi) - A_V \left(\xi, y, z \right) \right| \le \varepsilon \left(\sigma_0 + \sigma_1 |\eta| \right).$$
(4.56)

Remark 4.16. We can always write

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot\cup\eta,y,z\right)\right)(\xi) := A_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi,y,z\right) + \tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi,\eta,y,z\right),\tag{4.57}$$

where

$$A_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi, y, z\right) := \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot, y, z\right)\right)\left(\xi\right) \tag{4.58}$$

and

$$\tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi,\eta,y,z\right) := \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot\cup\eta,y,z\right)\right)\left(\xi\right) - A_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi,y,z\right).$$

$$(4.59)$$

Then assumption (4.56) is satisfied if

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\xi) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} A_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi, y, z\right) - A_V\left(\xi, y, z\right) \right| \le \varepsilon \sigma_0, \tag{4.60}$$

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left|\varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi, \eta, y, z\right)\right| \le \varepsilon \sigma_1 |\eta|, \tag{4.61}$$

for all $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Note that in concrete models conditions (4.60) and (4.61) are, in general, easier to verify than (4.56).

In the following theorem we show the main result of this section about the convergence of the Vlasov-type scaling.

Theorem 4.17. Let $T_1(C_0, C)$ be given by (4.48) and V be a even non-negative function on \mathbb{R}^d such that (4.47) and (4.54) hold. Suppose that conditions (4.45)-(4.46) as well as (4.56) are satisfied. Then, given $C > C_0 > 0$ fixed, the evolution equations (4.35) and (4.37) with initial conditions $\{k_{0,\varepsilon}, k_{0,V}\}_{\varepsilon>0} \subset \mathcal{K}^1_{C_0}$ have unique solutions, $k_{t,\varepsilon}$ and $k_{t,V}$, respectively, in \mathcal{K}^1_C on the time interval $[0, T_1(C_0, C))$. If, additionally, we assume that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|k_{0,\varepsilon} - k_{0,V}\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C_{0}}} = 0, \qquad (4.62)$$

then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|k_{t,\varepsilon} - k_{t,V}\|_{\mathcal{K}^1_C} = 0.$$
(4.63)

on the time interval $0 \le t < T_1(C_0, C)$.

Proof of Theorem 4.17. The existence of solutions to (4.35) and (4.37) in \mathcal{K}_C^1 has been already proved in Lemma 4.11. In order to show the convergence in (4.63), we apply Theorem 4.9 to (4.35). Below we check that the conditions of this general theorem, see (4.40)-(4.42), are fulfilled.

We already know that condition (4.40) is satisfied. Indeed, from the proof of Lemma 4.11 we have (cf. (4.53))

$$\left\| L^{\triangle}_{\#} k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C''}} \leq \frac{1}{C'' - C'} \frac{C}{\mathrm{e}} \left[m \mathrm{e}^{CC^{V}_{1}} + \frac{b}{C_{0}} + 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_{1} + c(C, C_{0}) \right] \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C'}}, \tag{4.64}$$

for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$, where $\# = "\varepsilon$, ren" or "V" and

$$c(C, C_0) := 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 \frac{\mathrm{e}}{C} \left(C - C_0 \right).$$
(4.65)

On the other hand, conditions (4.41) and (4.42) are a direct consequence of the following proposition. Its proof is given at the end of this section.

Proposition 4.18. Assume that hypotheses of Theorem 4.17 are satisfied. Given $C > C_0 > 0$ fixed, let us consider any C', C'' such that $C_0 \leq C' < C'' \leq C$. Then for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$ the following estimate holds

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| L_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta} k - L_{V}^{\Delta} k \right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^{1}} &\leq \varepsilon \left(\frac{\tilde{M}_{1}}{C'' - C'} + \frac{\tilde{M}_{2}}{\left(C'' - C'\right)^{2}} \right) \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^{1}} + \\ & 2\varepsilon \langle a \rangle \left[\tilde{\sigma}_{0} + \frac{C\tilde{\sigma}_{1}}{\mathrm{e}\left(C'' - C'\right)} \right] \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^{1}}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.66)$$

with

$$\tilde{M}_1 = \frac{mC_1^V C^2}{2\mathrm{e}} \overline{V} \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^V}, \qquad \tilde{M}_2 = \frac{4mC^2}{\mathrm{e}^2} \overline{V} \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^V}.$$
(4.67)

According to the result stated above, for any $C_0 \leq C' < C'' \leq C$ and all $\varepsilon > 0$, for any $k \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$ we have

$$\left\|L_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta}k - L_{V}^{\Delta}k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^{1}} \leq \varepsilon \frac{\|k\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^{1}}}{(C'' - C')} \left[\tilde{M}_{1} + \frac{2C}{\mathrm{e}}\langle a\rangle\tilde{\sigma}_{1} + \tilde{c}\left(C, C_{0}\right)\right] + \varepsilon \frac{\|k\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^{1}}}{\left(C'' - C'\right)^{2}}\tilde{M}_{2}, \quad (4.68)$$

where

$$\tilde{c}(C, C_0) := 2\langle a \rangle \tilde{\sigma}_0 \left(C - C_0 \right).$$
(4.69)

Hence, by (4.64) and (4.68) we can apply Theorem 4.9 for p = 2 and

$$N_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon \max\left\{\tilde{M}_1 + \frac{2C}{e} \langle a \rangle \tilde{\sigma}_1 + \tilde{c} \left(C, C_0\right), \tilde{M}_2\right\}.$$
(4.70)

This concludes the proof of Theorem 4.17.

Proof of Proposition 4.18. For any $k \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C'}$ let us estimate

$$\left\|L_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\bigtriangleup}k - L_{V}^{\bigtriangleup}k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^{1}} \leq \left\|L_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\bigtriangleup}k - L_{RE,V}^{\bigtriangleup}k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^{1}} + \left\|L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\bigtriangleup}k - L_{RW,V}^{\bigtriangleup}k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^{1}}.$$
 (4.71)

By using [45, Proposition 4.6], for all $\varepsilon > 0$ and for any C', C'' such that $C_0 \leq C' < C'' \leq C$ one can show

$$\left\|L_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\triangle}k - L_{RE,V}^{\triangle}k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^{1}} \le \varepsilon \left(\frac{\tilde{M}_{1}}{C'' - C'} + \frac{\tilde{M}_{2}}{\left(C'' - C'\right)^{2}}\right) \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^{1}}, \quad (4.72)$$

where the constants M_1 and M_2 are given by (4.67).

Next let us estimate the second term in the r.h.s. of (4.71). By (2.101) and (2.113) we have

$$\begin{split} (C'')^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L^{\triangle}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} k \right) (\eta, y) - \left(L^{\triangle}_{RW,V} k \right) (\eta, y) \right| &\leq \\ &\leq (C'')^{-|\eta|} \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left| k \left(\xi \cup \eta, z \right) \right| \times \\ & \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, z, y \right) \right) \left(\xi \right) - A_V \left(\xi, z, y \right) \right| + \\ & \left(C'' \right)^{-|\eta|} \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left| k \left(\xi \cup \eta, y \right) \right| \times \\ & \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right) \left(\xi \right) - A_V \left(\xi, y, z \right) \right|. \end{split}$$

Then, since $k \in \mathcal{K}_{C'}^1$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} (C'')^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L^{\triangle}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} k \right) (\eta, y) - \left(L^{\triangle}_{RW,V} k \right) (\eta, y) \right| &\leq \\ &\leq \left(\frac{C'}{C''} \right)^{|\eta|} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \|k\left(\cdot, z \right)\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} \times \\ & \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, z, y \right) \right) \left(\xi \right) - A_V \left(\xi, z, y \right) \right| + \\ & \left(\frac{C'}{C''} \right)^{|\eta|} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \|k\left(\cdot, y \right)\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} \times \\ & \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y, z \right) \right) \left(\xi \right) - A_V \left(\xi, y, z \right) \right|. \end{split}$$

By using condition (4.56) in Assumption 4.15, one may estimate

$$\begin{split} (C'')^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L^{\Delta}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} k \right) (\eta, y) - \left(L^{\Delta}_{RW,V} k \right) (\eta, y) \right| &\leq \\ &\leq \left(\frac{C'}{C''} \right)^{|\eta|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y-z) \, \|k \left(\cdot, z \right)\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} \varepsilon \left(\sigma_0 + \sigma_1 |\eta| \right) + \\ & \left(\frac{C'}{C''} \right)^{|\eta|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y-z) \, \|k \left(\cdot, y \right)\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} \varepsilon \left(\sigma_0 + \sigma_1 |\eta| \right) \\ &\leq \varepsilon \left(\frac{C'}{C''} \right)^{|\eta|} \left(\sigma_0 + \sigma_1 |\eta| \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y-z) \left[\|k \left(\cdot, z \right)\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} + \|k \left(\cdot, y \right)\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} \right]. \end{split}$$

Now following the proof of Proposition 4.5 we can use inequality (4.15) to find

$$\begin{split} (C'')^{-|\eta|} \left| \left(L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta} k \right)(\eta, y) - \left(L_{RW,V}^{\Delta} k \right)(\eta, y) \right| &\leq \\ &\leq \varepsilon \left[\sigma_0 + \frac{\sigma_1}{\mathrm{e}\left(\ln C'' - \ln C' \right)} \right] \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left[\| k\left(\cdot, z \right) \|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} + \| k\left(\cdot, y \right) \|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}} \right]. \end{split}$$

As a result, we have

$$\left\|L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta}k - L_{RW,V}^{\Delta}k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C''}^{1}} \leq 2\varepsilon \langle a \rangle \left[\sigma_{0} + \frac{\sigma_{1}}{\mathrm{e}\left(\ln C'' - \ln C'\right)}\right] \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C'}^{1}}.$$

But there exists a constant $c \in [C', C''] \subset [C_0, C]$ such that

$$0 < \ln C'' - \ln C' = \frac{1}{c} \left(C'' - C' \right) \ge \frac{1}{C} \left(C'' - C' \right), \tag{4.73}$$

therefore

$$\left\|L_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\Delta}k - L_{RW,V}^{\Delta}k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C''}} \le 2\varepsilon \langle a \rangle \left\|k\right\|_{\mathcal{K}^{1}_{C'}} \left[\sigma_{0} + \frac{C\sigma_{1}}{\mathrm{e}\left(C'' - C'\right)}\right],\tag{4.74}$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

4.2.2 Vlasov equations

This section is devoted to the study of Vlasov equations for the considered model of RWRE.

First, let us consider the Vlasov hierarchy (4.37). We want to show that this limiting evolution has the chaos preservation property, see (2.85)-(2.86), and, then, we derive the corresponding kinetic equations.

Lemma 4.19. Given $C > C_0 > 0$, let us consider functions $\rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{C_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Suppose that conditions (4.46) and (4.47) hold. Then, the initial value problem (4.37) with initial condition $k_0 = e_{\lambda}(\rho_0, \cdot)r_0 \in \mathcal{K}_{C_0}^1$ has a unique solution

$$k_{t,V} = e_{\lambda}(\rho_t, \cdot)r_t \in \mathcal{K}_C^1, \tag{4.75}$$

provided that $\rho_t \in \overline{B}_C^{\infty}$ and $r_t \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ are solutions to the Vlasov equations

$$\frac{\partial \rho_t \left(x \right)}{\partial t} = -m\rho_t \left(x \right) e^{-(\rho_t * V)(x)} + b, \qquad (4.76a)$$

$$\frac{\partial r_t(y)}{\partial t} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z\right) \left[r_t(z) \,\overline{\lambda}_t(z, y) - r_t(y) \,\overline{\lambda}_t(y, z) \right], \tag{4.76b}$$

with initial conditions $\rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0$ and $r_t|_{t=0} = r_0$, on the time interval $[0, T_1)$, where $T_1 := T_1(C, C_0)$ is given by (4.48) and $\overline{\lambda}_t$ is defined as in (2.126).

Proof. By combining the results of Proposition 2.23 and Lemma 2.25.(i), we can easily show that $k_{t,V} = e_{\lambda}(\rho_t, \cdot)r_t$ is a solution to the initial value problem (4.37) with initial conditions $k_0 = e_{\lambda}(\rho_0, \cdot)r_0$ provided that ρ_t and r_t are solutions to (4.76a)-(4.76b). The uniqueness of solution (4.75) follows directly from the result of Lemma 4.11. Indeed, we can note that for $\rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{C_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ the function $k_0 = e_{\lambda}(\rho_0, \cdot)r_0$ belongs to $\mathcal{K}_{C_0}^1$.

In the remainder of this section we want to study the question about existence and uniqueness of solutions to the Vlasov equations (4.76a)-(4.76b). We will be interested in non-negative solutions (ρ_t, r_t) on \mathbb{R}_+ with

$$\rho \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; C_b(\mathbb{R}^d)), \qquad r \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)),$$

where let us recall that, given $X = C_b(\mathbb{R}^d), L_1(\mathbb{R}^d),$

$$\mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+;X) := C^1((0,+\infty) \to X) \cap C([0,+\infty) \to X).$$

The kinetic equation (4.76a) has been studied in [45]. Below we briefly recall some results about properties of its solutions. Consider the stationary homogeneous equation for (4.76a), namely

$$b = m\rho e^{-C_1^{\nu}\rho}.$$
 (4.77)

It is easy to check that, under condition

$$b < \frac{m}{C_1^V \mathbf{e}},\tag{4.78}$$

equation (4.77) has two solutions, denoted by κ_1 and κ_2 , such that $0 < \kappa_1 < (1/C_1^V) < \kappa_2$. Then we can formulate the following result for solutions to (4.76a). For more details we refer the reader to [45].

Theorem 4.20. Assume that (4.47) holds. Suppose that condition (4.78) is satisfied and let κ_1 and κ_2 be constant solutions to (4.77). Then, given $0 \leq \rho_0 \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with $\|\rho_0\|_{\infty} \leq \kappa_2$, equation (4.76a) has a unique non-negative solution $0 \leq \rho \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; C_b(\mathbb{R}^d))$ with $\|\rho_t\|_{\infty} \leq \kappa_2$, for all $t \geq 0$. Moreover, for an arbitrary $c \in [\kappa_1, \kappa_2]$, the condition $\kappa_1 \leq \rho_0(x) \leq c, x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, yields $\kappa_1 \leq \rho_0(x) \leq c, x \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Next let us consider the kinetic equation (4.76b). As in Section 3.2.2, for the moment, we assume that $\rho_t \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $t \ge 0$, is a non-negative bounded function. Then, we can show the following existence and uniqueness result.

Lemma 4.21. Let $r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $r_0(y) \ge 0$ for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Given C > 0, suppose that $\rho \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ with $0 \le \rho_t(x) \le C$ for a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $t \ge 0$. Then, if we assume that (3.125) and (4.46) hold, the evolution equation (4.76b) has a unique non-negative solution $0 \le r \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^1(\mathbb{R}^d))$. Moreover, given C' > 0

(i) if $||r_0||_1 \leq C'$ then $||r_t||_1 \leq C'$ for any t > 0;

(ii) if
$$r_0(x) \leq C'$$
, a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, then $r_t(x) \leq C'$, a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, for any $t > 0$.

Proof. The proof of the statement will be divided in 2 steps. First we show that there exists a unique solution $r \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^1(\mathbb{R}^d))$ to (4.76b). Afterwards, we prove that, for non-negative initial conditions, this solution is non-negative and satisfies the bounds (i) and (ii). To perform this task we follow the same strategy as in the proof of Theorem 3.41.

Step.1. Existence and uniqueness of solutions. As we have already seen in the proof of Theorem 3.41, the evolution equation (4.76b) can be written as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}r_t(y) = \left(\overline{L}_{RW}^*(t)\right)r_t(y)\\ r_t(y)|_{t=0} = r_0(y) \end{cases},$$
(4.79)

where $\overline{L}_{RW}^*(t)$ is a linear operator defined by (3.127). We can easily show that this operator is bounded in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ on \mathbb{R}_+ . Indeed for any $r \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \left| \left(\overline{L}_{RW}^*(t)r \right)(y) \right| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_\lambda\left(\rho_t,\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \left| A_V\left(\xi,z,y\right) \right| \left| r\left(z\right) \right| + \\ &\int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_\lambda\left(\rho_t,\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \left| A_V\left(\xi,y,z\right) \right| \left| r\left(y\right) \right|. \end{split}$$

By hypothesis we know that $0 \leq \rho_t \in \overline{B}_C^{\infty}$, then we can use (4.46) to estimate

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \left| \left(\overline{L}_{RW}^*(t)r \right)(y) \right| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left| r \left(z \right) \right| \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) \left| A_V \left(\xi, z, y \right) \right| + \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left| r \left(y \right) \right| \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) \left| A_V \left(\xi, y, z \right) \right| \\ &\leq \tilde{\alpha}_0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left| r \left(z \right) \right| + \tilde{\alpha}_0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left| r \left(y \right) \right| \\ &\leq 2 \tilde{\alpha}_0 \langle a \rangle \left\| r \right\|_1. \end{split}$$

Therefore, from [85, Section II.2] we know that the initial value problem (4.76b) has a unique solution $r \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^1(\mathbb{R}^d))$.

Step.2. Non-negativity and uniform bounds of the solution. Let us first show that for initial conditions $0 \leq r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with $||r_0||_1 \leq C'$ we have a non-negative solution $0 \leq r_t \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $||r_t||_1 \leq C'$, for any time t > 0.

Given T > 0 let us consider the Banach space $X_{T,1} = C([0,T]; L^1(\mathbb{R}^d))$ equipped with the norm

$$\|r\|_{T,1} = \max_{t \in [0,T]} \|r_t\|_1 = \max_{t \in [0,T]} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \, r_t \, (y) \,. \tag{4.80}$$

We denote by $X_{T,1}^+$ the cone of all non-negative functions from $X_{T,1}$. This cone forms a complete metric space with a metric induced by the norm in $X_{T,1}$.

Following Step.2 in the proof of Theorem 3.41, for any $0 \leq r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ let us consider the mapping Ψ which assigns to any $v \in X_{T,1}$ the solution u_t of the (local) Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}u_t\left(y\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right)_t\left(z,y\right) v_t\left(z\right) - u_t\left(y\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right) \overline{\lambda}_t\left(y,z\right) \\ u_t\left(y\right)|_{t=0} = r_0\left(y\right) \end{cases}, \tag{4.81}$$

namely, see e.g. [69],

$$(\Psi v)_{t}(y) = e^{-\int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s}(y,z)} r_{0}(y) + \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \, e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathrm{d}s' \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_{s}(z,y) v_{s}(z) \,.$$
(4.82)

for all t > 0 and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Let us recall that, under condition (3.125) and (4.46), for $0 \le \rho_t \in \overline{B}_C^{\infty}$ we have (cf. (3.131))

$$0 \le \overline{\lambda}_t(y, z) \le \tilde{\alpha}_0, \quad \text{for all } t > 0 \text{ and a.a. } y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
 (4.83)

It is easy to check that Ψ maps $X_{T,1}^+$ into itself $X_{T,1}^+$. Indeed, for any $v \in X_{T,1}^+$ one has $\Psi v \ge 0$. Furthermore, using (4.83) one can estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\Psi v)_t\|_1 &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{e}^{-\int_s^t \mathrm{d}s' \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \,a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} r_0\left(y\right) + \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{d}y \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{e}^{-\int_s^t \mathrm{d}s' \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \,a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \,a\left(y-z\right) \overline{\lambda}_s(z,y) v_s(z) \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{d}y \, r_0 \left(y \right) + \tilde{\alpha}_0 \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{e}^{-\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 \left(t - s \right)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) v_s(z)$$

$$\leq \| r_0 \|_1 + \tilde{\alpha}_0 \langle a \rangle \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{e}^{-\tilde{\alpha}_0 \langle a \rangle \left(t - s \right)} \, \| v_s \|_1$$

$$\leq \| r_0 \|_1 + \| v \|_{T,1} \, \tilde{\alpha}_0 \langle a \rangle \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{e}^{-\tilde{\alpha}_0 \langle a \rangle \left(t - s \right)}. \tag{4.84}$$

Then from identity (3.133) it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\Psi v)_t\|_1 &\leq \|r_0\|_1 + \|v\|_{T,1} \left(1 - e^{-\tilde{\alpha}_0 \langle a \rangle t}\right) \\ &\leq \|r_0\|_1 + \|v\|_{T,1} < \infty. \end{aligned}$$
(4.85)

Hence, we can conclude that $\Psi v \in X_{T,1}^+$. Actually, we can also prove that Ψ defines a contraction mapping on $X_{T,1}^+$. Indeed, for any $v, w \in X_{T,1}^+$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\Psi v)_t - (\Psi w)_t\|_1 &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{e}^{-\int_s^t \mathrm{d}s' \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \times \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_s(z,y) \, |v_s(z) - w_s(z)| \,. \end{aligned}$$

Then by repeating the same arguments used to estimate $\|(\Psi v)_t\|_1$, for any $t \in [0,T]$ we obtain

$$\|(\Psi v)_{t} - (\Psi w)_{t}\|_{1} \leq \|v - w\|_{T,1} \left(1 - e^{-\tilde{\alpha}_{0} \langle a \rangle T}\right) < \|v - w\|_{T,1}.$$
(4.86)

Next, for any $n \ge 1$ let us consider the iterative scheme $v^{(n)} = \Psi^n v^{(0)}$, $v^{(0)} \in X_{T,1}^+$, defined by (3.135) and (3.136). From the Banach fixed point theorem, it follows that the sequence $\{v^{(n)}\} \subset X_{T,1}^+$ has a unique fixed point $v \in X_{T,1}^+$, which provides a unique non-negative solution to (4.76b).

Assume additionally that $||r_0||_1 \leq C'$, C' > 0, then proceeding by induction we can also show that $||v_t||_1 \leq C'$, for any $t \in [0, T]$. Indeed, from (3.136) we have

$$\|v_{t}^{(0)}\|_{1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{e}^{-\int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \,a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s}(y,z)} r_{0}(y)$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \,r_{0}(y) \leq C', \qquad t \in [0,T].$$
(4.87)

Suppose that the same bound holds also for $v_t^{(n-1)}$, $n \ge 1$, namely

$$\|v_t^{(n-1)}\|_1 \le C', \qquad t \in [0,T].$$
(4.88)

Let us show it for $v_t^{(n)}$. According to (3.135), for any $t \in [0, T]$ we can write

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_t^{(n)}\|_1 &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{e}^{-\int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_s(y,z)} r_0\left(y\right) + \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{e}^{-\int_s^t \mathrm{d}s' \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \overline{\lambda}_s(z,y) v_s^{(n-1)}\left(z\right). \end{aligned}$$

By using (4.83) together with (4.87) and (4.88), one can estimate

$$\|v_t^{(n)}\|_1 \le e^{-\langle a\rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, r_0\left(y\right) + \tilde{\alpha}_0 \int_0^t ds e^{-\langle a\rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0(t-s)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz a \left(y-z\right) v_s^{(n-1)}\left(z\right)$$

$$\leq C' \mathrm{e}^{-\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 t} + C' \langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{e}^{-\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 (t-s)} ds \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{e}^{-\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 (t-s)} ds \mathrm{e}^{-\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 (t-s)} ds$$

Then, identity (3.133) yields

$$\|v_t^{(n)}\|_1 \le C' e^{-\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 t} + C' \left(1 - e^{-\langle a \rangle \tilde{\alpha}_0 t}\right) \le C', \qquad t \in [0, T].$$
(4.89)

Clearly, taking the limit $n \to \infty$ we obtain that $||v_t||_1 \leq C'$, for any $t \in [0, T]$. Note that we can repeat the above proof for the initial condition $0 \leq r_T \leq C'$ and extend all our results to the time interval [T, 2T] and hence to \mathbb{R}_+ .

It remains to prove claim (*ii*). Let us take initial conditions $r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $0 \leq r_0(y) \leq C', C' > 0$, for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. For brevity, we introduce the set $B^+_{T,C'}$ consisting of all functions $v \in X^+_{T,1}$ such that $v(y) \leq C'$ for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. It is easy to show that this set constitutes a complete metric space with the metric induced by the norm (4.80).

Consider the map Ψ defined by (4.81)-(4.82). Then, for any $v \in B^+_{T,C'}$ we have $\Psi v \in B^+_{T,C'}$. Indeed, by (4.83) and (3.133) one can estimate

$$0 \leq (\Psi v)_{t}(y) = r_{0}(y) e^{-\int_{0}^{t} ds' \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} + \int_{0}^{t} ds e^{-\int_{s}^{t} ds' \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz \, a(y-z)\overline{\lambda}_{s'}(y,z)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dz \, a(y-z) \,\overline{\lambda}_{s}(z,y) v_{s}(z)$$
$$\leq C' e^{-\langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha}_{0} t} + C'(1 - e^{-\langle a \rangle \widetilde{\alpha}_{0} t})$$
$$\leq C'.$$
(4.90)

Furthermore, from (4.86) it follows that $\Psi: B_{T,C'}^+ \to B_{T,C'}^+$ is a contraction mapping on the complete metric space $B_{T,C'}^+$. Now we can apply the Banach fixed point theorem as done above. As a result, the mapping Ψ has a unique fixed point $v \in B_{T,C'}^+$ which solves (3.124b) on [0,T]. By definition, this solution is non-negative and essentially bounded by C' > 0. Obviously, taking as initial condition $v_T \in B_{T,C'}^+$, the same considerations can be extended on the time interval [T, 2T] and, consequently, to all \mathbb{R}_+ . This concludes the proof of the lemma.

Finally, we can combine Theorem 4.20 with Lemma 4.21 to formulate our main result about the existence and uniqueness of non-negative solutions to the system of Vlasov equations (4.76a)-(4.76b).

Theorem 4.22. Let

$$b \le \frac{m}{C_1^V \mathbf{e}} \tag{4.91}$$

and let κ_1 and κ_2 be constant solutions to equation (4.77). Suppose that $0 \leq \rho_0 \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with $\|\rho_0\|_{\infty} \leq \kappa_2$ and $0 \leq r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then, if we assume that conditions (3.125), (4.46) and (4.47) hold, the system of equations (4.76a)-(4.76b) has a unique solution $0 \leq \rho_t \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; C_b(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and $0 \leq r_t \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^1(\mathbb{R}^d))$ such that $\|\rho_t\|_{\infty} \leq \kappa_2$, for any t > 0. Moreover, given C' > 0

(i) if
$$||r_0||_1 \leq C'$$
 then $||r_t||_1 \leq C'$ for any $t > 0$.

(ii) if $r_0(x) \leq C'$, a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, then $r_t(x) \leq C'$, a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, for any t > 0.

Remark 4.23. Let us note that the theorem above provides a solution to the Vlasov equations only if the initial density ρ_0 is small enough, i.e. if $\|\rho_0\|_{\infty} \leq \kappa_2$. If not, an aggregation effect is expected in RE. More precisely, it is possible to show that if ρ_0 is large enough in some volume then the solution to (4.76a) grows (point-wise) to infinity in this volume, see [45, Section 5.2] for further details. In this case, the study of existence and uniqueness of solutions to (4.76a) requires a more subtle analysis.

4.2.3 Examples

In this section we study the Vlasov-type scaling and the corresponding Vlasov equations in the considered model of RWRE for each of the interactions I-IV described in Section 2.1.

4.2.3.1 RW in an aggregation model of environment: Case I and III

Let us study the interaction given by

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(1)}(\gamma, y) = e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\phi(\cdot - y)}, \gamma\right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{4.92}$$

where $\phi: \mathbb{R}^d \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative even function such that

$$C_{1}^{\phi} := \|\phi\|_{1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x\phi(x) < \infty, \tag{4.93}$$

$$C_{\infty}^{\phi} := \|\phi\|_{\infty} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \phi(x) < \infty.$$
(4.94)

For any $\varepsilon > 0$ we consider the following scaling of interaction (4.92),

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}(\gamma, y) := e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot - y)}, \gamma\right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(4.95)

According to the results obtained in Section 3.2.3.1, we have

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\cdot\cup\eta,y\right)\right)(\xi) = e^{-\varepsilon\sum_{x'\in\eta}\phi(x'-y)}e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)}-1,\xi\right)$$
(4.96)

and letting ε go to zero

$$A_{V}^{(1)}(\xi, y) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot \cup \eta, y \right) \right)(\xi) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot, y \right) \right)(\xi)$$

= $e_{\lambda} \left(-\phi(\cdot - y), \xi \right),$ (4.97)

for any $\xi, \eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. From Proposition 3.44 and 3.45, we know that the limit (4.97) holds in $L^1(\Gamma_0, C^{|\xi|} d\lambda(\xi))$, for a.a. $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, and Assumption 4.10 is satisfied with

$$\tilde{\alpha}_0 = \tilde{\alpha}'_0 = e^{CC_1^{\phi}}, \qquad \tilde{\alpha}_1 \equiv 0.$$
(4.98)

Next let us check Assumption 4.15. In order to do that we will show that conditions (4.60) and (4.61) hold, see Remark 4.16. In this case, the rescaled interaction (4.95) can be rewritten in the following form (cf. (4.57))

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\cdot\cup\eta,y\right)\right)(\xi) = A_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\xi,y\right) + \tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\xi,\eta,y\right),\tag{4.99}$$

where

$$A_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\xi,y\right) = e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\varepsilon\phi\left(\cdot-y\right)} - 1,\xi\right)$$
(4.100)

and

$$\tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\xi,\eta,y\right) = \left[e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)},\eta\right) - 1\right]e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)} - 1,\xi\right),\tag{4.101}$$

for any $\xi, \eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. For functions (4.100) and (4.101) we can show the following estimates.

Proposition 4.24. Suppose that conditions (4.93) and (4.94) hold. Then one has

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\xi) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} A_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}(\xi, y) - A_V^{(1)}(\xi, y) \right| \le \varepsilon \frac{C}{2} \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}} C_1^{\phi} C_{\infty}^{\phi}$$
(4.102)

and

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left|\varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \tilde{A}^{(1)}_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi, \eta, w\right)\right| \le \varepsilon \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}} C^{\phi}_{\infty} |\eta|, \tag{4.103}$$

for a.a. $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proof. First let us show (4.102). By using inequalities $\phi(x) \ge 0$ and

$$\frac{1 - e^{-\varepsilon\phi(x)}}{\varepsilon} \le \phi(x), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{4.104}$$

we can write

$$\int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} d\lambda(\xi) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} A_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}(\xi, y) - A_{V}^{(1)}(\xi, y) \right| =
= \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} d\lambda(\xi) \left| e_{\lambda} \left(\frac{e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)} - 1}{\varepsilon}, \xi \right) - e_{\lambda} \left(-\phi(\cdot-y), \xi \right) \right|
= \int_{\Gamma_{0}} C^{|\xi|} d\lambda(\xi) \left[e_{\lambda} \left(\phi(\cdot-y), \xi \right) - e_{\lambda} \left(\frac{1 - e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)}}{\varepsilon}, \xi \right) \right], \quad (4.105)$$

for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Note that

$$0 \leq e_{\lambda} \left(\phi \left(\cdot - y \right), \xi \right) - e_{\lambda} \left(\frac{1 - e^{-\varepsilon \phi \left(\cdot - y \right)}}{\varepsilon}, \xi \right)$$
$$\leq \sum_{x' \in \xi} \left(\phi \left(x' - y \right) - \frac{1 - e^{-\varepsilon \phi \left(x' - y \right)}}{\varepsilon} \right) e_{\lambda} \left(\phi \left(\cdot - y \right), \xi \setminus x' \right), \tag{4.106}$$

for any $\xi \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, and

$$\phi\left(x'-y\right) - \frac{1 - e^{-\varepsilon\phi(x'-y)}}{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2\phi^2\left(x'-y\right)} \left(e^{-\varepsilon\phi(x'-y)} + \varepsilon\phi\left(x'-y\right) - 1\right)\varepsilon\phi^2\left(x'-y\right),$$
(4.107)

for any $y,x'\in \mathbb{R}^d.$ Then, since

$$0 < \frac{e^{-t} + t - 1}{t^2} < \frac{1}{2}, \qquad t > 0, \tag{4.108}$$

we find

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\xi) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} A_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\xi, y\right) - A_V^{(1)}\left(\xi, y\right) \right| &\leq \\ &\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\xi) \sum_{x' \in \xi} \phi^2\left(x' - y\right) e_\lambda\left(\phi\left(\cdot - y\right), \xi \setminus x'\right). \end{split}$$

Finally, using the Minlos formula (1.18) together with conditions (4.93)-(4.94), one can estimate

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\xi) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} A_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\xi, y\right) - A_V^{(1)}\left(\xi, y\right) \right| &\leq \\ &\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\xi) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} C \mathrm{d}x' \phi^2 \left(x' - y\right) e_\lambda\left(\phi\left(\cdot - y\right), \xi\right) \\ &\leq \varepsilon \frac{C}{2} \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' \phi^2 \left(x' - y\right) \\ &\leq \varepsilon \frac{C}{2} \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}} C_1^{\phi} C_{\infty}^{\phi}. \end{split}$$

Next, let us consider the l.h.s of (4.103). Since $\phi \ge 0$, we can write it as

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left|\varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\xi,\eta,y\right)\right| \leq \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left[1 - e_\lambda\left(\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)},\eta\right)\right] e_\lambda\left(\frac{1 - \mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)}}{\varepsilon},\xi\right)$$
By using the elementary inequality

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} b_i - \prod_{i=1}^{n} a_i \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} (b_i - a_i) \prod_{j=1, j \ne i}^{n} b_j, \qquad b_i \ge a_i > 0, 1 \le i \le n, n \in \mathbb{N},$$

it is easy to check that

$$\left[1 - e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot - y)}, \eta\right)\right] e_{\lambda}\left(\frac{1 - e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot - y)}}{\varepsilon}, \xi\right) \le \sum_{x' \in \eta} \varepsilon\phi\left(x' - y\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\phi\left(\cdot - y\right), \xi\right), \quad (4.109)$$

for any $\xi, \eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. By using this estimate we get

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left|\varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\xi, \eta, y\right)\right| \le \varepsilon \sum_{x' \in \eta} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \phi\left(x' - y\right) e_\lambda\left(\phi\left(\cdot - y\right), \xi\right).$$

Then, taking into account hypotheses (4.93) and (4.94), one can estimate

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi\right) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} \left(\xi, \eta, y\right) \right| &\leq \varepsilon \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}} \sum_{x' \in \eta} \phi \left(x' - y\right) \\ &\leq \varepsilon \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}} C_{\infty}^{\phi} |\eta|, \quad \text{for a.a. } \eta \in \Gamma_0, \end{split}$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

From the above proposition it follows that Assumption 4.15 is satisfied with

$$\tilde{\sigma}_0 = \frac{C}{2} \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}} C_1^{\phi} C_{\infty}^{\phi}, \qquad \tilde{\sigma}_1 = \mathrm{e}^{CC_1^{\phi}} C_{\infty}^{\phi}. \tag{4.110}$$

Now we are in the position to apply Theorem 4.17 and Lemma 4.19 to show the convergence of the Vlasov-type scaling and derive the corresponding kinetic equations. The formulation of these results for this particular model is given in the corollary below.

Corollary 4.25. Let us assume that conditions (4.47),(4.54), (4.93) and (4.94) are satisfied. Given $C_0 > 0$ arbitrary and fixed let us consider $k_{0,\varepsilon}, k_{V,\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C_0}, \varepsilon > 0$, with

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|k_{0,\varepsilon} - k_{0,V}\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C_0}} = 0.$$

$$(4.111)$$

Then, for any $C > C_0$ there exists a time $T(C, C_0) \ge 0$ given by (4.28) such that the evolution equations (4.35) and (4.37) have unique solutions, $k_{t,\varepsilon}$ and $k_{t,V}$, respectively, in \mathcal{K}^1_C such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|k_{t,\varepsilon} - k_{t,V}\|_{\mathcal{K}^1_C} = 0.$$
(4.112)

on the time interval $[0, T_1(C_0, C))$. Moreover, given $\rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{C_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, if we take

$$k_{0,V} = e_{\lambda}(\rho_0, \cdot) r_0 \in \mathcal{K}^1_{C_0}, \qquad (4.113)$$

then we have

$$k_{t,V} = e_{\lambda}(\rho_t, \cdot)r_t \in \mathcal{K}_C^1, \tag{4.114}$$

provided that $\rho_t \in \overline{B}_C^{\infty}$ and $r_t \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, are solutions to the Vlasov equations

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \rho_t}{\partial t} = -m\rho_t e^{-\beta(\rho_t * V)} + b\\ \frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = -\langle a \rangle e^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} r_t + \left(\left(e^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} r_t \right) * a \right) \end{cases},$$
(4.115)

with initial conditions $\rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0$ and $r_t|_{t=0} = r_0$, on the time interval $[0, T_1(C, C_0))$.

Let us study the solution to the Vlasov equations (4.115). We know that condition (4.46) holds, then from Theorem 4.22 we have the following existence and uniqueness result.

Corollary 4.26. Assume that conditions (4.91) (4.47), (4.93) and (4.94) hold. Let κ_1 and κ_2 be constant solutions to (4.77) and consider $0 \le \rho_0 \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $0 \le r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with $\|\rho_0\|_{\infty} \le \kappa_2$. Then, the system of equations (4.115) has a unique non-negative solution given by $0 \le \rho_t \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; C_b(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and $0 \le r_t \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^1(\mathbb{R}^d))$ with $\|\rho_t\|_{\infty} \le \kappa_2$ for any t > 0.

Moreover, if there exists a constant C' > 0 such that $||r_0||_1 \leq C'$, or $r_0(y) \leq C'$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, then we have $||r_t||_1 \leq C'$, or $r_t(y) \leq C'$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, for any t > 0.

Note that all the results obtained in Corollary 4.25 and 4.26 can be also extended to the interaction

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(3)}(\gamma, z) = e_{\lambda}\left(e^{-\phi(\cdot - z)}, \gamma\right), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(4.116)

Let us just mention that in this case Lemma 4.19 leads to the following Vlasov equations (see Case III in Section 2.3.2)

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \rho_t}{\partial t} = -m\rho_t e^{-\beta(\rho_t * V)} + b\\ \frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = e^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} \left(r_t * a \right) - r_t \left(\left(e^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} \right) * a \right) \end{cases},$$
(4.117)

with initial conditions $\rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0$ and $r_t|_{t=0} = r_0$.

4.2.3.2 RW in an aggregation model of environment: Case II and IV

Let us study the interaction defined by

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(2)}(\gamma, y) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - y), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(4.118)

where $\lambda_0 \geq 0$ and $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative even function such that conditions (4.93) and (4.94) hold.

As discussed in Section 3.2.3.2, for any $\varepsilon > 0$ we introduce the rescaled interaction

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}(\gamma, y) = \lambda_0 + \varepsilon \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - y), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(4.119)

In correspondence we have, see (3.160),

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}\left(\cdot\cup\eta,y\right)\right)(\xi) = A_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi,y\right) + \tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}\left(\xi,\eta,y\right),\tag{4.120}$$

where

$$A_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}\left(\xi,y\right) = \lambda_0 0^{|\xi|} + \varepsilon \phi\left(x'-y\right) \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}\left(\xi = \{x'\}\right)$$

$$(4.121)$$

and

$$\tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}\left(\xi,\eta,y\right) = \varepsilon \sum_{x'\in\eta} \phi\left(x'-y\right) 0^{|\xi|},\tag{4.122}$$

for any $\varepsilon > 0$, $\eta, \xi \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, as $\varepsilon \to 0$ we have the following limit in $L^1(\Gamma_0, C^{|\xi|} d\lambda(\xi))$

$$A_{V}^{(2)}(\xi, y) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}(\cdot \cup \eta, y) \right)(\xi) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}(\cdot, y) \right)(\xi)$$
$$= \lambda_{0} 0^{|\xi|} + \phi \left(x' - y \right) \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}(\xi = \{x'\}), \qquad (4.123)$$

for a.a. $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, see Proposition 3.49.

From Proposition 3.48 and 3.49, we also know that conditions (4.45) and (4.46) in Assumption 4.10 are satisfied with

$$\tilde{\alpha}_0 = \tilde{\alpha}'_0 = \lambda_0 + CC_1^{\phi}, \qquad \tilde{\alpha}_1 = C_{\infty}^{\phi}.$$
(4.124)

It remains to check Assumption 4.15. The latter will be a consequence of the following proposition.

Proposition 4.27. Let us assume that condition (4.94) is satisfied. Then, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\xi) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} A_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}(\xi, y) - A_V^{(2)}(\xi, y) \right| \equiv 0$$
(4.125)

and

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left|\varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}\left(\xi, \eta, y\right)\right| \le \varepsilon C_{\infty}^{\phi} |\eta|, \tag{4.126}$$

for a.a. $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proof. Identity (4.125) follows immediately by (4.121) and (4.123). Let us now show (4.126). By (4.122) we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left|\varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}\left(\xi, \eta, y\right)\right| = \varepsilon \sum_{x' \in \eta} \phi\left(x' - y\right),\tag{4.127}$$

for a.a. $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, from (4.94) it follows that

$$\int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\xi|} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left| \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}\left(\xi, \eta, y\right) \right| \le \varepsilon C_{\infty}^{\phi} |\eta|, \tag{4.128}$$

which concludes the proof of the proposition.

According to the above proposition and Remark 4.16, we can easily see that condition (4.56) holds with

$$\tilde{\sigma}_0 \equiv 0, \qquad \tilde{\sigma}_1 = C^{\phi}_{\infty}.$$
(4.129)

As a consequence, by Theorem 4.17 and Lemma 4.19 we can show the following result about the Vlasov-type scaling.

Corollary 4.28. Assume that conditions (4.47),(4.54), (4.93) and (4.94) are satisfied. Let $C > C_0 > 0$ be fixed and $T_1(C_0, C)$ be given by (4.33). Suppose that $\{k_{0,\varepsilon}, k_{V,\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon>0} \subset \mathcal{K}^1_{C_0}$, and, moreover,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|k_{0,\varepsilon} - k_{0,V}\|_{\mathcal{K}_{C_0}} = 0.$$

$$(4.130)$$

Then, the evolution equations (4.35) and (4.37) have unique solutions in \mathcal{K}^1_C and

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|k_{t,\varepsilon} - k_{t,V}\|_{\mathcal{K}^1_C} = 0, \tag{4.131}$$

on the time interval $0 \leq t < T_1(C_0, C)$. Moreover, let $\rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{C_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$. If $k_{0,V} = e_{\lambda}(\rho_0, \cdot)r_0 \in \mathcal{K}_{C_0}^1$ then $k_{t,V} = e_{\lambda}(\rho_t, \cdot)r_t \in \mathcal{K}_C^1$ provided that $\rho_t \in \overline{B}_C^{\infty}$ and $r_t \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, are solutions to system of equations

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \rho_t}{\partial t} = -m\rho_t e^{-\beta(\rho_t * V)} + b, & \rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0, \\ \frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = (a * [r_t (\lambda_0 + (\rho_t * \phi))]) - \langle a \rangle r_t [\lambda_0 + (\rho_t * \phi)], & r_t|_{t=0} = r_0, \end{cases}$$
(4.132)

on the time interval $0 \le t < T_1(C, C_0)$.

Clearly the same analysis can be repeated for the interaction

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(4)}(\gamma, z) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - z), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(4.133)

Indeed, Assumption 4.10 and 4.15 still hold with constants (4.124) and (4.129) and we can show the same result as in Corollary 4.28. The corresponding Vlasov equations are now given by (cf. case IV in Section 2.3.2)

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \rho_t}{\partial t} = -m\rho_t e^{-\beta(\rho_t * V)} + b, & \rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0, \\ \frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = (r_t * a) \left[\lambda_0 + (\rho_t * \phi)\right] - r_t \left[\lambda_0 \langle a \rangle + ((\rho_t * \phi) * a)\right], & r_t|_{t=0} = r_0. \end{cases}$$
(4.134)

The solutions to the systems of equations (4.132) and (4.134) can be studied by using Theorem 4.22. Note that for both interactions (4.118) and (4.133), under condition (4.94), we can show the same result as in Corollary 4.26.

Chapter 5

Random walks in a Kawasaki model of environment via generating functionals

We present an alternative approach to the study of the statistical dynamics of RWREs described in Chapter 2 in terms of the corresponding Bogoliubov generating functionals. A description of this approach for interacting particle systems in continuum can be found in [43,58,61,63].

First we introduce the Bogoliubov functionals associated to the states of the considered models. In the study of interacting particle systems it is natural to consider entire functionals allowing us to recover the definition of correlation functions given in Section 1.2.2. Then, we reformulate the evolution of correlation functions of RWREs in terms of the corresponding generating functionals. In this case, the statistical dynamics of the system will be described by an evolution equation for holomorphic functionals over an infinite-dimensional space. Moreover, we apply this new formalism to study the Vlasov-type scaling, introduced in Section 2.3 for correlation functions, through Bogoliubov functionals.

For concreteness, we employ this general method to study some models of RWREs, in the case where the environment is formed by infinitely many particles which jump according to a Kawasaki dynamics, see e.g. [43]. However, the Bogoliubov functional approach can be also applied to other types of RE such as Glauber-type of environment, see e.g. [61]. Note that the analysis of all these cases is carried out by using the Ovsjannikov's method in the scale of Banach space presented in Chapter 4.

5.1 The Bogoliubov generating functionals

The Bogoliubov generating functionals were originally introduced by N.N. Bogoliubov [14] to study correlation functions in statistical mechanics. Over the years, these functionals and their generalizations found many others application in classical and quantum statistical mechanics, theory of point process and so on. We refer to [96] for an extensive review of the subject.

In this section we define and characterize the Bogoliubov functional for a one-particle system interacting with an environment consisting of infinitely many particles. For the moment we do not specify any dynamics for such model. In what follows, we use the general framework introduced in Chapter 1. In particular, we restrict our attention to the so-called bounded states, namely to measures $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^1(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$, see (1.31)-(1.32). Bogoliubov functionals for interacting particle systems in continuum have been studied in [79] and [62] for one-component and two-component systems, respectively. These definitions can be modified to fit our case.

Definition 5.1. The Bogoliubov generating functional Z_{μ} corresponding to a finite measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^1(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ is a functional defined at each pair of $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -measurable functions (θ, ψ) by

$$Z_{\mu}(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi(y) \int_{\Gamma} \prod_{x \in \gamma} (1+\theta(x)) d\mu(\gamma,y), \qquad (5.1)$$

provided the right-hand side exists.

From Definition 5.1 it is clear that the set of (θ, ψ) for which Z_{μ} is well-defined depends on the measure μ . Conversely, this set reflects properties of the underlying measure. Let $\mathcal{M}_{\text{fexp}}^1(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ denote the set of all measures $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^1(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ which have finite local exponential moments (w.r.t. Γ -variables), namely such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma} \mathrm{e}^{\alpha |\gamma_{\Lambda}|} \mathrm{d}\mu\left(\gamma, y\right) < \infty,$$

for all $\alpha > 0$ and all $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then, for $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^1_{\mathrm{fexp}}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ one can easily see that the Bogoliubov functional Z_{μ} is well defined, for instance, for all pairs of functions (θ, ψ) such that ψ is bounded and θ is bounded with bounded support. The converse is also true and follows from the following identity

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\Gamma} e^{\alpha |\gamma_{\Lambda}|} d\mu (\gamma, y) = Z_{\mu} ((e^{\alpha} - 1) \mathbb{1}_{\Lambda}, 1), \qquad \alpha > 0, \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Throughout this chapter we consider Bogoliubov functionals defined on the whole space $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d) \times L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Furthermore, we assume that the following representation holds

$$Z_{\mu}(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y\,\psi(y)\,B_{\mu}(\theta,y)\,,\qquad \theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d), \psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d),\tag{5.2}$$

where for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $B_{\mu}(\cdot; y)$ is an entire functionals on $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Remark 5.2. Note that representation (5.2) allows us to identify the generating functional $B_{\mu}(\theta, y)$ as the functional derivative of $Z_{\mu}(\theta, \psi)$ w.r.t $\psi(y)$, i.e.

$$B_{\mu}(\theta, y) := \frac{\delta Z_{\mu}(\theta, \psi)}{\delta \psi(y)}, \qquad (5.3)$$

for any $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $\psi \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

For a comprehensive review of the general theory of holomorphic functionals we refer to [7, 32]. Here we just recall that for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, the functional $B_{\mu}(\cdot; y) : L^1(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{C}$ is said to be entire on $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ if it is locally bounded and for all $\theta, \theta_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ the mapping $\mathbb{C} \ni z \mapsto B_{\mu}(\theta_0 + z\theta; y) \in \mathbb{C}$ is entire. Thus, at each $\theta_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ the entire functional $B_{\mu}(\cdot; y)$ can be expressed in terms of its Taylor expansion,

$$B_{\mu}(\theta_{0}+z\theta;y) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^{n}}{n!} \mathrm{d}^{n} B_{\mu}(\theta_{0};y;\ldots,\theta), \qquad z \in \mathbb{C}, \ \theta \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \tag{5.4}$$

where $d^n B_\mu(\theta_0, y; \theta, \ldots, \theta)$ denotes the differential of order n w.r.t. θ evaluated in θ_0 . The main properties of these differentials are specified in the theorem below. For a proof we refer the reader to [97, Theorem 9.2], where an analogous result has been showed.

Lemma 5.3. For a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, let $B_{\mu}(\cdot; y)$ be an entire functional on $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the differential $d^n B_{\mu}(\theta_0; y; \theta, \ldots, \theta)$, $\theta_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, is defined by a symmetric kernel in $L^{\infty}((\mathbb{R}^d)^n)$ denoted by

$$\frac{\delta^n B_\mu\left(\theta_0; y\right)}{\delta\theta_0\left(x_1\right)\dots\delta\theta_0\left(x_n\right)} \tag{5.5}$$

and called the functional derivative of nth order of $B_{\mu}(\theta_0; y)$ w.r.t. θ_0 . More precisely,

$$d^{n}B_{\mu}\left(\theta_{0}; y; \theta_{1}, \dots, \theta_{n}\right) = \frac{\partial^{n}}{\partial z_{1} \dots \partial z_{n}} \left. B_{\mu}\left(\theta_{0} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} z_{i}\theta_{i}; y\right) \right|_{z_{1} = \dots = z_{n} = 0}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x_1 \dots \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x_n \left(\prod_{i=1}^n \theta_i\left(x_i\right)\right) \frac{\delta^n B_\mu\left(\theta_0; y\right)}{\delta \theta_0\left(x_1\right) \dots \delta \theta_0\left(x_n\right)},\tag{5.6}$$

for all $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_n \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Furthermore, for any r > 0 one has

$$\left\|\frac{\delta B_{\mu}\left(\theta_{0};y\right)}{\delta\theta_{0}\left(\cdot\right)}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \leq \frac{1}{r} \sup_{\left\|\theta'\right\|_{L^{1}} \leq r} \left|B_{\mu}\left(\theta_{0}+\theta';y\right)\right|$$
(5.7)

and, for $n \geq 2$,

$$\left\|\frac{\delta^{n}B_{\mu}\left(\theta_{0};y\right)}{\delta\theta_{0}\left(\cdot\right)\dots\delta\theta_{0}\left(\cdot\right)}\right\|_{L^{\infty}\left(\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right)^{n}\right)} \leq n!\left(\frac{1}{r}\right)^{n}\sup_{\left\|\theta'\right\|_{L^{1}}\leq r}\left|B_{\mu}\left(\theta_{0}+\theta';y\right)\right|.$$
(5.8)

Remark 5.4. Note that the fact $B_{\mu}(\cdot; y)$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, is entire on $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ does not ensure that the supremum in (5.7) and (5.8) is always finite. For simplicity, we assume that this entire functional is also bounded in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, that is,

$$\sup_{\|\theta'\|_{L^1} \le r} \left| B_\mu \left(\theta_0 + \theta', y \right) \right| < \infty, \tag{5.9}$$

for all r > 0, $\theta_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

According to Lemma 5.3 and the Taylor expansion (5.4), the Bogoliubov functional Z_{μ} can be written in the form

$$Z_{\mu}\left(\theta_{0}+\theta,\psi\right) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y\,\psi\left(y\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x_{1}\dots\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x_{n}\left(\prod_{i=1}^{n}\theta_{i}\left(x_{i}\right)\right) \frac{\delta^{n}B_{\mu}\left(\theta_{0},y\right)}{\delta\theta_{0}\left(x_{1}\right)\dots\delta\theta_{0}\left(x_{n}\right)}$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y\,\psi\left(y\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right)e_{\lambda}\left(\theta,\eta\right)\left(D^{|\eta|}B_{\mu}\right)\left(\theta_{0},y;\eta\right), \tag{5.10}$$

where we introduced the notation

$$\left(D^{|\eta|}B_{\mu}\right)\left(\theta_{0}, y; \eta\right) := \frac{\delta^{n}B_{\mu}\left(\theta_{0}, y\right)}{\delta\theta_{0}\left(x_{1}\right)\dots\delta\theta_{0}\left(x_{n}\right)},\tag{5.11}$$

for $\eta = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \in \Gamma^{(n)}, n \in \mathbb{N}$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. In the simple case where $\eta = \{x\} \in \Gamma^{(1)}$, we simply write $(D^{|\eta|}B_{\mu})(\theta_0, y; \eta) := (DB_{\mu})(\theta_0, y; x)$.

Having in mind the representation in (5.10), Lemma 5.3 yields the following result.

Corollary 5.5. Let Z_{μ} be a Bogoliubov functional on the space $L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \times L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ corresponding to some measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{1}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^{d})$. If we assume that for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}$ the functional $B_{\mu}(\cdot; y)$ is entire on $L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$, then the measure μ is locally absolutely continuous with respect to the Poisson-type measure $\tilde{\pi} = \pi \otimes dy$. Namely, for all $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{b}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ the measure $\mu^{\Lambda} = \mu \circ (\tilde{p}_{\Lambda})^{-1}$ is absolutely continuous with respect to $\tilde{\pi}^{\Lambda} = (\pi \circ p_{\Lambda}^{-1}) \otimes dy$. In particular, for all $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{b}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ one has

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mu^{\Lambda}}{\mathrm{d}\pi^{\Lambda}}\left(\gamma,y\right) = e^{\sigma\left(\Lambda\right)} \left(D^{|\gamma|} B_{\mu}\right) \left(-\mathbb{1}_{\Lambda},y;\gamma\right), \qquad \tilde{\pi}^{\Lambda} - a.a. \ (\gamma,y) \in \Gamma(\Lambda) \times \mathbb{R}^{d},$$

where $\sigma(\Lambda) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx \, \mathbb{1}_{\Lambda}(x).$

Remark 5.6. Note that if the entire functional $B_{\mu}(\cdot; y)$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, is of bounded type in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, i.e. (5.9) holds, then for each r > 0 there exists a constant $C \ge 0$ such that

$$\left| \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu^{\Lambda}}{\mathrm{d}\pi^{\Lambda}} \left(\gamma, y \right) \right| \le \mathrm{e}^{\sigma(\Lambda)} C \left| \gamma \right|! \left(\frac{\mathrm{e}}{r} \right)^{|\gamma|},$$

for $\tilde{\pi}^{\Lambda}$ -a.a. $(\gamma, y) \in \Gamma(\Lambda) \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proof of Corollary 5.5. Let us consider functions $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with support contained in some $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then, the Bogoliubov functional Z_{μ} can be written as

$$Z_{\mu}(\theta,\psi) = Z_{\mu}\left(-\mathbb{1}_{\Lambda} + (\theta + \mathbb{1}_{\Lambda}),\psi\right)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y\,\psi\left(y\right) \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} \mathrm{d}\pi^{\Lambda}\left(\eta\right) \prod_{x\in\gamma} \left(1 + \theta(x)\right) \mathrm{e}^{\sigma(\Lambda)}\left(D^{|\eta|}B_{\mu}\right)\left(-\mathbb{1}_{\Lambda},y;\eta\right),\tag{5.12}$$

where in the second inequality we apply (5.10) with $\theta_0 = -\mathbb{1}_{\Lambda}$ and identity (1.14).

On the other hand, one can easily see that for functions $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with support contained in some $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, the definition of a Bogoliubov functional Z_{μ} reduces to the Bogoliubov functional $Z_{\mu^{\Lambda}}$, namely

$$Z_{\mu}(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi(y) \int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \prod_{x \in \gamma} (1+\theta(x)) d\mu^{\Lambda}(\gamma,y), \qquad \psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$
(5.13)

Therefore, by comparing (5.12) with (5.13) we find

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi(y) \int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \prod_{x \in \gamma} (1 + \theta(x)) d\mu^{\Lambda}(\gamma, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, \psi(y) \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} d\pi^{\Lambda}(\eta) \prod_{x \in \gamma} (1 + \theta(x)) e^{\sigma(\Lambda)} \left(D^{|\eta|} B_{\mu} \right) (-\mathbb{1}_{\Lambda}, y; \eta), \qquad (5.14)$$

for all functions $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with support contained in some $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then the statement follows by a monotone class argument.

As discussed at the beginning of the section, a Bogoliubov functional Z_{μ} that is well defined on the whole space $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d) \times L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is necessarily associated to measures $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^1_{\text{fexp}}$. On the other hand, for such measures one can define the corresponding correlation measure ρ_{μ} , see Remark 1.26. Consequently, taking into account Proposition 1.27 and Example 1.19, we can rewrite the Bogoliubov functional Z_{μ} in terms of the measure ρ_{μ} . More precisely, we have

$$Z_{\mu}(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{\Gamma} \left(K\psi(y) e_{\lambda}(\theta,\cdot) \right)(\gamma) d\mu(\gamma,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \psi(y) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} e_{\lambda}(\theta,\eta) d\rho_{\mu}(\eta,y), \qquad \theta \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$$
(5.15)

In this new formalism Lemma 5.3 leads to the following result (cf. Lemma 1.28).

Proposition 5.7. Let Z_{μ} be a Bogoliubov functional on the space $L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \times L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$. Suppose that the $B_{\mu}(\cdot; y)$ is an entire functional of bounded type on $L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$, for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}$. Then, the measure $\rho_{\mu} = K^{*}\mu$ is absolutely continuous with respect to $\lambda_{\sigma} = \lambda_{\sigma} \otimes dy$ and the Radon-Nikodym derivative, or correlation functional, is given by

$$k_{\mu}(\eta, y) := \frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\lambda}_{\sigma}} \left(\eta, y\right) = \left(D^{|\eta|} B_{\mu}\right) \left(0, y; \eta\right), \tag{5.16}$$

for $\tilde{\lambda}$ -a.a. $(\eta, y) \in \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$. Furthermore, for each r > 0 there exists a constant $C \ge 0$ such that

$$|k_{\mu}(\eta, y)| \le C |\eta|! \left(\frac{e}{r}\right)^{|\eta|}, \qquad (5.17)$$

for $\tilde{\lambda}$ -a.a. $(\eta, y) \in \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

Remark 5.8. Consider a Bogoliubov functional Z_{μ} defined as in the proposition above. From (5.17) it follows that the correlation functionals associated to it satisfy a generalized Ruelle bound, that is, for any $\varepsilon \in [0, 1]$ and r > 0 there exists some constant $C \ge 0$ such that

$$|k_{\mu}(\eta, y)| \le C \left(|\eta|!\right)^{1-\varepsilon} \left(\frac{\mathrm{e}}{r}\right)^{|\eta|}, \qquad \tilde{\lambda} - \mathrm{a.a.} \ (\eta, y) \in \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(5.18)

Clearly if condition (5.18) holds for $\varepsilon = 1$ and for some r > 0, then it coincides with the classical Ruelle bound, see (2.33). In our case, (5.18) holds for $\varepsilon = 0$.

Proof of Proposition 5.7. Using representation (5.10) for $\theta_0 = 0$, we can rewrite the Bogoliubov functional Z_{μ} in the following form

$$Z_{\mu}(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \,\psi(y) \,e_{\lambda}(\theta,\eta) \left(D^{|\eta|}B_{\mu}\right)(0,y;\eta)\,.$$
(5.19)

Comparing the formula above with (5.15) we can identify $k_{\mu}(\eta, y)$ with $(D^{|\eta|}B_{\mu})(0, y; \eta)$. Then, in order to conclude the proof we can just note that, since B_{μ} is of bounded type, from Lemma 5.3 we have

$$\left| \left(D^{|\eta|} B_{\mu} \right) (0, y; \eta) \right| \le C \left| \eta \right|! \left(\frac{\mathrm{e}}{r} \right)^{|\eta|}, \tag{5.20}$$

 $\tilde{\lambda}$ -a.a. $(\eta, y) \in \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$ for some $C \ge 0$ depending on r > 0.

Having in mind (5.15), Proposition 5.7 yields to a description of the Bogoliubov functional in terms of the correlation functionals k_{μ} :

$$Z_{\mu}(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y\psi(y) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) e_{\lambda}(\theta,\eta) k_{\mu}(\eta,y), \qquad (5.21)$$

for all $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\psi \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Let us now specify the connection between the Bogoliubov functional Z_{μ} and the corresponding correlation functionals k_{μ} . By (5.3) and (5.11), the Radon-Nykodym derivative (5.16) can be written explicitly as

$$k_{\mu}(\eta, y) := k_{\mu}^{(n)}(\eta, y) = \left. \frac{\delta^{(n)} B_{\mu}(\theta, y)}{\delta \theta(x_1) \dots \delta \theta(x_n)} \right|_{\theta=0} \\ = \left. \frac{\delta^{(n,1)} Z_{\mu}(\theta, \psi)}{\delta \theta(x_1) \dots \delta \theta(x_n) \delta \psi(y)} \right|_{(\theta, \psi) = (0,0)},$$
(5.22)

for $\eta = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \in \Gamma^{(n)}, n \in \mathbb{N}$, and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Hence, we can see that the Bogoliubov functional Z_{μ} is the generating functional for the correlation functions $k_{\mu}^{(n)}$. Indeed, this was the reason why N. N. Bogoliubov introduced these functionals, see e.g. [14]. However, it is worth noting that, for the present model of a particle moving in RE, all the information about the correlation functionals $k_{\mu}^{(n)}$ is included in the generating functionals B_{μ} . Indeed, by using the representation (5.21) the latter can be written as

$$B_{\mu}(\theta, y) := \frac{\delta Z_{\mu}(\theta, \psi)}{\delta \psi(y)} = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \, e_{\lambda}(\theta, \eta) \, k_{\mu}(\eta, y) \,, \qquad \theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d), \tag{5.23}$$

for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. For this reason, the generating functionals B_{μ} turns out be the main object of investigation in the study of evolution of correlation functions in the models of RWREs.

Before concluding this section, let us show some useful relation between functional derivatives of the generating functional B_{μ} .

Proposition 5.9. Assume that for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $B_{\mu}(\cdot; y)$ is an entire functional of bounded type on $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then the following relation between variational derivatives holds

$$\left(D^{|\eta|}B_{\mu}\right)(\theta;y;\eta) = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\theta,\xi\right) k_{\mu}\left(\eta\cup\xi,y\right)$$
(5.24)

and, more generally,

$$\left(D^{|\eta|}B_{\mu}\right)\left(\theta_{1}+\theta_{2};y;\eta\right)=\int_{\Gamma_{0}}\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)\left(D^{|\eta\cup\xi|}B_{\mu}\right)\left(\theta_{1};y;\eta\cup\xi\right)e_{\lambda}\left(\theta_{2},\xi\right),\tag{5.25}$$

for any $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\tilde{\lambda}$ -a.a. $(\eta, y) \in \Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proof. First of all let us note that (5.24) is a special case of (5.25) when $\theta_1 = 0$ and $\theta_2 = \theta$. Therefore, we only need to show (5.25).

For $\theta_0 := \theta_1 + \theta_2$ formula (5.10) reads

$$Z_{\mu}\left(\theta_{1}+\theta_{2}+\theta,\psi\right)=\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}\mathrm{d}y\,\psi\left(y\right)\int_{\Gamma_{0}}\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right)e_{\lambda}\left(\theta,\eta\right)\left(D^{|\eta|}B_{\mu}\right)\left(\theta_{1}+\theta_{2},y;\eta\right),\tag{5.26}$$

for any $\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. On the other hand, if we replace θ_0 by θ_1 and θ by $\theta_2 + \theta$, the same formula gives

$$Z_{\mu}\left(\theta_{1}+\theta_{2}+\theta,\psi\right)=\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}\mathrm{d}y\,\psi\left(y\right)\int_{\Gamma_{0}}\mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right)e_{\lambda}\left(\theta_{2}+\theta,\eta\right)\left(D^{|\eta|}B_{\mu}\right)\left(\theta_{1},y;\eta\right).$$
(5.27)

Note that for all $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ one has

$$e_{\lambda} (\theta_{2} + \theta, \eta) = \prod_{x \in \eta} (\theta_{2}(x) + \theta(x))$$
$$= \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \left(\prod_{x \in \xi} \theta(x) \right) \left(\prod_{x' \in \eta \setminus \xi} \theta_{2}(x') \right) = \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} e_{\lambda} (\theta, \xi) e_{\lambda} (\theta_{2}, \eta \setminus \xi).$$

Then, by applying the Minlos formula (1.18) to (5.27) we find

$$Z_{\mu}\left(\theta_{1}+\theta_{2}+\theta,\psi\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y\,\psi\left(y\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)e_{\lambda}\left(\theta,\xi\right) \times e_{\lambda}\left(\theta_{2},\eta\right)\left(D^{|\eta\cup\xi|}B_{\mu}\right)\left(\theta_{1},y;\eta\cup\xi\right).$$
(5.28)

Finally, by comparing this expression with (5.26) we obtain the desired result.

Remark 5.10. Given $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, for $\theta_1 = -\mathbb{1}_{\Lambda}$ and $\theta_2 = \mathbb{1}_{\Lambda}$ identity (5.25) yields

$$k_{\mu}(\eta, y) = \left(D^{|\eta|}B_{\mu}\right)(0, y; \eta) = \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \left(D^{|\eta \cup \xi|}B_{\mu}\right)\left(-\mathbb{1}_{\Lambda}; y; \eta \cup \xi\right)$$

Then, from Corollary 5.5 we obtain

$$k_{\mu}(\eta, y) = \int_{\Gamma(\Lambda)} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu^{\Lambda}}{\mathrm{d}\tilde{\pi}_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}} \left(\gamma \cup \eta, y\right) \pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda}(\mathrm{d}\gamma), \qquad \tilde{\lambda}\text{-a.a.} \ (\eta, y) \in \Gamma_{0} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$

In other words, the definition of correlation functionals given by (5.16) is equivalent to that stated in Lemma 1.28.

5.2 Random Walk in a Kawasaki model of environment

Let us consider the RW of a tagged particle jumping in \mathbb{R}^d and interacting with an infinite system of other hopping particles. For such a model, on the phase space $\Gamma(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ we introduce a stochastic dynamics defined by the Markov pregenerator, $F \in K(B_{\rm bs}(\Gamma_0 \times \mathbb{R}^d))$,

$$(LF)(\gamma, y) = (L_{RE}F)(\gamma, y) + (L_{RW}F)(\gamma, y), \qquad (5.29)$$

where L_{RW} is defined by (2.10), whereas L_{RE} is the pregenerator of the Kawasaki dynamics given by (2.6) with, see e.g. [43],

$$c(x, x', \gamma) := \tilde{c}(x - x') e^{-\sum_{x'' \in \gamma} V(x' - x'')}, \qquad (5.30)$$

for any $x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \gamma$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$. In what follows, we assume that $\tilde{c}, V : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ are two non-negative even functions which are integrable in \mathbb{R}^d . For convenience, we denote

$$\langle \tilde{c} \rangle := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, \tilde{c} \, (x) < \infty$$
 (5.31)

and

$$C_V^1 := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, V\left(x\right) < \infty.$$
(5.32)

In Section 2.2 we have seen that the evolution of states $\mu_t \in \mathcal{M}^1_{\text{fm}}(\Gamma \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ for models of RWRE can be reformulated in terms of the corresponding correlation functional $k_t := k_{\mu_t}$, $t \geq 0$. This leads to the initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}k_t(\eta, y) = \left(\widehat{L}_{RE}^*k_t\right)(\eta, y) + \left(\widehat{L}_{RW}^*k_t\right)(\eta, y) \\ k_t(\eta, y)|_{t=0} = k_0 \end{cases}, \quad \eta \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \quad (5.33)$$

where the generator $\hat{L}^* = \hat{L}_{RE}^* + \hat{L}_{RW}^*$ is defined by (2.26) and (2.28).

Identity (5.21) allows us to express the dynamics of correlation functionals k_t in terms of the Bogoliubov functional $Z_t := Z_{\mu_t}$ associated to the measure μ_t , provided that this functional exists. Informally, by using (2.29), for all $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $\psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $t \ge 0$ we can write

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} Z_t \left(\theta, \psi \right) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\eta \right) e_\lambda \left(\theta, \eta \right) \psi \left(y \right) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} k_t \left(\eta, y \right) \right) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\eta \right) e_\lambda \left(\theta, \eta \right) \psi \left(y \right) \left[\left(\hat{L}_{RE}^* k_t \right) \left(\eta, y \right) + \left(\hat{L}_{RW}^* k_t \right) \left(\eta, y \right) \right] \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\eta \right) \left[\left(\hat{L}_{RE} e_\lambda \left(\theta, \eta \right) \psi \right) \left(\eta, y \right) + \left(\hat{L}_{RW} e_\lambda \left(\theta, \eta \right) \psi \right) \left(\eta, y \right) \right] k_t \left(\eta, y \right). \end{split}$$

Then, if we introduce the operator $\tilde{L} := \tilde{L}_{RE} + \tilde{L}_{RW}$ such that

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RE}Z_{t}\right)\left(\theta,\psi\right) := \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y\left(\hat{L}_{RE}e_{\lambda}\left(\theta\right)\psi\right)\left(\eta,y\right)k_{t}\left(\eta,y\right)$$
(5.34)

and

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW}Z_{t}\right)\left(\theta,\psi\right) := \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y\left(\hat{L}_{RW}e_{\lambda}\left(\theta\right)\psi\right)\left(\eta,y\right)k_{t}\left(\eta,y\right),\tag{5.35}$$

the evolution of the Bogoliubov functional Z_t is obtained as the solution of the equation

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}Z_t\right)(\theta,\psi) = \left(\tilde{L}Z_t\right)(\theta,\psi) = \left(\tilde{L}_{RE}Z_t\right)(\theta,\psi) + \left(\tilde{L}_{RW}Z_t\right)(\theta,\psi), \qquad (5.36)$$

for all $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $\psi \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $t \ge 0$.

As already pointed out in Section 5.1, we do not study the Bogoliubov functional Z_t directly, but its first-order derivative in ψ , namely the generating functional $B_t(\cdot, y) := B_{\mu_t}(\cdot, y)$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, on $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, see identity (5.23). According to representation (5.2), the evolution equation for B_t , $t \ge 0$, can be written as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}B_t(\theta, y) = (\tilde{L}'_{RE}B_t)(\theta, y) + (\tilde{L}'_{RW}B_t)(\theta, y) \\ B_t(\theta, y)|_{t=0} = B_0(\theta, y) \end{cases},$$
(5.37)

where the operators \tilde{L}'_{RE} and \tilde{L}'_{RW} are defined by the identities

$$(\tilde{L}_{RE}Z_t)(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \; \psi(y) \, (\tilde{L}'_{RE}B_t)(\theta,y) \tag{5.38}$$

and

$$(\tilde{L}_{RW}Z_t)(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \ \psi(y) \ (\tilde{L}'_{RW}B_t)(\theta,y), \tag{5.39}$$

for any $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\psi \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

In the case of a RW in Kawasaki model of RE associated to the Markov generator (5.29): the operator \tilde{L}'_{RE} is given by, see e.g. [43, 60],

$$\left(\tilde{L}'_{RE}B\right)(\theta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' \tilde{c} \left(x - x'\right) \mathrm{e}^{-V(x - x')} \left(\theta\left(x'\right) - \theta\left(x\right)\right) \times \frac{\delta B \left(\theta \mathrm{e}^{-V(\cdot - x')} + \left(\mathrm{e}^{-V(\cdot - x')} - 1\right), y\right)}{\delta \theta\left(x\right)}, \qquad (5.40)$$

while the explicit form of the \tilde{L}'_{BW} will be computed in the following proposition.

Proposition 5.11. Let us consider the operator \widehat{L}_{RW} defined by (2.38). Suppose that $B(\cdot; y)$ is an entire functional of bounded type on $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, the following formula holds

$$\begin{split} \left(\tilde{L}'_{RW}B\right)(\theta,y) &= \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta+1,\eta\right) \left[\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot,z,y\right)\right)\left(\eta\right) \left(D^{|\eta|}B\right)\left(\theta,z;\eta\right) - \\ & \left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\mathrm{int}}\left(\cdot,y,z\right)\right)\left(\eta\right) \left(D^{|\eta|}B\right)\left(\theta,y;\eta\right) \right], \end{split}$$

$$(5.41)$$

provided that the right-hand side makes sense.

Remark 5.12. It may be useful to reformulate the result above in some special case that appears in concrete applications. In particular, if

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\text{int}}\left(\cdot,y,z\right)\right)(\eta) = e_{\lambda}\left(\ell_{y,z}(\cdot),\eta\right), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_{0}, \, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$

for some measurable function $l_{y,z} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, according to formula (5.10), the operator \tilde{L}'_{RW} reduces to

$$\left(\tilde{L}'_{RW}B\right)(\theta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z\right) \left[B\left(\theta + (1 + \theta)\,\ell_{z,y}\left(\cdot\right), z\right) - B\left(\theta + (1 + \theta)\,\ell_{y,z}\left(\cdot\right), y\right)\right],\tag{5.42}$$

for all $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, dx)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. It is worth noting that in contrast to (5.41), in this case the operator \tilde{L}'_{RW} doesn't depend on any functional derivative of B. Proof of Proposition 5.11. Let us derive the expression for the operator \tilde{L}_{RW} defined by (5.35), that is

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW}Z\right)(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \left(\hat{L}_{RW}e_\lambda\left(\theta\right)\psi\right)\left(\eta,y\right)k\left(\eta,y\right),$$

for all $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\psi \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$. From (2.40) and (2.41) we have

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW}e_{\lambda}(\theta)\psi\right)(\eta,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right) \left[A\left(\cdot,y,z\right) \star \left(e_{\lambda}(\theta,\cdot)\psi\left(z\right) - e_{\lambda}(\theta,\cdot)\psi\left(y\right)\right)\right](\eta) \, dz$$

Due to the linearity of the \star -convolution, by using (1.27) we can write

$$\left(\widehat{L}_{RW} e_{\lambda}(\theta) \psi \right)(\eta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left(\psi \left(z \right) - \psi \left(y \right) \right) \left[A \left(\cdot, y, z \right) \star e_{\lambda}(\theta, \cdot) \right](\eta)$$

=
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left(\psi \left(z \right) - \psi \left(y \right) \right) \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} A \left(\xi, y, z \right) e_{\lambda} \left(\theta + 1, \xi \right) e_{\lambda} \left(\theta, \eta \setminus \xi \right).$$

Consequently,

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW}Z\right)(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right)\left(\psi\left(z\right)-\psi\left(y\right)\right) \times \\ \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} A\left(\xi,y,z\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta+1,\xi\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta,\eta\setminus\xi\right) k\left(\eta,y\right) + \left(\xi,y,z\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta,\eta\setminus\xi\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta,\eta\setminus\xi\right) k\left(\eta,y\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta,\eta,\psi\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta,\eta\setminus\xi\right) k\left(\eta,y\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta,\eta,\psi\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta,\eta\setminus\xi\right) k\left(\eta,y\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta,\eta,\psi\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta,\psi,\psi\right) e_$$

Next we can apply the Minlos formula 1.18 to get

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW}Z\right)(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z e_\lambda\left(\theta+1,\xi\right) a\left(y-z\right)\left(\psi\left(z\right)-\psi\left(y\right)\right) \times A\left(\xi,y,z\right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) e_\lambda\left(\theta,\eta\right) k\left(\xi\cup\eta,y\right).$$

Having in mind (5.2), by using identity (5.24) we have

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW} Z \right) \left(\theta, \psi \right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a \left(y - z \right) \left(\psi \left(z \right) - \psi \left(y \right) \right) \times \\ \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) A \left(\xi, y, z \right) e_\lambda \left(\theta + 1, \xi \right) \left(D^{|\eta|} B \right) \left(\theta, y; \eta \right),$$

and (5.41) follows.

Remark 5.13. Let us note that the Cauchy problems (5.33) and (5.37) are closely connected to each other. More precisely, if k_t , $t \ge 0$, is a solution to (5.33) then the functional

$$B_t(\theta, y) = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \, e_\lambda(\theta, \eta) \, k_t(\eta, y) \,, \qquad \theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d), y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

solves (5.37). Conversely, given a solution B_t , $t \ge 0$, of (5.37) one can construct the measurable function

$$k_t(\eta, y) = \left(D^{|\eta|} B_t \right)(0, y; \eta), \qquad \eta \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{5.43}$$

which solves (5.33).

The next sections are devoted to the study of solutions to the Cauchy problem (5.37) on a proper Banach space. According to the considerations above, the nature of this space depends directly on the class of correlation functions we are interested in. In this chapter we consider correlation functionals from the Banach space \mathcal{K}_C^1 defined by (2.32). Let us recall that every $k \in \mathcal{K}_C^1$ is a measurable function such that

$$|k(\eta, y)| \leq M(y)C^{|\eta|}, \qquad \tilde{\lambda} - \text{a.a. } \eta \in \Gamma_0, y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where C > 0 and $M(\cdot)$ is a positive and integrable function on \mathbb{R}^d . As a consequence, by using (5.23) together with (1.24), one has

$$B(\theta, y) \leq M(y) \int_{\Gamma_0} C^{|\eta|} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) e_\lambda(\theta, \eta)$$

$$\leq M(y) \mathrm{e}^{C||\theta||_1}, \qquad \theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d), \text{ a.a. } y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

This estimate motivates the definition of the following family of Banach spaces.

Definition 5.14. Given $\alpha > 0$, let \mathcal{E}_{α} be the Banach space of all generating functionals $B(\theta, y)$ on $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ such that for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $B(\cdot; y)$ is entire on $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and

$$\|B\|_{\alpha} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \, \|B\left(\cdot, y\right)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} < \infty, \tag{5.44}$$

where

$$\|B(\cdot, y)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} := \sup_{\theta \in L^{1}} \left(|B(\theta, y)| e^{-\frac{1}{\alpha} \|\theta\|_{1}} \right).$$
(5.45)

Remark 5.15. The fact that $(\mathcal{E}_{\alpha}, ||B||_{\alpha}), \alpha > 0$, defines a Banach space follows from the result in [79, Proposition 23].

In Section 5.2.1 we construct the time evolution of the generating functional B_t , $t \ge 0$, as the solution of the initial value problem (5.37) in the Banach space \mathcal{E}_{α} . Afterwards, in Section 5.2.2 we apply the general scheme of Vlasov-type scaling described in Section 2.3 to (5.37): we study the convergence to the corresponding mesoscopic evolution and derive the kinetic equations for the considered model.

5.2.1 Non-equilibrium evolution of generating functionals

In this section we study the existence and uniqueness of solutions to initial value problem (5.37) in the Banach space \mathcal{E}_{α} introduced in Definition 5.14.

The time evolution of Bogoliubov functionals for the Kawasaki dynamics in (5.29) has been constructed in [43]. This construction was carried out by using an Ovsjannikov-type result in a scale of Banach spaces. In the present case, from Definition 5.14 it follows that, for each $\alpha_0 > 0$, the family { $\mathcal{E}_{\alpha} : 0 < \alpha \leq \alpha_0$ } defines a scale of Banach spaces. In fact, for any $\alpha' \geq \alpha > 0$ we have

$$\mathcal{E}_{\alpha'} \subseteq \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}, \qquad \|\cdot\|_{\alpha} \le \|\cdot\|_{\alpha'}$$

In this settings, the solutions to the Cauchy problem (5.37) can be analyzed by applying the existence and uniqueness result stated in Theorem 4.2.

In the following two subsections we consider explicitly the cases for the interactions $\lambda^{(1)}$ and $\lambda^{(2)}$ defined in (2.13) and (2.14), respectively. Clearly, similar considerations can be also applied to $\lambda^{(3)}$ and $\lambda^{(4)}$, see (2.15) and (2.16), respectively. Before proceeding with this analysis, let us recall a general result from [43, Proposition 3.2] regarding the operator \tilde{L}'_{RE} , which we will use later on. **Lemma 5.16.** Suppose that condition (5.32) holds. Let $0 < \alpha < \alpha_0$ be given. If $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha''}$ for some $\alpha'' \in (\alpha, \alpha_0]$, then $\tilde{L}'_{RE}B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha'}$, and

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RE}^{\prime}B\right\|_{\alpha^{\prime}} \leq 2\frac{\alpha_{0}}{\alpha^{\prime\prime} - \alpha^{\prime}} \langle \tilde{c} \rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{V}^{1}}{\alpha}} \left\|B\right\|_{\alpha}, \qquad (5.46)$$

for all $\alpha \leq \alpha' < \alpha'' \leq \alpha_0$.

Remark 5.17. Note that a similar estimate can be shown in the case where \hat{L}'_{RE} is the generator associated to a Glauber-type dynamics, see e.g. [61, Proposition 3.2]. As a consequence, the scheme illustrated above can be also applied to study RWs moving in a Glauber-type environment.

5.2.1.1 RW in a Kawasaki model of environment: Case I

Let us consider a RW whose interaction with RE is given by

$$\lambda_{\text{int}}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(1)}(\gamma, y) = e^{-\sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - y)}, \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{5.47}$$

where $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative even function such that

$$C^{1}_{\phi} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \,\phi\left(x\right) < \infty.$$
(5.48)

For interaction (5.47) we have, compare to (2.49),

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda^{(1)}\left(\cdot,y\right)\right)(\eta) = e_{\lambda}\left(\ell_{y}(\cdot),\eta\right), \qquad \ell_{y}\left(\cdot\right) = e^{-\phi(\cdot-y)} - 1,$$

for any $\eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, taking into account (5.42), the initial value problem (5.37) reads

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}B_t(\theta, y) = (\tilde{L}'_{RE}B_t)(\theta, y) + (\tilde{L}^{(1)}_{RW}B_t)(\theta, y) \\ B_t(\theta, y)|_{t=0} = B_0(\theta, y) \end{cases},$$
(5.49)

where the operator \tilde{L}'_{RE} is defined by (5.40), while $\tilde{L}^{(1)}_{RW}$ is given by

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW}^{(1)}B\right)(\theta,y) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right) \left[B\left(\theta \mathrm{e}^{-\phi(\cdot-z)} + \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\phi(\cdot-z)} - 1\right), z\right) - B\left(\theta \mathrm{e}^{-\phi(\cdot-y)} + \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\phi(\cdot-y)} - 1\right), y\right)\right].$$
(5.50)

Note that under assumption (5.48) the operator $\tilde{L}_{RW}^{(1)}$ turns out to be bounded in \mathcal{E}_{α} . In particular we can show the following result.

Lemma 5.18. Suppose that condition (5.48) holds. Then, given an $\alpha > 0$, for all $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ and $\alpha' \leq \alpha$ we have $\tilde{L}_{RW}^{(1)}B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha'}$ and

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW}^{(1)}B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\langle a\rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{\phi}^{1}}{\alpha}} \left\|B\right\|_{\alpha}.$$
(5.51)

Proof. Let us fix a $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and denote

$$\varphi\left(\cdot;y\right)=\mathrm{e}^{-\phi\left(\cdot-y\right)},\qquad\quad\chi\left(\cdot;y\right)=\mathrm{e}^{-\phi\left(\cdot-y\right)}-1.$$

As the potential ϕ is non-negative and integrable, $\varphi(\cdot; y) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\chi(\cdot; y) \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$. In particular, one has

$$\left\|\varphi\left(\cdot;y\right)\right\|_{\infty} \le 1 \tag{5.52}$$

and

$$\|\chi(\cdot; y)\|_{1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x' \left| \mathrm{e}^{-\phi(x'-y)} - 1 \right| \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x' \left| \phi(x) \right| =: C_{\phi}^{1}.$$
(5.53)

In this notation the operator $\tilde{L}^{(1)}_{RW}$ can be written as

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW}^{(1)}B\right)(\theta,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) B\left(\theta\varphi(\cdot,z) + \chi(\cdot,z),z\right) - \langle a\rangle B\left(\theta\varphi(\cdot,y) + \chi(\cdot,y),y\right).$$

Since $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$, for all $\theta \in L^1$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ one has

$$\begin{split} |B\left(\theta\varphi(\cdot,y) + \chi\phi(\cdot,y),y\right)| &\leq ||B\left(\cdot,y\right)||_{\infty}^{\alpha} e^{\frac{||\theta\varphi(\cdot,y)||_{1}}{\alpha} + \frac{||\chi(\cdot,y)||_{1}}{\alpha}} \\ &\leq ||B\left(\cdot,y\right)||_{\infty}^{\alpha} e^{\frac{||\theta||_{1}}{\alpha} + \frac{C_{\phi}^{1}}{\alpha}}, \end{split}$$

where the last inequality follows from (5.52) and (5.53). As a result, we find

$$\left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW}^{(1)} B \right) (\theta, y) \right| \le e^{\frac{\|\theta\|_1}{\alpha} + \frac{C_{\phi}^1}{\alpha}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz a \left(y - z \right) \|B(\cdot, z)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} - \langle a \rangle \|B(\cdot, y)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} \right].$$
(5.54)

Hence, the norm of $\tilde{L}_{RW}^{(1)}$ in the space $\mathcal{E}_{\alpha'}$ can be estimated as follows

$$\begin{split} \left\| \tilde{L}_{RW}^{(1)} B \right\|_{\alpha'} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{\|\theta\|_1}{\alpha'}} \left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW}' B \right) (\theta, y) \right| \\ &\leq \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{\phi}}{\alpha}} \left(\sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\left(\frac{1}{\alpha'} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \|\theta\|_1} \right) \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a \left(y - z \right) \| B\left(\cdot, z \right) \|_{\infty}^{\alpha} - \langle a \rangle \| B\left(\cdot, y \right) \|_{\infty}^{\alpha} \right] \\ &\leq 2 \langle a \rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{\phi}}{\alpha}} \| B \|_{\alpha} \left(\sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\left(\frac{1}{\alpha'} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \|\theta\|_1} \right). \end{split}$$

Note that the latter supremum is finite for all $\alpha' \leq \alpha$. In such cases we simply have

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW}^{(1)}B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\langle a\rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{\phi}^{1}}{\alpha}} \left\|B\right\|_{\alpha},\tag{5.55}$$

which conludes the proof of the lemma.

By Proposition 5.16 and 5.18, given $0 < \alpha < \alpha_0$ for any $\alpha \leq \alpha' < \alpha'' \leq \alpha_0$ and $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha''}$ we have the following estimate

$$\left\| \left(\tilde{L}'_{RE} + \tilde{L}^{(1)}_{RW} \right) B \right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2 \frac{\alpha_0}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} \langle \tilde{c} \rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_V^1}{\alpha}} \left\| B \right\|_{\alpha''} + 2 \langle a \rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_\phi^1}{\alpha}} \left\| B \right\|_{\alpha''}.$$
(5.56)

Then a direct application of Theorem 4.2 leads to the following existence and uniqueness result for (5.49).

Theorem 5.19. Suppose that conditions (5.32) and (5.48) hold. Then, given an $\alpha_0 > 0$, for each $\alpha \in (0, \alpha_0)$ there exists a moment of time

$$T_1 := T_1(\alpha, \alpha_0) = \frac{e^{-\frac{C_V^1}{\alpha} - 1}}{2\alpha_0 \langle \tilde{c} \rangle}, \qquad (5.57)$$

such that the Cauchy problem (5.49) with initial condition $B_0 \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha_0}$ has a unique solution $B_t \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$, on the time interval $[0, T_1)$.

Proof. The result follows from Theorem 4.2 by (5.56).

5.2.1.2 RW in a Kawasaki model of environment: Case II

Let us consider the interaction given by

$$\lambda_{\rm int}(\gamma, y, z) := \lambda^{(2)}(\gamma, y) = \lambda_0 + \sum_{x' \in \gamma} \phi(x' - y), \qquad \gamma \in \Gamma, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{5.58}$$

where $\lambda_0 \geq 0$ and $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative even function such that

$$C^{1}_{\phi} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \,\phi\left(x\right) < \infty \tag{5.59}$$

and

$$C_{\phi}^{\infty} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \phi\left(x\right) < \infty.$$
(5.60)

According to (5.41) and (2.56), in this case the operator \tilde{L}' has the form

$$\left(\tilde{L}'B\right)\left(\theta,y\right) = \left(\tilde{L}'_{RE}B\right)\left(\theta,y\right) + \left(\tilde{L}^{(2)}_{RW}B\right)\left(\theta,y\right),\tag{5.61}$$

where \tilde{L}'_{RE} is given by (5.40) and

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta, y) = \lambda_0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right) \left(B\left(\theta, z\right) - B\left(\theta, y\right)\right) + \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, \left[\phi\left(x-z\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta, z; x\right) - \phi\left(x-y\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta, y; x\right)\right] + \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, \theta\left(x\right) \left[\phi\left(x-z\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta, z; x\right) - \phi\left(x-y\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta, y; x\right)\right].$$

$$(5.62)$$

For the latter we can show the following estimate in the Banach space \mathcal{E}_{α} .

Lemma 5.20. Assume that conditions (5.59) and (5.60) hold. Then, given $\alpha > 0$, for all $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ and $\alpha' < \alpha$ we have $\tilde{L}'_{RW}B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha'}$. Moreover,

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW}^{(2)}B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\left(\lambda_0 \langle a \rangle + \frac{e\langle a \rangle}{\alpha} C_{\phi}^1 + \frac{\alpha'}{\alpha - \alpha'} \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty}\right) \|B\|_{\alpha}.$$
(5.63)

Proof. For brevity, we write

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) := \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,1}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) + \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) + \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y),$$

where

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW,1}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) = \lambda_0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \left(B\left(\theta,z\right) - B\left(\theta,y\right)\right),\tag{5.64}$$

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, \left[\phi\left(x-z\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta,z;x\right) - \phi\left(x-y\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta,y;x\right)\right]$$
(5.65)

and

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y-z\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, \theta\left(x\right) \left[\phi\left(x-z\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta,z;x\right) - \phi\left(x-y\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta,y;x\right)\right].$$
(5.66)

Let us estimate these three terms separately. We start with the operator $\tilde{L}_{RW,1}^{(2)}$. From Definition 5.14, given a $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ for all $\theta \in L^1$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we have

$$|B(\theta, y)| \le e^{\frac{\|\theta\|_1}{\alpha}} \|B(\cdot, y)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha}.$$

Thus, one may estimate

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,1}^{(2)} B \right) (\theta, y) \right| &\leq \lambda_0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left| B \left(\theta, z \right) \right| + \left\langle a \right\rangle \left| B \left(\theta, y \right) \right| \\ &\leq \lambda_0 \mathrm{e}^{\frac{\left\| \theta \right\|_1}{\alpha}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left\| B \left(\cdot, z \right) \right\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} + \left\langle a \right\rangle \left\| B \left(\cdot, y \right) \right\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} \right]. \end{split}$$

As a consequence, its norm in $\mathcal{E}_{\alpha'}$ can be bounded as follows

$$\begin{split} \left\| \tilde{L}_{RW,1}^{(2)} B \right\|_{\alpha'} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{\|\theta\|_1}{\alpha'}} \left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(1)} B \right) (\theta, y) \right| \\ &\leq \lambda_0 \left(\sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\left(\frac{1}{\alpha'} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \|\theta\|_1} \right) \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y - z) \, \|B\left(\cdot, z\right)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} + \langle a \rangle \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \, \|B\left(\cdot, y\right)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} \right] \\ &\leq 2\lambda_0 \langle a \rangle \, \|B\|_{\alpha} \left(\sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\left(\frac{1}{\alpha'} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \|\theta\|_1} \right). \end{split}$$

In particular, if we chose $\alpha' \leq \alpha$ we simply find

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW,1}^{(2)}\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\lambda_0 \langle a \rangle \left\|B\right\|_{\alpha}.$$
(5.67)

Next let us consider the operator $\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)}$ defined by (5.66). By (5.60), for all $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)} B \right) (\theta, y) \right| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y - z) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, \left| \theta \left(x \right) \right| \left[\phi \left(x - z \right) \left| \left(DB \right) \left(\theta, z; x \right) \right| + \\ \phi \left(x - y \right) \left| \left(DB \right) \left(\theta, y; x \right) \right| \right] \\ &\leq \| \theta \|_1 \, C_{\phi}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y - z) \left[\left\| \left(DB \right) \left(\theta, z; \cdot \right) \right\|_{\infty} + \left\| \left(DB \right) \left(\theta, y; \cdot \right) \right\|_{\infty} \right] \end{split}$$

From Lemma 5.3, we know that for all r > 0,

$$\|(DB)(\theta, z; \cdot)\|_{\infty} \le \frac{1}{r} \sup_{\|\theta_0\|_1 \le r} |B(\theta + \theta_0, z)|.$$
(5.68)

On the other hand, since $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ for all $\theta_0 \in L^1$ such that $\|\theta_0\|_1 \leq r$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we have

$$|B(\theta + \theta_0, z)| \le e^{\frac{r}{\alpha} + \frac{\|\theta\|_1}{\alpha}} \|B(\cdot, z)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha}.$$
(5.69)

These two estimates yield

$$\left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)} B \right) (\theta, y) \right| \le C_{\phi}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\frac{r}{\alpha}}}{r} \left\| \theta \right\|_{1} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{\|\theta\|_{1}}{\alpha}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z a \left(y - z \right) \left\| B(\cdot, z) \right\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} + \langle a \rangle \left\| B(\cdot, y) \right\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} \right].$$
(5.70)

Then, by (5.70) the norm of $\tilde{L}^{(2)}_{RW,3}$ in $\mathcal{E}_{\alpha'}$ can be estimated as follows

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)}B\right\|_{\alpha'} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{\|\theta\|_1}{\alpha'}} \left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(3)}B\right)(\theta, y) \right|$$

$$\leq C_{\phi}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\frac{r}{\alpha}}}{r} \left(\sup_{\theta \in L^{1}} \|\theta\|_{1} \mathrm{e}^{-\left(\frac{1}{\alpha'} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right)\|\theta\|_{1}} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z a \left(y - z\right) \left[\|B(\cdot, z)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} + \|B(\cdot, y)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} \right]$$

$$\leq 2\langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\frac{r}{\alpha}}}{r} \|B\|_{\alpha} \sup_{\theta \in L^{1}} \left(\|\theta\|_{1} \mathrm{e}^{-\left(\frac{1}{\alpha'} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right)\|\theta\|_{1}} \right),$$

where the last supremum is finite provided that $\alpha' < \alpha$. In such a situation, by using the elementary inequality

$$xe^{-mx} \le \frac{1}{em}, \qquad x \ge 0, \ m > 0,$$
 (5.71)

we find

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)}B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\langle a\rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\frac{r}{\alpha}}}{r} \frac{\alpha'\alpha}{\mathrm{e}\left(\alpha-\alpha'\right)} \left\|B\right\|_{\alpha}.$$
(5.72)

Note that the best bound can be obtained by minimizing the term in the r.h.s. with respect to the parameter r, that is, for $r = \alpha$. With this choice it follows

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)}B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le \frac{\alpha'}{(\alpha - \alpha')} 2\langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty} \left\|B\right\|_{\alpha}.$$
(5.73)

Finally let us consider the operator $\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(2)}$ given by (5.65). Since the potential ϕ is integrable, see (5.59), one has

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(2)} B \right) (\theta, y) \right| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \left[\phi \left(x - z \right) \left| \left(DB \right) \left(\theta, z; x \right) \right| + \phi \left(x - y \right) \left| \left(DB \right) \left(\theta, y; x \right) \right| \right] \\ &\leq C_{\phi}^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left[\left\| \left(DB \right) \left(\theta, z; \cdot \right) \right\|_{\infty} + \left\| \left(DB \right) \left(\theta, y; \cdot \right) \right\|_{\infty} \right] \end{split}$$

for all $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Next, by using estimates (5.68) and (5.69), we find

$$\left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(2)} B \right) (\theta, y) \right| \le C_{\phi}^{1} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\frac{r}{\alpha}}}{r} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{\|\theta\|_{1}}{\alpha}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \|B(\cdot, z)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} + \langle a \rangle \|B(\cdot, y)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} \right].$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(2)} B \right\|_{\alpha'} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{\|\theta\|_1}{\alpha'}} \left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(2)} B \right) (\theta, y) \right| \\ &\leq C_{\phi}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\frac{r}{\alpha}}}{r} \left(\sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\left(\frac{1}{\alpha'} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \|\theta\|_1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y - z) \left[\left\| B(\cdot, z) \right\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} + \left\| B(\cdot, y) \right\|_{\infty}^{\alpha} \right] \\ &\leq 2 \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\frac{r}{\alpha}}}{r} \left\| B \right\|_{\alpha} \left(\sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\left(\frac{1}{\alpha'} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \|\theta\|_1} \right). \end{split}$$

Note that the latter supremum is finite for any $\alpha' \leq \alpha$. In such a case, if we take again $r = \alpha$, we obtain

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(2)}B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le \frac{2\mathrm{e}}{\alpha} \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{1} \left\|B\right\|_{\alpha}.$$
(5.74)

Finally, the combination of (5.67), (5.73) and (5.74) provides (5.63).

Now we can apply Theorem 4.2 and formulate the following results about the evolution of the generating functionals.

Theorem 5.21. Suppose that conditions (5.32), (5.59) and (5.60) hold. Given an $\alpha_0 > 0$, let $B_0 \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha_0}$. Then, for each $\alpha \in (0, \alpha_0)$ there exists a moment of time

$$T_2 := T_2(\alpha, \alpha_0) = \frac{2\alpha_0}{\left(\langle \tilde{c} \rangle e^{\frac{C_V^1}{\alpha}} + \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty}\right)},$$
(5.75)

such that the initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}B_t = (\tilde{L}'_{RE}B_t) + (\tilde{L}^{(2)}_{RW}B_t)\\ B_t|_{t=0} = B_0 \end{cases},$$
(5.76)

has a unique solution $B_t \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ on the time interval $[0, T_2)$.

Proof. By combining the results stated in Proposition 5.16 and 5.20, for any $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha''}$ and $0 < \alpha \leq \alpha' < \alpha'' \leq \alpha_0$ we have

$$\left\| \left(\tilde{L}'_{RE} + \tilde{L}'_{RW,2} \right) B \right\|_{\alpha'} \le \frac{M_1}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} \left\| B \right\|_{\alpha''} + M_0 \left\| B \right\|_{\alpha''}, \tag{5.77}$$

where

$$M_1 := M_1(\alpha, \alpha_0) = 2\alpha_0 \langle \tilde{c} \rangle e^{\frac{C_V}{\alpha}} + 2\alpha_0 \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty}$$

and

$$M_0 := M_0(\alpha, \alpha_0) = 2\langle a \rangle \left(\lambda_0 + \frac{eC_{\phi}^1}{\alpha} \right).$$

Then the statement is a direct consequence of Lemma 4.2.

1

5.2.2 Vlasov-type scaling via generating functionals

In this section we want to investigate the Vlasov-type scaling limit for the stochastic dynamics associated to the heuristic Markov generator (5.29)-(5.32). Through this section we assume that

$$C_V^{\infty} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} V(x) < \infty.$$
(5.78)

In Section 2.3 we described a general scheme to construct the Vlasov-type scaling of the evolution of correlation functions for RWREs. Here, we reformulate the problem in terms of generating functionals. For the Kawasaki dynamics (5.29) this mesoscopic limit has been studied in [10] and [43] through correlation functions and generating functionals, respectively.

Let us recall that the Vlasov-type scaling can be realized in three steps starting from the hierarchy for correlation functions (5.33). First we rescale the initial condition of (5.33) in order to increase the density of particles of RE. Namely, for any $\varepsilon > 0$ we introduce a rescaled correlation function $k_0^{(\varepsilon)}$ such that

$$k_{0,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}\left(\eta,y\right):=\varepsilon^{\left|\eta\right|}k_{0}^{\left(\varepsilon\right)}\left(\eta,y\right)\longrightarrow r_{0}\left(\eta,y\right),$$

as ε goes to zero, for any $\eta \in \Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. In correspondence, for each ε we define the rescaled generating functional

$$B_{0}^{\left(\varepsilon\right)}\left(\theta,y\right) := \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\theta,\eta\right) k_{0}^{\left(\varepsilon\right)}\left(\eta,y\right)$$

and the renormalized generating functional

$$B_{0,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}\left(\theta,y\right) := \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\theta,\eta\right) k_{0,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}\left(\eta,y\right)$$

$$= \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) e_\lambda\left(\varepsilon\theta,\eta\right) k_0^{(\varepsilon)}\left(\eta,y\right) = B_0^{(\varepsilon)}\left(\varepsilon\theta,y\right),\tag{5.79}$$

for any $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Afterwards, we consider a proper scaling of the generators in (5.33), which makes all interactions among particles weak. Formally, we write

$$L^{\triangle} = L^{\triangle}_{RE}(V) + L^{\triangle}_{RW}(\lambda_{\text{int}}) \longmapsto L^{\triangle}_{\varepsilon} = L^{\triangle}_{RE}(\varepsilon V) + L^{\triangle}_{RW}(\lambda_{\varepsilon}).$$
(5.80)

The form of the rescaled interaction λ_{ε} has been already discussed in Section 2.3.2 in different cases. As in Section 5.2, we can use (5.21) to construct a scaling of the operator $\tilde{L}' = \tilde{L}'_{RE} + \tilde{L}'_{RW}$. Consequently, scaling (5.79) and (5.80) yield the renormalized initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} B_{t,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}(\theta, y) = (\tilde{L}'_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} B_{t,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}})(\theta, y) + (\tilde{L}'_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} B_{t,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}})(\theta, y) \\ B_{t,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}|_{t=0} = B_{0,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} \end{cases},$$
(5.81)

where for any $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and t > 0,

$$B_{t,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}\left(\theta,y\right) := B_{t}^{(\varepsilon)}\left(\varepsilon\theta,y\right) = \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\varepsilon\theta,\eta\right) k_{t}^{(\varepsilon)}\left(\eta,y\right).$$
(5.82)

According to [43, Proposition 4.1], the operator $\tilde{L}'_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$ is given by

$$\left(\tilde{L}'_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}B\right)(\theta,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' \tilde{c} \left(x-x'\right) \mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon V(x-x')} \left(\theta\left(x'\right)-\theta\left(x\right)\right) \times \frac{\delta B\left(\theta \mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon V(\cdot-x')}+\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon V(\cdot-x')}-1}{\varepsilon},y\right)}{\delta \theta\left(x\right)}.$$
(5.83)

In the following proposition we compute the precise form of $\tilde{L}'_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$ for a generic rescaled interaction λ_{ε} .

Proposition 5.22. Given $\varepsilon > 0$ the following formula holds

$$\left(\tilde{L}'_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} B \right) (\theta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y-z) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) e_\lambda \left(\varepsilon \theta + 1, \xi \right) \times \left[\varepsilon^{-|\xi|} A_\varepsilon \left(\xi, z, y \right) \left(D^{|\xi|} B \right) \left(\theta, z; \xi \right) - \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} A_\varepsilon \left(\xi, y, z \right) \left(D^{|\xi|} B \right) \left(\theta, y; \xi \right) \right],$$

$$(5.84)$$

for all $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, dx)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Remark 5.23. According to Remark 5.12, in the case

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot,y,z\right)\right)(\xi) = e_{\lambda}\left(\ell_{y,z}^{(\varepsilon)}\left(\cdot\right),\xi\right), \qquad \xi \in \Gamma_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \tag{5.85}$$

we have

$$\left(\tilde{L}'_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} B \right) (\theta, y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a \left(y - z \right) \left[B \left(\theta (1 + \ell_{z,y}^{(\varepsilon)}) + \varepsilon^{-1} \ell_{z,y}^{(\varepsilon)}, z \right) - B \left(\theta (1 + \ell_{y,z}^{(\varepsilon)}) + \varepsilon^{-1} \ell_{y,z}^{(\varepsilon)}, y \right) \right].$$
 (5.86)

Proof of Proposition 5.22. The renormalized operator $\tilde{L}'_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}$ is defined by

$$(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}Z_t)(\theta,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \ \psi(y) \ (\tilde{L}'_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}B_t)(\theta,y), \tag{5.87}$$

where

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}Z\right)(\theta,\psi) := \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y\left(\hat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}e_\lambda\left(\theta\right)\psi\right)\left(\eta,y\right)k\left(\eta,y\right),$$

for any $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. On the other hand, according to (2.41) and (2.91) we have

$$\begin{split} \left(\widehat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} e_{\lambda}(\theta) \psi \right) (\eta, y) &= \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left(\widehat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon} e_{\lambda}(\varepsilon\theta, \cdot) \psi(\cdot) \right) (\eta, y) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \left(y - z \right) \left(\psi(z) - \psi(y) \right) \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \left[\left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot, y, z \right) \right) (\xi) \star e_{\lambda}(\varepsilon\theta, \cdot) \right] (\eta) \,. \end{split}$$

In particular, by using (1.27) we can write

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\widehat{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} e_{\lambda}(\theta) \psi \right)(\eta, y) &= \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y - z \right) \left(\psi(z) - \psi(y) \right) \varepsilon^{-|\eta|} \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot, y, z \right) \right)(\xi) \, e_{\lambda}(\varepsilon \theta + 1, \xi) e_{\lambda}(\varepsilon \theta, \eta \setminus \xi), \end{aligned}$$

which yields

$$\begin{split} \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} Z_t \right) (\theta, \psi) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}za \left(y - z \right) \left(\psi(z) - \psi(y) \right) \times \\ &\int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\eta \right) k_t \left(\eta, y \right) \sum_{\xi \subset \eta} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot, y, z \right) \right) (\xi) \, e_\lambda(\varepsilon \theta + 1, \xi) e_\lambda(\theta, \eta \setminus \xi). \end{split}$$

Next, using Minlos identity (1.18) together with (5.24), we find

$$\begin{split} \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}Z_{t}\right)\left(\theta,\psi\right) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right)\left(\psi(z)-\psi(y)\right) \times \\ &\int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)\varepsilon^{-|\xi|}\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot,y,z\right)\right)\left(\xi\right)e_{\lambda}(\varepsilon\theta+1,\xi)\int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\eta\right)e_{\lambda}(\theta,\eta)k_{t}\left(\eta,y\right) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}y \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za\left(y-z\right)\left(\psi(z)-\psi(y)\right) \times \\ &\int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)\varepsilon^{-|\xi|}\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot,y,z\right)\right)\left(\xi\right)e_{\lambda}(\varepsilon\theta+1,\xi)\left(D^{|\xi|}B\right)\left(\theta,y;\xi\right). \end{split}$$
(5.88)

Having in mind (5.87), from (5.88) we can easily obtain (5.84).

As the next step we consider the limit when
$$\varepsilon$$
 goes to zero of the two generators which
appear in (5.81). From [43, Proposition 4.2] we have the following result about the point-wise
convergence of $\tilde{L}'_{RE,\varepsilon,ren}$.

Proposition 5.24. Suppose that condition (5.32) is satisfied. Then,

(i) given $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$, for some $\alpha > 0$, the following limit holds

$$(\tilde{L}'_{RE,V}B)(\theta, y) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} (\tilde{L}'_{RE,\varepsilon,ren}B)(\theta, y)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x' \tilde{c} (x - x') (\theta (x') - \theta (x)) \frac{\delta B (\theta - V(\cdot - x'), y)}{\delta \theta (x)},$$
(5.89)

for any $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

(ii) given $\alpha_0 > \alpha > 0$, if $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha''}$, for some $\alpha'' \in (\alpha, \alpha_0]$, we have

$$\left\{\tilde{L}'_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}B,\tilde{L}'_{RE,V}B\right\}\subset\mathcal{E}_{\alpha'},\qquad for \ all\quad\alpha\leq\alpha'<\alpha'',$$

moreover,

$$\left\|\tilde{L}'_{RE,\#}\right\|_{\alpha'} \le \frac{\alpha_0}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} 2\langle \tilde{c} \rangle e^{\frac{C_V}{\alpha}} \|B\|_{\alpha''}, \qquad (5.90)$$

where $\# = "\varepsilon, \operatorname{ren}" \text{ or } "V"$.

In the proposition below we consider the point-wise limit of $\tilde{L}'_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$.

Proposition 5.25. Assume that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(y, z, \cdot \right) \right) \left(\xi \right) = A_V \left(\xi, y, z \right), \tag{5.91}$$

for a.a. $\xi \in \Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, for any $B \in \mathcal{E}_\alpha$, $\alpha > 0$, the following limit holds:

$$\left(\tilde{L}'_{RW,V} B \right) (\theta, y) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(\tilde{L}'_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}} B \right) (\theta, y)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a \left(y - z \right) \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda \left(\xi \right) \left[A_V \left(\xi, z, y \right) \left(D^{|\xi|} B \right) \left(\theta, z; \xi \right) - A_V \left(\xi, y, z \right) \left(D^{|\xi|} B \right) \left(\theta, y; \xi \right) \right],$$

$$(5.92)$$

for all $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proof. The limit in (5.92) follows directly from (5.84). Indeed, we can note that for $\varepsilon \to 0$

$$e_{\lambda}(\varepsilon\theta+1,\xi) \longrightarrow e_{\lambda}(1,\xi) \equiv 1$$

and, due to hypothesis (5.91),

$$\varepsilon^{-|\xi|} \left(K^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(\cdot, y, z \right) \right) (\xi) \longrightarrow A_{V} \left(\xi, y, z \right).$$

Remark 5.26. As in Remark 5.23, let us consider the case where (5.85) holds. In this case, if we assume that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-1} \ell_{y,z}^{(\varepsilon)}(x) = \ell_{y,z}^{(V)}(x), \qquad (5.93)$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and a.a. $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$, the operator $\tilde{L}'_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$ in (5.86), converges as ε goes to zero, to

$$\left(\tilde{L}'_{RW,V}B\right)(\theta,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \left[B\left(\theta + \ell_{z,y}^{(V)}, z\right) - B\left(\theta + \ell_{y,z}^{(V)}, y\right)\right].$$
(5.94)

Indeed, in the case (5.85), the operator $\tilde{L}'_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$ is given by (5.86). Condition (5.93) implies that

$$\ell_{y,z}^{(\varepsilon)}(x) \to 0, \qquad \varepsilon \to 0,$$

and the statement follows.

According to Proposition 5.24 and 5.25, we can define the limiting Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} B_{t,V}(\theta, y) = (\tilde{L}'_{RE,V} B_{t,V})(\theta, y) + (\tilde{L}'_{RW,V} B_{t,V})(\theta, y) \\ B_{t,V}|_{t=0} = B_{0,V} \end{cases}$$
(5.95)

Following the analysis in Section 2.3.1, in the next lemma we show that the limiting evolution (5.95) preserves chaos, see (2.85)-(2.86), and, therefore, we derive (point-wisely) the

kinetic equations associated to the Markov dynamics (5.29). Note that for states of the form $r_0(\eta, y) = e_\lambda(\rho_0, \eta) r_0(y), \ \eta \in \Gamma_0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, the corresponding generating functional reads

$$B_{0,V}(\theta, y) = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda(\eta) \, e_\lambda(\theta, \eta) \, e_\lambda(\rho_0(\cdot), \eta) r_0(y) = r_0(y) \, \mathrm{e}^{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \, \theta(x) \rho_0(x)}, \tag{5.96}$$

for any $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, the chaos preservation property (2.85)-(2.86) implies that for initial conditions $B_{0,V}$ of the form (5.96) the evolution $B_{0,V} \mapsto B_{t,V}$, t > 0, is such that

$$B_{t,V}(\theta, y) = r_t(y) e^{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \,\theta(x)\rho_t(x)} =: B_{t,V}^{(\mathrm{coh})}(\theta, y) \,, \tag{5.97}$$

for any $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Lemma 5.27. Given $0 < \alpha < \alpha_0$, let $\rho_t \in \overline{B}_{1/\alpha_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_t \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $t \ge 0$, be solutions to the Vlasov equations

$$\frac{\partial \rho_t(x)}{\partial t} = \left(\rho_t * \tilde{c}\right) (x) \mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_t * V)(x)} - \rho_t(x) \left(\tilde{c} * \mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_t * V)}\right) (x), \tag{5.98}$$

$$\frac{\partial r_t(y)}{\partial t} = \int_{\Gamma_0} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_\lambda\left(\rho_t,\xi\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \left[r_t\left(z\right) A_V\left(\xi,z,y\right) - r_t\left(y\right) A_V\left(\xi,y,z\right)\right], \quad (5.99)$$

with initial conditions $\rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0$ and $r_t|_{t=0} = r_0$. Then, $B_{t,V}^{(\text{coh})} \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha_0} \subset \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$, $t \ge 0$, solves the Cauchy problem (5.95) with initial condition $B_{0,V}^{(\text{coh})} \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha_0}$.

Proof. First let us note that $\rho_t \in \overline{B}_{1/\alpha_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_t \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ implies that $B_{t,V}^{(\mathrm{coh})} \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha_0} \subset \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$, $t \geq 0$. Next let us show that $B_{t,V}^{(\mathrm{coh})}(\theta, y)$ solves equation (5.95), namely

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}B_{t,V}^{(\mathrm{coh})}(\theta, y) = (\tilde{L}'_{RE,V}B_{t,V}^{(\mathrm{coh})})(\theta, y) + (\tilde{L}'_{RW,V}B_{t,V}^{(\mathrm{coh})})(\theta, y),$$
(5.100)

for any $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. By (5.97), the derivative in the l.h.s. can be written explicitly as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} B_{t,V}^{(\mathrm{coh})}(\theta, y) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[r_t(y) e^{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \theta(x) \rho_t(x)} \right] \\
= \frac{\partial r_t(y)}{\partial t} B_{t,V,RE}^{(\mathrm{coh})}(\theta) + B_{t,V}^{(\mathrm{coh})}(\theta, y) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \theta(x) \frac{\partial \rho_t(x)}{\partial t},$$
(5.101)

where

$$B_{t,V,RE}^{(\mathrm{coh})}\left(\theta\right) := \mathrm{e}^{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \theta(x) \rho_t(x)}.$$
(5.102)

On the other hand, according to (5.89) and (5.92), we have

$$\begin{split} \left(\tilde{L}'_{V}B^{(\mathrm{coh})}_{t,V}\right)(\theta,y) &:= \left(\tilde{L}'_{RE,V}B^{(\mathrm{coh})}_{t,V}\right)(\theta,y) + \left(\tilde{L}'_{RW,V}B^{(\mathrm{coh})}_{t,V}\right)(\theta,y) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x'\tilde{c}\left(x'-x\right)\left(\theta(x')-\theta(x)\right)\left(DB^{(\mathrm{coh})}_{t,V}\right)\left(\theta-V(x'-\cdot),y;x\right) + \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \,a\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right)\left[A_{V}\left(\xi,z,y\right)\left(D^{|\xi|}B^{(\mathrm{coh})}_{t,V}\right)\left(\theta,z;\xi\right) - \\ &A_{V}\left(\xi,y,z\right)\left(D^{|\xi|}B^{(\mathrm{coh})}_{t,V}\right)\left(\theta,y;\xi\right)\right]. \end{split}$$

Next, since

$$\left(D^{|\xi|}B_{t,V,RE}^{(\mathrm{coh})}\right)(\theta;\xi) = e_{\lambda}\left(\rho_{t},\xi\right)B_{t,V,RE}^{(\mathrm{coh})}\left(\theta\right)$$

one has

$$\left(D^{|\xi|}B_{t,V}^{(\mathrm{coh})}\right)(\theta, y; \xi) = r_t\left(y\right) \left(D^{|\xi|}B_{t,V,RE}^{(\mathrm{coh})}\right)(\theta; \xi)$$

$$= r_t (y) e_\lambda (\rho_t, \xi) B_{t,V,RE}^{(\text{coh})} (\theta)$$
$$= e_\lambda (\rho_t, \xi) B_{t,V}^{(\text{coh})} (\theta, y)$$

and we can write

$$\begin{split} \left(\tilde{L}'_{V}B^{(\mathrm{coh})}_{t,V}\right)(\theta,y) = & B^{(\mathrm{coh})}_{t,V}(\theta,y) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x'\tilde{c}\left(x'-x\right)\left(\theta(x')-\theta(x)\right)\rho_{t}(x)\mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_{t}*V)(x')} + \\ & B^{(\mathrm{coh})}_{t,V,RE}\left(\theta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\rho_{t},\xi\right)\left[r_{t}\left(z\right)A_{V}\left(\xi,z,y\right)-\\ & r_{t}\left(y\right)A_{V}\left(\xi,y,z\right)\right] \\ = & B^{(\mathrm{coh})}_{t,V}\left(\theta,y\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \, \theta(x)\left[\left(\tilde{c}*\rho_{t}\right)\left(x\right)\mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_{t}*V)(x)}-\rho_{t}(x)\left(\tilde{c}*\mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_{t}*V)}\right)\left(x\right)\right] \\ & B^{(\mathrm{coh})}_{t,V,RE}\left(\theta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}z \, a\left(y-z\right) \int_{\Gamma_{0}} \mathrm{d}\lambda\left(\xi\right) e_{\lambda}\left(\rho_{t},\xi\right)\left[r_{t}\left(z\right)A_{V}\left(\xi,z,y\right)-\\ & r_{t}\left(y\right)A_{V}\left(\xi,y,z\right)\right]. \end{split}$$

$$(5.103)$$

Finally, by comparing the r.h.s. of (5.101) and (5.103), we can conclude that $B_{t,V}^{(\text{coh})}(\theta, y)$ solves (5.95) if ρ_t and r_t are solutions to the system of equations (5.98)-(5.99).

In the remaining part of this chapter we want to give a rigorous meaning to the Vlasov-type scaling described above in some specific model. In particular, in Section 5.2.2.1 and 5.2.2.2 we consider the cases where the interaction λ_{int} is given by (5.47) and (5.58), respectively.

In the analysis that follows, we will use the same techniques as in Section 4.2.1 and 4.2.2. More precisely, in the scale of Banach spaces $\{\mathcal{E}_{\alpha} : 0 < \alpha \leq \alpha_0\}$ by using Ovsjannikov-type result in Theorem 4.2 we show that the initial value problems (5.81) and (5.95) have unique solutions, $B_{t,\varepsilon}$ and $B_{t,V}$, respectively, on the same time interval and with values in the same Banach space. Hence, by means of Theorem 4.9 we prove that solutions $B_{t,\varepsilon}$ converge to $B_{t,V}$. This will lead to a rigorous derivation of the Vlasov equations for the considered models. The existence and uniqueness of their solutions can be established by using the same techniques as in the proof of Lemma 4.21. Let us recall that properties of solutions to (5.98) have been studied in [10]. In particular, one can show the following existence and uniqueness result.

Lemma 5.28. Given C > 0, let $\rho_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with $0 \leq \rho_0(x) \leq C$ for a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Suppose that condition (5.32) holds. Then, equation (5.98) with initial condition $\rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0$ has a unique non-negative solution $0 \leq \rho \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ Moreover, the solution ρ_t is uniformly bounded on any finite time interval.

5.2.2.1 RW in a Kawasaki model of environment: Case I

Let us consider interaction $\lambda^{(1)}$ given by (5.47) and such that condition (5.48) holds and

$$C_{\phi}^{\infty} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \phi\left(x\right) < \infty.$$
(5.104)

The scaling of this interaction has been discussed in Case I of Section 2.3.2. From (2.139) and (2.140), we can write

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}\left(\cdot,y\right)\right)(\xi) = e_{\lambda}\left(\ell_{y}^{(\varepsilon)}(\cdot),\xi\right), \qquad \ell_{y}^{(\varepsilon)}\left(\cdot\right) = e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)} - 1, \quad \varepsilon > 0,$$

and

$$A_{V}^{(1)}(\xi, y) = e_{\lambda}\left(\ell_{y}^{(V)}(\cdot), \xi\right), \qquad \ell_{y}^{(V)}(\cdot) = -\phi\left(\cdot - y\right), \tag{5.105}$$

for any $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, according to Remark 5.23, given $\alpha > 0$ for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$, we define the renormalized operator $\widehat{L}'_{\varepsilon, \text{ren}}$ by

$$(\tilde{L}'_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}B)(\theta,y) = (\tilde{L}'_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}B)(\theta,y) + (\tilde{L}^{(1)}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}B)(\theta,y),$$
(5.106)

where $\tilde{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$ is given by (5.83) and

$$(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(1)}B)(\theta,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z \, a \, (y-z) \left[B \left(\theta \mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot-z)} + \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot-z)} - 1}{\varepsilon}, z \right) - B \left(\theta \mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot-y)} + \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot-y)} - 1}{\varepsilon}, y \right) \right].$$
(5.107)

Moreover, as $\varepsilon \to 0$, by combining (5.94) and (5.105), we have the point-wise limit

$$(\tilde{L}'_V B)(\theta, y) = (\tilde{L}'_{RE,V} B)(\theta, y) + (\tilde{L}^{(1)}_{RW,V} B)(\theta, y),$$
(5.108)

where $\tilde{L}_{RE,V}$ is defined by (5.89) and

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(1)}B\right)(\theta,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \left[B\left(\theta-\phi\left(\cdot-z\right),z\right) - B\left(\theta-\phi\left(\cdot-y\right),y\right)\right].$$
(5.109)

As in Proposition 5.18, one can show that both $\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{(1)}$ and $\tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(1)}$ are bounded operators on the Banach space \mathcal{E}_{α} .

Proposition 5.29. Suppose that condition (5.48) is satisfied. Given $\alpha > 0$, for all $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ and $\alpha' \leq \alpha$ we have

$$\left\{\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(1)}B,\tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(1)}B\right\}_{\varepsilon>0}\subset\mathcal{E}_{\alpha'}.$$

Moreover, the following inequality holds

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW,\#}^{(1)}\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\langle a\rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{\phi}^{1}}{\alpha}} \left\|B\right\|_{\alpha},\tag{5.110}$$

where $\# = "\varepsilon, \operatorname{ren}"$ or "V".

Proof. Let us first consider the renormalized operator $\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}^{(1)}$. We can proceed as in the proof of Lemma 5.18 replacing φ and χ by

$$\varphi_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, y) = e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)}, \qquad \chi_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, y) = \frac{e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)} - 1}{\varepsilon},$$

for any $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, respectively. Note that for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we still have $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(\cdot; y) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\chi_{\varepsilon}(\cdot; y) \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, with

$$\left\|\varphi_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot;y\right)\right\|_{\infty} \leq 1$$

and

$$\left\|\chi_{\varepsilon}\left(\cdot;y\right)\right\|_{1} = \varepsilon^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x' \left|\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon\phi(x'-y)} - 1\right| \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x' \left|\phi\left(x'\right)\right| =: C_{\phi}^{1}$$

For the limiting operator $\tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(1)}$ we can still use the same arguments as in Lemma 5.18, but choosing this time

$$\varphi\left(\cdot;y\right) \equiv 1 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

and

$$\chi(\cdot; y) = -\phi(\cdot - y) \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Let us now proceed with the analysis of the Vlasov-type scaling outlined in the previous section. First, we show the existence of the rescaled and limiting evolution associated to the generators (5.106) and (5.108), respectively. This will be a consequence of the general result stated in Theorem 4.2.

Lemma 5.30. Assume that conditions (5.32) and (5.48) are satisfied. Given $\alpha_0 > 0$, let $\{B_{0,\varepsilon}, B_{0,V}\}_{\varepsilon>0} \subset \mathcal{E}_{\alpha_0}$. Then, for each $\alpha \in (0, \alpha_0)$ the initial value problems (5.81) and (5.95) have unique solutions $B_{t,\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ and $B_{t,V} \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$, respectively, on the time interval $[0, T_1)$, where T_1 is given by (5.57).

Proof. From Proposition 5.24 and 5.29, given $\alpha \leq \alpha' < \alpha'' \leq \alpha_0$ for any $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha''}$ we have

$$\left\|\tilde{L}'_{\#}B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\frac{\alpha_0}{\alpha''-\alpha'} \langle \tilde{c} \rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_V^1}{\alpha}} \left\|B\right\|_{\alpha''} + 2\langle a \rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_\phi^1}{\alpha}} \left\|B\right\|_{\alpha''}, \tag{5.111}$$

where $\# = \varepsilon$, ren" or "V". Then, we can apply Theorem 4.2 to each of the Cauchy problems (5.81), (5.95) and get the statement.

Note that as desired, the solutions to (5.81) and (5.95) are defined on the same time interval and on the same Banach space, namely $B_{t,\varepsilon}, B_{t,V} : [0,T_1) \to \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}, \varepsilon > 0$. Next, we analyze conditions under which $B_{t,\varepsilon}$ converges to $B_{t,V}$. In order to apply Theorem 4.9, one needs the following estimate.

Proposition 5.31. Assume that conditions (5.32), (5.78), (5.48) and (5.104) are satisfied. Given $0 < \alpha < \alpha_0$, let α', α'' such that $\alpha \le \alpha' < \alpha'' \le \alpha_0$. Then, for all $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha''}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ the following estimate holds

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \tilde{L}_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}'B - \tilde{L}_{V}'B \right\|_{\alpha'} &\leq 2\varepsilon \langle \tilde{c} \rangle C_{V}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}\alpha_{0}}{\alpha} \left\| B \right\|_{\alpha''} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{V}^{1}}{\alpha}} \left(\left(2\mathrm{e}C_{V}^{1} + \frac{\alpha_{0}}{\mathrm{e}} \right) \frac{1}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} + \frac{8\alpha_{0}^{2}}{\left(\alpha'' - \alpha'\right)^{2}} \right) + \\ & 2\varepsilon C_{\phi}^{\infty} \langle a \rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{\phi}^{1}}{\alpha}} \left\| B \right\|_{\alpha''} \left(\frac{\alpha_{0}}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} + \frac{\mathrm{e}}{\alpha} C_{\phi}^{1} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(5.112)

Proof. For any $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha''}$ we have

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}'B - \tilde{L}_{V}'B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le \left\|\tilde{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}'B - \tilde{L}_{RE,V}'B\right\|_{\alpha'} + \left\|\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(1)}B - \tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(1)}B\right\|_{\alpha'}.$$
 (5.113)

From [43, Proposition 4.3], we know that for any $\alpha \leq \alpha' < \alpha'' \leq \alpha_0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\left\|\tilde{L}'_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}B - \tilde{L}'_{RE,V}B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\varepsilon \langle \tilde{c} \rangle C_V^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}\alpha_0}{\alpha} \left\|B\right\|_{\alpha''} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_V^1}{\alpha}} \left(\left(2\mathrm{e}C_V^1 + \frac{\alpha_0}{\mathrm{e}}\right) \frac{1}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} + \frac{8\alpha_0^2}{\left(\alpha'' - \alpha'\right)^2} \right). \tag{5.114}$$

Next, let us consider the second term in the r.h.s of (5.113). By (5.107) and (5.109) we can write

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(1)} B \right) (\theta, y) - \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(1)} B \right) (\theta, y) \right| &\leq \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}za \left(y - z \right) \left| B \left(\theta \mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot - z)} + \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot - z)} - 1}{\varepsilon}, z \right) - B \left(\theta - \phi \left(\cdot - z \right), z \right) \right| + \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}za \left(y - z \right) \left| B \left(\theta \mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot - y)} + \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\varepsilon \phi(\cdot - y)} - 1}{\varepsilon}, y \right) - B \left(\theta - \phi \left(\cdot - y \right), y \right) \right|. \end{split}$$

$$(5.115)$$

In order to estimate the two integrand functions that appear in (5.115), given $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ let us define the function

$$C_{\theta_1,\theta_2,y}(t) := B(t\theta_1 + (1-t)\theta_2, y), \qquad t \in [0,1].$$

According to the result of Lemma 5.3, one has

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} C_{\theta_1,\theta_2,y}\left(t\right) &= \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial s} C_{\theta_1,\theta_2,y}\left(t+s\right) \right|_{s=0} \\ &= \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial s} B\left(\theta_2 + t\left(\theta_1 - \theta_2\right) + s\left(\theta_1 - \theta_2\right), y\right) \right|_{s=0} \\ &= dB\left(\theta_2 + t\left(\theta_1 - \theta_2\right), y; \theta_1 - \theta_2\right) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx \left(\theta_1(x) - \theta_2(x)\right) \left(DB\right) \left(\theta_2 + t\left(\theta_1 - \theta_2\right), y; x\right), \end{aligned}$$

which yields

$$|B(\theta_{1}, y) - B(\theta_{2}, y)| = |C_{\theta_{1}, \theta_{2}, y}(1) - C_{\theta_{1}, \theta_{2}, y}(0)| \le \max_{t \in [0, 1]} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial t} C_{\theta_{1}, \theta_{2}, y}(t) \right|$$

$$\le \|\theta_{1} - \theta_{2}\|_{1} \max_{t \in [0, 1]} \|(DB)(\theta_{2} + t(\theta_{1} - \theta_{2}), y; \cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}.$$

Moreover, since $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha''}$, by using estimate (5.7) we obtain, for any r > 0,

$$|B(\theta_{1}, y) - B(\theta_{2}, y)| \leq ||\theta_{1} - \theta_{2}||_{1} \frac{1}{r} \max_{t \in [0, 1]} \sup_{\|\theta'\|_{1} \leq r} |B(\theta_{2} + t(\theta_{1} - \theta_{2}) + \theta', y)| \\ \leq ||\theta_{1} - \theta_{2}||_{1} \frac{e}{\alpha''} ||B(\cdot, y)||_{\infty}^{\alpha''} \max_{t \in [0, 1]} e^{\frac{||\theta_{2} + t(\theta_{1} - \theta_{2})||_{1}}{\alpha''}}.$$

The latter implies that for any $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\begin{aligned} \left| B\left(\theta e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)} + \frac{e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)} - 1}{\varepsilon}, y \right) - B\left(\theta - \phi\left(\cdot - y \right), y \right) \right| &\leq \\ &\leq \frac{e}{\alpha''} \left\| B\left(\cdot, y \right) \right\|_{\infty}^{\alpha''} \left[\left\| \theta\left(1 - e^{\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)} \right) \right\|_{1} + \left\| \phi\left(\cdot - y \right) - \frac{1 - e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)}}{\varepsilon} \right\|_{1} \right] \times \\ &\qquad \max_{t \in [0,1]} \exp\left\{ \frac{1}{\alpha''} \left(\left\| \theta e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)} + \frac{1 - e^{-\varepsilon\phi(\cdot-y)}}{\varepsilon} \right\|_{1} t + (1-t) \left\| \theta - \phi\left(\cdot - y \right) \right\|_{1} \right) \right\} \\ &\leq \varepsilon \frac{e}{\alpha''} \left\| \phi \right\|_{\infty} \left\| B\left(\cdot, y \right) \right\|_{\infty}^{\alpha''} \left(\left\| \theta \right\|_{1} + \left\| \phi \right\|_{1} \right) e^{\frac{1}{\alpha''} \left(\left\| \theta \right\|_{1} + \left\| \phi \right\|_{1} \right)}, \end{aligned}$$
(5.116)

where the last inequality follows from (4.104) and estimates (4.107)-(4.108). As a result, we find

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(1)} B \right) (\theta, y) - \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(1)} B \right) (\theta, y) \right| &\leq \varepsilon \frac{\mathrm{e}}{\alpha''} C_{\phi}^{\infty} \left(\|\theta\|_{1} + C_{\phi}^{1} \right) \mathrm{e}^{\frac{1}{\alpha''} \left(\|\theta\|_{1} + C_{\phi}^{1} \right)} \times \\ & \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{d}za \left(y - z \right) \|B\left(\cdot, z \right)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha''} + \left\langle a \right\rangle \|B\left(\cdot, y \right)\|_{\infty}^{\alpha''} \right]. \end{split}$$

Thus, the corresponding norm in $\mathcal{E}_{\alpha'}$ can be bounded as follows

$$\begin{split} \left\| \tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(1)} B - \tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(1)} B \right\|_{\alpha'} &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}y \sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{\|\theta\|_1}{\alpha'}} \left| \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\prime} B \right) (\theta, y) - \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{\prime} B \right) (\theta, y) \right| \\ &\leq 2\varepsilon \frac{\mathrm{e}}{\alpha''} C_{\phi}^{\infty} \langle a \rangle \left\| B \right\|_{\alpha''} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{\phi}^1}{\alpha''}} \left\{ \sup_{\theta \in L^1} \|\theta\|_1 \mathrm{e}^{-\|\theta\|_1 \left(\frac{1}{\alpha'} - \frac{1}{\alpha''} \right)} + C_{\phi}^1 \sup_{\theta \in L^1} \mathrm{e}^{-\|\theta\|_1 \left(\frac{1}{\alpha'} - \frac{1}{\alpha''} \right)} \right\} \end{split}$$

$$\leq 2\varepsilon C_{\phi}^{\infty} \langle a \rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{\phi}^{1}}{\alpha}} \|B\|_{\alpha''} \left(\frac{\alpha_{0}}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} + \frac{\mathrm{e}}{\alpha''} C_{\phi}^{1}\right),\tag{5.117}$$

where in the last step we use inequality (5.71). Finally, by combining (5.114) with (5.117) we obtain the desired result. \Box

We are now in the position to show the following result about the convergence of the Vlasov-type scaling.

Theorem 5.32. Assume that conditions (5.32), (5.78), (5.48) and (5.104) are satisfied. Let $0 < \alpha < \alpha_0$ be fixed and T_1 be given by (5.57). Suppose also that $\{B_{0,\varepsilon}, B_{0,V}\}_{\varepsilon>0} \subset \mathcal{E}_{\alpha_0}$ and

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\| B_{0,\varepsilon} - B_{0,V} \right\|_{\alpha_0} = 0.$$
(5.118)

Then initial value problems (5.81) and (5.95) have unique solutions $B_{t,\varepsilon}, B_{t,V} : [0,T_1) \to \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ such that for each $t \in [0,T_1)$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|B_{t,\varepsilon} - B_{t,V}\|_{\alpha} = 0.$$
(5.119)

Moreover, if

$$B_{0,V}\left(\theta,y\right) = B_{0,V}^{(\mathrm{coh})}\left(\theta,y\right) = r_0\left(y\right) \mathrm{e}^{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx \theta(x)\rho_0(x)}, \qquad \theta \in L^1\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right), y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{5.120}$$

for some function $\rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{1/\alpha_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, then for each $t \in [0, T_1)$,

$$B_{t,V}(\theta, y) = B_{t,V}^{(\operatorname{coh})}(\theta, y) = r_t(y) e^{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx \theta(x) \rho_t(x)}, \qquad \theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d), y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(5.121)

provided that $\rho_t \in \overline{B}_{1/\alpha_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_t \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ are solutions to the Vlasov equations

$$\frac{\partial \rho_t}{\partial t} = (\rho_t * \tilde{c}) (x) \mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_t * V)(x)} - \rho_t(x) \left(\tilde{c} * \mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_t * V)} \right) (x), \qquad (5.122\mathrm{a})$$

$$\frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = -\langle a \rangle \mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} r_t + \left(\left(\mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_t * \phi)} r_t \right) * a \right), \qquad (5.122\mathrm{b})$$

with initial conditions $\rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{1/\alpha_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_t|_{t=0} = r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proof. In Lemma 5.30 we have already showed the existence of solutions to the initial value problems (5.81) and (5.95). In order to prove convergence (5.119) we apply Theorem 4.9 to (5.81). For this purpose it is enough to verify the validity of conditions (4.40)-(4.42) for the considered model. As shown in the proof of Lemma 5.30, see in particular (5.111), condition (4.40) is satisfied with

$$M = 2\alpha_0 \langle \tilde{c} \rangle e^{\frac{C_V^1}{\alpha}} + c_{\alpha,\alpha_0}, \quad \text{with} \quad c_{\alpha,\alpha_0} = 2 \langle a \rangle e^{\frac{C_\phi^1}{\alpha}} (\alpha_0 - \alpha).$$

Moreover, by Proposition 5.31 for any $\alpha \leq \alpha' < \alpha'' \leq \alpha_0$ and all $\varepsilon > 0$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \tilde{L}_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}'B - \tilde{L}_{V}'B \right\|_{\alpha'} &\leq 2\varepsilon\alpha_{0} \frac{\left\| B \right\|_{\alpha''}}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} \left[\langle \tilde{c} \rangle C_{V}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}}{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{V}^{1}}{\alpha}} \left(2\mathrm{e}C_{V}^{1} + \frac{\alpha_{0}}{\mathrm{e}} \right) + \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{\phi}^{1}}{\alpha}} \left(1 + c_{\alpha,\alpha_{0}}' \right) \right] + \\ & 2\varepsilon\alpha_{0} \frac{\left\| B \right\|_{\alpha''}}{\left(\alpha'' - \alpha' \right)^{2}} \left[8 \langle \tilde{c} \rangle C_{V}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}}{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{V}^{1}}{\alpha}} \left(\alpha_{0} \right)^{2} \right], \end{aligned}$$
(5.123)

where

$$c_{\alpha,\alpha_0}^{\prime} = \frac{\mathrm{e}}{\alpha\alpha_0} C_{\phi}^1 \left(\alpha_0 - \alpha\right)$$

Hence, conditions (4.41)-(4.42) are satisfied with p = 2 and

$$N_{\varepsilon} = 2\varepsilon\alpha_0 \max\left\{ \langle \tilde{c} \rangle C_V^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}}{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_V^1}{\alpha}} \left(2\mathrm{e}C_V^1 + \frac{\alpha_0}{\mathrm{e}} \right) + \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{\phi}^1}{\alpha}} \left(1 + c_{\alpha,\alpha_0}' \right), 8 \langle \tilde{c} \rangle C_V^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}}{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_V^1}{\alpha}} (\alpha_0)^2 \right\}.$$

Let us now prove the second part of the statement. From Lemma 5.27 and (5.105) one can easily see that $B_{t,V}^{(\operatorname{coh})} \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ is solution to (5.95) with initial condition $B_{0,V}^{(\operatorname{coh})} \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha_0}$ if ρ_t and r_t solve (5.122a)-(5.122b), on the time interval $[0, T_1)$. The uniqueness of this solution is ensured by Lemma 5.30.

The existence and uniqueness of solutions to the kinetic equations (5.122a)-(5.122b) is considered in the following theorem.

Theorem 5.33. Given C > 0, let us consider $\rho_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $0 \leq \rho_0(x) \leq C$, for a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, and $r_0(y) \geq 0$, for a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, respectively. Suppose that conditions (5.32) and (5.48) and hold. Then, the system of Vlasov equations (5.122a)-(5.122b) have a unique non-negative solution $0 \leq \rho \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and $0 \leq r \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^1(\mathbb{R}^d))$. Moreover, given C' > 0 for any time t > 0

- (i) if $||r_0||_1 \leq C'$ then $||r_t||_1 \leq C'$;
- (ii) if $r_0(y) \leq C'$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, then $r_t(y) \leq C'$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proof. First let us note that, according to Lemma 5.28, equation (5.122a) has a unique non-negative solution $0 \leq \rho \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ which is uniformly bounded on any finite time interval. Then, the statement can be shown proceeding as in Step.2 of the proof of Lemma 4.21.

5.2.2.2 RW in a Kawasaki model of environment: Case II

Consider interaction $\lambda^{(2)}$ defined by (5.58)-(5.60). According to the results of Section 2.3.2, see (2.146) and (2.147), in this case we have

$$\left(K^{-1}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}\left(\cdot,y\right)\right)(\xi) = \lambda_{0}0^{|\xi|} + \varepsilon\phi\left(x'-y\right)\mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}}(\xi = \{x'\}), \qquad \varepsilon > 0, \tag{5.124}$$

and

$$A_V^{(2)}(\xi, y) = \lambda_0 0^{|\xi|} + \phi \left(x' - y \right) \mathbb{1}_{\Gamma^{(1)}} \left(\xi = \{ x' \} \right), \tag{5.125}$$

for any $\xi \in \Gamma_0$ and a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, by Proposition 5.22 and 5.25, given $\alpha > 0$ for any $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ the operators $\tilde{L}'_{RW,\varepsilon,\text{ren}}$ and $\tilde{L}'_{RW,V}$ have the form

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{\prime}B\right)(\theta,y) = \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) := \lambda_0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \left(B\left(\theta,z\right) - B\left(\theta,y\right)\right) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x^{\prime} \left[\phi\left(x^{\prime}-z\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta,z;x^{\prime}\right) - \phi\left(x^{\prime}-y\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta,y;x^{\prime}\right)\right] + \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}z a\left(y-z\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x^{\prime} \theta(x) \left[\phi\left(x^{\prime}-z\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta,z;x^{\prime}\right) - \phi\left(x^{\prime}-y\right)\left(DB\right)\left(\theta,y;x^{\prime}\right)\right]$$
(5.126)

and

$$(\tilde{L}'_{RW,V}B) (\theta, y) = (\tilde{L}^{(2)}_{RW,V}B) (\theta, y) =$$

$$= \lambda_0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dza (y-z) (B(\theta, z) - B(\theta, y)) +$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dza (y-z) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx' [\phi (x'-z) (DB) (\theta, z; x') - \phi (x'-y) (DB) (\theta, y; x')].$$

$$(5.127)$$

For the two operators above we can show the following estimate in the scale of Banach spaces $\{\mathcal{E}_{\alpha}, 0 < \alpha \leq \alpha_0\}$.

Proposition 5.34. Assume that conditions (5.59) and (5.60) hold. Given $\alpha_0 > \alpha > 0$, let $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha''}$ for some $\alpha'' \in (\alpha, \alpha_0]$. Then,

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(2)}\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\left(\lambda_0 \langle a \rangle + \frac{\mathrm{e}\langle a \rangle}{\alpha} C_{\phi}^1 + \frac{\alpha_0}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty}\right) \|B\|_{\alpha''}, \qquad (5.128)$$

for all $\alpha \leq \alpha' < \alpha''$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$, and

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(2)}\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\left(\lambda_0 \langle a \rangle + \frac{e\langle a \rangle}{\alpha} C_{\phi}^1\right) \|B\|_{\alpha''}, \qquad (5.129)$$

for all $\alpha \leq \alpha' \leq \alpha''$.

Proof. The operators $\tilde{L}^{(2)}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}$ and $\tilde{L}^{(2)}_{RW,V}$ can be written as

$$\begin{split} & \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) = \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,1}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) + \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) + \varepsilon \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) , \\ & \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) = \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,1}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) + \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) , \end{split}$$

where $\tilde{L}_{RW,1}^{(2)}$, $\tilde{L}_{RW,2}^{(2)}$ and $\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)}$ are defined by (5.64)-(5.66). Then, we can repeat the same estimate as in Lemma 5.20. and obtain the desired results.

An application of Theorem 4.2 yields the following existence and uniqueness result for the solutions of the initial value problems (5.81) and (5.95).

Lemma 5.35. Assume that conditions (5.32), (5.59) and (5.60) are satisfied. Given $\alpha_0 > 0$, for each $\alpha \in (0, \alpha_0)$ the Cauchy problems (5.81) and (5.95) with $B_{0,\varepsilon}, B_{0,V} \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha_0}, \varepsilon \in (0, 1]$, have unique solutions $B_{t,\varepsilon}, B_{t,V} : [0, T_1) \to \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ on the time interval $[0, T_2)$, where T_2 is given by (5.75).

Proof. By combining the results stated in Proposition 5.24 and 5.34, for any $\alpha \leq \alpha' < \alpha'' \leq \alpha_0$ we have

$$\left\|\tilde{L}'_{\#}B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\frac{\alpha_0}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} \left(\langle \tilde{c} \rangle \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_V^1}{\alpha}} + \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty}\right) \|B\|_{\alpha''} + 2\left(\lambda_0 \langle a \rangle + \frac{\mathrm{e}\langle a \rangle}{\alpha} C_{\phi}^1\right) \|B\|_{\alpha''}, \quad (5.130)$$

where $\# = \varepsilon$, ren" or "V". Then the statement follows from Theorem 4.2.

We can now ask whether solutions $B_{t,\varepsilon}$ converge to $B_{t,V}$ on the interval $[0, T_2)$ as ε goes to zero. For this purpose we first derive an auxiliary result which provides an estimate analogous to that one in Proposition 5.31.

Proposition 5.36. Assume that conditions (5.32), (5.78), (5.59) and (5.60) are satisfied. Given $0 < \alpha < \alpha_0$, let α', α'' such that $\alpha \leq \alpha' < \alpha'' \leq \alpha_0$. Then, for any $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha''}$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ the following estimate holds

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \tilde{L}_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}'B - \tilde{L}_{V}'B \right\|_{\alpha'} &\leq 2\varepsilon \langle \tilde{c} \rangle C_{V}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}\alpha_{0}}{\alpha} \left\| B \right\|_{\alpha''} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_{V}^{1}}{\alpha}} \left(\left(2\mathrm{e}C_{V}^{1} + \frac{\alpha_{0}}{\mathrm{e}} \right) \frac{1}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} + \frac{8\alpha_{0}^{2}}{\left(\alpha'' - \alpha'\right)^{2}} \right) + \\ &\quad 2\varepsilon \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_{0}}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} \left\| B \right\|_{\alpha''}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.131)$$

Proof. For any $B \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha''}$ one has

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}'B - \tilde{L}_{V}'B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le \left\|\tilde{L}_{RE,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}'B - \tilde{L}_{RE,V}'B\right\|_{\alpha'} + \left\|\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(2)}B - \tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(2)}B\right\|_{\alpha'}.$$
 (5.132)

From (5.126) and (5.127), for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ we have

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y) - \left(\tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y)\right| \le \varepsilon \left|\left(\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)}B\right)(\theta,y)\right|,$$

where the operator $\tilde{L}_{RW,3}^{(2)}$ is given by (5.66). Then, by using (5.73), one may estimate

$$\left\|\tilde{L}_{RW,\varepsilon,\mathrm{ren}}^{(2)}B - \tilde{L}_{RW,V}^{(2)}B\right\|_{\alpha'} \le 2\varepsilon \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_0}{\alpha'' - \alpha'} \|B\|_{\alpha''}, \qquad (5.133)$$

for any $\alpha \leq \alpha' < \alpha'' \leq \alpha_0$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$. The latter inequality together with (5.114) yields the desired result.

Having established this preliminary result, the convergence of solutions of (5.81) to the solution of (5.95) can be shown by using Theorem 4.9.

Theorem 5.37. Suppose that conditions (5.32), (5.78), (5.59) and (5.60) are satisfied. Let $0 < \alpha < \alpha_0$ be fixed and consider $B_{0,\varepsilon}, B_{0,V} \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha_0}, \varepsilon \in (0,1]$, such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|B_{0,\varepsilon} - B_{0,V}\|_{\alpha_0} = 0.$$
(5.134)

Then, given T_2 defined by (5.75), the Cauchy problems (5.81) and (5.95) have unique solutions $B_{t,\varepsilon}, B_{t,V}: [0,T_2) \to \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ such that for each $t \in [0,T_2)$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|B_{t,\varepsilon} - B_{t,V}\|_{\alpha} = 0.$$
(5.135)

Moreover, given $\rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{1/\alpha_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, for $B_{0,V}(\theta, y) = r_0(y) e^{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx \theta(x) \rho_0(x)}$, $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\theta \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, we have

$$B_{t,V}\left(\theta,y\right) = B_{t,V}^{(\mathrm{coh})}\left(\theta,y\right) = r_t\left(y\right) \mathrm{e}^{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x\theta(x)\rho_t(x)},\tag{5.136}$$

provided that $\rho_t \in \overline{B}_{1/\alpha_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_t \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ are solutions to the system of equations

$$\frac{\partial \rho_t}{\partial t} = (\rho_t * \tilde{c}) (x) \mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_t * V)(x)} - \rho_t(x) \left(\tilde{c} * \mathrm{e}^{-(\rho_t * V)} \right) (x), \qquad (5.137\mathrm{a})$$

$$\frac{\partial r_t}{\partial t} = \left(a * \left[r_t \left(\lambda_0 + \left(\rho_t * \phi\right)\right)\right]\right) - \langle a \rangle r_t \left[\lambda_0 + \left(\rho_t * \phi\right)\right], \qquad (5.137b)$$

with initial conditions $\rho_t|_{t=0} = \rho_0 \in \overline{B}_{1/\alpha_0}^{\infty}$ and $r_t|_{t=0} = r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, on the time interval $[0, T_2)$.

Proof. The proof is similar to that of Theorem 5.32. Having in mind the results of Lemma 5.35 and Proposition 5.36, in order to show the first part we can apply Theorem 4.9 taking p = 2 and

$$N_{\varepsilon} = 2\varepsilon\alpha_0 \max\left\{ \langle \tilde{c} \rangle C_V^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}}{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_V^1}{\alpha}} \left(2\mathrm{e}C_V^1 + \frac{\alpha_0}{\mathrm{e}} \right) + \langle a \rangle C_{\phi}^{\infty}, 8 \langle \tilde{c} \rangle C_V^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}}{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{\frac{C_V^1}{\alpha}} (\alpha_0)^2 \right\}.$$

Concerning the second part, by uniqueness of solutions to (5.95), it is enough to show that $B_{t,V}$ given in (5.136) solves (5.95). The latter follows from Lemma 5.27 by (5.125).

Finally, we can give the following existence and uniqueness result for the solutions to the systems of Vlasov equations (5.137a)-(5.137b).

Theorem 5.38. Assume that conditions (5.32), (5.59) and (5.60) are satisfied. Given C > 0, let us consider $\rho_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $r_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $0 \leq \rho_0(x) \leq C$, a.a. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, and $r_0(y) \geq 0$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, respectively. Then, the system of Vlasov equations (5.137a)-(5.137b) has a unique non-negative solution $0 \leq r \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^1(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and $0 \leq \rho \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$. Moreover, given C' > 0, for any time t > 0

- (i) if $||r_0||_1 \leq C'$ then $||r_t||_1 \leq C'$;
- (ii) if $r_0(y) \leq C'$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, then $r_t(y) \leq C'$, a.a. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

The proof of the above theorem is analogous to that one of Theorem 5.33. The details are left to the reader.

Appendix A Ovsjannikov-type theorem

In this appendix we present a detailed proof of the Ovsjannikov-type result stated in Theorem 4.2 which we used to construct statistical dynamics of RWREs in Chapter 4 and 5.

The Ovsjannikov theorem provides existence and uniqueness of solutions to certain singular Cauchy problems in a scale of Banach spaces. This result is based on Picard-type approximations and a method by A. G. Kostyuchenko and G. E. Shilov presented in [66, Appendix 2, A2.1]. This method, originally considered for equations with time independent coefficients, has been extended to an abstract and general framework by T. Yamanaka in [123] and L. V. Ovsjannikov in [98] in the linear case, and many applications were exposed by F. Treves in [120]. For a recent review of the Ovsjannikov's method we refer to [44].

In Theorem 4.2 we consider a bounded perturbation of singular operators in a scale of Banach spaces. The proof of this theorem is similar to the original proof of the Ovsjannikov theorem see [61] and [120, Chapter 3] for existence and uniqueness, respectively.

A.1 Proof of Theorem 4.2

We divide the proof of the theorem in two steps. First we find a solution to the initial value problem (4.9). Then we show that this solution in unique.

Step.1 Existence of the solution.

For some t > 0 which will be properly chosen later on, let us consider the sequence of functions $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ with $u_0(t) = u_0 \in \mathbb{B}_{s_0}$ and

$$u_n(t) := u_0 + \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \, (Au_{n-1})(s), \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (A.1)

By an induction argument, it is easy to check that $u_n(t) \in \mathbb{B}_s$ for any $s < s_0$, see e.g. [120]. Moreover, in an equivalent way, the sequence above may be rewritten as

$$u_n(t) := u_0 + \sum_{m=1}^n \frac{t^m}{m!} A^m u_0.$$
(A.2)

Fix $0 < s < s_0$. We want to show the convergence of sequence (A.2) in \mathbb{B}_s . Let us consider a partition of the interval $[s, s_0)$ into m equal parts, $[s_l, s_{l+1})$, with

$$s_l := s_0 - \frac{l(s_0 - s)}{m}, \qquad l = 0, \dots, m$$

By assumption for each $l = 0, \ldots, m$ we have

$$\|A\|_{s_l s_{l+1}} := \|A\|_{\mathbb{B}_l \mapsto \mathbb{B}_{l+1}} \le \frac{mM_1}{s_0 - s_1} + M_0 \tag{A.3}$$

and thus

$$\|A^{m}\|_{s_{0}s} \le \|A\|_{s_{0}s_{1}} \dots \|A\|_{s_{m-1}s} \le \left(\frac{mM_{1}}{s_{0}-s_{1}}+M_{0}\right)^{m}.$$
(A.4)

From this follows that the norm in \mathbb{B}_s of the series in (A.2) can be written as

$$\sum_{m=1}^{n} \frac{t^m}{m!} \left\| A^m u_0 \right\|_s \le \left\| u_0 \right\|_{s_0} \sum_{m=1}^{n} \frac{t^m}{m!} \left(\frac{mM_1}{s_0 - s_1} + M_0 \right)^m.$$
(A.5)

In order to establish its convergence we use the Cauchy's root criterion, yielding

$$\sqrt[m]{\frac{t^m}{m!} \left(\frac{mM_1}{s_0 - s_1} + M_0\right)^m} = \frac{tM_1}{s_0 - s} \frac{m}{\sqrt[m]{m!}} + tM_0 \frac{1}{\sqrt[m]{m!}}$$

Letting m go to infinity we find

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \sqrt[m]{\frac{t^m}{m!} \left(\frac{mM_1}{s_0 - s_1} + M_0\right)^m} = \frac{tM_1 e}{s_0 - s} < 1,$$

whenever

$$t < \frac{s_0 - s}{M_1 \mathrm{e}}.\tag{A.6}$$

This means that under condition (A.6), the series (A.2) converges in \mathbb{B}_s to the function

$$u(t) := u_0 + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{t^m}{m!} A^m u_0.$$
(A.7)

Moreover, setting $\delta := 1/(eM_1)$ this convergence is uniform on any interval $[0, T] \subset [0, \delta(s_0 - s))$.

Similar arguments show that an analogous situation occurs for the time derivative of (A.2),

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u_n\left(t\right)}{\mathrm{d}t} = \sum_{m=1}^n \frac{t^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} A^m u_0.$$
(A.8)

Indeed, by using (A.4) we obtain

$$\sum_{m=1}^{n} \frac{t^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} \|A^m u_0\|_s \le \|u_0\|_{s_0} \sum_{m=1}^{n} \frac{t^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} \left(\frac{mM_1}{s_0 - s_1} + M_0\right)^m.$$
(A.9)

Then, by using again the Cauchy criterion we have

$$\sqrt[m]{\frac{t^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} \left(\frac{mM_1}{s_0 - s_1} + M_0\right)^m} = \frac{1}{\sqrt[m]{t}} \left[\frac{tM_1}{s_0 - s} \frac{m}{\sqrt[m]{(m-1)!}} + tM_0 \frac{1}{\sqrt[m]{(m-1)!}}\right]$$

and thus

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \sqrt[m]{\frac{t^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} \left(\frac{mM_1}{s_0 - s_1} + M_0\right)^m} = \frac{tM_1 e}{s_0 - s} < 1,$$

whenever condition (A.6) holds. This means that on the time interval $(0, \delta(s_0 - s))$ the function u(t) is continuously differentiable in \mathbb{B}_s . Finally, it is also possible to check, see e.g. [61], that $Au(t) \in \mathbb{B}_s$, showing that u(t) is a solution to the initial value problem (4.9).
Step.2 Uniqueness of the solution.

It is enough to show that if a function $u(t): [0, \delta(s_0 - s)) \to \mathbb{B}_{s_0}$ satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}u(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = Au\left(t\right)\\ u\left(0\right) = 0 \end{cases},\tag{A.10}$$

then, it is identically zero. The set of points $N = \{t \in [0, \delta[s - s_0)) : u(t) = 0\}$ where the function u vanishes is closed; we are going to show that it is also open. This will imply that $N \equiv [0, \delta(s - s_0))$ and complete the proof.

Let $\tau \in N$. Then one has

$$u(t) = \int_{\tau}^{t} \mathrm{d}t' (Au)(t'). \qquad (A.11)$$

Given an $0 < s < s_0$ such that $0 < \varepsilon < s_0 - s$, from assumption (4.10) it follows that

$$\|u(t)\|_{s} \leq \int_{\tau}^{t} dt' \|(Au)(t')\|_{s}$$

$$\leq \left(\varepsilon^{-1}M_{1} + M_{0}\right) \int_{\tau}^{t} dt' \|u(t')\|_{s+\varepsilon}.$$
 (A.12)

We want to show that, given $0 < s < s_0$, for any $k \ge 1$ whenever t is in some compact neighborhood K of τ contained in the set $[0, \delta(s - s_0))$, the following inequality holds

$$\|u(t)\|_{s} \le M\left[\left(\frac{eM_{1}}{s_{0}-s}+\frac{eM_{0}}{k}\right)|t-\tau|\right]^{k},$$
 (A.13)

where

$$M := \max_{t \in K} \left\| u\left(t\right) \right\|_{s_0}.$$

Note that for k = 1 it follows directly from (A.12). Indeed, since $\|\cdot\|_{s'} \leq \|\cdot\|_{s_0}$ for any $s' < s_0$, we have

$$\|u(t)\|_{s} \leq \left(\varepsilon^{-1}M_{1} + M_{0}\right) \int_{\tau}^{t} \|u(t')\|_{s_{0}} dt'$$
$$\leq M\left(\varepsilon^{-1}M_{1} + M_{0}\right) |t - \tau|.$$

In particular, if we choose $\varepsilon = (s_0 - s)/{\rm e}$ we obtain

$$\|u(t)\|_{s} \leq M\left(\frac{eM_{1}}{s_{0}-s}+M_{0}\right)|t-\tau| \leq M\left(\frac{eM_{1}}{s_{0}-s}+eM_{0}\right)|t-\tau|.$$
(A.14)

For $k \ge 2$ we prove (A.13) by induction. We know that for k = 1 it is satisfied. We assume that it holds for k - 1, with $k \ge 2$, namely

$$\|u(t)\|_{s} \le M \left[\left(\frac{eM_{1}}{s_{0} - s} + \frac{eM_{0}}{k - 1} \right) |t - \tau| \right]^{k - 1}$$
 (A.15)

and we check it for k. Condition (A.15) can be rewritten in the following form

$$\|u(t)\|_{s} \le M \left[\frac{eM_{1}|t-\tau|}{s_{0}-s}\right]^{k-1} \left[1 + \frac{M_{0}(s_{0}-s)}{M_{1}(k-1)}\right]^{k-1}.$$
(A.16)

By inserting (A.16) in (A.12) we find

$$\|u(t)\|_{s} \leq M\varepsilon^{-1} (M_{1} + \varepsilon M_{0}) \left[\frac{eM_{1}}{s_{0} - s - \varepsilon}\right]^{k-1} \left[1 + \frac{M_{0}(s_{0} - s - \varepsilon)}{M_{1}(k-1)}\right]^{k-1} \int_{\tau}^{t} |t' - \tau|^{k-1} dt'$$

$$\leq M\varepsilon^{-1}M_1\left(1+\frac{\varepsilon M_0}{M_1}\right)\left[\frac{\mathrm{e}M_1}{s_0-s-\varepsilon}\right]^{k-1}\left[1+\frac{M_0(s_0-s-\varepsilon)}{M_1(k-1)}\right]^{k-1}\frac{|t-\tau|^k}{k}$$

As a matter of fact we can take

$$\varepsilon = \frac{s_0 - s}{k}, \qquad s_0 - s - \varepsilon = (s_0 - s)\left(1 - \frac{1}{k}\right). \tag{A.17}$$

With this choice we have

$$\|u(t)\|_{s} \leq M e^{k-1} \left[\frac{M_{1}}{s_{0}-s}\right]^{k} \left(\frac{1}{1-1/k}\right)^{k-1} \left[1+\frac{M_{0}(s_{0}-s)}{M_{1}k}\right]^{k} |t-\tau|^{k}$$
(A.18)

and since

$$\left(\frac{1}{1-1/k}\right)^{k-1} = \left(1+\frac{1}{k-1}\right)^{k-1} \le e,$$

we obtain

$$\|u(t)\|_{s} \leq M \left[\frac{eM_{1}}{s_{0}-s}\right]^{k} \left[1 + \frac{M_{0}(s_{0}-s)}{M_{1}k}\right]^{k} |t-\tau|^{k} \\ \leq M \left[\left(\frac{eM_{1}}{s_{0}-s} + \frac{eM_{0}}{k}\right)|t-\tau|\right]^{k}.$$
(A.19)

Then, taking

$$|t-\tau| < \frac{1}{\mathbf{e}M_1} \left(s_0 - s \right)$$

and $k \to \infty$, we see that u(t), as an element of \mathbb{B}_s , vanishes in a neighborhood of τ . Clearly, as \mathbb{B}_{s_0} is naturally injected in \mathbb{B}_s , this must be true also when we consider u(t) as an element of \mathbb{B}_{s_0} . This means that the set N is open.

This concludes the proof of the theorem.

Bibliography

- S. Albeverio, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and M. Röckner. Analysis and geometry on configuration spaces. J. Funct. Anal., 154(2):444–500, 1998.
- [2] S. Albeverio, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and M. Röckner. Analysis and geometry on configuration spaces: The gibbsian case. J. Funct. Anal., 157(1):242–291, 1998.
- [3] R. K. Alexander. The Infinite Hard Sphere System. PhD thesis, University of California, 1975.
- [4] L. Avena, F. den Hollander, and F. Redig. Large deviation principle for one-dimensional random walk in dynamic random environment: Attractive spin-flips and simple symmetric exclusion. *Markov Process. Related Fields*, 16(1):139, 2010.
- [5] R. Balescu. Statistical Dynamics: Matter out of Equilibrium. Imperial College Press, 1997.
- [6] A. Bandyopadhyay and O. Zeitouni. Random walk in dynamic Markovian random environment. ALEA, 1:205–224, 2006.
- [7] S. Barroso. Introduction to Holomorphy, volume 106. North-Holland, 1985.
- [8] V. P. Belavkin and V. N. Kolokoltsov. On a general kinetic equation for many-particle systems with interaction, fragmentation and coagulation. In *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, volume 459, pages 727–748. The Royal Society, 2003.
- [9] N. Berger and M. Biskup. Quenched invariance principle for simple random walk on percolation clusters. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 137(1-2):83–120, 2007.
- [10] C. Berns, Yu. G. Kondratiev, Yu. Kozitsky, and O. Kutoviy. Kawasaki dynamics in continuum: Micro-and mesoscopic descriptions. J. Dynam. Differential Equations, 25(4):1027–1056, 2013.
- [11] Ph. Blanchard and R. Olkiewicz. Decoherence-induced continuous pointer states. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 90(1):010403, 2003.
- [12] Ph. Blanchard and R. Olkiewicz. Decoherence induced transition from quantum to classical dynamics. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 15(03):217–243, 2003.
- [13] Ph. Blanchard and R. Olkiewicz. From quantum to quantum via decoherence. Phys. Lett. A, 314(1):29–36, 2003.
- [14] N. N. Bogoliubov. Problems of a dynamical theory in statistical physics. Gostekhidat, 1946 (In Russian). English version in: J. de Boer and G. E. Uhlenbeck (Eds.), Studies in statistical mechanics, volume 1,pages 1-118, North-Holland, 1962.

- [15] C. Boldrighini, I. A. Ignatyuk, V. A. Malyshev, and A. Pellegrinotti. Random walk in dynamic environment with mutual influence. *Stochastic Process. Appl.*, 41(1):157–177, 1992.
- [16] C. Boldrighini, Yu. G. Kondratiev, R. A. Minlos, A. Pellegrinotti, and E. A. Zhizhina. Random jumps in evolving random environment. *Markov Process. Related Fields*, 14(4):543–570, 2008.
- [17] C. Boldrighini, R. A. Minlos, and A. Pellegrinotti. Central limit theorem for the random walk of one or two particles in a random environment. *Adv. Soviet Math.*, 20: "Probability Contributions to Statistical Mechanics". R. L. Dobrushin (Ed.), pages 21–75, 1994.
- [18] C. Boldrighini, R. A. Minlos, and A. Pellegrinotti. Almost-sure central limit theorem for a Markov model of random walk in dynamical random environment. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 109(2):245–273, 1997.
- [19] C. Boldrighini, R. A. Minlos, and A. Pellegrinotti. Random walks in a random (fluctuating) environment. *Russian Math. Surveys*, 62(4):663–712, 2007.
- [20] B. Bolker and S. W. Pacala. Using moment equations to understand stochastically driven spatial pattern formation in ecological systems. *Theor. Popul. Biol.*, 52(3):179–197, 1997.
- [21] B. Bolker and S. W. Pacala. Spatial moment equations for plant competition: Understanding spatial strategies and the advantages of short dispersal. *American Naturalist*, 153(6):575–602, 1999.
- [22] E. Bolthausen and A.-S. Sznitman. Ten Lectures on Random Media, volume 32. Birkhäuser, 2002.
- [23] W. Braun and K. Hepp. The Vlasov dynamics and its fluctuations in the 1/N limit of interacting classical particles. Comm. Math. Phys., 56(2):101–113, 1977.
- [24] A. A. Chernov. Replication of a multicomponent chain by the lightning mechanism. *Biofizika*, 12:336–341, 1962.
- [25] E. A. Codling, M. J. Plank, and S. Benhamou. Random walk models in biology. J. Roy. Soc. Inter., 5(25):813–834, 2008.
- [26] F. Comets and O. Zeitouni. Gaussian fluctuations for random walks in random mixing environments. *Israel J. M.*, 148(1):87–113, 2005.
- [27] D. J. Daley and D. Vere-Jones. An introduction to the theory of point processes. Volume I: Theory and methods. Springer, 1988.
- [28] F. den Hollander. Random walks on lattices with randomly distributed traps I: The average number of steps until trapping. J. Stat. Phys., 37(3-4):331–367, 1984.
- [29] C. P. Dettmann. Diffusion in the Lorentz gas. Commun. Theor. Phys., 62(4):521, 2014.
- [30] C. P. Dettmann and E. G. D. Cohen. Microscopic chaos and diffusion. J. Stat. Phys., 101(3-4):775–817, 2000.
- [31] U. Dieckmann and R. Law. Relaxation projections and the method of moments. In The Geometry of Ecological Interactions: Symplifying Spatial Complexity (U. Dieckmann, R. Law, JAJ Metz, Eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pages 412–455. Citeseer, 2000.

- [32] S. Dineen. Complex Analysis in Locally Convex Spaces, volume 57. North-Holland, 1981.
- [33] R. L. Dobrushin. Vlasov equations. Funct. Anal. Appl., 13(2):115–123, 1979.
- [34] R. L. Dobrushin, Ya. G. Sinai, and Yu. M. Sukhov. Dynamical systems of statistical mechanics. In *Dynamical Systems II*, pages 208–254. Springer, 1989.
- [35] D. Dolgopyat, G. Keller, and C. Liverani. Random walk in Markovian environment. Ann. Probab., 36(5):1676–1710, 2008.
- [36] D. Dolgopyat and C. Liverani. Random walk in deterministically changing environment. ALEA, 4:89–116, 2008.
- [37] D. Dolgopyat and C. Liverani. Non-perturbative approach to random walk in Markovian environment. *Electron. Commun. Probab*, 14:245–251, 2009.
- [38] M. Eigen. Selforganization of matter and the evolution of biological macromolecules. *Naturwissenschaften*, 58(10):465–523, 1971.
- [39] K. J. Engel and R. Nagel. One-Parameter Semigroups for Linear Evolution Equations, volume 194. Springer, 2000.
- [40] D. J. Evans and G. Morriss. Statistical Mechanics of Nonequilibrium Liquids. Cambridge University Press, 2008.
- [41] I. Fatt. The network model of porus media III. Trans. Amer. Inst. Mining Metallurgical Pertroleum Engineers, 207:164–177, 1956.
- [42] D. Finkelshstein. Functional evolutions for homogeneous stationary death-immigration spatial dynamics. *Methods Funct. Anal. Topology*, 17(4):300–318, 2011.
- [43] D. Finkelshstein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and M. J. Oliveira. Kawasaki dynamics in the continuum via generating functionals evolution. *Methods Funct. Anal. Topology*, 18(1):55–67, 2012.
- [44] D. Finkelshtein. Around ovsyannikov's method. ArXiv:1412.8628, (To appear in Methods Funct. Anal. Topology, 2015).
- [45] D. Finkelshtein, Y. Kondratiev, O. Kutoviy, and E. Zhizhina. On an aggregation in birth-and-death stochastic dynamics. *Nonlinearity*, 27(6):1105–1133, 2014.
- [46] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and M. J. Kozitsky. Glauber dynamics in continuum: A constructive approach to evolution of states. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. A*, 33(4):1027–1056, 2013.
- [47] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, Yu. Kozitsky, and O. Kutoviy. Stochastic evolution of a continuum particle system with dispersal and competition: Micro- and mesoscopic description. *Eur. Phys. J. Spec. Top.*, 216:107–116, 2013.
- [48] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, Yu. Kozitsky, and O. Kutoviy. The statistical dynamics of a spatial logistic model and the related kinetic equation. *Math. Models Meth. Appl. Sciences*, 25(02):343–370, 2015.
- [49] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and O. Kutoviy. Statistical dynamics of continuous systems: Perturbative and approximative approaches. Arab. J. Math., pages 1–46, 10.1007/s40065-014-0111-8, 2014.

- [50] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and O. Kutoviy. Individual based model with competition in spatial ecology. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 41(1):297–317, 2009.
- [51] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and O. Kutoviy. Vlasov scaling for stochastic dynamics of continuous systems. J. Stat. Phys., 141(1):158–178, 2010.
- [52] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and O. Kutoviy. Vlasov scaling for the Glauber dynamics in continuum. *Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top.*, 14(04):537–569, 2011.
- [53] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and O. Kutoviy. Correlation functions evolution for the Glauber dynamics in continuum. *Semigroup Forum*, 85(2):289–306, 2012.
- [54] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and O. Kutoviy. Semigroup approach to birth-and-death stochastic dynamics in continuum. J. Funct. Anal., 262(3):1274–1308, 2012.
- [55] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and O. Kutoviy. Statistical approach for stochastic evolutions of complex systems in the continuum. *Interdiscip. Studies Complex Systems*, 1(1):14–32, 2012.
- [56] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and O. Kutoviy. An operator approach to Vlasov scaling for some models of spatial ecology. *Meth. Funct. Anal. Topology*, 19(2):108–126, 2013.
- [57] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and O. Kutoviy. Establishment and fecundity in spatial ecological models: Statistical approach and kinetic equations. *Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. and Relat. Top.*, 16(2), 2013.
- [58] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, O. Kutoviy, and M. J. Oliveira. Dynamical Widom–Rowlinson model and its mesoscopic limit. J. Stat. Phys., 158(1):57–86, 2015.
- [59] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, O. Kutoviy, and E. Zhizhina. An approximative approach for construction of the Glauber dynamics in continuum. *Math. Nach.*, 285(2-3):223–235, 2012.
- [60] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and M. J. Oliveira. Markov evolutions and hierarchical equations in the continuum I: One-component systems. J. Evol. Equ., 9(2):197–233, 2009.
- [61] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and M. J. Oliveira. Glauber dynamics in the continuum via generating functionals evolution. *Complex Anal. Oper. Theory*, 6(4):923–945, 2012.
- [62] D. Finkelshtein, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and M. J. Oliveira. Markov evolutions and hierarchical equations in the continuum II: Multicomponent systems. *Rep. Math. Phys.*, 71(1):123–148, 2013.
- [63] D. Finkelshtein and M. J. Oliveira. A survey on Bogoliubov generating functionals for interacting particle systems in the continuum. In *From Particle Systems to Partial Differential Equations*, pages 161–177. Springer, 2014.
- [64] N. Fournier and S. Méléard. A microscopic probabilistic description of a locally regulated population and macroscopic approximations. Ann. App. Probab., pages 1880–1919, 2004.

- [65] N. L. Garcia and T. G. Kurtz. Spatial birth and death processes as solutions of stochastic equations. Alea, 1:281–303, 2006.
- [66] I. M. Gelfand and G. E. Šilov. Generalized Functions. Vol. 3: Theory of Differential Equations. Academic Press, 1967.
- [67] F. Haake. Statistical treatment of open systems by generalized master equations. In Springer Tracts in Modern Physics, pages 98–168. Springer, 1973.
- [68] H. Haken. Synergetics. Springer, 1983.
- [69] D. Henry. Geometric Theory of Semilinear Parabolic Equations, volume 840. Springer, 1981.
- [70] R. A. Holley and D. W. Stroock. Nearest neighbor birth and death processes on the real line. Acta Math., 140(1):103–154, 1978.
- [71] K. Huang. Statistical mechanics. John Wiley Sons, 1987.
- [72] B. D. Hughes. Random Walks and Random Environments. Volume 2: Random Environments. Oxford University Press, 1996.
- [73] H. Kesten, M. V. Kozlov, and F. Spitzer. A limit law for random walk in a random environment. *Compos. Math.*, 30(2):145–168, 1975.
- [74] S. Kirkpatrick. Classical transport in random media: scaling and effective-medium theories. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 27(25):1722–1725, 1971.
- [75] J. Klafter, A. Blumen, and G. Zumofen. Fractal behavior in trapping and reaction: A random walk study. J. Stat. Phys., 36(5-6):561–577, 1984.
- [76] V. N. Kolokoltsov. Nonlinear Markov processes and kinetic equations, volume 182. Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [77] Yu. G. Kondratiev and T. Kuna. Harmonic analysis on configuration space I: General theory. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top., 5(2):201–233, 2002.
- [78] Yu. G. Kondratiev, T. Kuna, and M. J. Oliveira. On the relations between poissonian white noise analysis and harmonic analysis on configuration spaces. J. Funct. Anal., 213(1):1–30, 2004.
- [79] Yu. G. Kondratiev, T. Kuna, and M. J. Oliveira. Holomorphic Bogoliubov functionals for interacting particle systems in continuum. J. Funct. Anal., 238(2):375–404, 2006.
- [80] Yu. G. Kondratiev and O. Kutoviy. On the metrical properties of the configuration space. Math. Nachr., 279(7):774–783, 2006.
- [81] Yu. G. Kondratiev, O. Kutoviy, and S. Pirogov. Correlation functions and invariant measures in continuous contact model. *Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top.*, 11(02):231–258, 2008.
- [82] Yu. G. Kondratiev, O. Kutoviy, and E. Zhizhina. Nonequilibrium Glauber-type dynamics in continuum. J. Math. Phys., 47(11):113501, 2006.
- [83] Yu. G. Kondratiev, R. Minlos, and E. Zhizhina. One-particle subspace of the Glauber dynamics generator for continuous particle systems. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 16(9):1073–1114, 2004.

- [84] Yu. G. Kondratiev and A. Skorokhod. On contact processes in continuum. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top., 9(02):187–198, 2006.
- [85] S. G. Krein. Linear Differential Equations in Banach Space, volume 29. American Mathematical Society, 1967.
- [86] T. Kuna. Studies in Configuration Space Analysis and Applications. PhD thesis, Bonn University, 1999.
- [87] J. L. Lebowitz and L. Pastur. A random matrix model of relaxation. J. Phys. A, 37(5):1517, 2004.
- [88] A. Lenard. States of classical statistical mechanical systems of infinitely many particles. I. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 59(3):219–239, 1975.
- [89] A. Lenard. States of classical statistical mechanical systems of infinitely many particles. II: Characterization of correlation measures. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 59(3):241–256, 1975.
- [90] K.-H. Li. Physics of open systems. *Phys. Rep.*, 134(1):1–85, 1986.
- [91] T. M. Liggett. Interacting Particle Systems, volume 276. Springer, 2006.
- [92] N. Linden, S. Popescu, A. J. Short, and A. Winter. Quantum mechanical evolution towards thermal equilibrium. *Phys. Rev. E*, 79:061103, 2009.
- [93] H. A. Lorentz. The motion of electrons in metallic bodies I. In KNAW, Proceedings, volume 7, pages 438–453, 1905.
- [94] H. P. Lotz. Uniform convergence of operators onl and similar spaces. Mathematische Zeitschrift, 190(2):207–220, 1985.
- [95] A. Masi and E. Presutti. Mathematical Methods for Hydrodynamic Limits. Springer, 1991.
- [96] G. I. Nazin. Method of the generating functional. J. Soviet Math., 31(2):2859–2886, 1985.
- [97] M. J. Oliveira. Configuration Space Analysis and Poissonian White Noise Analysis. PhD thesis, Lisbon University, 2002.
- [98] L. V. Ovsjannikov. Singular operator in the scale of Banach spaces. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 163(4):819–822, 1965.
- [99] K. R. Parthasarathy. Probability Measures on Metric Spaces, volume 352. American Mathematical Society, 1967.
- [100] M. D. Penrose. Existence and spatial limit theorems for lattice and continuum particle systems. *Probab. Surveys*, 5:1–36, 2008.
- [101] Y. Peres and O. Zeitouni. A central limit theorem for biased random walks on Galton–Watson trees. Probab. Theory Related Fields, 140(3-4):595–629, 2008.
- [102] R. S. Phillips. The adjoint semi-group. Pacific J. Math, 5(2):269–283, 1955.
- [103] E. Presutti. Scaling Limits in Statistical Mechanics and Microstructures in Continuum Mechanics. Springer, 2008.

- [104] F. Rassoul-Agha and T. Seppäläinen. An almost sure invariance principle for random walks in a space-time random environment. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 133(3):299–314, 2005.
- [105] Lord Rayleigh. Dynamical problems in illustration of the theory of gases. *Phil. Mag.*, 32:424–445, 1891. Reprinted in: J. W. Strutt (Ed.). *Scientific Papers*, volume 3, pages 473-490, 1902.
- [106] A. Rivas and S. F Huelga. Open Quantum Systems. Springer, 2012.
- [107] D. Ruelle. Statistical Mechanics: Rigorous Results. W. A. Benjamin, 1969.
- [108] D. Ruelle. Superstable interactions in classical statistical mechanics. Comm. Math. Phys., 18(2):127–159, 1970.
- [109] Å. Sanz and S. Miret-Artés. Dynamics of open classical systems. In A Trajectory Description of Quantum Processes. I. Fundamentals, volume 850 of Lecture Notes in Physics, pages 47–73. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012.
- [110] U. Seifert. Stochastic thermodynamics, fluctuation theorems and molecular machines. *Rep. Prog. Phys.*, 75(12):126001, 2012.
- [111] H. Shimomura. Poisson measures on the configuration space and unitary representations of the group of diffeomorphisms. *Kyoto J. Math.*, 34(3):599–614, 1994.
- [112] F. Solomon. Random walks in a random environment. Ann. Probab., 3(1):1–31, 1975.
- [113] H. Spohn. Kinetic equations from Hamiltonian dynamics: Markovian limits. Rev. Mod. Phys., 52(3):569, 1980.
- [114] H. Spohn. Large Scale Dynamics of Interacting Particles. Springer, 1991.
- [115] D. Szász and L. A. Bunimovich. Hard Ball Systems and the Lorentz Gas, volume 2. Springer, 2000.
- [116] D. Szász and T. Varjú. Limit laws and recurrence for the planar Lorentz process with infinite horizon. J. Stat. Phys., 129(1):59–80, 2007.
- [117] A.-S. Sznitman. On the anisotropic walk on the supercritical percolation cluster. Commun. Math. Phys., 240(1-2):123–148, 2003.
- [118] A.-S. Sznitman. Topics in random walks in random environment. In School and Conference on Probability Theory, pages 203–266. Electronic, 2004.
- [119] D. E. Temkin. One-dimensional random walk in a two components chain. Soviet Math. Dokl., 13(5):1172–1176, 1972.
- [120] F. Treves. Ovcyannikov Theorem and Hyperdifferential Operators. Instituto de Matemática Pura e Aplicada, 1968.
- [121] A. A. Vlasov. The vibrational properties of an electron gas. Soviet Physics Uspekhi, 10(6):721–733, 1968.
- [122] L. von Bertalanffy. The theory of open systems in physics and biology. Science, 111(2872):23–29, 1950.
- [123] T. Yamanaka. Note on Kowalevskaja's system of partial differential equations. Comment. Math. Univ. St. Paul., 9(1):7–10, 1961.

- [124] A. Yilmaz. Large deviations for random walk in a space-time product environment. Ann. Probab., pages 189–205, 2009.
- [125] O. Zeitouni. Part II: Random walks in random environment. In Jean Picard, editor, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics, volume 1837 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 189–312. Springer, 2004.